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The Characters

The Robois Executive Councillors, the Cabinet

IC: Grouplntéréts CommunayxCommunal Interests
L: Liberal Party

Bourgmestre Robert Jacquet (IC, 38). Police, Register Office, Ceremonies.

Executive Gouncillor 1: Eliane Collado (L49). First EchevinFinances, Commerce,
Economy, Rural Development, Agriculture.

Executive Councillor 2 Jean Sauvent (IC, 62). Later Yves Govin (IC, 35). Public Works,
Urbanism, Territorial Policy.

Executive Councillor 3 Gustave Tillard (L, 65). Buildings, Housing, Properties Patrimony,
Woods,Energy.

Executive Councillor 4 André Bacca (IC, 48). Culture, Tourism, Religious Cults.

Executive Councillor 5 Nadine Dumortier (IC, 38). Associations, Sister Towns, Feasts,
Elderly, Pensions.

Executive Councillor 6 Marc Thoran (IC, 39). Commune Bennel, Roads Security,
Justice

Executive Councillor 7. Simane Ash (L, 30). Social Care, Infancy, Health, Handicapped
People, Social Housing.

Executive Councillor 8 Pierre Gasson (IC,2}. Sports, Mobility.

Executive Councillor 9 Albertine Dewez (IC, 47). Schools, Public Education, Youth,
Holiday Sites.

Director of the PISC: Marie Delatisse (44RISC is thedublic Institution for SociaCared
Commune Secretary Alberte Hersall€49).
Commune Treasurer. Michel Collebert (47).

Police Zone Superintendent Paolo Timario (8). Chef de Corpsr head of the Division,
Commissaire Divisionnairer Police Superintendent.

Deputy PoliceSuperintendent Youssouf Bikri (34). Called Joseph BikiChef de Service
Commissairer Service Hea@nd Superintendent
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Other Characters z alphabetically by name

Simone Ash: age 2, Echevinof SocialCare,and President of the Publiestitutionfor Social
Car (PISC). Unmarried.She is a medical doctor in Robois.

Magda Balin: age 48A prostituteof Robois.

Samia Bennani:age 24. Moroccan illegal immigrant woman who lives for a while at the
house of Robert Jacquet.

Youssouf Bikri: age 35. Called Joseph Biki€Chef de Service. Commissaifervice Head.
Police Officer. He has studig€iriminologyat University andh has followed the courses of
the Police Schal to become an Officer in the Police Corpt is d Moroccan descent.

Annette Bivois age 56. A cleaning woman at the Hatebrse Bayard
Max Blandis: age 38. Leader of a gangfotur hired by Gauthier dBuisseyre

Gauthier de Buisseyre:age 45, a financier and entrepreneur, owner of Aeolfast, a company
that installs wind ttbines.

Dominique Bussy age &. Female police officer. Bikri uses her as his assistant. She knows
how to use @ersonal computer and the Internet better than the other officers

Christine Candribert -Labi: age 53. Resident of TurgouMarried to Victor Cadribert.
Victor Candribert : age 56. Resident of TurgouMarried to Christine Labi.

Jean Castelle age 47. Socialist Party Member of the Council of Robois. Member of
Parliament and Minister of the Federal Government.

David Danlois: age 35. Inspectoratthe SERe r vi ce dO6 Enqu oftthe et de Re
Province of Namur

Paul Degambe age 58. Director of the Society for Social Housing of Robois.

Albert Desjardins: age 52. President of the politidatéréts Communau@roup, Communal
Interests or IC Group of Robois. He is also a Councillor of Robois.

Hubert Dusarme age 27. Assistant to Max Blandis.
Marcel Georgis age 48. A banker of Robois.
Monique Ghijsen: age 46. Countess Trioteignes and mother of Diego and Laura.

Yves Govin age 3. Echevinof Commune WorksHe was appointed when an older échevin
suddenlyresigned He was ordered to becoriehevin(Executive Cabinet Councilloby the
United DemocraticPartyheadquarters Brussels.

Michel Guichand: age 46. A farmewho wants to expand henterprisanto a large
industrial pig farm.
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Robert Jacquet:age 3. Mayor or Bourgmestre of Robois. Divorcedth ahandicapped
daughterOwner of aconstructiorenterprise.

RoseJacquet age 12, daughter of Robert Jacquet.

Monsieur Francoissage 51, owner of the hotel O6éHorse B
Richard Mordine: age 26. Assistant to Max Blandis.

Andrée de Porinthe age 36, former wife of Robert Jacquet.

Christelle Romas age 38, a representative of the Ecological Party of Robois.

JeanSauvent age 62, eldeEchevin of Public WorksHe yields his function to Yves Govin.

Jean Segersage 36. President of the lo&dccerClub of Robois

Marianne Tamin: age 53. Resident of Turgoux.

Thomas Terhave age 13. A boy who lives with his moth&ther and sister on a farm of
Aucourt.

Charles de Trioteignes:age 48, owner of Castle Trioteignes and financier.
Jean Vantandt age 23. Assistant to Max Blandis.

Eric Vrankaert: age 25. Assistant to Max Blandis.
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Chapter 1. November and December

Robois. Youssouf Bikri

My name is Youssouf Bikri. have quite a story telt, a story that happened in a small town
of Wallony. | must begin far, and | have a lot of explaining to do. So, bear with me.

| am theCommissaire de Policar Superintendent of éhBelgian Commune of Robois, a
community offourteen beautifuillagesof Wallony, the Frenckspeaking Region of

Belgium Being theCommissairaloes not make of me the highest representative of the police
forces around. | have a superior, Paolo TimarioGhef de CorpsndCommissaire
Divisionnaireof the zone of thremwns,among which Robois. My function is therefore

merely to serve as thewmy local head of fifteen officers coweg the soleterritory of Robois,

a peaceful rural community of thirty thousand solét.me, dear reader, introduce you to my
less than spectacular world.

| am thirty-four years of age. My friends call me Josddly not so good friends call me the
Moroccan andthe men who envy me or fear me or hategaeeme the nickname ai t h e
Mar |l ouf o6, a dirty French nAfrroan Magbrebl amoin@dmi gr a
mind, for | was not born at all in Moroccbhave evennever set a foot in that lanidpromise
myself each year todvel by aiplaneto visit the land of my forefatherbut the promise has

so far remained vain was born in Anderlecht, a suburb town of Brussels, the capital of
Belgium, and | have nother nationality than the Belgian one.

My parents did originate from the land calleeMsghrib, the West, frorthe plains and
mountains oMorocco, but they left their home region when they were still very young and
newywed. They f | eodhthe towntoffOajdaln®dsterd Klordcco, when the
uprisings began against Mohammed Ben Aarafa. My parents sympathized with the French
colonists, so they had to flee from the Liberation Army and arrived in Brussels via Spain.
They lived illegally in Belgiun for a while, of course, but they applied for and received the
statute of political refugee amatergained the Belgian nationality. It seemed French
benevolent contacts were involved in that.

| was the youngest sami my parentsafter an elder son dra daughter, probably the result of

a mishapa moment of uncalculated passiand hence the most neglectddheir children

Nevertheless, thrived, and my mother loved m&ince nobody cared much for me | had to

be smarter than the rest of the fanahyduse more cunninthan the other people around.me

Such can be the lever of surviaald of succesdMy cousins and nieces and aunts and uncles
cametovisitusmBrusseland occasionally stayed fFfdor mont h
have some notimof Moroccan traditiondut do not share all customs

| studied as best as | could, worked harder and nhstadiedeasily, passed my lower grades

with many tears and bruises, scraped myself through the higher grade#tifahaeuntook

the coursesf a Koran school at the same tirmed made it to the Brussels University.

My parents had brought some money from Oujiféth these funds, theypened a small
groceries shop in Brussels and bitilbut to a larger minmart distribution hall. My brother

and sister still keep that shop open today, butgersonsvere quitesufficientto managehe
shop My parents realisedith delightl had no inkling and no talent for commerce, so they let
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me stuly what | liked. | studiecCriminology. | was twentyfour before my parents understood
what | had been doing\nd then it was too late for them to change anything.

After my universityterm| disappeared for a year to London, pretending to find out wkat th
possibilities weredr opening a shop in England, but | worked at ten odd jobs, most of them

in warehouses. | survived barely, but | added a very decent knowledge of English to

Moroccan Arabic, written standard Arabic, French and Dutch. | returned hdiizutde
chastised from my London adventure and stopp
immediately into the Police School of Brussels.

From then on I followed my own coutdebecame a Police Officer, worked myself up in the
ranks, and grabbed any sp#ised study o€riminology of the Police Schoolscould get

until 1 was loaded like a donkey with all thecessarrevets to vie for the highest positions
in the Belgian Police. | have now enough certificates to®bed de Corpsnyself

| am one othe youngesBuperintendestof the country, and | bide my time to reach
upwards

My superiors wanted to keep me in Brussels, for they did not have many Arabic speaking
officers of Moroccan descent in the ranks, and Islamic educated stypeguolicema are

very rare. Still, after eight years of working in the Brussels quarters of Molenbeek and
Anderlecht, | wanted ardently to shake thi¢ eternal image of the immigranthich | was

not. | had my belly full of the interminable conflidistween racesf the capital | hated

being considered alwagsone of the enemy collaborating with another enemy, so | applied
and applied and applied for a function in the provinces, until everybody in the Force got tired
of my letters | wasshipped out, probably ttop the administrative work npteas caused to
the Superintendents of Brussdliad not asked for a position in another large town such as
Liege or Charleroil hoped for Namur or Tournai, but | was sent to Robsisome form of
punishment or revengRobois signifiedblivion. | loved it!

Robois was a Gatbrgotten or maybe therefore a Glmved rural community of the Hesbaye
Region between Brussels and Namur. | had never served and never lived in such a small
commune Becausé hadwisely learnt toacceptfrom the Belgian Police whaverwas
grantedto me, | nodded gratefully when my boss threwtthasferpapers at me, aridset out
with a light heart for theoft coreof Wallony.

| met only friendly people at Robois. | feared not a l#tleving as a supposed immigrant
Moroccan, but my grinning Italiadescent boss introduced me the same day to an odd mix of
half-bred Polish, Flemish, Sicilian, Greek, Asturian and French colleagues, for whom a
supposed Moroccan represented only an inieggssomewhat more exotic distraction. The

few truly native Walloons did not seem to care anymore windtdd guy was sent to them

this timg as long as a new presence eased their life.

Who were these Walloorts Roboisby the way? Certainly not the demdant®f the ancient
Belgae of Julius Caesar, who had moved to Ke@reatBritain! They toowere the
grandchildren o& mixture of indigenous people frobefore the ninth century and the
Germanic Franksas well asfrom who knows how many otheElavic tribesthat overran the
country during the Great Migration of Peoptdpre medieval times

When my less nice colleagues called me the Moroccan, | felt that was not nastier than when
they called our boss the Sicilian, though Paolo had been bornllideual in Belgium.

| have to say a nice word about Paolo. He wasiallmanin knowledge but huge in
experience and wisdarhlearnt to respect him very much for what he was, also because after
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one year already he haeld hisprotectve hand ovememore than once. Timario had big
hands!He covered for me.

Paolo Timario was outhef de Corpsthe head of our Police Division, our Commissaire
Divisionnaire, and my boss. His Police Force covered a zone of several communes, among
which Robois. He held hiseadquarters in another town. It was Timario who had delegated
me to Robois, to serve as tBemmissairef asmallcontingent of officers. Timario forgot
instantly about meand that lasted faas long as | caused him no problems and for as long as |
hadno issues | could not solve myself. Therefore, as Paolo told me, | could call me the
Superintendent of Robois!

Timario firstwarned me for the gang of the Judicial Police of the Province of Namur, the
Police Force that was added to Brecureur du Roor the Royal Prosecutor, the highest
judicial authority in the provin8ubstitutsnd al so
former lawyers and now membarkthe apparatus of the Justice CouBstween us and

them also worked the SER, tBervice @ Enqu t e e t, thalvestRaticelService,h e
yet another specialised Police Force of the Provincial and Regional Capital of Namur.
Thesemen formed the investigative power in our province, and we sigyposed to serve
them agheir obedienslaves. Wemore or less hath assisthemin solving crimesandto
execute their orders to the last letter, although, like in Brussels, we took those orders in
consideration only whenever we could ntiterwiseavoid them We regarded thdemands

of theSER as often unjustified, uninspired, and considered what they meant asasrders
merelypleas to collaborate. We ignored the orders for asdsnge could.

In other words, the work and atmosphere in Rob@rewot very different from thee in
Brusselsgxcept that | was a lot more at ease amaot happer in Robois

| had lived in Robois for an entire year, now, and bieme to love this peaceful commune.
Robois is not a town. It never received the honour being called a town, not in the far past
since it simply never existed in older timas suchand not today, although the Bourgmestre,
the Mayor, has sent papers to the Government asking for the denomination.

Roboishad beertonstituted rather artificiallguring the Belgian fusion of villages éutowns
i n t he Ifrant eedozerbof lldgss,forcefully conglomerated aroundraie
somewhatarger than the otherbearingthe nameof Robois Before that administrative
fusion, every village had its independent status, its Bourgmestre orriatte Village, his
Collége de€chevinsor Executive Cabineand its elected Council.

The Cabinet and the Bourgmestifehe new entity called Robaoigere chosen by the
Council, by the political parties represented in the Couactgording to the maijity of the
moment.

When one party did not have absolute majority of representatives, a majority coalition had to
be formed, and that was also the case at Robois, where a grouprdaliéts Communauxr
Communal Interests, in brief IC, was allied to the Liberal Rartonstitute anajorityin the

Town Council The Council counted twentsix Councillors, of which thirteen from the list

IC, four from the Liberal Party, six Socialists and three EcetegiC Group was a mix of

people of diverse opinions, all rather conservative, people who wanted the best for their
community rather than political power, and of which most did not really want to be labelled
with the tag of one or other Federal politipakty. The rather apolitical list of the

Bourgmestre, IC Group, had been formed by members of the United Democratic Party plus
about as many independent candidates.
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The elected Council was chosen for six years. It appointed its Executive Cabinet and its
Bourgmestre by majority vote during the first Council session.

Robois ha nine Executive Councillorsr&Echevingorming theCollégeor Executive

Cabinet, plus the BogmestreThe IC Grouphad six Executive Councillors or Echevins.
Three additional Echevinsime from the Liberal Partywho were allied tehe six ICs.

To return to Robois itself, the commune was formed artificiajiyhe combination ofery
differentvillages of rural, urban and industrial character, brought to fusion because none of
the surrounding towns really desired either to hamper their political majority with people
known to vote for other parties or because their territories lay too far fi@nurban centres,

which meant high cost of maintenance of roads and communications and communal services.

The name of Robois belonged to two villages that had alreadyféreed togetheto form

one entity bef HautRkobbihamd BeRoGoks6 s, f r om

HautRobois lay on higher ground around the Abbey of Saint Adelbert, whered®dBass

had developed in the valley to the north and ddstse twovillages lay west and north of a

river, theLargeay ironically called the Wide Water though it wasery small riverreally.

The people who lived higher up on the plateau had once looked down on the valley dwellers,
but that spirit hadlisappeared in the vagaries of time. The Largeau ran first from west to east,
south of HauiRobois, and then suddentyturned north to the eastern border of Basbois

Where the river broke north, halted by a rock promontory on which stood the ancient Castle
Bazaine, emerged a yet smaller river, Batiteauor Small Water, not more than a brooklet,
which in fact floned south to north straight into the Largeau at the confluence below the
promontory.

To the east of the Largeau and the Petiteau lay the villages of-Gigegland Petit.iges,
Bazaine, Butiéres, Grd2uros and Turgouxoneneatly to the south of the @h These
villageswere delimited in the east by the highway of Brussels to Namur, waicfor a short
stretch north to south instead of its more natural west to east direction. These villages form
the industrial areas, fohe industrial zones of Grea Robois were situateatound their

cores. The industrial zonesdaeen created between the newer highway and the older
National Road Eleven. With time, the commercial centre of Robois and envirorffdlisaid

the large commercial sites and the superkets, themportantgarages andther small
enterprisesdeveloped along the National Road N11, served also by fast accesses to the
highway north of Liges and south of Turgoux. The wealfiti dynamisnof greater Robois

was generatelly these zones, so, understandaflyite ahealthy competibn ragedbetween

the administrative centre of Robois with its dense population core andtibeindustrial

zones centred on Gr&uros and Turgoux. The population in this zevas, however, only
about half the population of the HaRbbois and Bafkoboiscentregogether.

| liked the diversity of the landscapes, the intimacy of the cores of the villages centred around
their churches, and the rich, animated feasts of the associations to whmiargably

invited.

To the west of the Petiteau and to the south of the Largdiaadverd the truly rural
communities, the wooded landscapes of Boyu and Besnes, and tb®jomg pastures and
grain fields of Le Tignes, Aucourt, Blougeke-Chateawand Trioteignes. These last two
villages,and alsBazaine, hatbeen assemblearound their castles, likbe centre oRobois
around its medieval abbey. The villag@st remote from the centre of Roboisswa
Trioteignes, one of the smallest entities algimg next to another wood into which still
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stands the mysterious, very old Castle Trioteignes. The six villages in thisvgeceipmall.
The farms and hous&gre more spread out thaéhe cores of the other entities.

Roboiswas therefore formed out dfireedistinctgroups of villages. One growpes Robois,

the centres of HatRobois and Bafobois. Aother groupvasthe eastern villages spread

along the highway and the N11, affectionately calldlle O East ebythe Ter r i t or i ¢
Roboisians, and the wesouthern truly rural communitis®mewhat condescendingiglled

the@easant Villages These three groupsth@uredtheir own feelingand susceptibilities

their culture feasts and traditions, and despite much vadrkying to form them into one

mentlity, thevarious communitiepreserved their separate identities.

| am a very bad drivét doown a caran old Renaulta d r i v e radds makterthe n c e

basic abilitiego drive but | am not a very good drivéralso drive a police car, but | aan

mantoo easily distractedhendriving | 6 m afr ai d, heoncedrdygeod att eni
chauffeur | drove very little in Brussels. | often had another police officer drive me through

the capital. When | arriveat Robois, | made a habit driving a lot, driving for practiceMy

work is mainly administrative during the day, but since | am still single, | drive each day for a
couple of hours after my regular work in the villages of Robois. | learnt to know amthiev

commune that way.

| like to drive in the Peasant Villages because the roads there are tortuous, beautifully winding
through dense green woods in summer and through majestically wide.cotdueed fields

in autumnl trained myattentionwhile driving, seting to peacdheinternal furieshathad
accumulated imy mind inBrussels.

The landscapes of the Peasant villages are wide and open or closed and protective in a very
appeasing alternating change. The people here are friendly. | can pegk algng a field or

in the church square of the centre of a village or a borough, and linger. Somebody will always
come up to me and seikexchanga few wordswith me, to complain about an ailment or to
explain what happened to their older father amdh®r, and ending with a hedelt joke.

The people greet me respectfully when 1 dm in
told me in Brussels what the weather would be tomorrow. The weather is a great opening
topic for noncommitting conversatn in the Peasant villages, and one word leads to another.
Agriculture depends on the weather, and in the villas the people like to see the sun shining
through their largbaywindows, ratherthan the rain pelting down on their terraces.

| can train niceg} in this regiondriving carefully, and | learnto know every corner of the

territory | am supposed fareventivelysecure, which of coursee cannotreally, for we are

far too fewofficersto cover this large territory.

| like a lot less drivng through the Eastern Tetories, though the roads there are straggid
broader. My camlwaysadvancesnore rapidlythrough the industrial zoseYou will find no
smokebelching old brickmade factories here, though, no cokes ovens and no blast furnaces.
Theindustries of Robois are of the newer, cleaner type -teighnology ypes, with printing

shops, shining commercial sites, supermarketdianay garages. The people here remain

little more aloof ofpolice cars. They fear being watchadd | meet frowned fronts when |

drive around and roansome of the professional managers neverthaleeslo like to remark

the police circulatingn theirroads, and around their building$he peoplef the Peasant
Villages take security for grantedéseem not to need In the industry zoneshe grey

suited managem@revery securityconsciousThey haeto, for most of the largescale

robberies happen here, so there can never be enough police cars patrolling in this area. | feel
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more under strasand naturally attentive of what occurs here than in the villages that lie
peacefully in the meadows. Moreover, many of the low blocks of the industries do not even
have windows to the side of the streets, sodrote pag concrete block after concretibk,

often surrounded by weeds,a rather desolate view.

Roaming by car through Hatobois and Bafkoboiswas even less a pleasure. It is the best
exercise and nightmare fbaddrivers. The streets are narrow, tortuougdieval in design,
never longr than a few tens or hundreds of metres, always going up or down, always
encumbered to left and right by parked cars and lomeger openYou have to remain very
alert for bicycles and motorbikés this crowded centreand pedestrians do not hesitate

dart right before you in the middle of the street. Driving here is a fine exercise,dviorag
does not existut | come here only for the exercisenhen | really have to for the job.
Otherwise, | walk on foot in the centsgpping frequently b talk to a vagrant man or to a
group of too boisterous youngsterset thewanderers and loiterefsel some surveillance is
on in mictown!

Little crime happens in greater Robois. None of my officers can remember a major crime
scene with one or moreedths in the villages. We do have burglaries, the occasional fraud
case, some drug dealing along the N11 in the two daalt® a little disturbance of the peace
around the nighshops in central Robois, occasional hooliganism at the football club of Grez
Duros, and we have a few wibeaters, but Robois is nothing like the constant crime pool of
Brussels. The Peasant Villages are left alone by the organised gangs of Charleroi gnd Liege
for they aretoo less dense in housesd the villas are protecteg bnttburglary alarm

systems, many of them connected by phone to security call centres. Burglars concentrate on
the eastern Territories, but also the industries are guarded by private companies, which, |
presumehave access to defenweapons.

We, thePolice Force, reign in Robois high and low. We have our local headquarters there in
the middle of the town, in a sidwriilding of the ancient abbey, near the Town Halk are
situated close to the political power in our town, and form with them the Atythiara large
complex ofancientbuildings. Authority still has a decent meaning in Robois, unlike in
Brussels.

When | arrived at Robois, | first found a small apartment above the bakery eRdhats, at

two paces from our offices. A few months latectually bought me a house, a small heuse
in-therow, in the outskirts of HauRo b oi s but at a ten minutesd v
paying off the mortgage loan amounted to less than paying rent. My garage is easy to drive

into, and sufficiently wié for me not to bump against the two walls each time | bring my car

in.

Yes, | have come to like Robois. The people are friendly and they appreciate having us,
police, around. The pace of living is quite agreeable, crime astonishingly low. | intenel to liv
my life here or the rest of my days. | am not particularly ambitious, though | may hope
eventuallyfor the function of the head of tiiRolice Zng of a group of more towns like
Robois.| obtainedsufficient starched degrees stgtl am fully qualifiedfor such a job, of

which there are less than a hundred in Wallony. Few candidates will want to get buried in
Robois and the neighbouring small towns, whereas | delightiinpeace and calm.do not
intend toreturn to Brussels or to another of the larger cities.
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| felt perfectly happy at Roboibegammaking the acquaintance wiany people in the local

sport clubs, hiding in aosy groupf agreeable nmonsense colleagues and in a growing

circle offriendsin the social associations and feast committees of the villagas.onfly one

major issue. | felt very lonely despite the comgany

Loneliness bd never been an issue for me up to that mopfent had to study and

experience so muchad remained vengnse in Brussels. Lately, however, in the peace of
Robois, | became strangely subjected to bouts of panic in the middle of the night and even
sometimes in the light of the day. | felt awfully alone and abandoned. | missed a wife,
children, a family. | kne | was experiencing the primeval fears of lack of procreation, of lack
of the continuity of my egoistic genddowever much | tried to rationalise these fears, they
returned when | expected them least and in the oddest of places. They left me soaked in sw
when | dozed off in the late afternadht night, they pushed me from my bedroom downstairs
to my drawing room, to my television set, to my personal computer and the Internet, and often
also towine, whiskey or cognad\o beer. | disliked beer.

| coud apply to my family in Brussels. My parents would be too willing to arrange a
traditional marriage for me to a girl with all the credentialdfaving the potential to become
acaringhousewife, but | have this obsession in my mind for the romantispoting love of
which the French poets sing.

| was educated as a Muslimy my parentsYet, | know of no mosque fifty kilometres around
Robois and | have certainly not entered one for the last five years. Thereenaustosque in
Robois, but | deliberakg avoidedlooking for it. My father took me to a mosque when | had
come of the age, but even he attended seldom to the lectures of the Imams. | continued in
principle to pray five times a day, but | prayed when | could, and | never turned south to
Mecca.l prayed by thinking about a God, or | spoke in my mind to a God, to Allah, but the
Allah of my prayers was something very different from the Allah of the Imams.

My God was something immaterial, without image whatsoever, something unfathomable for
humanssomething totally alien to our race and to anything we could perceive in the universe
God was for méhe something that either called the cosmos to life in the Big Bang orathat h
formed the universe as a pulsating continuum of energy, expanding ctiogtrénding

oblivion in a singular point and then explodimga new Big Bang to start the sequence all

over again. My God was much more the Aristotelian catiséf action than the tangible

image of a great father. | also doubted very much by reasbthie something that caused the
universe to oscillate would bother with me, less thaarthworm, even though my entire
being desired not to be alone in the void, desired to be comforted and redeemed. | prayed with
my heart, not with my mind, and | qupse that made me a badidfim. | was certainly all but

the sanctimonious type, too, althougivoided drinkingalcohol in publicandl ate no padk

meat. | did not find in the Koran any restriction on drinking, except the command not to be
drunk while paying. lalso admired too much tlygpodpoet Omar Khayyam, who sang so
lyrically about wine and women. | did not drink in public, but I did drink brandy in private,
though moderately. My maissue remained with women.

Mind you, | am not, definitelyot, ahomosexuall am also not an obdurate bachelqust
could not find a womanwanted or daredgive my love to. | wanted a very intelligent lady
and a venypeautiful one. I had little respect for the girls and ladies of Moredeaaent or for
the othe Muslim women | met in Brussels. | refused the entreaties of my pareatstwvife,
for | waited for love. But true love and admiratifom a female did not come, and legr more
desperate ever to marry. Was it because | believed in a more terriblapiehensible Allah
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that | wasbereaved of love? Maybe this was my punishment for being more of a philosopher
than of a zealot.

| knew of no Muslim girls in the Robois villages, though | saw occasionally a woman with a
shawl on her head in the marketplaogespised the comfort of prostitutédeft asidethe

native Robois women thdid seem to want to accost nfer | found themstupid and not

worthy of much respeciaybe | was simply arrogant towards wom&he oned did find
interesting hesitatedydwned and drew back from my darker skin andy black hair. |
considered suicide several times, for life seeéto lack further interest, buttas toorational

a person to yield to such thoughts for longer than a few seconds. | remained Joseph the
Moroccan,Joseplthe loner.

| did not shy away fronavng female friends. One of our younger officers, Dominique
Bussy, served as my driver and partner in Robois on days when | really did not feel for
driving and touring on my own at all. | am sure she fouedcute, and she told me so once
although | was her superior, but she was definitely off lindiésinga nice, promising boy of
Turgoux! had not yet met and who, so she told me once, was a Police inspector in Namur.
She intended to marry hitmough noting had been decided yétwas not in love with her.
Nevertheless, | rather teamed up with her than with my male colleagues, not in the least
because she knew a lot better how to find information in the various police software programs
and data bases tharnl knew howto Google, but | lacked the patience to learn all the
functions of the police applications. Dominique taught me whenever we had somk time
was strange that I, the scholar, lacked the interest for the databases of the Belgian
Government, Wwereas Dominique, who had barely made it to a local police officer, played
with the keyboard of her personal computer linked to the police network as if she were
composing a Mozartean symphony. | did make some progress, though, wittiaethelp.

| thought of myself with some complacency as of a fine policeman, as good as they could be
made. My track record in Brussels contained a few solved cases that had bought me some
fame in the press of the capital. Many more hushed appeasements in the vattioals cul
communities had given me a reputation of a guardian of the peace. | had gained no medals for
jumping alone in between belligerent groups, no fame and no appreciation from my bosses. |
was merely a boy of the immigration for tRelice Force useful h hotsituatiors but

otherwise not really belonging entirely to tBeuissels closed teano$ officers.

| wastherefore ratheanprepared for what was to happen in the coming election year at
Robois, the more so as my only good friend was involJedi! that year, Robois was my
heaven on earth. Then, things changed, some for the worse, some for the better.

You may have understood by now that | didnot
acquaintances | have by the dozens, friends no. | remaieeditimanout. | do have one

very goodfriend here. He is a man who in many ways resembles me, though his fadhily ha
assuredhalsoimmigratedto these regionsll be itmany centuries before me. He is a very
successful businessman and a person highly appreciated in the commune. We fell together
because we had a common craving for honesty and justice. We also both suffered from scar
tissue on our souls. Almost nobody inlhis knows we are friends and we tend to keep it
quiet.His name is Robert Jacquet, and he is the Bourgmestre of Rdlmiveet in his house

for a drink or an occasional suppEe is a good friend. We have fun together. We often meet
in his villa, becage it is much larger and brighter than my Robois hoiefeel more free in

his lodge in the woods.
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The Bourgmestre

On a bleak evening of early November, wiSleperintendent YoussoBikri was roaming

the countrysiden sear ch of somet hi n gknelwwherdtobokfotit k now
Robert Jacquet was driving from his house in the village of Boyu tddiva Hall of Haut

Robois.

The Bourgmestre drove tolawn Council sessionHe dove through a wide lane ithe forest

of Boyu, headlights blindingly blazing on the cobbled road and on the large trunks of €entury
old oaks trees and beeches. Robert drove also lost in thoughts, but corfiagpetiotendent

Bikri, Robert was an excellent car driver, so he spptty whileday-dreaming He looked
nevertheless dtis environment with relish. éremained alert for any potential danger such as
an animal sprinting in his lights over the road, not an infrequent hazard in the woods of Boyu.
He sped, for he was late.

Robert Jacquet was thirgight, but he still thought of himself as a sportive young man. His
years had flown so fast! He led a construction enterprise, not a large one, but one with enough
new customers to allow him to hiaed payexcellent managers, aw older but experienced
workers, and a lesser qualified workforce of over twenty masons and carpemeculd be

told what to do and yet conveniently, continuously be replenished from people of all sorts and
nationalitiesas long as thewere eager twork. Robert had made a partner out of his best
manager, a man who had worked with his fatfidis marhad thought him the business

better than his father could have doRebertoffered his teacher a stake in the complayy
co-leadership. Robert occupidimself with receiving the customers, finding new customers,
preparing the offers, and his older partner managed the works on site. His apladghad

proved loyal in the past, so tHabbertcould leave much of the running of the business to

him. Robet hadthereforemore timedabblng in more mundane functions, such as being a
member of the Rotary and other clubs, where he gathered new customers, and such as being
the Bourgmestref Robois. These functions had helped much the reputatiois cbimpany

so that Jacquet and Duchéatel S.ASaziété Anonymaf Belgian Law, a private limited
companycould grow andbecome quite prosperous the last yeRabertwas expanding to

ever more and larger construction works, also outside Robois.

Robert Jacquethe businessman and entreprenbad not actively sought to enter politics.
Politics had sought him. His father had left him the construction Tiviren his father died
Robert was only twentfive. Robert had to take over the firm at a moment he waseady
prepared to do so, but he had thrown himself head first into it, and he had succeeded in
salvaging it and then expanding the businegshad also worked a lon the construction of
public buildings.The money won on public works was low and dkdong in the getting, but

it always came and if latvith interes. That was a more reliable result than for some of his
private worksAfter he stepped into politics, Robert stopped abruptly introducing offers for
the construction gbublic building sies, but by then he had enough reserves to lose money on
a few works. He had taken on more private business, which was more profitable even when
occasionally amrchitect or a contractdailed.

Robert had built himself a strange kind of lodge as houselarge piece of laniying on the

border between the villages of Boyu and Trioteignes, on land his father had owned since ages.
His lodge had become a mansion, standing proudly on a hill at the end of the forest of Boyu,
ami dst maj est eactertaae ane bis verRwaide bay widdews faced the

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus Pdg¥ 208 |

meadows and the grain fields that sloped below towards another wood from which emerged
thehigh, slated toweroofs of Castle Trioteignes. The house of Robert resembled a lodge, a
log cabin, buit wasahuge cabinin facta set ofseparateabins interconnected by corridors.

Its architecture in blocks was complex. It stood entirely a metre above the ground, and in the
rear part it hung abowven abysshatsteeplysloped downwards towards the Ipasturesit

lurked highabove the hillside, allowing for a wide and marvellous view of the green and
brown landscape. The blocks were built on a platform of wood, but in the middle also caves
had been dug into the rock of the hill. Huge dark, wooden beams stuakall angles in an
architecture thatoday would have begmrohibited by the Walloon Region, but which had

been begun to be built by his grandfather and to which the two generations of Jacquets had
been allowed to add to. Robert iadeedaddedhis own many roomsHe hadenlarged
considerably the diningpom and the parlour, modernised and enlarged also the kitchen area,
addedup garages and guestoms, & well ascomfortable bathroom3.he lodge or house was
now so large Robert sometimes thought hghtnopen a hotel in it!

The truth was that Robert had added to the wooden villa when he could not provide enough
work for his labour force in his enterprise. When work was low, he refused to dismiss his best
skilled men, and so he put them to work amea wing or a new room of his lodge. Robert
grinned in the dark evening, for whereas everybody saw his villa as the obvious sign of
success, only Robert and his workmen knew that each new room had meant a lost job, a
failure of Robert. The house was a flest his shortcoming of his inabilities to find enough

work for his workmenThe lodge meant a chastisement, a constant reminder of huiftiléy.

result was a very odshapedpnestoreywoodenlodge that crouched low and widsa

complexof independenbut interconnectellocks with rooms and corridors sometimes built
around ageld oaks that were permitted to continue to gtbeir rootsunder the house.

One entered Rober ttliasturnecaway intmganders fromahe mdin yaad a d
thelodge hidden from view at firshnd theronestood in awe in front of the expanse of the

low, onestoreybuilding, which turned on both sides of the entrance towards the viewer and
which looked as dark brown as the forest, blending with the foreshidden everywhere

from the view in most of its parts. The look of the lodgéhe gladevas indeed sombre, also

from the inside. It was only the back side, the side that faced south and that look&ghout

over the open landscape of meadows and fieldghlet the light flood in. The architects

Robert had put to the task and to the challenge had skilfully directed that ample light further
inside, even into long corridors. The wooden panels everywhere dampened the light, but also
gave every visitor a vgrcosy feeling.

The vast lodge was also a passiudding for energy consumption. The house could be
warmed with a minimum of oil and gas. The outer walls were very thick and filled with
isolation materials. The blocks of the various pavilions were also independent of each other,
separated by thick walland corridors, not only to keep in the warmth, but also to provide for
privacy of sounds. Frank Lloyd Wright might have been proud of the structure, and the nice
aspect of it was that Robert could continue adding pavilions to it, expand inamidiiengh.

Robert Jacquet was a friendly, jovial man, a tall man with a handsoagthewn,boyish
face that always seemed to be smiling or grinn@ygs devoid of malign cunninge had
dark brown hair, a cleashaven square chin, broad shoulders and ansalatioletic body. He
looked like acongenialogger,who remainedn harmony of soulith the forest and with his
lodge. One of his blocks held a fairly large and vegjlipped gym room, in which he
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exercised regularly, often with his friend Youssouf BiRobert also liked to jog or to
mountainbike in the forest of Boyu.

Robert owned a fine villarnal successful enterprise. He was intelligent and could prove that
with a university diploma in economics, but he also had suffered from the vagaries of fate,
which had left him a loner like Youssouf Bikri.

Robert Jacquet had married after his father died ndiere was Andrée de Porinthe, a young
woman born in Brussels and brought up among the wealthy jet set of the capital. She was tall,
slim, very stylish. Skthrew a striking figure with a long, pale facewhich shone full red

lips and amethyst eyekler face was of an extraordinarily, perfectly shaped beauty.

Luxurious blond hair crowned her head and fell to her shoylttaraing her face of finely

bored lines, small but long eyes, a forehead covered with reluctant curls. She was perfectly
proportioned in breasts, waist and hips. Her body screamed sex, her dress clung to her skin,
moulded it, revealeder smoottcurvesand generouorms thatwere impossile not to

notice. When Andrée moved, the fluid motion of her small, bulging stomach and long legs
accentuated the rhythm of her perfection.

Why had Andrée felt attracted to the young bear from the deep Walloon codetridad she
wanted to try somethingew and alien? Robert had been dazzled by her mateers
demeanour and her passion.

They met at a dinner party organised by muaggjuaintancesAbout twenty persons had

been present at the noisy gathering, and he had not felt at ease among thecdidtizéd
Corporate KecutiveOfficers, financiers and leaders of Belgian commerce. Andrée sat on the
other side of the table to his left, obviously amused by his awkwardness in this company.
After the dinner, she had come to sit next to him. They tal&d.shook her wonderful, thick
hair, and hadl ashed at him with her deep blue eyes. He managed a few light jokes, and he
got inexorablycaught in her webf charm When theyleft, he asked almost stammering
whether he could see her agathe had smiledalready certain of her triumphnd offered

him a card frormher silver purse. Later, they wenttdogether several times in Brussels, and
shehadinvited him into her apartment. Thégcame lovers. Robert offered her an
outrageously expensive engagenmamg, and they married less than a year after their first
meeting. The marriage receptistaged by Andrée, who had a large fortune of her own, was
regarded as one of the grandest of Brussels, organised in a castle south of the capital. Robert
brough his wife to his lodge of Roboisyhich he had then only begun to build and which was
still a small house, not larger than a few roofrieen the trouble started.

Andrée forcefully loathed the countryside. Robert refused to live in Brussels. They had rows
which ended in very nasty exchange of insults, thgragsionate but exhausting
reconciliations. Andrée drove on and off to Brussels in a sort of armisticetetlhea
exchanges. She stayed in her apartment and attended theatre performances andtencerts
continued to seek out parties and diners, like she haddore her marriage. She could not
give up heflamboyantlife in the capital of which she had beenmuch admired queeBhe

told Robert the quietness of the calmrthe woodstultified her senses amgrmind. Robois

was a cultural void, uninteresting and uncultivated. She had made no friends in Robois,
sought nothing to occupy her mind with. Shetstato drink, became fickle in mood, acidic

in conversations. She despised the people of Robois.
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Robert suspected she had lovers when she did not return to the villa. She spent ever oftener
her nights in Brusselsand she did not return to Boyu for sealettays, thershe disappeared
without contacting Robefor weeksand refusing t@answer on her mobilelephone

One evening, Robert found her dedrdink on the sofa in his parlour. He woke her and
dragged her halfonscious to hdsedroom, but shecreamed at him and hit him with her
fists. When he asked what the matter was, she called dmmbass and a fgwod, a stupid
little loser andh countryrat. The next moment, she vomited all over the bathroom and
confessed she was pregnant. She did roitwo be pregnant, but she was too late for an
abortion.

Andrée stayed with Robert until two months after the birth of their daughter. Then she
disappeared and lgfte child with her husband. Robert found out from acquaintances she
subsequently lived wh one lover after the other in Brussels. He hired a detective, compiled a
dossieron her whereabouts, on the men she invited to her apartment apnidiin, hotels she
frequented with lovergndhad his lawyer file a divorce. The divorce was conclualill

mutual consent before Robert had to make public the information he had assembled. Andrée
granted Robert full guardianship of their daughter. She never afterwards asked to see her
child. Since then, Robert Jacquet lived alone in the large housewodte now with a

daughter of twelve.

Robert buried himself in work. He devoted his energy entirely to his enterprise and to his
daughter. He sought to be involved in the groups and associations of Robois. He attended to
the village feasts, drove in the nmdainbike races, organised the barbecue ofktieeer

team, and he dismissed none of his workers even when business went slower.

Six years ago, the former Bourgmestre of Robois, Jean Trusswgtemntacted him askg
whether hanight beinterested irpolitics. Robert Jacquet knew very little of politics, and
even lss of the political landscape in Robois.

Jacquet and Trussogne metinBeeu r g me st r e 6CGmmouheHall.cTrissogme t h e
explained to Robert the political situation of thikages The United Democratic Partyr

UDP had abandoned its name in order to rule better and more, through an election list of
Intéréts Communawof IC, of Communal Interests, in whicksanon-UDP-ers and non
partymembers found a placé€russogne hathitiatedthat more modern evolutipmwhich was
better suited to a countryside commuiike group of IC had not gained a majority of votes in
the last election, but nearly so. A new election was on next year. Trussogne reckoned the IC
list would do well once mordgut he explained slowly to Robert that he was terminally ill

with cancerHe might still live a year, maybe a little longer, but he did not have the energy
left to lead an election list to victorkle had discussed the issue with trusted advisers, with
party membes, with the Echevins of the commun®mit none of thesesteemed theyere

popular and strong enough to lead the list of IC. Jean Sauvent thought he was too old, André
Bacca could not spend more of his time and attention to politics and he wiisgriai

shoulder the responsibility af Cabinet Leadt. Nadine Dumortier was natheavyweight
politician, a good maager, butlacking the charismto lead a major campaigso she

hesitated and then refused, realising she did not possess suffiaiemshepqualities to head

a commune of thirtghousand.

Bourgmestre Trussogne proposed Robert to lead the list IC adthelections. Robert would
have the full support of Trussogne and of the main members of the Cabinet. Sauvent and
Bacca offeredher help.
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At first, Robert refusedategorically He too tried to dodge the charge of the responsibilities
in a domain he knew nothing of, but Trussogne insisted. He argued Robert was popular,
loved, a weHknown figure already in Robois, a decent man afideamanager. Many people
of Robois had their houses built or restored by Jacquet&Duchatel and fared well with the
cooperation. Robert knew a lot of people in the villages. His wit and friendliness were
appreciated. Trussogne, Sauvent and Bacca wouldRudlpert with the elections campaign
and learn him the tricks of their experienthey had teams of young people to glue posters
in the villages, to distribute publicity folders, to talk well about hitme group of IC knew
where the folders could be praat cheaply. A long list of sympathisers was availadohel
people would come together to put the folders with publicity for Jacquet in envelopes and
distribute them in the village streets. The campaign force of IC would be at his disposal.

Trussogne assed patientlfthatRobois could be managed like an enterpf$e

administration could use a stricter hand than his own. Jac@segawdlooking, tall, friendly,
warm and gifted with a talent for putting people at ease with him. Robert listened with gra
and sympathy to the troubles of the people, he helped where he cewdshiaturally
consoling and aoforting, a jovial, decent maihere was only one snag, laughed Trussogne:
Jacquet did not drink enough belde was not a bibulous politiciafiimeswere changing,
however, and beer flowed less with the people that countedrtiizangood old days. In

short, many citizens of Robois and of theG@upin particular, regardedd®ert Jacquet, a
man born in their commune, as a man of substance on wieyntaould rely to lead ¢h

villages well.

Robert Jacquet remained astonished and puzzled by the proposal, asked for a week to think it
over and talk to a few persons. In that week he got called on the telephone by so many IC
members, assuring him of theumpport, that he yielded to their plea. Together with the main

IC members, he campaigned during the entire year that followed.

He did not receive help from everybody. Marc Thoran, Pierre Gasson and Albertine Dewez
accepted him with grace but coolly. Beeprepared their own campaigns, kept aloof, and
were probably a little jealous of the rapid success of Robert.

The ICGroup won the elections gloriously, augniegttheir scoreand Robert Jacquet

received a nice personal success. The IC group addezbtwaillors to theinumber
Subsequently, Robert Jacquetswoted forby the Commune Coundib the function of
Bourgmestre, majority votes against minority votes. The majority that was formed continued
with the same allied party as six years before, with the Liberal party. Thahegeneral

wish of IC membersand Robert had not objected

With Robert Jacquet &ourgmestre, Eliane Collado of the Liberal Party was appointed for

Finances and Commerce. She was the most prominent member of the Liberal Party. That

party proposed also the elder but very experienced and wise Gustave Tillard for Construction
Works and kusing. Collado pushed forward a protégée of hers, a young female doctor,

Simone Ash, for Social Care, Infancy and Social Housing. Executive Cabinet Councillors or
Echevins for IC were Jean Sauvent for Public Works and Urbanism, but Sauvent immediately
spe of being replaced sometime during his term by an@bancillor who would take part

in the next elections for | C. He gave no nam
and urged the old man to hold on. André Bacca wanted the lighter iterosirigri and

Culture. Marc Thoran agreed to take on all Personnel issues, Roads Security and all judicial
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matters. Gasson obtained Sports and Mobility. Dewez wanted Education, Youth Care and the
management of the communeds holiday sites.
Robert Jacquet wouldave tohold his team together, lead the Council sessions and the Police
and Fire Brigade.

The commune was run smoothly and efficiently under Robert Jacquet. Robois seemed pleased
with its new Bourgmestre. Trussogne died one year after the electiorRpbad Jacquet

staged a moving ceremony of commemoration. He had liked the gentle Trussogne who had
taught him so much about his villages.

Robertds popularity increased when the commu
and was granted that prigge. Henceforth the people of Robois could call their assembly of

villages a town, the town of Robois.

Robert Jacquet was friendly and helpful to all in Robois, but intimate with only one other
man, and that only since recently. He had met Youssouf, Pitgsented to him as Joseph

Bikri, about eight months ago at a meeting ofBoeirgmestres of the Police Zone covered by
the division of Superintendent Paolo Timario. Bikri was the new i@aperintendentvhose

team was assigned to Robois, but Robertriwdnet or heard of the man in the very first
months of his function period. Bikri was still young, a newcomer to Robois, born in the
largest city of Belgium, and a newcomer also to the countryside Police Zone of the
neighbouring towns of Robois. Robekdd to hold frequent contacts with I8sperintendent

for he was also, as Bourgmestre of Robois, responsible for the local police. It was money of
Robois and of the adjacent communes that paid for the police force.

After that first, casual meeting, Bikri afbberthad met more oftefi, i r st i n Roberto
at theTown Hall, and then Robert had invited Joseph to his villa. Youssesifassomewhat
disoriented man in Robois, Robert judgeld kept aloof, shy even, fatst, but then his quick

wit, soft irony and underlying quiet cynici
while, Youssouf could drivat anytimé nt o Robert ds gravel entry t
al ways war mly wel c o me destraRge manrYoussouf gotinvitethto e r | i
suppers, to TV footbathatches and even to video sessions Robert organised for himself and

his daughter. These became regular evenings with snacks and wine. Youssouf had much to
explain about his life. The two meaws and invited each other at feasts and parties, they

became a welknown group that arrived together at commune dinners and balls and

barbecues.

Bi kri |l earnt much about the commune from Jac
police support at evésn The men discussed together on how to handle the rising percentage

of burglaries, drug dealing, juvenile delinquency, house disputes and other police issues for
Robois.

Bikri had been appointed to Robois for over a year, and it was maiftpbgrtlJacq e t 6 s

constant help that Bikri got well introduced to the citizens of the country town. Robert had
become Bi krioés better friend for six months
present Muslim immigrant image that Bikri drew behind him likeaps oner 6 s bur den
divorce plus daughter for Jacquet. Both men were sidgkperately longing for female
companyyetapparently unable and unwilling to engage easily in relations with women. Both

felt a need for at least one confident.

n

Robert Jaquet pondered about all this while he drove onissession of th€ouncil of
Robois. He was obliged by law to organise one such session by month, each session being
hel d i n the eveni ngusadlyamuttredahouvossORobed alskdtoand | as
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hold Executive Cabinet meetings once a week. Each of these sessions lasted from four to
seven hours, starting at one o0o6clock in the

It was November, dark, wet and cold, and the
through the evening. Within one year from now, in October of next year, new elections

would take place for the Councils of the Belgian communes. Robert would have to constitute

a new list of candidates for the elections, though that was foremost tloé taskPresident of

the IC Group, ofAlbert DesjardinsDesjardinsvas not much i rsonmRwhhter t 6 s
paunchy, cantankeromsan who played too obviously the elderly statesmaking it for

grantedto be obeyed, but Robert did not believe his gasition would be challenged.

Robert wanted to serve for six years more as Bourgmestre of Robois. He had discovered with
considerableurprise that he liked being Bourgmestre.ddaentlyservedis fifth year as
Bourgmestre of the town of Robois, anddmgoyed it. He did not think much about the

future, and took it for granted he would lead the next list of IC at the coming elections.

He was still recalling the faces of the men and women he wanted elettienlist when he
arrived in the centre of &UtRobois pulled overand parked his car in front of ti®ewn
Hall, inside theformer Abbey of Saint Adelbert.

A Robois Council Session

Robert Jacqudbuchedhe electronic keysecumg absemtmindedlyhis black BMW carand

went over to the courtyard of the former abbey that housebaivae Hall of Robois. He
steppectautiouslyaround the lawion the cobblestoned, slippery patmoted the electric

lanterns had been lighted for the occasion of the Council Sessionehiagas he had asked

He went to the middle wing, but he heard a noise of talking people behind him, turned and
noticed André Bacca and Nadine Dumortier approaching. He waited to greet them with a
smile and a firm handshake. They walkdongthe leftwiy whi ch housed part
administration. A little fartheRobertalso greeted Pierre Gasson, and then he walked through
the monumental, colonnad@alladianporch to step into th€own Council Room. Many
councillors had arrived early and sat nalatting behind the narrow table placed kfiddm.

Robert noted paper, pencils and water stood on the fine red linen that covered the table. The
administration had prepared the session webhasild be

Robertwalkedresolukly to the centre seat, plathis thick pack of folders on the table and
then went round to greet the other Councillors present. He threw a sign of welcome with his
hand to people in the plib he knew, among which Youssouf Bikri, who sat dressed in civil
clothes in the middle of tHast row. The Councillors of the majority parties, IC and Liberals,
greeted Robert with a quick smile. Some opposition members appreciated hamddoese
shook his hand warmly, othepffered the end of their cold fingers. Robert ignored their
frowning frontsand evading eyesgiving a jovial hello. In his own majority he had a special
smile for Simone Ash, the Liberal Echevin.

Simone Ash was much of a puzzle for Robert Jacquet. He had met her for the first time when
the new Cabinet had been instajladw five years ago, but she had remained an enigma for
him. She was unmarried and Belgian, but she mustlmadEnglish connectiondor she
possessed both nationalities. That was about all Robert had found out about her private life.
She had been brohgin rather suddenly by the Liberal party from nowhere, a shining star in
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their firmament. Few people seemed to know her well, but she was a doctor with a fine
clientele of patients and that had been the lwdidisr votes. She had come quite high in sote

for the Liberal Party.

Simone |lived in a huntersé | odge of the doma
been transformed into a comfortable little house, but Robert had never set foot in there. She
lived alone, seemed to have no steady compaana no lovers. She practised as a medical

doctor in the centre of Robois, where she rented part of the lower floor of an apartment
building, and she also worked in a hospital of Bruss&te hardly ever smiled openly, never
responded to a warm smil®f anybody, and formed a rather taciturn, stern figure in the
Executive Cabinet setings.She seldom proffered unsolicited opinions or comments, but she
presented her items clearig short and professionally consttad phrases, and she managed

all mattes assigned to her to general satisfaction. Robert had nothing to add, nothing to ask
her for her domain; everything he could think of she had already foreseen. Simone held a
distance from all Councillors and Echevins, and that was a distance from férieacThe

roads must have been paved with men who squired around her and who had tried and failed to
get intimate with Miss Ash. When men and women who knew each other met in Wallony,

they kissed. Robert, nor anybody else, had ever dared to give Sinemna elvaste peck on

the cheek. People only shook hands with Miss Ash.

Robert nevemet Doctor Simone Aslat communal events, dinners and feasts. Her popularity
was based obviously only on her practide.interrogated Youssouf Bikabout her, but also

Y oussouf could not offer new information on Simone Asiil, Simone Ash was probably

the most attractive woman Robert Jacquet had ever met in Robois. The more he looked at her,
the more he found her stylish to the utmost, dignified, fine and pretty, eargiful even

than his former wife Andrée. Robert feared he felt a little if mog muchtakenin love by

Simone Ash, but he slapped against his cheek when he caught himself thinking along those
lines, saying he was a stupid adolescent who would neaer.IMoreover, Simone Ash was a
member of the Lieral Party, although she was part of his majority group, and therefore
somewhat of an enemy, and member of aydatdid notrustentirelyas an ally. Robert had

to admit he bd never, never once, caudtdr at being untrustworthy or failing to the majority
spirit, but he stood on a very awkward footing wdimone Ash inded, because of the lack

of any communication that sliced deeper into her skin than a millimetre. When Robert
engaged a conversationtiviany person, it took him generally not more than a few minutes to
have that person reveal his or her character, yearnings and life issues. Robert was the proper
image of the naturalonfident, even if he seldom yielded much of his own feelings. He was a
man who asked and did not talk of himsBléspite his natural easiness with peopledide
notsucceed ipenetrangSi mone Ashds defences!

Simone was a talglim, elegant, blondhaired, blueeyed cool beauty with a perfectly
symmetrical fair face feating full, somewhat short but rounded full scarlet lips that seemed
at all time to remain moist. She had elongated, narrow eyes and a thin, pert nose. Robert
sometimes admired even her small rosy ears and the way she constantly drew her luxurious
blond har behind them. She preferred lively colours on her, he remarked, hue combinations
such as red and white, blue and white, often a blouse and dress in lively flower patterns. Her
shoes in Council and Cabinet sessions showed rather high heels. Her dnesgenasry

long, but limited to on or just beneath the knees, and she showed a neat figure of long,
perfectly shaped legs, a thin waist and an ample Bastmade a superb feminine,

curvaceous figurelVhen she got excited, which did happen when she qesséer topics in

the Executive @binet, her fine breasts heaved against he usually tight blouse, so that Robert
had then really to divert his eyes to the wall behind her to not stare. Stare and drool over
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Simone Ash was what Robert should certainly ndulge in at Council sessions, in front of
the assembled Councillors and of the public, among which he remarked today several
journalists. Even the team of the local television company was present this evening, and a
huge video camera was planted on higgslnext to the wall. The cameraman adjusted his
lenses to focusharplyon the Bourgmestre. That lens would follow his glance to the pretty
Liberal, and could be shown with relish the next day to all Robois.

When everybody had found a seat and the aeidhatimming of the welcoming was finished,
Robert Jacquet opened the Council session a
In the session sat twengight people for the town, tiiechevins or Executiv€ouncillors, the

Secretary and the Councillors, and iorfr of them about thirty people of Robois and the

journalists forming the public At R o b e r,atdthe headiofgthe tahldata ibeite
Hersalle, the Commune Secretary, the head of
Echevin, ElianeCollado, the winner of the most votes for the Liberal Partytasibyal

supporter, although member of another party group. Jean Sauvent of the IC Group sat next to
Alberte Hersalle.

The first item on the agenda was the replacement of this C&lmnercillor Jean Sauvent by

Yves Govin, a younger IC Councillor. Robert thought he change would not raise a
controversy with the Liberaland draw no acidic remarks of most of the opposition members
The replacemermwas an internal matter of I@nly. JeanSauvent was close to sixtiree

years old and he had announced repeatedly he desired to step down. The minority groups in
the Council could not care much for who served as what in the majority. The item carried the
most apprehensions for Robert Jacquetdeif, for when it was announced to him only as of
one month agat had come as a complete surptséim.

About one month ago Yves Govin had stood up in an internal meetingroetnbers of the

IC Group weaseffaced, greased black hair sparingly ad\backwards over his skubovin

was a Councillor, but until that momdmhad been one of the quieter majority Councillors

and he had even missseverakessions. The IC Group President had to call Govin to ask him
to be present at more sessions,ficeach Council session the votes counted, the more so
because IC plus the Liberals did not have a large majority. At the political gathering, Govin
came out of the blue to announce his candidature for the replacement of Sauvent. Robert
Jacquet had remaritehat even Sauvent had been surprised at first that evening. Sauvent had
not lately repeated his wish to leadespite his earlier pronounced preference. Robert

thought Sauvent had let the idea pass.

It seemed Govin had now assembled a strong suppothd Cabinet Councillors Gasson and
Dewez spoke immediately forcefully in his favour. The IC Presiddhert Desjardins
sought to win time. He al s oockkunedawn. he@mgued ng abo
there was an issue, for Govin stood noédity well in line when it came to numbers of votes
cast to him in the last elections. The candidates on the IC list had signed a charter before the
elections, stipulang that ExecutiveCabinetCouncillors of IC would be appointed in order of
numbers of vtes. Four IC Councillors between the last Echevin, Albertine Dewez, and

Govin, had received more votes than Govin! If one of these four people wanted to become
£chevin, Govinos acbbviordThethréewonsen and e raawere t o
present athe meetingTheydeclare one by ongas by miraclethey withdrew their clainfior
becoming a member of the Cabinet, in favour of Govin. The &idnt, the Cabinet

members André Bacca and Nadine Dumortier, as well as Robert Jacquet, were totally
surprised.
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The arrangement, the negotiations for Govin, had been going on silently behind their backs.

So much was <cl ear. Ro b er t ndérsandgwhethisthad mi nd r ag
happened. He would not have presented Yves Govin to replace Jeant3aesjardinsalso

would have chosen another person fitie Council. Why had the candidature of Govin been

forced through'Robert and Albert Desjardins looked at each other with the same

apprehensions in min&kobert asked for a week of reflection, butote tad been forced and

cast that same evening, urged by Govin and his supporters. Govin sudderdgt shgoi

eloquence. During the votes, most of the IC Councillors voted for Govin. arkeoiithe 1C

President and of Robertctmet had been twisted.

Robert understood a few days later only what had been going on. Yves Govin had changed
jobs. He had quite surreptitiously received a functioRddisical Undessecretary to the Party
President of th&Jnited Democrats in the Brussels headquarters of théy.pBelephone calls

had immediately been sent from the headquabigitding down the echelons, froregional

to agglomeration to local commune levels. The Agglomeration President@btiarty had
intervened personally to put pressure on the IC Cdorsibf Robois to force them by

menace and promises to abandon their place in the Cabinet for Govin. A post of teacher was
promised to the son of one of the Councillors; another Councillor was offered a promotion in
the Ministry administration in which heorked. A regional subsidy wasomised to the

sports club of the third Councillor. A fourth Councillor, a woman, explained in tears to Robert
Jacquet and to the IC Presid@asjardinghat people from th&)D Party had threatened her

to be blocked in evgthing she did afterwards if she did not yield her place to Govin. The
promises and threats amounted to outright blackmail, anddesjardinsand Jacquet were
outraged but powerless. In the next Council session, Jean Sauvent would be replaced as
Echevinby Yves GovinRobert and Albert crept nearer to each other, both looking
suspiciously at the newcomer who had challenged them and won a small victory without
notifying them.

Several people came to know by which means Govin had grabbed power, and masggro

a hard time to Govin, but they faced established facts. They clenched their fists but remained
silent. Govin could be refused if four other Councillors at least voted with the minority parties
in the Council against him, and Robert Jacquet could Aaaeged that still, but that would
havemeart a public dissent within the IC Group and within the ruling majofitye dispute

would grow intoa serious scandal in the press and in the town, and the IC Group would be
weakened. The IC President and RoBadquet could neither allow nor afford@ndaht

one year of the elections. They let go. Yves Govin would be voted in at the next Council
session as Echevin of Robois.

The worm was in the apple, regretted Jacquet. The easy days of a group of fagadg im
harmony towards a common goal for the benefit of the people of Robois was past history.
Brussels had spotted the opportunity of a town with a firmly established majority of a political
group that should be controlled by the Party. Bhesselgpower games had reached Robois.

Robert Jacquet was not sure he wanted a part of that game. The thought of resignation entered
his mind. He might not want to be a pawn on the chess board of Brussels. A hue of sombre
disappointment hung over him. He realiskdwever, that resigning meant delivering the

Council to Yves GovinRobet would probably also have a challenger for the function of next
Bourgmestre of Robois for the elections of the next yRabert tasted sour in the mouth

realising the bilavasGovin. Hadhereinforced the political group in Robois only to see the
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IC Group be taken over by the old political guard controlled out of a building in Brassels
Would Govin represent the dagger protruding from his back?

In the Council meeting that eveningne of the Socialist opposition members could not let the
occasion pass to shout hseasticcomments. The man stated it was an outrageous dénial o
thedemocracyprincipleand cheating on the voters of Robois to appoint to the Executive

Cabinet somebody who had stood as third last on the IC election list of highest votes. The
Councillor who spoke out thus was Jean Castelle, who was also a Member of Parliament and
afuture FderalMi ni st er i f Robert Jacquetodos i nformat.i
to become more and more vocal during the next Council sessions, for the man would dash

into the election year with the aura of MP and Minister, and go for the jugular & theoup

whenever he saw an occasi@astelle would be wielding a lot of influence and power in the

election period, and promise much to attractr e Ro boi s voters. Robert
Castellebs strength. R o b ceersnd pasitior is hisparty.e vi t al
Robert Jacquet had to answer reluctantly IC wanted to serve the community best by giving the
functionof Echevinto a talented, intelligent person who had enough time to dedicate his

effort to the good of the people. The BZoup had therefore agreed internally to propose

Govin to the Council. Robert added the other Councillors had expressed their wish not to

become Echevin. That short explanation had to suffice, but many eyebrows went up, fronts
frowned and the oppositionigned. When Jacquet glimpsed rapidly in the direction of Govin,

he saw also Govin grinning openly at the table, sure of his newly found power, and well

aware the Bourgmestre has spoken against his own convictears Sauvent received a

smattering of appluse when he exchanged his seat with Govin.

The remaining items on the agenda proved to be less controvErgakpair of several roads

in the village was votefbr unanimously, as were the works inside the swimming pool of Bas
Robois and an extensiar the sports complex.

There was an issue with the house of the parish priest of Giges. Simone Ash had

concluded an agreement with the Church Committezdbange the large, old mansion for a
smaller but more modern and more comfortable apartroetiié priest in the village. The
Bishopric had accepted too, but the priest now asked for a supplementary meeting place
where the Church Committee could assemble. Simone Ash proposed a large room in the
village meeting hall, and the priest had accepted Tthe transfer had to be voted in the

Council. The issue was also that Simone Ash desired to restore the former parish priest house
to install social apartmenis the old building The restoration would be handled and gard

by the Adelbert Social Haing Company, the ASHC, a company that was in theory

i ndependent of the townds administration but
serving to provide Robois with housing for the poor at low rents. The Town Council had also
to vote for theransfer of the house to the private ASBL, Association sans But Lucratif

that was the ASHC. Several people who lived in the neighbourhood objected to the project.
Around the parish office lived mainlywelb-d o peopl e in finerivali | | ads,
of several poorer families in the quiet village centre. Ash and Jacquet knew the wealthy
mansion owners of Grarldges objected only on these grounds, but many other arguments

had been called in. Ash had met and overcome some resistance in heberahRarty. In

the Council session, the Socialist Party and the IC Group supported her in block to reach a
comfortable majority. Two Councillors of the Liberal Party voted against, against their own
Echevin. Jean Castelle stood up again, saying he fbuady strange the Liberal Echevin had
apparently lost the confidence of a substantial fraction of her own party. Robert Jacquet let
that remark unansweredeldaw how Simone reddened in the face when she came under
attack. The vote against her had beparoand public. She would have once more to take up
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the issue within her party. Robert Jacquet thought this had not been thesessashneither
for him nor for Simone Ash.

Robert Jacquet continued imperturbably to introduce item after item to vaneruthe
Council session. Few objections were raised on nsaifetaily management. The necessary
credits for a series of works were voted.

Another minor issue set the Council in sympathetic laughter. On a side road of the N11, on a
communal road witheavy traffic, the Echevin of Public Works, Jean Sauvent, had drawn an
uninterruptedull white line in the middle bthe road so that cars could not pass each other
anymore. On that stretch, the cars would have to redmaiimg one after the other. Pasgi

cars were the frequent cause of accidents on that winding road.

Sauvent had forgotten that on one side of that stretch stood a garage, belonging to Eric and
Nicole DomsBerlé, and that garage also served petrol. Since there lay now a full white line in
front of their fuel station, cars coming from theght side of the road were not allowed to

drive across that line into the station to take on peMeb, cars thadrove out from the

station could noturnto the left. The couple DorrBerlé had seetheirrevenue diminish by

fifty per cent. They screamed out loud to transform the uninterrupted white line by an
interrupted one right in front of their station, so that cars could once more cross the road and
get the fuel they needed without having to drig the next bifurcation. Jean Sauvent, Echevin
no longer, called out from the public he did not object to breaking up part of the line, and
Govin noddedThe change came atslight cost, but Marc Thoran, who was responsible for

the security of the roagaccepted the change graciously well aghe cost. This point also

was rapidly and unanimously accepted.

Robert Jacquet presented a new sports centre for Aucourt, on which the op pbgstibed
with a few words, criticising the lateness of the pisgddor an old need, and then also this,
last agenda item, was voted.

Robert closed the Counci l session at ten obc

Many Councillors continued chatting in the Council Room, but the public and the reporters

left immediately.

RobertJacquet was still gathering his papers when Simone Ash came up to him from behind

the backs of the remairg Councillors, asking to see him for a few minutes in private

afterwards. Jacquet proposed to meetlnerrext day, but she insisted on a short tidi#t

same evening. Robert supposed Simone wanted to tell him about what had happened with the
parish priest officeRoberttoldh e woul d wait i n the Bourgmestr
within fifteen minutes. Ash did not thank him with a smile; shelbdastraight for the exit.

Robert Jacquet was thery last man to leave the Council Roore had tarried for that

momentAt the door, he found Jean Sauvent waiting for him.

Jacgqguet t ook @Gewhwneorthe dvals ay imn ga,n@ J elashmeetinhi s wa
together. |l 6m truly sorry. You should not ha
shall feast you by the IC Group at thexnCouncil session, so we will invite you once more

to a session. You did a good job for many, many years, @andnyght have stayed on. You

still master the issues in your domain, so | regret having to see you go before the end of your
term. I 61 | also miss you personally very muc
on matters in the future, so | hopeu will allow me to come to you once every while and

di scuss things over with you. o
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The ol der man sighed, o6l appreciate how you
for you. Thank you for your kind words. | did feel a little burnt out, you kradweady five

years agolt is true | had found lately a new taste for the town politics. You made the

atmosphere relax in the Cabinet and that gave me hope and courage. But Yves Govin insisted
very hard for me to leave! He said ldhgrown old and inade@ue. Hearguel it was time |
passed serious matters to a younger guy. 0
6Just how much did he insist, Jean? Why did

O6He insisted very hard. I can tell you how,
Brussels phonethe. Theymad me under stand it was in the i
husband that I let go at Robois. My sodaw had a tough period in the Finance Ministry

these | ast months, which has put family.§hter ai n on

men fromBrussels told men covert terms my sem-law might be transferred with a nice
promotion out of the Brussels offices to closer to Robois, to a function in Namur, to a less
stressful job, if | handed over my Cabinet place without objections to Govin. Hagédef

mysonin-l aw would be put under more pressure in
6That is simple blackmail, Jean! d
60h, it was pr es e rdnguedwords, Roken, put is chearesimple termsn e y

thatcutlikeadb ut chkprr Hs. 6

Jean Sauvérsounded bitter. elbowed his head undére piercing eyes of Robert Jacquet.

61 am t oo ol éSasvencaontaseddnt |,couRr adbweirr this,fight. | want my

daughter to be happy. The matter over Yves Govin was decided in a few hoursh{&welf

al so came to plead, or rather to threaten me
Robert stepped up closer to Sauvent. Ol do n
willnothavethi s go so easily. 6

O6Nei t her do | .llwanked towainayou. Gowigpsphemirgy thehind your back
and behind the backs of many people of our IC Group. He is ampariynow. Brussels wants
to tighten control over the votes of IC, making of IC again a more conipieted

Democratic list, though benefiting from the namd agputation of IC. Govin will seek
control over IC. He certainly has the backing of tHe Party heads of Brussels, and with

them he can wield a | ot of power over our gr
OHave you told this to Andr ® BaAtedhayeveh o0 Nadi n
remotely aware of what is at stake?5d

ONo, | havenét, and | r aThdyareolitivianawiti ndt . They

experience. They know things like this can happen. They will have understood something

nasty is cooking inside IC. You mustk&o them. They still support you in IC and they like

you, but the Brussels party may reach them t
60l shall t aRdberttegiedt hem, t hen, 6

Jean Sauventodos eyes suddenly passed along RO
Yves Govin stading outside, waiting, watching them with a smirk on his face. Sauvent

nodded a goodbye with his head and walked on. Robert followed him to say still a few words

to the people who had been present at the Council session. A journalist asked him for
commentn the public works that had been voted. Robert saw Yves Govin turn and speed
along through the abbeyds courtyard, i nto th
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The Liberal Party . Robert Jacquet

| walkedthrough the now drizzling raito my office of the Bourgmestre on the othelesof

the honorary courtyard. My office lay in the left wing of the abbey, in what had once been the
office of theAbbot. The room was long andshaped. My tableg number othairs anda

filing cabinet stood at the far end, hidden, behind the corrbiedf. When | sat behind my

desk | had a fine side view on the courtyard, an eye on the green latke, fonntain and

even on the huge oak tree that was the pride of Robowasglipposed to be over a hundred

and fifty years of age. Parts of the abbleyed fronmthe fourteenth century and earlier, and

that was certainly the case for the rounded, brick vaults in the other branch of my room, which
| used as a meeting roonmhad recuperated a long, sturdy table with nicely carved legs. That
table must sualy have come from the abbey too, but surfaced in the cellars of tBelPIS
remarked it in time, had it cleaned and placed in my longer section. The table must have dated
from the eighteenth century when one of the wealthier abbots had also restorddeahd a

long branch to his office. The space | had now was worthy of a prince, but | sat there only to
receive visitors with some pomp. | was more of a man with a flying office. | worked on the
road, in my car, or at hommobile telephones helping

| decided to wait for Miss Ash seated near the entry, at my long table. | thought that might be
less formal and imposing for her than me sitting behind my solidateskhe in the smaller

chair on the other sidéturned a chair to the door, placed amotim front of me and waited
patiently.Yes, it would be cosier to receive hbus for a quick chat, seated close to each

other, rather than being separated by a hundred kilogrammes of heavy oak.

| felt tired. | sighed and looked at my watch. | wantedetorn home, though the house would

be desolate and enormous for one person. | did not want to talk politics at this la\&hypur

had | accepted?

The door creaked, opened, and Simone Ash ran into my office. She panted when she arrived,
forobviouslysk had been talking to other persons i
before coming to me.

6l wonb6ét keep you | ong, |l 6m sorry, 6 she bega
few words on the appointment of Councillor Govin to CabinetNdee r . 6

| sighed again. | had not expected her to talk about Govin this evening. | had heard quite

enough about Govin. The choice of that guy to the Collége des Echevins, to the Cabinet, was
entirely an internal affair for the IC Group. We ose from amonghe IC Councillors

whoever we wanted to sit in the Cabinet. The Liberal Partyalidhave to bother about

Govin.

Ash continued while | studied her finely chiselled face, her small but exquisite features, her
boyi sh face, h er dadworcieal.tCan the choice\ofiGown by IC mesan 60 we
any change n our relations?o

I

[
O0First of al |l would Ii ke to know who you m
you that no, | don6ét see how anythiang shoul d
boar d, but our work continues as before. Gov

0Yes, of course, 6 Ash he farty Membeds. Wassdyto youve 6 |
by Eliane Colladand also by the Cabinbtembers and the Councillors of the LiberalPt y . 6
60That means by many people,d | chided a |itt
| considered Eliane Collado a friend and confident of long standing. | had worked at adding

and restoring her villa. Why had not Eliane come to me herself, as she always did? Elian

was also the actgPresident of the Liberal Party of Robois. Was she withdrawing from me
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already, keeping a distance between me and her for the next elections, being more
circumspect in her support of the Bourgmestre by sending Simone Ash as the Hermes of
service, the nolcommitting envoy? How quickly does one lose friends in politics, | thought.
Eliane was already letting me feel the support of the Liberal Party in the coming election year
would be cautious, reserved, and subject to revision.

Simone Ash read my feelings inediately from my face. A glance of melancholy, maybe of

pity hung suddenly as a veil hereyes and | resented that lookdid not want her to see me
weak, castigated.

OWe would Ii ke to continue ourAshaipbinednce with
OEl i ane wanted you to know that already now.
thatat this momentbecause such a public statement would be regarded by the population as

if elections were not necessary, as if matters had been ardagigeshand Nevertheless, we

would want you and IC to know we are willing to conduct a new alliance with IC for the next
Cabinet. We would |ike to know your opinion
6Your proposal seems fine t o imelCPresidentraedp!| i ed.
to a few trusted people in our group. We shall indeed have to keep the agreement quiet.

However, | cannot today speak for IC in this matter. | must let thgré@ipOffice decide on

our alliances, but you can tell Eliane | too prefemtoaing the good work with our friends in

the Liberal Party of Robois, as long as your current leaders and Councillors remain in power.

You can give Eliane my word on that. Please tell her | am slightly disappointed she did not
speak to me aboutthesema& r s her sel f . 0

| kept looking steadfastly and a bit hard and cold at Ash, so that she could convey my
disillusion to Eliane Collado. Simone and Eliane had to understand Eliane had not come
forward enougtby a long way The confirmation of an alliance wasnsething the President
of the Liberal Party had to bring to me, not a messenger.

Simone Ash hesitated.

6To come back to the second part of my messa
Yves Govin might play in 1C. 6

| kept my silenceAsh had vexedne a little by nowlf Eliane kept her distance, | was not

going to give the Liberal Party, Eliane or Simone, more than they deserved at this stage. |
withheld my unconditional confidence, and regrettechinediately

Si mone cont i nue dqsayxHighedrightviay Wekheaodwveh Gowin i$ a
high-ranking Party Official in the office of tHeederalPresident of th&nited Democratic

Party. He is ambitious and well supported in Brussels. We fear he might become-a heavy

weight in IC and force higleas upon IC at Robois. We fear also he might try to force a
coalition with Castelle and the Socialists i
O0He might t rgwfflyf. hadtC,astleldger eaendd t he Sociali st
the UnitedDemocrats of Brussels. Theyamtogether want to have IC change alliances. | am

aware the Socialist Party wants Castelle in power here, as an EchevilEkethgive

Cabinet, possibly even as Bourgmestre. Govin may be the instrument of the Party leaders of
Brussels who desire to acomodate the Socialists to gain their goodwill and a few nice posts
elsewhere, maybe to obtain a Ministry post. | know of all that, though only since recently.

Those people may have forgotten the mathematics of the voting. | had ten times more votes

on my name than Yves Govin. That also has a weight of power. Politics is a power game, and

the ultimate power lies withthevotdsf | have t o | oltdosohnlithes wi t h
IC Party of Robois and tHgD Party of Brussels risk losing my votes, and thereby lose their
majority? What holds me from coming to the elections with yet another group than IC, with
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my own group, and rely on my friends and my popul2iNg, | have absolutely do not have
to pander t 0 |aBalgo unpéepossessiisglwbes he is concdrned.

Simone Ash watched me sharp8he sain awe.She should know | could play hardball too.
| a d deae wellinfjormed. Eliane is well imfmed. Still, | repeat, why did she raime
toaskfort hi s hersel f?50

| stopped speaking, waiting for an answer that was difficult to come.

ONo doubt, 6 Si mone r ea$d maetimdwe da Fliane wduldlmave a s m
told you this herself, it Eliane is considering leaving politics after the elections. She may not

even represent her candidature on the |ist f
That was real and hot news! This was a day for surprises, indeed.

| reacted rather quickly, OEliane is the gen
doesshewanto quit now?o

OEl i aneds husband is much older than she. He

Paul have discussed moving to the vicimfytheir two children, who live both with their
families in the South of France. They shall leave Robois. The information is extremely
confidential, Monsieur Jacquet. Only you and | know of her intentions and Eliane wants the
fact to be kept silent for &ast until the next elections, at least until the moment the list of the
Liberal party will be made publidf she has to remain on that list, she shall not announce her

l eaving until after the elections. You must

0And IBordisg over her prestige and | eader shi
Ash sent me a quick, angry, annoyed look of defiance, but also of pride.

ONot necessarily, 6 she shot backartyWwiMdbo becomn

decided by the Parl@o mmi t t ee! 0

60f course,® | conceded, g
60f course, 6 Simone Ash re
A silence fell.

Simone Ash waited few seconds, looked at himgernails, bowed her head and continued

then in a | ower tone, 01 anvednwoteansl deeperinyet whe
politics. Party Leadership involvesore responsibilities than | may be willing to take on. |

remain first and foremost a doctor! | have nedeup my mind yet. Still, you must know |

would appreciate more to be your allythanthday of any ot her politici
Ash reddened when she spoke these words, which might be interpreted in different ways, and

her words surprised me once more on that memorable day. | noticed the nnavitatsshe

said. She would welcome a politicdliance with me personally, noecessarily with the IC

Group, which meant not necessarily with Govin.

Again, | did not say anything for a few moments st udi ed Si moHhads pear |
Simone merely been imprudently candid, or were her words emuog to stronger personal

relations between us? An experienced politician would not have said something like this.

Eliane would never have utterbadr personal preference openlyhy also had Eliane sent

Simone to me®id Eliane want me to regard Simoag her crown princesasher successor,

and had she wanted to offer Simone to me so that | would give her the same confidence as |

had given her, Eliang?ad Eliane remarked in the Council how | stared at Simone at times?

More than one game was being @dy| surmised.

| said, 61 appreci at enarsdtletsitugtionuas fpllongtithist ol d me .
moment, | still definitelywantto be the next Bourgmestre of Robois, and | want to lead the IC

list of candidate$or the coming electiong amaware that Govin, backed by Brussels, may

become a challenger. | would appreciate hearing any new information your party can bring
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me on him and on his position within the headquarters ddhv@arty in Brusseld.shall

have my own sources, of courset baything interesting learnt from within the Government,

for instance, might interest me. My intentions are to continue and strengthen our alliance. Of

all this I will not speak one word in public, except with the IC President and with very few
friendslcant rust totally. Neverthel ess, Pleasedatin 6t kn
Eliane alsd shall fightfor my i ntenti ons. 6

OWe were sure you would,d Simone confirmed r
whatever happened in the Liberal ®aand especially with her, you could have confidence in

her and in me. | also will now summarise. We silently but firmly support you as our next
Bourgmestre in a preferred alliance. This feeling is strong with Eliane, with me and with our
closest friend# the LiberalParty of RoboisWe shall support any new alliance with you,

with IC or with any other party led by you, to be concluded officially only in the night of the
elections, after the voting results have become puMe&ask you formally to be éhfirst

party to be contacted by you tafio the newColleége des Echevipthe Executive Cabinet, for

Robois. We also will try to contact you as soon as possible in the night. We ask you not to

conclude any alliance until you have heard o
0 Thaonfoimmgt o my i ntentions, and thus we shal/l
| added, o6if anything changes to these vVviews

Simone threw me again a quick glance, for of course my last words made the future again less
predictable andtable than she might have wished. It was the best | could grant, however.

At that point, Simone made a gesture as if she wanted to get up from her chair. Our

conversation was at an end. Almost. | could not hold out any longer, then.

| wished all prudece and patience to hell, threw myself head first into disaster asking,
begging softly, 6Simone, can we meet somewhe
have supper with me on another evening? We could go tatheof the Lake 6

ThelLady of he Lake was a two star restaurant in Besnes, not far from where Sied

and also not far from my own houdée choice was bad, | reflected too late, for if anybody

of a village of Robois saw us there together, the news of much more than a alitinak

would run like fire through the town. When the words were out, | realised how blunt they

must have sounded, so it as my turn to redden. | should have found an excuse and a smile,

saying something like that | wanted to hear a little more abounaWdeader of the Liberals,

or | might have told her | wanted to find out where her English sounding name came from.

But | didndét do any insthntlyfohtlzetbluntness, dtupidity Bnd a me d my
damned impatience. Any other proposal wouldensaunded worse, however. | was a clumsy

idiot. I was an engineer, not a diplomat, and probalsiga very bad politician.

Si mone Ashdéds answer was thrown back quickly
Jacquet. We cannot flaunt our political relatione t he open, not now. 0

Of course we could not, but her refusal was on another level too. | felt sadly disappointed with
the rebuke, the so manieth setback of the biagd received one more vestigial wound to my
pride.Nobody was to approach Miss Asimdacertainly not Robert Jacquet! So much sounded
very clearly in her voicd.felt like a libidinous leprechauish continued to get up, she

pushed her chair decidedly under the table, did glimpse at my face for a fraction of a second,
saw what she probbbexpected, and turned her back to me. She hurried to the door, flung

one panel wide open and left me sitting at the imposing table for the fool | very much was.
What woman in her true mind would want to mess with me, with an uninteresting chap who
would probably not survive the coming elections, who lived like a solhannitin the

woods, had a nasty divorce behind him and a handicapped daughter at home?
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| looked at the six stern faces on the portraits of former Abbots that decorated my walls. Them

too | had saved from oblivion in the cellars of the Abbey.

6l chuckled, o6you guys havenét been of much
But then, they too probably didndét understan
Well, there was no point in whimpering abd@ut had better lick these wounds too, and

march on.

*kkkkkhkkhkk

The months of November and December of that year came and went bleak and wet and
windy. It rained days long because the Jetstream flewferagice instead of over the North of
Scotland holding the low pressure zones over Englaeagdng us rain showersom over the
oceanfor weeks The atmosphere was nevertheless not extremely cold. We had our normal
Belgian autumn weather.

Nothing much worth mentioning happened. | was the Bourygmasd | handled matteo$
the town as efficiently as | could. We prepared the festivities of the sgmohgummer
among which the important and famous March of Saint Adelbert.brbigyht a note of
gaiety in what we were thinking of. | heard veryiditof Yves Govinto tell the truth, in that
period. The man attended only one Cabmeeting out of the eight we had to organise,
giving as excuses he was withhétdBrussels. This might have satisfied the mintithe
United Democrats of the IC Grouput | found the fact inacceptable. Goviadho comply
with hisduties and responsibilities. The majority IC wielded in@abinet was preciousVe
needed every vote and voice. December was only half a month. | decided to call Govin to
order in Januanhut | wondered how much real pressure | wowdéle to exert on him.
Simone Ash avoided my eyes, and | too spoke to her osiylleblesand as a professional
maregerduring the weekly Cabinet meetings

We had not a difficli time to daw up a nevbudget for the coming year. This took me a few
additional meetings ang ananyheadaches in meetings whiane ColladoElianenever
mentioned the name of Simone Agtdditional meetingsook placeat the Town hall to
guarantee the votes of each Cabmetnber. The accounts$ the past year also showed no
isstes. We would end #ayear with green figures.

Christmes Eve and Newe ar 6 s DWeyfrittered mveay that time feasted them alone

with my daughter and | was very pleased Youssouf Bikri spengwknings with us at my

home. We formed the association of lonely bachelds watchedhe endof-year TV
programmesdrank our Cognacs andedhe good food of delicatesser ordered frona

caterer.

On New Year 6s Day, s ev eusaHapppNew ydarlwdsraditgep ed i n
surprised at the marks of sympathy, and my house filled with friends in the afternoon, Joseph
Bikri once more among them.

I held a New Year6s reception in the middle
of Robois. Manypeople smiled when they expressed their wishes of luck for the year,

referring to the coming elections. | even spoke a little with Jean Castelle, the Socialist Party
Member andhow the proudMinister of Pensions, and the man addressed rtieeivarmest

of tones. Maybe | had made a devil out of a man who was merely and adversary but not a
dishonest politician. Life dragged on with the usual bore.
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Chapter 2. January and February

A session of the Collége des EchevinsRobert Jacquet

On thefifth of January | organised the first Cabiméeeting of the year. We had not had a
session of th€ollége des Echevirder two weeks, so many itenid accumulatedn the
agenda. | spent a few days preparing the points.

The day before the session, PBelgambe rang at my home.

| was alone that day, musing for an hour or so over the plans of my house. | wondered
whether it as possible to add a horse stable on my grounds. My dawghéesikkd me for a
pony, and | thought working with a horse might bdrgerestingherapy for her. | would

have to work with her, of course, but | had not only my days to wotiut also my nights,

and | thought | could cope with the addemlits | would have to spend with he8hould | add

a stable next to my villa, or should I let a pony or nice horse remain at a nearby farm?

My bell rang interrupting brusquely my thoughtmd Paul burst in. He indeed burst in, for
when | operd the door he ran past me, straight to mynimioom and thre himself

seemingly exhausted in a leather sofa.

Paul was another friend of mine, more a colleague than an intimate friend, but he had been
invited several tires before to my villa and knew the outlay of the rooms. He had helped me
organi® feastsn Robois and wéad drank mang glass of windogether in the summer tents
of the Robois festivities. Today, he seemed extremely nervous. He raked his fingers
constantly through his scraggy hair, had bloodshot eyes in an ugly, tired, rechthbe, a
continuously moved his arms and legs as if he were pursued by a detachimeodttirsty
hussars. Degambe was also the Director of the Society for Social Housing of Robois, an
ASBL calledAdelbert Housing of which Simone Ash was thesident of he Management
Board.

Adelbert Housingvas a company that worked entirely independently from the town
administration and from the Council of Robois, but the company had been created by the
Council. It received subsidies from Robois, worked mainly with subsidies of the Walloon
Region, and we a@asionally voted in the Cabinet to grant terrains and houses to it in order for
the company to build social houses and apartments for us. By tradition, the Echevin of Public
Housing served also as the President of Adelbert Housing, and that was SimoRel#s8.

had no other means, no specific administration to build social dwellings by. The company had
invested heavily, using its subsidy money and the revenues of the rents, to install an ambitious
program of new buildings. We wanted to double the numbso@al apartments in Robois

from one hundred to two hundred in two years! We had to do that, for immigration moved

tens of poor newcomers southwards from Brussels to Robois, so that we had urgent needs and
many new demands to lodge these new poor in.

| grantedDegambe some time to blow off steam. kégt wiping off the sweat from his
forehead witha dirty handkerchief although thadiators wer@ot switchedon inside my
rooms. | usually stopped the central heating to the strict minimum for the nighbadahot
yet turned the temperature higher. | preferred coolness over warmth.

Finally, | asked Paul what was the matter.
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6Several wugly things fell wupon my head, 6 cri
| offered him a coffee. He pointed to the brandy bar however, and aftehssitetion and a

glimpse at the clock for the early hour | poured him a hefty Cognac and handed him the glass
disapprovingly. I knew his wife; she would not have agreed with him drinking in the morning.
60Thank youdbankdel ngaddae th dl naner guass whattbefell on¥ne thié

ti me. O

| responded, but not before pouring also my first coffee of the day. | was not entirely awoke

yet, not before that coffee, | had worried a part of the night about the horse stable, and |

remained slightly irrith e d  a teruffoa.u | 0 s

o0Tel | me, 6 | said.

61 am b e iimcgurtfoitséxaatharasdment, nea u | Degambe, 6 he beg
is only the first matter. A Socialist member of tharidgenen Board of Adelbert Housing

has launched rumours against foehaving fraudulously assigned contracts to a company for

the maintenance of the central heating in our socatragnts. If that was not enough, the

woman also accused melwving used the credit card of Adelbert Housing for personal

purchases. Imagm, me, Paul Degambe! o

He had twice used his own name. He could not allow somebody believing he was dishonest, |
thought. That was a good sign.

OWait, wait,é | remarked. O&éLetbdbs handl e one
harassment ?0

6You knmotabbhdamuy, Robert! | Padlwailedunnervédar ass t h
60Yes, | place my hands o nlikenootrhatis ordyrbecauden men

am a mce guy. lwant to be jovialcaring amiable, gentle and loving. We have tAatnurud
woman in our personnel. She cleans our premises. She is a Muklith she hid when we
hired her. She came in with her hair visible, but now she works with a shawl on her head.
Everybodywho comes in our building thinks he shie hasrrived atMecca. We tolerated her
attitude.We do not want to be accused of racism or discrimina8be.told women of my

staff thet it is not allowed at all for men to stare at her or to touch her, or to tell her what she
must do. That is not allowed by her religiddow she accuses me of urging her repeatedly to
take off her shawl, which is true, for people stare at her precisely because she has a chador on
her headShe alsaclaims| touched her back and shoulders. That also is true, but | did that
only to point otito her how superficially she works. Yes, | yelled at her. | want the cleaning
to be done a lot better. She calls that harassment! Anethier do as she pleasdsiant a
well-runinstitution! 1 told her | would dismiss her if she did not work betber, she put all

her remarksin writing and went to the police and then to the Judge of Namurawith

complaint for harassmenitbet she is out fomy moneyb

6That i s annoynmnotve,r yb btadneécds gerfillexted. dédYou
decent arguments. You have good reasons for w
would refuse your reasoning and your defence. Yiaue no record for sexual assaydeople

know you as a jovial typel'heJudge will take all that into account. &ltomplaint will turn

against Zumurud. Bthe way, wlo is that woman? | saw her get into a big Jaguar the other

day when she had finished her jotBhy does she work as a cleaning woman when a Jaguar
comes to fetch her?6

0l dondét know, remarked tbat toddeohusbane drives anJaiguey live in

a village adjacent to Robois. | bet the guy handles drugs or something likeatbald not be

surprised if they had a cannabis farm in their célar.

| grinned.

0 @ you have had trouble wittexu a | har ass mendéed.bef or e?d6 |

0No, of @ashrieked. not , 0
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| added quickly, 0 wetotheavomaa. MaybeSHisiAamured cAnsbe t o t
brought to withdraw her complaint. Zunudrneeds to understand this is Belgium, not

Morocco. Wedothings differently. | could also ask Youssouf Bikri to have a talk withrher

Arabic and explainhings to her. He may learn more. No, sexual harassment bsegons

highly improbable. What woman would want to be involved with hai ry bear | i ke
Paul Degambe had a thicktraggly black beard and quite some facial hair which he never

shaved. Paul looked at me angrily.

| cont i nueéalljoked dhmes owi,l | sort itself out. Thi
6Tell that to my wife, 6 Paul grumbl ed.

6l b do that,d | promised. OWhat about the o
60One of the two Socialist Party members of t

allocated contracts for the maintenance of the central heating systems in the apartment
buildings, big contractdo always the same company. | do know the boss of that company, a
man from Robois, by the way. He has been a friend of many years, but he won the contracts
simply because his offers were the bestamckedthe lowest. Since the company is situated

in Radbois, his mechanics arrive very fast in our houses when defects happen. Speed is
essential, for when in winter the temperature is low, we do not want heating to be failing for
more than an hour or so. The people who live in our apartments are often Joepdave

little children. The Socialist woman accuses me of giving the contracts always to the same
company. She claims | received money for that. She also says the company maintains the sites

insufficiently, so that defects happen. Both allegationsamrew ue, unf ounded, al
6Did the Management Board of Adel bert Housin
60f course. |l bring contracts each time to t
the offers, which were lowest in price, ahe board accepted the arguments. Even the
Socialist woman who accuses me now voted in
6ls all that written own in the official rep
6Yes it is!d6 Paul brightened.

6Then | dondét under yduaaulddovrdmynowaon is towomstitut¢ya  Wh a't

committee for assigning contracts after calls for submission of prices. Three peom@aoul

| am sure Simone Ash would agree to become a member of such a comrhigteemmittee

will quench any further suclumours.Take a Socialisin it. You must havene Socialist

member of the Board who dos not hate you?b2o

6Most of them agr e amdttutioado far. eantagk thé ather Sociallstead t h e

man,how he feels 6
e

OWell then, alrn elgeatda as:isl y fr & fruatuedd ,c at oo. What
Degambe sighed.

0l would have abused of the Housindg Companydo
6Did you?5d

ONo! | used the credit card to fildl my car os

Robois and outside Robois. | do that only when | drive a lot for the company. | drive a lot to

Namur and to Charleroi to discuss matters with the guys of the Walloon Region. | do pay

tools and small items necessary for the company with the creditocardpring in tickets and
invoices to justify the expenses. Our accoun
6Then nobody can accuse you of cheating, Pau
not hing but the tr ut h ?canhdnlymelptouif llkriow thd tiutk,e t o h
and the whole truth! | am quite willing to stand by you, Paul, and convince your President to

do the same, but listen very attentively to me, now. At the first minor untruth from you, we
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shall both have to drop ydike a stone in the ocean. We like you, but this is an election year.

Do you understand clearly what | say?5b

6You hurt my feelings, Robert. You have | ost
friend. My wife also has begun tioubt. She reproachese for touching other women. She

called me a whoremonger and a thief! She called me that, me, Paul Degambe!evieave n

stolen anything, never touched another woman. | did acceptl@ dicChampagnat the end

of each year, but many companies bringus met hi ng around that ti me.
Pau Degambe sank in the cushions on the sofa and bowed his backiiketadnan.

6l also always thought of you as armlodsonest m
practiceand your colleagues spk well of you. | observed you at feasts and meetings and
never remarked something untowardly. You hav

have the righto some caution. | also believe you are a bit too jovial with women, but | never

saw you gethg more than friendly with females. | even envied you for your physical

gentleess with people. | hold some more distance than you. | do trust you. It seems to me you

are in no great danger. There is nothing to be truly upset about. This too willedbduits It

is merely a nuisance. For the affair of the Muslim wonyan, u h@avetb take on a lawyer.

Take somebody who is very respected at the Court. You might expect the press to blow up the
affairs. This is an election year. Very many leftist or anigtdoys seek out any small

incident to cry for racism and fraud, but the more decent Socialist will be prudent. Things like

this can happen to anybody. Through you, the shouting guys may try to harm me and Simone
Ash, a rather conservative and alibefab | | di scuss the matter 1 mme
it would be good if she had a word with that Zumurud. It may all be a misunderstanding. As

for the rest, you speak of rumours. Have you talked yourself to the Socialist woman in your
Boar d?20

60 What wagudtoldat do?6

OPeople sometimes | aunch rumours without rea
for slander. Why donoét orforashommeetingcand abkderwo ma n
eye to eye, why she has spread those rumours? Ask heewtlence she has. If she has

merely doubts, you might aim for a reconciliation and take her on in your attribution

committee for the contracts. Maybe she aims for something like that to get more visibility in

her own party. You can give her that and mékends with her. Use charm instead of being

upset. Her proof of fraud must be thifou can explain to her the procedure for the credit

card, show her the tickets and invoiddave her tal k openly to your
0 He r bnrlawvtalboaedoes thmaintenance of central heating systems. | bet she wants that

man to win the contracts, even though he I iwv
OExplain her why that other company cannot h
the offers, the prices, to her brethn-law. If she did that, she would ltee one caughin

fraud. Tell her it would not be good publicity for her to receive contfactser family. Who

knows, the woman may not even stand her bratiaw! Talk to her! Be assertive, but
confrontherAnd f or Godds sake, dondt get excited
Paul Degambe shook his head, sipped at his brandy, then pushed the glass away. He seemed
much less nervous than before. Robert saw him think, and that was probably the first time

Paul lad taken a few seconds to reflect with a calmer head on his affairs this morning.

| also thought. Suddenlyhad a hunchAn improbable idea shot througiy mind.

6Paul , tell me, who told you the Socialist w
01 me Govil and Bierre Gasson in a bar, yesterday evening. They told me they had
heard rumours. They though the rumours must

Govin had also replaced Sauvent in the Management Board of Adelbert Housing.
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6Suppose t he So ddyauhéasmesnotdtakdispread the rantours? Do you

know a Socialist you can rely on in the Mana
6l thought they were al/l my friends until no
0 T himterrogate them about the rumours. First ask the woman whetheasha the source.

Confront them. Do it smoothly, gentlstneathoney on youtongue The story may be a hoax

to sow trouble between you and me and Miss Ash and the Socialists. Find out more about the
stories first before acting like a bull, charging ford)ear wi t h your horns down.

O0My horns? | have no horns! My hesrm@ppede never
| patted Paul on the shoulder.

60You and | know that. | 6d better serve you a
you of goingthevisit he girl s 1 n bars, already early 1in

Degambe could laugh at that. He swallowed two large black coffees | served him very hot. He
calmed down.

| phoned Simone Ash in front of him, explained what had happened and asked her help. She
promised & speak to Zumurud, but she promised no result. | then phoned Youssouf. He too
promised he might have a talk with the woman. He sounded the most dubious at first, but later
on | could convince him. He told me one itemre in the puzzle. He knew the hustani
Zumurud, but wouldno6ét tell me from what.
Paul Degambe stayed another hour with me. He drank another coffee. He calmed
considerablyHe left with an action plan to handle the allegations. | once more assured him |
would go the depth of the stories aask help from Ash and Bikri.

| had a CabinéWleeting in the early afternoon, so | had to spend my lastvelurl prepared

the meeting, ran a last time through the papers, ran through the delicate items that had to be
decided upon or deferred, and tHewoked myself a light meal of a small steak with a salad.

| dressed up and drove to Robois.

The Echevins sat around the table, waiting for me. Even Yves Govin was present. The
Communal Secretary, Alberte Hersalle, read item after item and asked sdienthéy

decision of the Cabinet. She noted the answer for the official report of the session. Most of the
points were immediately accepted or refused by common consent.

Some discussion ensued over a problem with the antennas for mobile phone transmission
SimoneAsh was Echevin for Health matters. She and Jean Sauvent, who had been the real
instigator of the issue, had ordered a quite expensive, comprehensive study of the levels of
radiation emitted by masts of antennas in the territory of Robois. Uppts for the energy
levels of the radiation emitted by the masts had been fixed by the Walloon Region. Th
cabinet members were coneed that the mobile operators thatlffirst installed the masts,

or gained the permission for sites to place their ar@gion, such as in church towers, had
respected the allowed standards. But the companies had by law to allow competitors to use
the same masts or sit&auvent, the most ecology minded of our Callvhembers, had

wanted to know whether the compound lewedse still below thelefinedlimits. The study
showed that was not the case! In the vicinity of more than ten sites out of the thirty that
covered the territory of Robois, the total emissions amounted to much higher levels than
allowed.

Ash hed sent a lger to the mobilgghonecompanies, asking them foreasures to conform to

the regulations, but the town had received a letter stating that the mobile phone codiganies
not accept figuresalculated and measured by the private company the town hadThesd
telecommunicatiomompanies accepted only the data from the institution used by the
regulator, and the latest figures from that institution pointed out there were no problems with
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the energy levels. Ash and Sauvent had not yet contacted that imstiNgither had Govin,

who had replaced Sauvent. The Cabaetidedor Ash to contact the Region and the

regulatory institution, show them the independent results, interrogate the engineers on how
they measured energy levels around the masts, anddhentack to the Cabinet with the

results of those discussions. There was some urgency to this, for the worst figures came from
masts that stood near schools and sports terrains. Ash noted that the Ecologist Party had
gotten wind of the results of the stuitlyough leaks in the administration; She asked once

more the Communal Secretary to insist on confidentiality of studies until they were final, but |
knew one could not avoid leaks. The town personnel had its own convictions, which were not
all for IC or for the Liberal Party, so leaks were practically unavoidable. Nevertheless one had
to insist always. Insisting in a very tough way would only worsen the cases, however. Ash
concluded by stating the Ecologists would probably bring up the item at one akthe n

Council sessions. The Cabinet decided to do nothing with that information, but thanked Ash
for remaining vigilant. The Bourgmestre or Simone Ash would have to answer in that Council
meeting what the Cabinet had decided, for thatttvasost reasonabl@anner to handle this
topic.

Another potentially controversial item on the agenda of the Cabinet went about a letter
received already a few weeks ago at the administration. A private company wanted to install
wind turbines in Robois and asked for theniq, advice and agreement of the Cabinet.
Robois lay for a large part of its territory on a plateau, quite higher than at least two of its
neighbouring conglomerations of villages. Robois caught much wind! Wind turbines created
electricity fromthe energyf the wind. They were sophisticated windmills. The electricity

was fedinto the national grid, and since the energy produced was green ehesg/heavily
subsidised.

The company Aeolfast proposed us a project to install a large number aiwbimeks for
electricity generation behind the Nif the villages of Grandliges, Bazaine, Butieres, Grez
Duros and Turgoux. The issue was that the wind turbines sat on towers abtleigirty
metres high. The towers would have to be installed betwedrotises and villas built along
the N11, and also behind most of the warehouses, supetmarnikindustries there. Some of
the farmers of Butieres and Bazairae lalready sent us a letter stating they were in favour of
the project, but w&new they were hatsomelypaid for the use of their lands. Some of the
industrialists thahad their factories along the highway did not object.

The Ecologist Party would surely be in favooecause Aeolfast allowed an investment
schema by which the population of Robasildl take a stake in the project, so that some of
the benefits would flow back to the people of Robois.

Most of the people who liveth the adjacent villages, however, wexpected to protest very
vocally and to refuse the project. $kould be the casespecially for the men and women
who lived close tavherethe towersvould be built even thougla distance of five hundred
metres between them and the towers was the norm of the WakkgmmRand that distance
had been respected.

The people of Les Tiges and Aucourt would violently protest.eble would have the wind
turbine towers right in their landscape to the east and to the south. They feared stroboscopic
effects from the turning of the enormous blades. They feared strident noise. They feared
turbuence around the towers. A part of the wood of Besnes would héeeciat down,

which made even the staunchest ecologyed militant frown, and the wind turbines would
soar to eighty metres above the ground there.

The project would have to pass seveegulating committees before it coldddiscussed

and officially accepted or refused by tEeecutiveCabinetof Echevins but an early opinion
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of the Cabinet had been asked now by Aeolfast. | grasped that Aeolfast wanted to hear and
know who in Robois was in favour of the project and who was against, in order to target their
marketing. | wondered who from the Cabinet and from the Council had been contacted by
Aeolfast to play the informesn our reactions

In general, the Cabinet Members of the IC Graugpe not immediately in favour. They

hesitated. The Liberal Party representatives were not outspokenly against the project, but they
too hesitated. It was hard in an election year to declare oneself openly for or against. Many
wealthy villaownerswho woud have the new towers in front of their windows voted for the
Liberals. In the Council, the Ecologists would be in favand probably also the Socialists

who smelled employment in each project. After a short discussion, it seemed the IC Echevins
were irclined to vote against.

| stated | was very dubious about the installation of so many towers. The wealth of our
villages was not mrely economiclt was nice to help generate gresmergy, but our pastures,
woods and fields were green too. The high t@dermed a sad intrusion in our landscape.
Our views were our mairesourcethe pride and jogf a rural community like Robois. | did
not like to see cranes of steel above my head, notiewba industrial neighbourhoods.

Yves Govin spoke out strongig favour, arguing Roboishould not remain the ancient,
conservative sleeping beauty it had beethe past. Modern times stood finally at our doors!
This was an age of industrialisation, he shouted, and industries needed clean energy. We
would be helping the climate issue. The avimlls were beautiful, slim machines. The sites
might even attract touristsonly Robois dared courageouslydet theexample. Govin
mentioned the responsibility of citizens for the economy and the climate change. He though
not only the Ecologist Party would staunchly support the prdjettlso the Socialists would
hit us atthe rext elections of we refused such fine projects.

Eliane Collado, though Liberal andin general supportive of industrial initiatives, stated she
joined my opinion. She wanted to preserve the rural character of Robois. The project was too
sudden ad too huge, she said. She thoutie Walloon Region should first study and decide

in which regions wind turbines might be placed, preserving rural habits. The density of the
towers was too high for a town like Robois, the noise and trafftite maintenaceworks

would disturb our communities, our peaceful villages. &leev our attentiomn how many

fine Roboisfamilies had built villasin Aucourt preciselydr the fine viavs and the quietness

of the environs. She ensured us the representatives ofiyallRarty in the Council would

vote against Aeolfast. Simone Ash and Gustave Tillard confirmed this view.

Yves Govin becameery angry, then.An impish smirk showed on his fadde accused the
Liberals of being wealthy vampires who built sumptuous willathe countryside and who
refused to create opportunities for the poor and for green endrag.to call Govin to order,
saying he could state an opinion but not insult Cabinet members. His anger then flashed at
me, but I did not waver. The other CagiMembers of IC joineéh my opinion Govin then
proposed to invite Aeolfast to present its project to the public of Robois during an evening
meeting. | agreed to such a presentation, but said Aeolfast did not need our invitation for that.
| supposed Adtast wouldanywayorganise such a meeting of her own initiative, as other
companies had done in towns | knew. The Cabinet agreed with me, and Gowiratd his

anger

After we had discussed a few points more, we came to a point in which Roboikedsoas
hand over a house we owned to Adelbert Housing. Nobody objected to the transfer, but Govin
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used the point as a dreamt occasion to tell rumours had come to him about possible corruption
and sexual harassment of the Director of the housing company.

Simone Ash sprang in before | could say a word. The issue was an internal matter of Adelbert
Housing, she stated, and it would be handled by the Board. Nobody should act on rumours,
she pleaded. One should act on proofs, and so far she had seen nofEoepfsrongdoing.

The matter was under study with the accountant of Adettmrsing. Simone Ash promised

to report on progress.

Govin insisted. Although the Adelbert Board was the overseeing organisation of the company,
the Cabinetoo was deeply involved with Adelbert. Of course, retorted Ash, that was why the
Board of Adelbert was constituted of Coutani$ and politicians of the town. The Board was

quite capable of handling the possible issue.

| then stretched my neck, said we dtdldquitea few points to discuss, and proceeded on.

The CabineMembers understood that in the future there would be not so many

confrontations of IC to Liberalsisconfrontations between Robert Jacquet and Yves GAvin.
struggle for supremacy wasw dearlyon inside the IC Group.

When | concluded the Cabinet meeting, Alberte Hersalle stood up and hurried off. Other
CabinetEchevinsalso left. Simone Ash came to sit next to me and she whispered a few words
on Adelbert Housing and Paul DegamBée hadlready contacted Zumurud and would have

a short talk with her the day after. She told me she did not believe Degambe capable of sexual
harassment, though indeed the man was a little too familiar with the women of his staff. She
told me she followed clogeall files of pricing offers, and she was fairly certain contracts

were being assigned accorditogoest practices, in particular also the contracts for the central
heating systems. She had looked at the credit card reslliesgambeand not found them
exaggerated.

Then she said something which made once more myrisgrd he rumours, she claimed,
definitely had not been spread by Socialists or Liberals or Ecologists. The rumours came from
within the IC Group. The aim might be to discredit me andesohthe Liberals in the

Cabinet who supported me. That could only be Simone and Eliane, | realised.

Simone Ash almost threatened me then. She said the atmosphere within IC was growing sour.
The Liberal Party wanted the controversy between me and Gostop. The Liberals wanted

definitely not become the bones on which two fighting dogs would eat.

What Simone said angered me very much, but | forced my irritation down.

6Si mone, 6 | said, hissing |ike a wswmuaand, 061
composed, calm and just. | do not fight Govin. Govin may fight me, but | will not participate

in his game. Get the Liberals off my back. | shall keep to our taciturn agreement. Please do

t he same. | pbutlif | cAnaat lihgerim @oder i please have some faith in me

and do not do anything rash that could make

| hated talking like that to Simone, but | would not push my own nose in the ground for any
woman, not anymore. | stood up from my chigt,Simone sitting without one word more,

and left the meeting room. When | reached the door | looked surreptitiously back, and saw her
sti |l | sitting on Al bertebés chair with very r
more. Why did | alwaysurt thepeople I likedmos®? | wanted to go back to Simone, but two

Echevins of IC caught my sleeve. They wanted to discuss a few more items with me, outside.
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A presentation of Aeolfast. Simone Ash

| was not very much interested in modern machinesaike turbines, and | thought | had

read sufficiently in the newspapers about the many possible objections against this new
techhology. Iwas a doctor, no engineer. My interests lay elsewhere. This was an election
year, howeverayear in which it was padularly rewarding to hook as many people as

possible for a personal conversation and have your name and face be remembered. So |
decided to confront the dread of a crowded, excited hall filled mainly with shouting men. Yes
I, Simone Ash, medical doctor afatal politician would set myself on my way to do what |

had entered politics for in Robois: to throw head fistamongpeople brushing away my

bad memories of other times and other places. | went nevertheless with heavy, dreary feet to
the presentatin of Aeol fastés project to install a r
villages. I did not at all like one bit of those behemoths of steel with their huge, threatening
turning blades and with their twinkling, disturbing red lights at night. | lead snany of them

in England already, and | did not fancy finding them once more lurking in my skylview.
imagined hundreds of magnificent little birds crushed against the whirling iron wings among
which they might have sought protectibmvondered what wuld happen when one of those
huge blades hurled down after a defettiw many storms and even hurricanes could these
towers stand?

| also feared meeting once more with that man, Robert Jacquet, who pursued me with his
penetrating blue eyes since montrsg who had looked at me like a beaten dog when |
refused to have supper with him alone. | was so surprised | drew back to a far distance then,
although a few minutes latewondered whether | had done the right thing. Had | been the

fool and not him? Hes a handsome man, our Bourgmestre, oddly attractive. Also, as far as |
know him fromthe five years we worked in the Cabinet and Council meetings, he seems to be
honest, hara@vorking, funny at times but a really serious man at most issues, composed, of a
calm, quiet forceHe was not a deceitful man, not pernicious and not scurrilaliscovered

he could be witty and very intelligent. He always thought in unexpected but interesting
directions. | heard he was a seiide mansagacious in his decisioremd | was neither
astonished nor disappointed hagthis business went its steady, successful way. A few

clients of him spoke with gratitude of his suggestions and of how reasonable his prices were.
Maybe | should have him work at that additional diniogm, bathroom and bedrooms |

wanted to dd to invite friends at home.

How dd | really feel about Robert Jacquet? Be honest with yourself, old girl. Would | bury
myself in a very little countryside town for the rest of my years with a local entrepreneur
called Robert Jacquet, have children and everything but an exciting life dntbraed

enginee? How would | like to feel his weight on me? Would | be able to make love to him?
Did | want to return to Brussels or London or to the wonderful life in the medieval towns of
Oxford or Cambridge | had loved so much? Men had hurt me. Whated to escape from

the cities | likedmost. | sought peace and oblivion in a sipfalleigntown, so why not be
logical and seek the conclusion of what | wanted har@pbois? Were the gentlemen of
London more interesting than this Robert Jacquet® Bare were a lot more arrogant, self
indulgent and predatory than Robert Jacglietiust be refreshing, warm, happy, to rest in
the arms of a truly decent man who cherished me honestly. How would that feel, girl? Could
you do without such feelings?
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Theissue was | was still chasirdterthat elusive, heavenly image aafter thesweet

feelings of the ideal love, the romantic yearning for adoration of my humble person by
another being, the feeling that someone else could not possibt to live even we minute

with another person baearsmall and hurble me, Simone Ash. What | really waudtwas to

be hurled in the raging fire of a consuming passion both sexually and spiritually, and be
drawn into that ordeal inexorably, and abandon myself totally. ¥oane such illogical

hearts! One the one side, | hdite be dominated by a man, by a woman also, and certainly to
be tamed by a nemteresting, unintelligent, haughty hulk. On the other side, lddng
desperately tatretch outike an Odalisque at thfeet of a man who would protect me and
cherish me and solve all my problems. | would kiss his toes!

The truth is, was a bag of contradictions, I, Simone Ash, the smart doctor who could earn
fortunes in the larger towns, and yet who hid herthie woodsand livel like a female hermit.

| felt strangely, strongly attracted to the Bourgmestre of Robois, so much so that sometimes |
feared| only accepted to serve the Liberal party in politics to swirl arouathtan. | wanted

to observe him fronclose by.

| admit | also likel the power politics give me over other men. | redlisseengdto relish in
thatpower,probably as the antidote for the way the London gentlemen treated me.

Why did | allow them treating me like that? When | was young and naivedhihthat was

the way of the world, that was how things stood between men and women. | complied with
the wishe®f the male race, and thought nature had created me and all women like that
Nevermore! Nevermore!

How would Robert Jacquet treat me@ltissed a warning the other day that shot to me like a
lightning bolt thrown by Jupiter. | saw the sudden violence in his eyes at that Council

Meeting, but his eyes softened less than a second later. He then took on again that beaten air
of a discarded, a@&ring lover | have come to recognise in him. | saw the power of the male,
then! He is a handsome man, and | would love to feel his arms around me at night, but who is
he really, this Robert Jacquatfould he respect me? Would he cherish me?

| parked my ar and entered the city hall where Aeolfast would present its project to the

public of RoboisThe city hall had been built in a part of the former abbey, as practically all
communal facilities of Roboig.he abbey stables showed unending brick wallsgelarg

imposing structures of oak on the ceiling, beams centuries old that intertwined to hold the
roof. The wooden structure was admired and looked at in awe by everybody who entered the
long and yet also wide space. The administration of Robois had thessté&adned, restored,
renewed, and then installed a dais at the farlehdd been transformed into a wonderful
meeting hall.

The roomhad beeriill ed with chairs, but these could also be taken out aimstalled, so

that the rectangular Haa huge wlume, could be used for apyesentation, conference, or the
townds festivities. The only issue with the
keep the warmth better in. In full winter, as today, either the town spent fortunes to heat the
hall decently, or hang to letthe audience &eze fromtop to toe. This evening, some balance
had been found between the two extremes, but most of the women kept their coats on. Why
were women always cold and men warm? Was that so that women woulddatorthe hot

arms against the warm breast of the men? | hated dir&géricks of nature!

| walked to the front row. | had not expected many people to have come to the centre of
Robois, but despite the cold the hall was filled to the brim with pe®pke front row would

have been kept open, reserved for the political natalblne town, so | hoped to find a free
seat there. | was not at all certain | would find an empty chair when | saw this crowd. While
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advancing to the front, | shook hands ta &fd right and waved a greeting to many ather

with a generous hand, to the people | knew but who sat in the middle of the rows. A happy
buzzing of low voices could be heard, the sounds of hundreds of men and women chatting. |
was genuinely surprised ablwt many people had come to hear about the project. | had done
well to attend this evening.

| eventually reached the first row, where Eliane Collado already sat. She had kept a chair for
me. She withdrew her shawl from the chair and winked at me to sitonbr. Eliane played
the mother role to me in Robois. Did | want to have a mother? | dutifully sat.

A few minutes later, five people came on to the dais and chose a place behind a table that had
been prepared for them. A large, white screen hung tetmd above them, against the rear

wall. Thesamen were the Directors of Aeolfast. The lights in the hall got dimmed, but the
Directorsdid not entirely darkethe spacel looked over my shoulder but did not find Robert
Jacquet in the first rows. | craned/ neck to look far behind, and noted that so many people

had arrived that not only all the chairs were occupied, but many men and woneeh lean

against the walls, standing at the sides and at the far end. There, finally, | spotted, leaning in a
corner, myBourgmestre Robert Jacquet. Next to him stood of course his police officer friend
Joseph BikriBikri was a policeman, but he wore no uniform this evening. He chatted
animatedly with Robert.

The presentation started in earnest. The main Director of #spthe man who throned in the
middle of the table, stood and went to the side. He held a device in his hand, which | knew
was the wireless control by which the slide projector advais@uages The man illustrated

his speech with a series of PowerRairawings of the consortium of Aeolfast. The Director
spoke, introduced himself, and showed splendid slides in bright colours about his company.
He even had a video played with epic moments of the realisations of Aeolfast. The company
had been founded aw years ago, together with a number of other companies all active in the
recycling and disposal of waste, and in the generation of electricity such as by wind turbines
and photovoltaic panels. Aeolfast proposed a winning strategy in environmental tg@solo
For the generation of electricity, the Director began to explain what the green certificates were
that Aeolfast exploited.

EachMegawatthour of energy produced by photovoltaic cells or by wind turbines was
compared for the emission of carbon daexby agas andvatervapour power station. Such a
station emitted four hundred fiftsix kilograms of carbon dioxide per Megawhatiur of
electricity generated. Therefore, as much carbon dioxidesavas when electricity was
generated by wind turbines. gkeen certificate issued by t@®mmission Wabnne pour

| 6 £ n,ahe §WaPE, corresponded to this economy. Moreover, the Walloon Region, had
ordained that a certain percentage of the electricity sold by the electricity suppliers had to be
produced in Whony from renewable energy sourc@&hat percentage amounted presently to
twelve percent. The suppliers of electricity were obliged to present to the CWaPE a certain
number of green certificates, to addeavy fines. If an electricity supplier had saldundred
Megawatthours to its final clients, it had to present twelve green cergfgainimum. The

aim of Aeolfast was to assist the electricity suppliers to arrive atghetaof green energy.

The Walloon Government guaranteed a minimum price@rtificate. This price fluctuated,

but was currently situated between sikitye and a hundred Euro. The green certificates
represented of course an additional charge for the producers of electricity, so they charged
their clientshigher prices for energyrhe European Union had decided to produce twenty per
cent of its electricity from renewable methods by 2020. The Walloon Region had to comply
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with these regulations. Wl turbines were of course very expensive to install, but they
generated electricity hout burning precious resources such as oil or gas, and the energy was
subsidised by the green certificates. Ehextricity distributors were still eager to obtain green
energy, for the fines amounted to quite more than the hularesdper Megawathour of

the green certificates.

At that moment of the prestation a man came to sit next to me. He had found the only chair
open on the first and foll owing rows. He was
formed a striking figure, so | stared. Heuerd pretence, setbnfidence and arrogance. He

was tall and sleral, dressed in a pistriped suit of the best Italian faction, a silk tie in

discreet colours, tie knotted impeccably on a Hgloe shrt with a distinguished white collar.

He looked asidtinguished as a Milanese fashion seller and | had to admire the man for that
taste. | alsdound him finely handsome in features. His face was long and thin, chiselled in
sharp lines. His nose was straight, his eyes set deep under thin eyebrows. ldselys c

shaved, smelled of an expensive, delicate shave perfume. He had no beard and wore no
glasses. His eyes were very light, almost transparent, cold and yet fiery. His entire being
radiated elegance and seBsuredness, as found only among membgold and wealthy
aristocratic families. He was everything the man | would once have admired, but now loathed.
| involuntarily compared him with Robert Jacquet who wore also costumes all the time, but
which oftenbecame creased and husamewnhat shabbilground him always in need of a
pressing If Robert looked the careless sportsman, this man resembled the sophisticated
scholar. He must have felt | stared, for he suddenly looked at me, straight in the eyes,
somewhat mockingly, and | ihed farther away from him on my seat. | directed my eyes

back and exclusively to the slides. | nevertheless remarked with some astonishment that Yves
Govin, who also sat in the first row but on the left side, hurried to the man at the corner of the
row andwhispered a few words in his ear. | saw from the angle of my left eye that the man
devised m@nce moreWas he considering making a pass at ind&tlicated all my attention

to the speech of the Director of Aeolfast and ignored the brief stare of tia@tategn next to

me. | feltneverthelespleasedvith the attentionWhat woman would not indulge in the
admiration of a distinguished man? Yet, | also felt irritated by the attention. He must have
sensed | stared fromcorner of my eyes, for he suddenhgagain looked straight at me. |
directed my gaze entirely to the slides.

The Director of Aeolfast was still lauding the production of electrical energy by wind
turbines. Wind turbines produced no harmfulgrgducts. No carbon dioxide, no fine

particles in the air, no sulphur dioxide, no radioactive waste, no air pollution and no water
pollution, and no thermic pollution. They needed only a small footpriagricultural land,

and no pesticides. While the Director droned on, me and everybody pregencity hall

had to be conviced that wind turbines represented the nirvana of energy generation. We all
wondered why nobody had thought of this means already tens of years ago.

There followed aseries of bucolic, magnificent skd of the slim towersvith the windmills

on top of them, photographed in all sorts of weather, from blazintpstarpets of snow.

The last slides explained some of the possible drawbacks of wind turbines in the environment.
The nuisances were summarily dismissed. The sprodliced by the turning blades was

minimal, the impact on birds, the magnetic fields created and the light effects of the turning
wings were minimalized. The risk of accidents with seegaderation turbines was zero.

Finally, statistics were shown statititat in France, more than sixty per centhapeople

accepted the placement of wind turbines at less than a kilometre from their horgiz€he

of Robois could not do less. Then, the Director proposed a pause of ten minutes, after which
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the panel oAedfast specialists wodlanswer questions frothe audience. That would form
the second part of the presentation of the projduti] that moment | had not seen projected
any map with the exact placements of the towers. | had nevertheless briefly &ackeh a
plan at the town administration, and remained appalled at the number of installations.

| remained seated during those ten minutes, though | was forasorogng reason quite
anxious to go and say hello to Robert Jacquet. | should not gatddlei should come to me!

| half hoped he would come forward to greet me, but | waited in vain. | suppose too many
people held back the Bourgmestre.

The man who sat next to me turned and turned oseaisobsering the people in the hall.

He frowned wheine saw the faces of scepticism. The Director of Aeolfast who had held the
presentation wked down to talk to him, but they whispered so low | could not hear one word
from what they said. For thahe Director had to kneel next to the chair of my neiginpso |
supposed the elegamianwas a member of the higher management of Aeolfast.

A little later, the man turned closer to me, saying what Yves Govin had probably niatified

him, Oplease excuse me, but you yu?énug§i mone A
present myself. My name igdnrGauthier Buisseyre. | am one of the investors for Aeolfast. |

hope our directors have convincgall of the advantages of our horizordiais wind turbines.

We are very eager to realise this maerful project, whch could be ery beneficial also to the

town of Robois and to its citizens. We remain open for alternative means of financing,
involving participation of <citizen groups. o
6Yes, | am Si mone A eiatjodwas very convicingrimleedl. 6 The pr
wonder how our population shallreséwsta f ew mi nut es. 06

6 Ar e t togics you veouldlike me talarify for you? 6

6Yes. Who act thalnleys ?b WDiol d/o ut thea vteu manuf act ur i n
OWe principally wor kturers. Wehmpbse strict@halitynsersdardsmora n u f a
our suppliers, of course. Thatirsour interest! We want to hold maintenance costs as low as

A

possi bl e. 0

60f course, 6 | smartly replied. inée§raemtisyou t el
forthisprg ect ? 0
OWe count on f i v e sstakens:® aceonnt. Q@ costsagerintthe a |l | co

equipment, the foundations, the electrical installations, the connection to the national grid, the
control rooms and systems, the engineering consultpecyomel coststhe necessary

trainng, someti mes the new roads, the maintenanc
06 Tahsa very reasonable return, 6 | concluded.
Buisseyre then expressed his admirationvbat a beautiful little town Robois was, how

friendly the people were, howell the project had been received by the industrialists of

Robois. He told me headd held similar presentatiorier the service associations of Robois,

how Aeolfast had reached out to the most dynamic layers of the populdgicpoke in very
enthusiast terms, very agreeably, about similar successful projects Aeolfast had initiated.
Buisseyre proved a very fine conversationalist, reserved and warm, polite and courteous, and
unobtrusivel was quite impressed.

| began to findBuisseyrea very agreeabland interesting man, when the Director of Aeolfast
called for the second part of the meeting of the evening. | looked over my shoulder and saw
Robert Jacquet still stand, leaning against the wall at the back, talking to Joseph Bikri, but his
eyes were rivied at me. | quickly turned back.
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The questiorandanswer part of the meeting started slowly and innocently with non
committing, nice questions and even less committing answers. The preamble seemed
laborious the first questions came shylyyt then the tnosphere loosened and heated up
considerablyThe men got more excited, sarcastic, and also a few female voices intervened.

The fear of infrasounds and flickering effects of the shadows of the turning blades surfaced. A
man stated that the noise levield been grossly underestimated. He cited reports of men

living in the neighbourhood of wind turbine towers complaining about headaches. Another
man claimed the numbeao$ people living in the vicinity of the line of the towers were wrong.
The numbers cittby Aeolfast were grossly underestimat®dmebody mentioned Robois

had a small airport for parachutists at less than one kilometre of the last iovieessouth.

The airport might have to be closétet another man warned that forestaild not be cut

back by ruling of the Walloon Regioandother regulations existed forcing all buildings to
remain at far larger distances frahe forests than planned by Aeolfast. Aeolfast had put such
regulations aside. A woman shouted Aeolfast had also not takeraicdtount sufficient

distancedor their towerdrom houses and villas of the people of Robois. She showed who

she was, a villa owner of Aucourt, known to me as a bank clerk. The woman asserted that
according to the plans of Aeolfast, which she had coeduit the town hall, somaf the

towers would be situated at less than five hundred metres from living quarters. Towers had to
be placed there, the woman claimed, because otherwisertieéurines had to be built too

close to théN11 road. She stateba because of existing regulatiafistances from dwellings
should ke at least one kilometre or more, as such distances were demanded in other European
countries. A man did not let the Aeolfast director answer. He immediately continued on the
objectionsof the previouspeaker of the audience, warning that with such greater distances
applied, only oefifth of the original project of Aeolfast would be realised, making the

project totally uneconomic.

Other arguments were thrown in frahve audience in favowf the project, fronpeople I did

not know. Tkesemen, three or four, applauded the benefits to the environment of wind
turbines. Would you want a nuclear reactor in the midst of Robois, they. &gkattl you

like a gas turbine installation in your backrdgen? One man even lauded the beautiful

elegance of the towers, but jeers and derisive laughterthemmain audience silenced this

voice.

More people stood up frotheir chairsthen, brandishinsts in the air. Other men and
women gesticulated aratied loudly. A few ecologists mentioned once more theatages
of theturbines, but were shouted down. A farmer with a very red, beefy face and a huge
paunch complained that townsfolk always refused a @tiléribution to poor farmers, whose
revenuegrom milk, cattle and grain dwindled. Farmers could not hold their heads out of
failure nowadays. He obviouslyanted to recuperate some money fritra towers on his
lands.

Then, another man mentioned the fine monuments, castles and churches thathétered
villages of Robois and which would be putathe shadws of the huge towers.

ANho wants our beautiful rural landscapes to be polluted, obstructed, vilified by cranes of
steeP e cried.

Hands, arms and fist®ntinued to be held up, more and negiand a few people began to
launch insults at the Aeolfast Directors. To us the towers in front of our noyes, the big
benefitsso that you can go on a vacatiarcountries without steel towerthey shouted.
Many people railed bitterly at thblood-sucking vampires of financedhhad landed at
Robois to destroy the fine ldscapes of the countryside. They called these entrepreneurs
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unscrupulous liars and cheaters. The shouts sounded harder and harder, sharper and sharper.
The mainDirectorof Aeolfast stood on the podiuentirely discomfitedhis mouth open,

arms openshouting, trying to stem the flow of shouts and insults, but the cnoatd not

stop. The situation in the hall becanewheated. | wondered whether | should call the

police, butthat was a job of the Bourgmestre, and stood also Joseph Bikri, our
Superintendennot at the end of the hall? | smiled too, because | expected eggs and tomatoes
being thrown forward any second now. My distinguished neighbour remained seated
imperturbaby, looking to the front only, not tthe people in the hall. | surmised he heard
sufficiently what happened behind his back.

Suddenly, | heard a deegirong voice sound froitthe back of the hall. The voice shouted
commandingly and louder than the otheople. | looked surreptitiously behind me, and | saw

with some pride Robert Jacquet step through the middle corridor that was left between the

chairs, arms wide open, tall and imposing.

Robert cried, o&6friends, fr i dsedosighlEhoudRIcChimi s, p
down! 6

The Bourgmestre continued to slowly stride forward, hushing people to left and right. Finally,

he jumped on the podiument to standn front of the table but with his face toward the

people of Robois. The crowd stoppstbuting.

Robert Jacquet cried, o0l am the Boahegdnestr e
the arguments and the descriptafrthe project fronthe technicians of Aeolfast. We also

heard how you feel about the project. | heard sufficient objestio call this project

controversial to say the least. As you know, the proposal will be studied Bptiseil
Consultatif doAm®nage mbenQCATMUThIT @mmitite¢elas r e Co mm
representativesf you all and it will initiate a public congakion. The committee has to

deliver an advice on the impact of such projects on our environment. The project must also be
evaluated properly at regional levels. | heard a Citizen Comnratteemmittedo be called

Sauvez Robaisave Roboiswill be fourded soon and that committee will surely produce a

paper with objections. Perhaps alternativanacios may be proposed. Much work remains

still to be done by the Authorities. Alsitie Town Cabinedf Echevinswill propose its view.

| promise thatvill come soon. Friends, our democratic institutions allow us to formulate our
opinions. | call this meeting now to an end. Nothing much can still be said at his moment.
Pleasecontinue discussg the issuesutsde, but | ask everybody to leave @ity Hall in

peace. 0

Robert Jacquet let his arms drop, and he steppedtfrempodium and too few steps as if

he wanted todave. Most of the people pushed their chairs back and begaikthrough

the completely open panels of the stables. Robert had succeededinig the atmosphere

from overheted to calmnesd he shouting had stoppedolut more and more people continued
discussing the issues, whteppng through the doors

My distinguishecdheighbour stoodrom his chaiyrigid as a broom. Heoddedgoodbyewith

a weary smilemixed in the crowd and disappeared rather suddenly. | believed his evening
had been spoilBuisseyregranted the Directors of Aeolfasb glance. These remained seated
with pale faces at the table on the podium. They too did ndtsgexrhed pleased with the
sudden explosion of emotions against their project. They gathered their papers and Joseph
Bikri appeared on the podium, ushering the men out by the emergency exit aside. Bikri and
Jacquet looked at each other, and | understogdithe agreed on this stratagem to separate
the representatives of Aeolfast frahe crowd.
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The hall emptied slowly. I left together with the last people. Elianes(imBaid little. She dal
been impresselly the hostility of the people of Roboiglen spoke to me, offering their

opinion on how little they had liked what they had heard about the pribjeets impossible

to shear through the tanglesaw Buisseyre exchange a few words with Robert Jacquet. They
stood at the wall and let the stream of people pass. Then, Buisseyre hurried off. When |
walked through the door, | saBuisseyrerun to a black Mercedegith darkened windows,

and take place ithe back. The car drovéfammediately. Buissge had his car and driver, |
noted, waiting for him inside the abbey grountdad Jacquet allowed that?

| went up to Robert Jacquet. | gave him a hand to say hello. He charmed me with a large
smile, selfassired fromhaving savedhe situatiorfrom havingbeen able to dominate the
assembly at a moment of chaos, when worse might have threatened.

He asked, o6may | ask for your impressions, M
So, Miss Asht would be, | thought, not Simone.

60 An i ngneetiegghiswas, Monsieur le Bgmestre. Dgpite manysound arguments,

Aeolfast has not been abledonvinc e t hi s audi ence, I believe. 6
60dd, Rabertefponded .6 6So many economic and cl i ma

and yet our good peapbf Robois seem to cherish beauty over money. They cling to the
undisturbed serenity of the land. If | were a philosopher, | would say thath@a® ace more
been given that beauty, that very emotional quality, is part of our nature more strongly than
money, wealth and industriprogres

O0Aeolfast is going to have it very difficult to realise its projedRobois 6 I tr i ed
d cannot say | am sad alidhat evolution. |, myself, wodlnot like to have a wad turbine
tower of thrty metre highwitts o ar i ng bl ades in front of my w

0 Myny, our Bourgmestre has grown into a sentimental man! How many of those aiie there
Belgium?Have you become sofi?

Robert grinned.
6Tel | me, 6 he said, O6éwoul d vy downadirdplacedbha f or e
forest of steel trees?b6

| might have chuckled and let that question remain unanswered, but | felt in the right mood to
grant him something this evening, his evening, to step a little closer to him, so | confessed,

6cert aiwoluyl dnodtt,! IYou are right. My Liberal cc¢
landscapes, too. We can fight together. Thank you for having held the reins tight in there. |

feared some peoplewdreo si ng t heir temper. You did wel/l
For just one moment Robert lookgrhtefully and a little astonishedatmaes i f he hadné

expected a nice word from me.

0Click, turn the |Iights on and l'ick, turn t
fallen for a really nasty gir|l
| found that quite remarkable. Mean be so naive, too.

Then otherpeople tugged at his arm, took possession of &imd,he had to engage in yet
more heated conversations in the courtyard of the abbey. Still @b@eried to grab me,
and | did say a few words, but then | rapidlyketoose fronthem and hurried to my own
car.l was tred,| had a beginning headachsaybe from having very conflicting feelings
towards the Bourgmestrand| wasstill expected at Castle Trioteignes.

c
0
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A Plot

The Aeolfast Director who had deliverdtetpresentation of the project to install wind

turbinesin Robois, drove out of the town centre in his company car. His colleagues would
return to Brussels, and he too rode south at &sstf he would catch the closest exit and entry
from Robois to thénighway. He drove on the N11, but only as far as the village of Turgoux,
where the industrial zone of Robois had its end. He left the N11 and swung on the nearby
newly laid roads of long, straight tarmac lined by the low, rectangular, windowless buildings
that housed the various productemerpriges.He noted thaRobois had no real

manufactoriesHe sawprinting companies, warehouses, laboratories, a pharmaceutical
research centre, information technology companies, a data centre, large carpekitdesn
installation firm, the regional warehouse of a supermarket chain, a biotechnology institute,
large garages, and so on, mainly service companies. The Director directed his car to one of the
longest onestorey buildings, a flat rectangular structuresising mainly of large halls that

were used as concentration sites for recycling materials, of a company called Recycfast. The
name of the company stood in large, red but unlighted letters painted on the immaculate walls.

The Director parked his car front of the administrative part of the building. A few windows

at the far corneof a two-storey sectionvere lighted. He stepped out, closed his car, took a

few steps to the entry, and was welcomed there by a uniformed guard who opened the door
for him. The guard did not say one word, but brought the Director to a meeting room at the
end of a long corridor. Halso openethat door respectfullysmiling encouragingly, which

the Director sternly had chosen to ignore

Only one man sat at a table, sippouifee. The Director wanted a beer and the guard showed

a small gile table on which coffee, tea, a few cans of beer and a bottle of whiskey had been
prepared. The Director did not greet the man at the table. He went straight for the whiskey and
poured halfa glass, drank, sighed, then turned.

emarked the man who sat at

6Tough meeting r
f nd the words to answer . 61l t

The Director
Bl andi s. 6

6l know you too, 6 the man oredglp WeerikdtotarSther ry t o
mood of the audience, but the emotions ran too strong. Robois seaimsvant the project,

definitely not'Toomanyo pposer s of the turbine towers hadc
The Director did not answer immediately. Blanki#l stated the obvious. The Director

thought he had been lucky to have gotten out of the hall unscathed. He looked with more

attention at the man who sat calmly a few metres from him. He leaned against the wall, did

not sit right away.

Max Blandis was al®rt, squat man with broad shoulders and a rectangular, sharp face. The

eyes sparked intelligence above a hooked nose and tightligisair was cropped short, and

Blandis wore only a black-$hit, a dark pullover and a leather jacket on dark blue denims

The Director knew Blandis only by reputation. Blandis was a man who got called in by the
President when matters were going touie marheaded a small security company, but the

Director had no idea just how many people worked in that deiilso dichot know the

status of the man in the series of companies headed by the President. He thought Blandis had
probably no status at all, might have been officially not even on the payroll of Aeolfast, but

could command everybody through the President.

, 0
ou
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The doo opened rather brutally, and Yves Govin entered. Govin was very nervous. He
nodded a greetingyent also for the coffee tabénd the whiskeyA little later, the President
entered. The four men sat nonchalantly around the table, sipping their drinks wasv

anxious, turned and shifted positions on his chair every second. The Director looked beaten,
Blandisremainedvery calmbut cynical The President looked at how each behaved niémre
waited for the President to speak firse tdo needed a few momenisseemed, to absorb the
shock of the meeting with the people of Robois.

The President said, o6we are facing a serious
people here shall resist the project. | have not met a atwerse assembly before. We may

expect opposing groups of citizens to be formed. One group, &Gallecez Robaig

sufficiently clear name, exists already. Other groups may follow. Such groups have proven
effective in other towngaisinga lot of troubé against wind turbine projects. They are

organised ircommitteeghat handle the various subjects separately and expertly, gathering
information from all sorts of sourcesring many brains together and act wide. They can be

very vocal to any organisatidhat has to advice. They address Ministers, Members of

Parl i ament , Provincial Councils, Advisory Co
The President stopped and drank. Nobody said a Waelmen understood their President

faced a major crisis.

The Pesidentcontinued.

O0We must develop a strategy to counter the i
must have thredirections of actions. One political, one of marketing and one of direct
influence.

Govin, you shall lead the political actioriswill personallyintervenein thatdomaintoo, out

of Brussels. In the political sphere, | shall work on the headquarters dhttezl Democratic,
Liberal and Socialist Parties. | shall lobby continuously for energy generated by wind
turbines, and morspecifically for the project at Robois. You have received already a free
hand here from your Party, Govin. The President and Political Secretaryldritbd
Democrats shall not object to your taking over control of the IC GQujte on the contrary,
theydesire thatThey want to do away the IC Group and control the majority of votes as IC
did in the pastDump the current Bourgmestre and his friends in the Town Cabinet, replace
them by people you can rely on. There is a chance you may not succeéthmtfge current
Cabinet behind you. You must control the next one and control the Council. Weicame
year, for the procedures of acceptance of our project will take so long. We cannot wait longer.
If you need help, refer to m&ou must take on thlocal actionswithout bungling

Director, you will head the marketing part. Your marketing plan and your lobbying plan is
launched. You musinvolve more people at Robois. Target the Robois Cabinet, the Town
Council, the Provincial Council, the Memas of Parliament, and the members ofth#

advisory committees that have to build reports on the project. Target them with renewed
publicity, swamp them. Send them the brochures on the advantages of wind t@&bémkthe
reports that make the countamguments sound ridiculous. Place publicity in the local papers.
Explain how many employees will be hired. Target journalists. Comtireeting oneo-one

with the farmers and the entrepreneurs in the industrial zmesded, offer more money to
the farmes and ask them to be more vod&le should not lose theseen from our cause.
Blandis, you sbuld handle the direct influenc&ou will take part in the publicity campaign,
but at yet another levdlwant you to address the simptanded population, thiabourers,

the clerks and secretaries, the salesmen, the Wingse Spread rumours. Spread rumours to
discredit the opposers to our project.
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You three have a free hand in what you do and how you do it. If you need additional funds

tellme. Iwantresultasnd qui ckl y. 0

60ne man i s not e no MgxBlafdis remalked eddt nierefdl ureomrcei
youwant me to talk in bars and feasts, I n meet
601 know. Yassistartsalveadklite two more but get men with the profile you

need.Present them ith oneyear contracts only. Hire men who do not fear a litilgghness
Youknowwh at | mean. This can become rough. 6

A

61l do, 6 Bld&alndkmnowrexnancetdl.y t he havewpha Thgmeps . Th
must have some legitimacgrf bei ng here at Ro bthamdoruntiobse ugh.

in town. The men shall come froBrussels. | cannot hire local guys. The naath need

living quarters. ltwouldébest t o keep them together. 6

0 Dector,doyouhavea suggest idemal®d.t he Pr esi

0 We c an pthetpaytolhas mormalnvorkers of Recycfast, her&obois. We can

offer them a ongear contract to workn the factory. Theygan actually work a little, but be

free to come and go. There is a hangar that can easilynséoimaed into basic living

guarters. | suppose that wild.l be satisfactor
ol t will , 6 IBwillalhddpersd orahsvenuchtieeid bonuses will amount to, above

their normal Recycfast salarfhe men will need sleeping places, separate roonsvees, a

kitchen, toilets, a livingoom with a television semobile telephonegortable personal

computers with InternéVi-Fiaccess for each. 0

6That can be arranged for,d6 the Director rep
6l want all these itemdentstated By wt bfBedbmanyd he we e
our teams and plans must operational. Putthemama h ot e | until their (
The Director and Blandis nodded. Govin merely followed the conversation, surprised at how
professional the command sounded

6You must think andaemphasisds mart, 6 the President
Helooked at the three men turn.

60You must find and expl oit thesftpairdgsak poi nts o
unscrupulously. You must eliminate vocal opposers by discreditingitihéra population

and with the institutions. What | essentially want is a kind of brainwashing in favour of wind
turbines for the people of this rural community. Seek more and better arguments, the

arguments that reach them. You nexypect some support withthe Socialist and Ecologist

parties, with the guys that are already more or less inclineditofbea vour of t he pro
A silence fell in the room.

6Just how i mportant is thi®blunfyr oj ect for vyou,
The President hesitated. His very clear eyes flashed angBlgradis. Nevertheless, he
answered.

0The pr oj e c timpartant tRmexae a rsatter of lifeaasd death. | want to drop here
thirty wind turbines at leastorty if possible. You see, en the turbines are installed here,

we have a solid basis for similar projects south and north and west of Roboipaf&rd a
hundred and twenty towersome of which will go as high as two hundred metres! One of
those will generate more power tharyather such tower in Belgiurif.the plan fails at

Robois, we faieverywhere, and our entire business ncallapse. You willbe fired, of

course, and with that yanall lose your excellent salary, bonuses, company cars and
additional fees paid. If thgroject succeeds here, your bonuses will be doubled and then
doubled again with the next projects. You will be rich nad powerful men, too. You

Govin, shall be Bourgmestre, Measitof Parliament and Minister within a few years. That
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shall fortify your msition here and in the Province. We can do great things together. If Robois
fails, your aspirations wil/l be bl own away |
The President made a gesture with his fingais$ his moutfas if he blewat smokeand

dispersed it

60l have atoewndkebegnnhrol , & Govin confirmed.
Cabinet Members and supporters of the cufBentrgmestreA first train of rumours is on its

way. The rumours will destabilize hién.

OFibhke Pr esi dent nwadtdesuld fast. &dRleanwurshadl gef phdne

calls from me once waeek at leastThe telephone calls will come from different numbers

notfrom my private phone, not from my office phomavant no electronic mails sent, nothing
inwriting. Except forthe telephoacallsy ou donétankdndw dmendt Kknow yo
want to know what you do and how you dd ibnly want to know the resultdust act, swiftly

and efficiently.No one else but the four of us must know about what we decided and what is
bound to hppen. You are not to communicate together. You must not bersgesup

Director, | want you here as little as possible. The people know you too well. You must

mainly act fromout of Brussels. None of you is to be seeorking as a tearrignore each

othee i n streets and events. You are to commun
The three men nodded.

The President looked at last time around the table. The Director and Yves Govin sat with

bowed heads, Max Blandis still grinned.

The Presidentcoreld ed, o6t he meeting i s over. Not hing

The men stood, the President first, and they began to leave the building. The conveadation h
lasted less than an hour. The men left the room, themathgar of RecycfasMax Blandis lit

a cicarette at the door. The President came back to him.

He said,dMax, things may get tough. Hire men that can roughea figgv peopldere | want
nounnecessary violence, but i f some viole
6Just how dens pgehr a@athe sarpa ojjcewt | President ?
The President hesitated again, tthiekMax.Alee ackno
company fails or |lives with this project. o
61 shall be ready, 6 irBrdnand tthat \soleacs rmay baekfirdlso6 Pl e as e
the men and the actions, however many diversionsigeuwill always be able to be traced

back to youWith all respect, your head may well come to lie on the chopping blodk too.

6Your job is toTeacthkged stulree Rrte sdiodkeesmtéts ai d.

He addednathing further nodded a goodbye to Blandis and his Mercedes drove to the entry.

The President got in, now also a little more tired than udwssdemed to Blandis.

nce
0

Max Blandis thought of how much money he could extort from the Presidentwadikeng to
his old BMW parkedn a dark spot. He lived in thdorse Bayardotel of Robois, the only
threestar hotein town. He would have to lodior an apartment or for a studimurtesyof
Aeolfast.He drove back to Robois in the cold night. Thetfrsow of the year started to fall.

The Rose of Robois. Robert Jacquet

Fate, chance and nature combined to bring sadness to my home. Either in my sperm cells or in
Andr ®e de Por i n telisead exira copy of the chreniosome tgyegitg was
formed right before the two joined. The embryo that resulted hadgevtgn chromosomes,
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including three copies of the chromosome tweatye instead of the usual twéou might
expect that it was bettéo have an extra chromosome than to have less, but not in the case of
mother natureTrisomy twentyone causes the Down syndromehildren born with them.

Andrée remarked late she was pregnant and we were at the time scdexdridy happy with
thepregnancy, that we asked for no special prenatal screening. Had we done so, the trisomy
twenty-one would have been detected, and Andrée would almost certainly have terminated the
pregnancy.

The baby that was born, a gpkesenédall the signs of Dowrsyndrome: an abnormally

small chin, heavy skin folds on the eyes, @adrand rather flat face, peculiarly round eyes, a
flat nose, short hands, broad forehead, anddettittle ears. The doctor who delivered the
child announced us what was the mattghwur child two hours after birth. Andrée lay
exhausted in her bed in the hospital, already depressed, sshsimply devastated her.
She never was the same woman afterwards. She had a delicate nature. She broke down. We
knew our baby daughter namRdse would be mentally retarded, remain at risk saffer

from several disorders, and never lead an ordinary lifeolilker,normal children. Andrée
thought instantly of the energy and dedication she would have to concede to care for her
daughter, so shecreamed and screamed angtw8he realised she would never be able to
bring such effort to what she said was an inferior being, a baby better not born.

I, Robert Jacquet, wondered why such a tragedy had fallen on my head. God could not have
punished menore for my careless life so far, for my total lack of anxiety over whatever
happened to méstill, | felt the love and the obligation to care for my child. | wanted to make
her life worth living. The doctor told us Down syndrome babies and childrensweset and

loving and how they also could lead a fine, pleasant life if well cared for and feeling the love
of their parents.

When Andrée left the hospital, we returned to the lodge in the woods of Robois. The
depression of Andréeckedher for months. Omdaythreemonths after her having given

birth to Rose, she announced me quite coldly she could not cope. She could not envisage a life
of solitude inacountryside, uninteresting town, caring for a retarded child. She could not and
would not endure thpitiful looks of the people she met with her Down child at her hand. She
told me she wanted a divorce and she prepared to place baby Rose in an appropriate
institution. She was very much relieved when | vehemently refused to give Rose out of hands.

| acceped the divorce, but held Rose with me, in the lodge.

As the years passed, | hired nurses to carBdse, especially when | was not at home. | had
my work and continued to spend a lot of time at my enterprise, but | never travelled far, did
not go on hbdays, stayed with Rose at Robdi®w people of Robois knew | had a Down
syndrome daughter. Few people even knew | had a daughter. | did not seek particularly to
hide her, but I also did not want to expose her too much to the general attention inra town
which almost everybody knew me. We went for long walks in the woods of the Ardennes, |
could show her Bruges and Namur, but she knew little of Robois.

| found the correct schools in the neadity of Namur, and Rose proved to be a lot less
mentally réarded than | had feared at first.rHatelligence quotient stood at sevetiitye.

Rose was a very nice, loving, joyful child. She was sweet to have at home. With time, she
learned to make orange juice, set coffee or tea. She could fry eggs and baoahpuitting

the house on fire. She prepared spaghetti and Bolognese sauce, and the Bolognese was the
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real thing she cooked with the right ingredients, tomatoes and a little onion, salt, pepper and
basil. She could read and write, althoughrdellectualprogress came painstakingly slow.
Currently, she hatb attend a private boardirsghool in France, where she followed the
courses of her middle schamlucation. Rosedal it not too difficult to learn most branches of

art or of languages, but shadhit more difficult to express herself clearly, and much of the
complex thinking necessary for mathematics and scienasahwve her. She was, however,

a witty child, who adored and clung to her father. No man received so much attention and
affection as ITher can be no love without tenderness, the poet sang, and the tenderness |
had craved for but never received from Andrée, Rose poured onto me with all her heart.

This past year, | brought my daughter home every weekend and every holidayo Idnive

for threeanda-half hours to reach her school, and | did that usually on Friday afternoon, to

bring her back late at Sundayswiis a minor effort to have my daughter understand plainly

she had a loving fathegeven if $ie did not have a mother.

Rose likedherpresent school. She had made many new friends in France. It happened she
brought friends of hemver for the weekendnainly other girls, so that my car on certain

Friday evenings resembled a birdbés oidhge of s
us at Robois, in the lodge | had call@#the Rose of Robois

On the seconériday of February, Rose and | sat in our liviogm, playing at draughts with

Joseph Bikri. Rose knew Joseph Bikri quite well. She called him Uncle Joseph since a few

mort hs, | oved to play with hi msgoirmgway,vérye di dnot
relaxed and gentjavith Rose. There lay never any embarrassment between them. Joseph

looked at her simply as another human being, not as anybody spe@akxtremelygrateful

for tha, and not a little surprised detecting that quality in our Superintendent of Hdise!

had developedunningfor the game and we let her win often. When she lost she could

become angry and difficult to handi&e, Joseph and I, learmt tope with such bouts too.

Late in the evening, Rose got bored with the game and wanteddors®ee on television. |

chose a light love story and the three of us settled in the sofa. Rose creggohdds | ap and
curled in his arms. | went to the éften to prepare snacks and asked whetheplaganted

something to drink. Joseph preferred a sweet white wine, which, he said, reminded him of the

poet Omar KhayyanWWine wasmy choice too. | was opening the bottle with the Laguiole

corkscrew was proudf, when the telephone rang through the holkad installed

telephones in practically every room, so | passed the bottle to Joseph to finish the job, and

Rose shuffled next to him on the sofa. | went to the telephone on the smaditdale

A social worker of the PISC, th8ocial Carelnstitution of Robois, phoned me. | knew the
woman. The woman called the Bourgmestre of Robois because she had a sericie issue
could no longer cope with alone

60l am on guard at the RVeByQrgentcasea@a mghapds.&ai ned,
dondédt know what to do. I could reach none of
Ash, the President. Il am feeling quite despe
6What is happening, how can | lmreatwhieghdhel asked

woman called.

0A few days a gQentre dxpulsdd mwamgnrwad hadobeen asking foumsy

in Belgium. The Immigration Office told her Morocco was a land at peace. Moratood
persecute its citizens, waot at war, hdha Padament, a King who seesdto want a

moderate policy. The Immigration Office said she would have to return to Morocco and they
refused the asylum. In her case, for reasons | do not entirely comprehend, the Immigration
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Centre plainly told her she was an usided visitor, illegally walking around in Belgium.
Theyalsotold her very clearly they would always refuse to grantasgtum. They refused

for her to stay indefinitelyn Belgiumwo u | d n 6 t paper alleingther to remain a

little time more, andlso to work in our country. Their message to the woman was: leave
Belgium! And thatwas thalt The Immigration Office showed the Moroccaomangently but
firmly to the door puslhing a train ticket for Brussels in her handsling her she could get a
bus to Morocco fronthe North Railway Station andwing her the address of the Immigration
Office of Brussels if she needed shelter in the capital. They poinhée street in the middle
of winter, and closed the gates behind her. It snowed and atnightir oz e . 0

60And then?6 | asked, for the I mmigration Off
in a neighbouring town.

6Then nothing, 6 ©hkywotmhe BMondocoaerdwoman did
Brussels. She ldeno money, so she could not pay a bus back to Morocco, and she definitely

did not want to go back. She says she may be killed in Morocco. | hardly believe that, but she
wal ked on foot northwards and stranded at RO
O0Whedsghespgendher nights?56

0 S h e told mé apout her last night at Robois. She slept in a hangar of an industrial site of
GrezDuros, the site of that enterprise that made glass verandas and that went broke six

months aga

60Duros Verandlhe®deadlt ykdow tlkeeapl ace. 6

6 1 d o nwhere dhaerspemt her other nights, but she spoke of a shthewiaod. |

suppose she was south of Gigaros then. Today, she was walking around in Roltis

shabby clothes, dark eyes, and stinking like an alleyArenan remarked her wandering about
aimlessly, later hidingn a porch of the abbey, in the darkness and in the cold. He brought her

to the PI SC, to me. 0

6Does she speak French?6é | wondered.

060h yes, she does! She s pelekasdelighful Ragsian Fr e nc h
accent,tooandher passport seems fine, a Moroccan p:
6What is the issue?b6

6 The pr obl enotthiow hertbhach into the streatnThe refuge apartments of the
PISC are filled with people! We had tadi a place for the two families who lived in that

house of Buti res that burnt down | ast Wedne
6l know about t hwast hfeirree, 6Caln 6a n syweur epdu.t &lhe wc
hotel? Robois shall pay for the room. d

0 T we hotels of Robois have no rooms fred afso not the bedndbreakfasts. There is a
motorbike race in the neighbouring towrhe hotels and bedndbreakfasts refused on me.

The hotels, hostels and houses have bikers of #ieir rooms. | phoned ¥ie of them. | am
desperate. | cannot send this woman out in the snow and cold. She may well freezeito death
the porch of the abbey, but | can find no bed for her. The only solution | have for the moment
is to let her sleep in a sleepibggonatablefo t he PI SC of fices! 6

| looked around. | brought my eyes to the ceiling and thought. | too was exasperated. How
could I find a solution if this woman hden phoning the entire evening?

| had an idea.

| said, in hope, 0hayveofJamhes, pfBaugeefthet he Pl SC o
surrounding towns?2o

60l did, monsieur Jacquet! They did not answe

they had already too many problems with immigrants on their hands themselves. They had no
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solution either. Theyold me what | knew already. Then | phoned priests and even the

Bi shopric. Al pl aces in homes are occupi ed.
| made a quick decision, at that moment, the one the PISC woman had probably already had

in mind. She kew | had a large house.

0Al I ri ghtrapily.| o6dorhcalviedead spare bedr oom. I 61 |
a few dlaysvye Itwl It he PI SC. | 6bb. b&wawit hoyowmel @
O0Fine! Thank you, M oas eallyeoutof sdlutionBaodudespearagesit r e I
knew | could count on you as |l ast resort. Th

| hung up, drew my fings through my hairand sighedl had done it again. Why was it
always me who had to solve everything and pay with my own self?
6Wemy ,boy, that is why you are the Bourgmest

| explained to Joseph Bikri | had to drive to Robois and why.

OWait a minute,® Youssouf grinned. O6You are
Belgian Police, to remain a while longeith your daughter Rose in order for you to fetch and

to give shelter to an illegal immigrantshould lock the woman up in our prison cell! You are

lucky We have only one cell in Robois, and that
you here 6
6l was certain you would understanddoYdhwe situ

can do better thamerelywai t f or me! 6

Joseph grinnednd brought his eyes to the ceiling in his turn.

He said. 61 thought sloungrylYosswam mets mepdrelae wo ma n
couscous. Do you have | amb in the fridge?0
ONo, 6 I c¢cried while I ran to get my overcoat
the upper drawer, and you will find carrots, onions, leeks, parsley in the loweRwses

knowswhere the rest of the ingredients are. Prepare us a couscous for four, will you? | feel

hungry too, and 106l1 be more hungry still af
outsided

| ran to the garage, opened the door and drove intetite blanket of the snow on my path.

| heard the snow crack under my wheg&lse white tapestryas frozen hard to ice. | would

have to drive very carefully indeed. Luckilyhad not yet opened that bottle of white wine

that would be waiting for me imé living-room. | took the road to Robois.

When | arrived at the PISC offices in the Adelbert Abbey, the lights at the porch turned on. |
ran out of my car, felt the biting cold and damned me for not hayeigbeda heavier coat

and a second one for tMoroccan womanl entered the building on the run.

The social worker waited for me in the entry hall. She opened the front door, let me in, and
pointed to a small woman who sat with hanging head and shoulders on a chair against the
wall. TheMoroccan worea chador, a Muslim shawl on her thick hair. She was only dressed

in a thin coat, which opened on a thicker robe and a brown pullover. | could not see her face. |
guessed the woman was half asleep.

The social worker spoilt no words on me, she must havesikn was a man of few words.

She went to the Moroccan and said, 6Samia, t
Monsieur Jacquet. He has a warm room for you tonight. You can stay at his house for a while.
In the meantime, we will seek a solutifam you. Now, please, go with Monsieur Jacquet, you
needné6t be afraid. o

The woman nodded, stood from the chair, kept her head bowed. The social worker took her
by the shoulders, brought her to the door. | opened thefailottremand showed my car to

the ocial worker. She led the Moroccan woman to the car, opened the rear door, and shuffled
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her in. She said goodbye to the Moroccan, and then she turned to me, thanking me profusely
for taking the woman off her hands. It was extremely cold outside, so sbd dack to the

PISC entry hall.

| turned the ignition key and drove out of Rohdiack to my lodge

The Moroccan woman sat in the back seat, but
see much. She kept her head bowed, her thick shawl drawhen@rehead. | sped on the

roads that had been cleared of snow, maybe a little too fast than allowed in this weather, but |
knew these roads eyes closed. | supposed it mightrbaraatic experience for a woman to

be driven in a car alone with a man,aingh a deep and black forest of detmees over roads

no streetlamp lightened@he woman was not very garrulous, to say the least.

| tried, O6éplease, donét be afraid. I wonodt h
woods, but my daughter is at herand also a friend. He is the Superintendent of the town.

His family is also of Moroccan descent. He is my friend. There is no reason to be afraid of

hi m. I f humanly possible, we wil!/| hel p you.
A weak voice from behindcaean, 6 Sami a! 6

| was a little surprised, for the voice sounded young. | had rather expected to find an older
woman, but | had forgotten to ask more details to the PISC woman. | realised | had been naive
once more. | knew nothing of the woman.

| drove on inthe darkWe exchanged no words. | reached my house, opened the garage door
electronically and brought the car to stop in front of the rear wall. | closed the garage door

behind us. | suspected the Moroccan woman might then have thought | had her irdptisone

opened the car, clicked on thmainlightsin the garage, and opened the rear door of the car

for Samia to come out. She hesitated, but followed.

She suffered one more surprise when Rose burst in from the living quBdsetooked with

thepiercing eyesof a very curious girat the Moroccan woman. | saw the woman hesitate

again when she remarked the obvious, the cha
but she did not react in words. She held her head higher and looked at melyahén didl

seehow young sheeallywas, in her early twenties. | ushered Rose and Samia out of the
garage, into the house. Rose i mmediately gr a
the girl.

When we stepped into the corridor that led to iieadg-room, Joseph Bikri stood as a very
curious giraffe with craned neck and interested eyes, holding the door open.

| said, 6éplease hang your overcoat here. We
We will join you, Rose and |, and Youssdab, for we areall hungry. Youssouf prepared the
diner . He i s a decent <cook, his couscous i s

Samia took off her overcoat slowly, and to our astonishment she also hung her shawl on the
hooks of the coat stand. Samia was not a traditional Muglienalso looked a few seconds

in amazements at her, then, for Samia was a very beautiful young woman. She had a fine,
delicate face, ample black hair and a nice figure. She was rather tall for someone so young.
Her cheekbones stood out finely in a somevdnatvn and tired face, but she had pretty, dark
eyes, a thin nose, a little mouth of thick, full lips. Her skin was very light for a Moroccan,
although I had no idea what skin a Moroccan should have. | instantly thought of her as of an
exotic photo model. ¢ould not find one wrinkle on her face, not one darker spot. | also saw
how Youssouf was instantly smitten with the girl, and that surprised me even more, for | had
given up finding my friend interested inyagirl. He continued stawg at her formidable

curled dark hair, and for a few moments Samia pushed her curls shyly from her face. There
was still much sadness and shyness in her eyes. She wore a heavy dress in subdued colours, a
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brown woollen dress, a thialked pullover on a green shirt. | would hateefind other clothes
for her.

| presented, O6Samia, this is my friend, Supe
and he can be very threatening, but he is actually a very nide gepple who are not

criminals. He prepared us somethingtaeatBy t he way, what i s your
6Samia Bennani, 6 the girl answered, a |ittle
0Go i nsSami a.heiussouf and Rose, it would be
Rose stildl kept Sami a0 stSamaarile apuppy.tShedobkedah ad be
me, now, and drew up her nose.

6Yes, | know, darling,é | thought.

| nodded taRose notifying | had understooder messageWe smiled.

60Samia smells. She hasndét washed fsendhedays, h

into the bath before we show her the bedroom. Where can | find clothes for her? | can lend
her one of my pyjamas. 0

We stepped inside, Youssouf leading the w#g/showed the kitchen to Samia as if it was his
own, and placed her on one side oftéige in front of Rose, who continuddvisingSamia

with her round, large eyes, head a little obligReselost not a single movement of the
newcomer. Joseph sat next to Rose, also in front of Samia, and | went to sit next to the girl.

Samia said nothingontinued to look at Rose and then at Youssouf.

Joseph tried to say | ight words presenting t
|l egumes and veal. We drink white wine, Samia
Samia was still a litd shy, and maybe a traditional Musliafter all despite the fact she had

laid off her head shawl. She replied in perfect French water was fine for her.

Joseph served her a filled plate, and Samia did not say that was too much. She did not have

the patiece to wait for us. She plunged her fork and spoon in the couscous and cut the veal.

Rose made large eyes seeing how the girl gorged on the couscous like a glutton. | had not
educated Rose like th&ose smiled and looked at me, and then at Joseph, aschiesl

back, only seeing again a bowed head of Samia putting spoon after spoon in her mouth. She
sensed we looked at her, for she stopped eating, and Joseph and | hastily lregahtkat

couscous too.

O0From what part of MomagycasHk®®O06y,euesngd meb & gam,
conversation with Samia.

Samia frowned. | made a sore eye at Joseph a
a policeman in heart and kidneys. He cané6t h
hekeeps s ki ng questions. 06

0That 1is all/l right, 6 &haanestmamMy horoertosvalwas 6 1 c an
Marrakesh. Where do you come from?6

She looked at Joseph when she put that question back, so Joseph was thrown a little on one

leg, but he nevertheleasn s wer ed str aight away, O0Brussel s!
parents originated from Oujda in the northea
foot in Morocco! | would like to travel there, thoudbr holidays 6

A flash of surprise appeate on Sami ads face. She ded not sa

continued to serve us more couscous. | served the wine and water. Samia did accepft a glass o
wine, now.

6She is definit el ylthought seaving halbadjiags of ®imodRbse | s | a mi s
too.
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60To which school do you go? My school is 1in
6l donét go to school anymore, 6 Samia replie
Joseph hurried to serve her the last.

0l studied at Marrakesh. o

OWhatyodii dtudy?6 JommephSaromy iinfueld gmyembarr as
cannot help it. You do not have to answer to
6l studied Islamic | aw at the University of
Eur ope aDedvee smilaew. @s

| watched a fork full of couscous and veal s
in. This was indeed the evening of all surprises!

Josph put the fork down and said, 6éyoubre a M

| 6 nMaster in Criminobgy. Robert is a universitgiegree engineer. How and why does a
Moroccan Master erstup in Belgium? You could have a wonderful job in your country!

What happened?56

Owasami | i tant for womeno6s r i gheusivesitydVef or t he [
formed an association. The university went along with us and supported us. The authorities
tolerated us and kept an eye on us, but they too did not intervene. Morocco is rapidly evolving
to modern ideas ofgeality between men and women,thwe had issues with radical Islamist
groups. The wonreof our association refused to wear the chadorse@thatnothingin the

Koran forced us to do so. We drank alcohol, more as a sign of defiance than because of
convictions. My friends got beaten ap a warning to our group. That happened several

times. We received deathreats. We, girls, were harassed in the streets. Two of my friends
were beaten so badly theydexl in hospital. The policgrotereports statingny friends got
wounded by accideniyhich in a waymightbe called the truth, but we were openly

threatened. We waited for our first death. A friend advised me to flee to Belgium, where she
had other friends that would help me. She told me | might even continue my studies in
Brussels. | likd that. | had an address. When | arrived in Brussels, no Moroccans lived
anymore at the address. My friend in Morocco had been negligent. She did not know where
her friends had moved to, but she gave me another address of people that would help me get

backt o Mor occo. From that moment on, |l did not
6S0?06 Joseph prodded her on, 6éhow did you ge
6l wandered through Brussels for three days.

a porch of a skyscrap. ThenJ] went to the Immigration Centre, asked for asylum, and was

sent to a Centre near Robois. The camp was insane! Many Muslim single men lived at that

camp, Islamists from Pakistan and Afghanistan. They seemed to claim me. They forced me to
weartheni gab. | dondét want to wear any niqgab! T
have to cover us. The Koran tells us to be humble, that is all! Me and my friends at

Marrakesh, refused to wear shawls. In the camp, men threatened to beat me if | didsnot dres

as a zealous woman. After a few weeks, the Belgian authorities of the camp g rfoy

asylum was refused. They showed me the door, put me in the at@etpsed the door

behind me. | walked and walked. It was cdidt thewalking kept me warml. had nothing to

eat, and no money leftpassed fields and villagelswalked up the hill at Robois, to the

abbey. Then a man remarked me and brought me
OWell, he is the Mayor, i nmdmeaedopbertllambi®e ph poin
Superintendent of Police. You are safe here.
6l would I|Iike to stay in Bel glwhamisawlThel ook ed a

streets are rather dirty, but women are not harassed by men. Tlkay #uaé clothes and |
actually saw women giving orders to men. Belgium seems to be a fine country to live in and
have a family. The countryside also is beautiful, and Belgium is an awfully rich country. You
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dondot know what r i c mamn¢hatéallsyhereuAlldhdas blessed yolhwith | |t
such rain. 6

OWe donodt |l T ke rain to much, d® Rose remar ked.
6 A raldo notsnow 6 | added.

Samia continued, o6l would Iike to stay in Be

| would like continuestudying, maybe get a degree at law here, and become a lawyer. But the
Immigration Centre people told me | remained illegally in Belgium. They gave me a paper

and told me to | eave the territory. Are you
Josephods eyde tswihlkldedbradmad!| vy, o6no, no, |  wou
dondét think you are a criminal. Are you a cr
O0No, l dm not! 6 Samia cried.

We saw tears welling up in her eyes. 6l donbd
6Dondét worry, Ocalstyi nhteerrev efnoerd .a Oowhoiul e . I am sul
you mind, Rose?0

6l donét mind. Samia can stay with me. I 61 1
060There is a nice idea,6 | exclaimed. O6Rose i
do when | neetb go to town. | thought of having Rose accompanying me, but that might be
boring for her. I f you want, Samia, you can
money for guarding the house. That may helop

0And t hat gi vnegse nieh itnignse gbtioor aabdreal a, @ Wd osan arr
lawyer to take on your cause. You have been under tim&&drocco, maybe not to the full

extent as required by Belgian law, but you can bring forward good arguments a lawyer may

take advantage ofVith the right lawyer, you may win the right to remain in Belgium, to

receive asylum as yet. The PISC ofd@is must help you survive and provide you with

lodging Friends can help you. Robert will help, Simone Ash too. She is the head of the PISC.

We can find you funding tcstudy, maybe even with some help of the Moroc&anbasy.

Wedll sort this out!d

Samia Bennani looked from me to Joseph and back. She was considering what we said.
0 Whwpuld you help me? | am a stranger to you. What would | have ia dxchange for

y o ur Saeia pxel@dmed desperately.

Joseph reddened. O6You should do nothing. You
glad to have you as our friend. Wondt w
6Sami aieinsd!ndy Rorse shouted.

60She sur e oiYswildhave to shgwher ¢hd bedroom in the other wing, Rose.

Samia will need a bath before going to sléépu can bring her soap, toothbrush, salts,

shampoo. You know where they are. o
Rose stood.
6The real i ssue i s t @ Yfoiun & aynw t o tghoe ro nc lwetalré o

give you one of my pyjamas for the night. | may have to go into town tomorrow to find you
new clothes. 6
O0Mammadés robes, 6 Rose proposed.

| hesitated.

0Yes. Some of mammads cl ot hatowamammad d | c lheetrle
for a whil e, Rose?b

0Yes. I 61 | show Samia. 0

OFine. Take her to the pantry, then. Ma mma 0 s
Neverthel ess, I 61 | go shopping tomorrow and
61 06l I go wi t Hypywmsed.6 Joseph hasti
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6Youssoslf hlkavewnot the | east practical sense
| thought, 6 Joseph is also a |ittle too eage
61 have a bet tlevanted i eaat a et into thee saa and eatcle adfiskih y

dondédt you and Samia go shopping in the morni
Samia cannot go alone, and a Superintendent
0l want to come to,6 Rose cried. O6Dress Sami
60But |, Istamne@d.Joseph

0That is settled then,dé | concluded. 061 <coun
ob6clock! o

6l cannot possibly accept wearing your wifebo
6l am afraid my wifeds cl| otontitengearsagoancult of f a
havenodot seen her since. The clothes she | eft
to destroy them. It is quite al/l r Jogegpht t o we

will take you to town and help you buynewm e s . 6

Joseph reddened deeper. He was fretting about something.

We finished our supper. Samia and Rose went to the other wing, and we heard their laughter
pearl in the house. Samia explained Rose about Morocco. | cried to Rose to bring Samia to the
clothes of mamma first, to let Samia choose, and then to take her to the bathroom and her
bedroom. We heard Rose and Samia chat until they closed the doors of the guest wing.

Joseph anddleaned the table in the kitchen and dropped the dishes in the sink. We took our
wine bottle to the livingoom, and finished it.

6l have a few issues, 6 Joseph said softly, a
womends cl ot hes tinlg@ RobgisplshHall be fhe laughgh@ stosklofahe p
entire police force! | magine, my trying on a
| Il aughed very much. O6Quite a challenge inde
Namur. There are many nice shops in the retiget there! | am sure you will do fine. Let her
choose. Dondot worry about the money. What i s
60That i serhotsaaldl ,miorJeosseri ously. &é6Samia is a
woman. She is not uth of a traditionalist Islamistoman but she will remain alone with a

manwh o | snibn &m@mamié$gl ated house in the woods. 6
6l swear you | wued.l not touch her, 6 | as

6l know that,d Joseph insisted, obddpolticawi | | ot

of Robois. What will your opposers do when they hear you live here with an illegal immigrant
and an exotic beauty at that? Rumours are sp
oOWell, you know the truth. I f necessary 1061l
60You putatmyt hheeasdt ake as well as your own! d
0l sndét Samia worth that?d6 | asked.

Joseph didnét reply to that statement!!

We continued talikg for another hour in the livingpom, until Rose opened the door and

pushed Samia back in. Samia entered, dressed in a vikgaig, light green pullover, a light

robe and shoes with high heels. My former wife had put on those shoes only a couple of
times. Samiaods hair still glistened a |ittle
made it twice as soft and volunoins. She was splendid. Joseph Bikri stood up from his sofa

as if a princess had entered the room. | laughed. Samia was transformed into a stunning

beauty that evenings she stood there, shyly, in her new clothes, a woman of extraordinary
elegance and disction. Joseph gave hbis hand as if he introduced her to the house, to the
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Rose of Robois. Samia, still shy, had to turn twiceg@dost one hand and Rose at the other.
We admired her and made her turn until her head spun.

That was how Samia Bennarame to live inthe Rose of Robois, in my house. | remarked

J os ep h 0 sltHowmlt Basnia anigtdasily finda quick solution to remain in Belgium,

for Youssouf Bikri would do his utmost to keep her not only in the country, but very close to
him, at Robois | was not surprised at that when | looked at the grace that Samia was, but still
amazed at seeing Joseph so happy, so full of hope, he who had not shown any interest in girls
for as long as | had known him. Yes, Samia Bennani was welcome in mydrause

surmised she might well never leave Belgium and even never Robois.

The foll owing morning, at ten o6clock, Josep
nervous as a weasel. Rose and Samia were ready, so | simply pushed them out of the door and
handed them and my credit card to Joseph. Joseph at first refused the card, but | insisted,

saying the card was a company card and | could subtract anything paid by that card from my
taxes. Joseph frowned, but he took¢heditcard. | gave him the PIN cedThe three of them

ran off.

They only returnediate in the afternoon, laughing and joking, plenty of bags in their hands.
Joseph held a protecting hand on MayEempack of
net had caught a fish after all.
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Chapter 3. March and April

Issues for the Bourgmestre . Robert Jacquet

The spring of the election year revived Robois spectacularly. Winter had lingered long, but
the transition from snowovered lands to the radiating sun over the countryside happened
abruptly that year, so that the villages suddenly emerged from the sagvatmlemonium of
colours bursting out of the earth. People dispatched their heavy overcoats to their attics from
one day to the other. Women put on bright robes, humming songs, arndadkeyfor their
multi-colouredearrings and bracelets. They sanggsowhile they worked. The younger girls

ran through town in the first miuskirts.

| found the rigmarole a little too early, too optimistic, for March and Apmght yet bring

dark days of showers of rain and hailstones, but even | could not but lbajléthdes had

once more released Persephone from the underworld to create new life and joy on earth. Who
was | to dampen the hope in the hearts of my good people of Robois? We burned the giant
witch of winter together.

| did expect a tough spring for ®gif. | did not really look forward to the season, but | too
decidedratherto drink the halffilled cup than loom over the cup half empty. My first joy
camefrom Samia and Rose. Samia Bennani stayed on, of course. She cared for Rose during
the spring holilays and on weekends, and she began to study Belgian law with the help of
Joseph Bikri. She could only follow courses at the university from October of the year on, but
she could grab some advance knowledge in the meantime. Joseph brought her his law books
and explained Belgian law principles to her. We also secured a good lawyer for her
immigration caseJoseph summed up her arguments for remaining in Belgium, and we
thought her case might be won with a little luck and persuaSamia wrote to her friersdn
Morocco to gather background material and even proofs of their perseShgreceived a

little allowance from the PISC, and she had no expenses of rent because she continued to live
with us.

Good news also was that wecceeded iquencling the cae against Paul Degambe. Simone
Ash and also Joseph Bikri talked to Zumurud. Ash explaoagiently to the Muslim woman
thatthe Director of Social Housing had meant no harm when he tolanetbseph Bikri, in

his normal, direct style, began asking stra questions, such as who owned the Jaguar that
brought her to work, what her fiancé did for a living, where she lived and how many rooms
her house counted, how many people lived with her, and so on. Zumurud understood quickly
the police would keep a vegjose watch on her fiancé, who was in faerelyher lover.

Zumurud was not married, though she had claimed the contrary. Jogeyged her for what

she wasBikri was convinced the Jaguar had been bought with black money from drug
dealing He aleredthe police in the neighbouring town where Zumurud lived in a sumptuous
villa. Bikri also asked her who had urged her to file a complaint against Paul Degambe, and
the names he heard wegreople close to Yves Govihe idea had not come from her

originally.

Zumurud withdrew her complaint, Paul Degambe apologised, and the matter was covered up
with the blanket of peace. After that episod
careful with his handand with his tongue when women were concerned

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus P& 208 |

The rumours concernirig e g a ®suppdsdyg having fraudulously used a credit card also
stopped abruptly after a twmur presentation in pithy detaiith accompanying joke®f

the justification ofachof Paul 6s expenses byoudgingtetheccount a
Board of thenstitution Item after item of the expenses was checkad exposeduring the
memorable Board session. Paul Degambe came out of that meeting with white, shining
angel 6s wings on h& golddm aucdndiagamund hisrbalding llkadS a i n t
The accountant declared he had not had so much pleasure since long.

Degambe was cleared of all suspicion.

Nevertheless, both he and | knew our finectens of Robois. It was common wisdom that

where smoke could be smelledet& lurked a fire somewhere. Suspicions therefore remained
lingering in the air, and | expected more of that. It seemed, of course, the rumours had been
spread from out of the circle &fends of Yves Govin, and not, as we had thought at the
beginning, fom the opposing political parties of Robois.

A new corruption scandal then rocked Robois, and once more it concerned someone who
might have been close to me.

Jean Segers was the President of the local soccer club. The club did not amount to much. It
played only in the provincial soccer division, and it had not reached higher for at least two
decades, but Segers was a vkelbwn figure in Robois and in the villages. He moved in the
circles of the IC Group and he exerted some influence during the paripgseéte also

hung around me, sought me up at all kinflevents. Helang to any important person of the
communepf coursamportant in his own limited perception. | did not particularly like this
amoebdike, gluetype of personSegersalways knew thigs better than anybody else around,
and brought larguments forward with some fornebody bothered or wished to challenge

He sought the high and last word in discussions, stating often not more than the obvious, but
kept attrying havingeverybody baéve heonly had uncovered the deep truithe loved

dropping the names of the powerful he hobnobbed Wwghanerally avoided him as best as |
could, but never seemed to succeed in that. He stood on all the photographs of me and my
closer friends in the @l newspaper.

Rumours now went he had dipped his greedy hands in the treasury of the soc&s club.

much as Wwas certain of the honesty of Paul Degambe, | suspected thisronghi have
soundeijustification The Board of the club checked anecheedked, and finally confirmed

the rumours. It alerted the police, filed an official complaloseph Bikri told me in

confidence the accountant of the club had known of the fraud all along. The accountant
equally hadet money of the club disappear in loan pockets by forging fraudulously dark
accounts in double booking. The Board of the club immediately dismissed Segers, appointed a
new Manager and Coach, and accused Segers and the accountant openly of theft.

Segers was supposed to be an influential mewitte IC Group. He was alssupposed to

be my friend. Yves Govin began to tell more than one person close to me was involved in a
fraud scandal. He spread smoke around me and | felt the cloak of vague doubts and suspicions
rise in the minds of the people

End of March | had an uncomfortable meeting with representatives of the Immigration Centre
that was located in the neighbouring town. Simone Ash sat at the same side of the table as | in
that meetingwhich took place in my office in the Abheywonderwhether the case of Samia
Bennani had alerted this administration on the possibilities of Robois.

TheImmigration peoplevantedtalk to me because they wanted to handle the immigration
problem a little more sympathetically, they said. When an immigesefved asylum in

Belgium, the man or woman was put out on the streets and not further bothered with. The
Immigration Centre had of course advised the person tommediatelyto the City Hall of
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thecommuneo obtain official papers of residené@ne could see each day a few Congolese,
Pakistani, Afghani, Albanese, Moroccan, Algerian, Libyan men and women waiting in line at
the town counters to be inscribed in the registers of the population. With that paper in hand,
the immigrantoftentook thefirst train for Brussels, where they might end up with friends or
family or in the mob circuits of illegal workers in the construction industry, in the transport or
cleaning businesses of the capital. Another, larger part of the immigrants, howeverpknew n
where to go to, but they knew very well the way to the local PISC, to the offices of the Public
Institution for Social Care. There, they could ask for a living allowance and even for a social
apartment to live in. The PISC was not allowed to refuse) thagh the immigrants would
probably have to wait for years until they received an apartment, and that for the simple
reason that no commune in Belgium had built more than one tenth of the apartments needed
to answer the demands of the immigrants. Tpeasentatives of the Immigration Centre told

me their town could not handle anymore the growing demands for inscriptions and more so
not the funds necessary for the immigrants at the PISC.

Henceforth, the Immigration Centre would direct immigrarasony to the town they were
established in, but also to the neighbouring tolR@hois would have to receive and pay for
onefourth of the new immigrants th@entre pushed out of its gates.

Politically, the demand placed me in a difficult situatiboould not refuse, for the Federal
Authorities of Belgium forced the repartition on Robois, and refusing to help the poor and
destitute was a despicable act. On the other hand, the citizens of Robois grumbled about
immigrants, especially about Muslims and gypsigse good citizens feared thefts,
harassment, and they generally found the Governapamtt way too much supporting the
immigrants. Was Belgium not a country racked by the economic wodd crisis, by the

crisis of the Euro, and by high levels of uneaywphent? My fellow citizens were out seglg
scapegoats for their issues. They found them all too readily in the massive arrivals from
African, Asian and EadEuropearislamist countries.

60h sure, we want to hel p, 6 Ilamduetafmiions 6 Our
each year to send to the developing countaed,we give money to charity institutions to dig
wells in the Sahara. We supp@aritas Catholicaand a dozen other charity funds. But how
would we be able taking on our shoulders allgbeows of the world? We should limit the
number of people allowed to enter our country! The current flow of immigration had to be
stopped! o

So now, these people frottne Immigration Centre came to tell me Robois had to support
immigrants even more than before. | would have to announce the news in the Town Council.
The Council would ask how much that would cost to the community, meemihgir own
pockets.The Councilwould of course react as if I, personally, demandedntimetey. It would

be bad news to bring. How many tim@s ancient times &l the populace killed a herald
announing bad news? All too often, | surmised. Bad news misaveervotes in the October
elecions!

| managed taell the Immigration Service that Robois was a rural community and not a large,
wealthy town, and therefore it should take on a lower percentage of immigrants. The
Immigration guys had done their homework, though, and they proved ty statistics | also
happened to hava my drawer, that the yearly income of the inhabitants of Robois amounted
to fifteen per cent higher than the national income. Robois could easily pay more, they stated.
| kept my silence then, for Robois was indeechsa beautiful commune it had attracted in
luxurious villas many welto-do people from the surrounding conglomerations.

Robois would have to contribute more.
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| started to wonder who had suggested to the Immigration Service isggrdeburden of the
inscriptions. When | asked that question, | received no answer, but the men and women told
me their suggestion was merely common justice. | needed no lessons in charity and justice
from these civil servants. They had not come to ask. They merely imposedaaned.

When they left our abbey, the atmosphere was very cold and formal. Simone Ash sighed and
looked gravely at me, but our hands were tidé.would have to ask the Council for more
money to fund the PISC.

A little later, still in March, the Cabinetbtained another difficult file to handle. A rich farmer

of Blouges, Michel Guichand, wanteditstall a very large, industriadize pigsty, one

sufficiently large to compete with the Flemish stables of the lands of Ypres. There were a
number of issues ith large pigsties. They smelled. Animals were haldire conditionsand

one had to dispose of the masses of urine awhf matter. In the Flemish Polders near the
North Sea, the urine was spread over vast lands, and even that had issueghof

ervironmental pollution, for the nitrates accumulated in the ground and polluted the
subsurfacevater. Wallony had fewer such farms, the urine problem was not as acute, and one
had remarkd already Flemish farms concluding contracts with Walloon farmemdadc

their surplus of refuse on Walloon saoil.

The neighbours of farmer Guichand refused his plans. They refused the excesses of Flemish
intensive farming and they feared the noise of the transports of animals, of the smells of the
stables, of the smellsf the spreading of urine, the insects attracted, and other nuisances.
Every Town Commission, among which the Commission of Spatial Ordnance, also refused
the permits to exploit such farms. We did not need to vote in the Cabinet, for we were
unanimously dthe same opinigrbeingin favour for smaliscale farming in our villages, not

for the scale proposed by Michel Guichand. We heard his project had been inspired by a
consortium of Flemish farmers whose ambitions to expand had been thwédtaalders ad

who therefore sought new outlets in our countryside. We notified Guichand of our decision.
Guichand took the news very badly. The next days he shouted in bars and restaurants | was
playing thelewd town dictator. The Tyrant of Robois he called, e Htler of the villages

He wanted a new Bourgmestre after the elections, a person who fell more in line with modern
times. He meant Yves Govas my successor. Govirad not said a word during our

deliberation in the Cabinet, bneéwasnow inclinedin street discussion grant the permit to
GuichandHe sai d that to Gui chan Guichamsdpgromisenltot he f ar
teach me a lesson in citizenship. Guichand watsoattempered man who could become

violent. His chest looked like a tr¢unk. | did not want to excite him more than necessary,

so | did not react on his invectives.

The issues | had to cope with in that spring were harder and more numerous than anything |
had experienced in the five years | had been Bourgmestre of Robois.dblya®w, |

thought, that | began to learn how tough the job mighThe.smiles faded from my face and

| felt irritated.

Another very strange claim surfaced a little later. The story took me by surprise. Rumours
went | was the offspring of a Nazi familywasaccused of sympathies for the extreme

rightist causes. Germayational Socialism dated from before and in the Second World War. |
had been born long after that period, but the rumours ran my family had hddedpies in

the war. We had nurturetle memory of Nazism and we sympathised with the racist right.

My grandfather was supposed to have helped German spies at the outbreak of the last War,
helped them uncovielg a Belgian plot to hide special aeroplanes in a castle of the
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neighbourhood. | & not the slightest idea what the rumours were abodt| eould neither

ask my grandfather, who had died relatively young, nor my father who had also died quite
young.l hadlost my grandmother and mothétow could | have been a Nazi sympathiser

when | lad been born long after thacts, and how could my grandfather and father have
assisted the Germans when they never left their villages? My father had been a very soft
hearted, gentle, handorking man, who had never uttered a word of support for the

belligerent parties of the last War. He could not have been a member of any extremist party.
The rumours alscanwe wereanti-Semiti pro-Muslim, and we harboured ideaf the
Fundamentalist Christianignd Muslim Brotherhoods.

The claims were contradictgrof course, and utterly absurd. | dismissed these rumours as
being ridiculous when my friends Bacca and Collado mentioned them to me. Joseph Bikri told
me an evening he had heard the rumours too, and he urged me to take action. He wanted me
to file a conplaint at the police. | waved the absurdity away.

In the following week my house stood empty for a few days. | attended a congress of the
ConstructionBusinessAssociationin Namur, Rose was at her school in France, and Samia

had decided to look for felMa-Moroccans in Brussels. When | returned, | found huge black
Swastika crosses painted in black pibchthree walls of my hous#y wood lodge stood

isolated, so the man or men who had done the painting job had taken all their time to draw the
crosses. Wéound two empty buckets of pitch between the trees, nothing else. | called Joseph
Bikri the same evening to formulate an official complaint, but he advised me this time to think
it over. He told me journalists had access to the complaints, and spreadiegvthof the

pitch Swastika# the presswould make matters worse. He was certain he would never be

able to catch the men who had worked on my walls. | suspected Guichand, maybe even
Govin, but | could accuse nobody without proof.

| felt like Hamlet tlen, always hesitating for action, looking for more proof and not reacting. |
realised the events would inexorable lead to an explosion on my partcivitéii do to

counter the rumours and refute publicly the accusations that were launched behind my back?
Confronting Govin would lead to nothing. The man would laugh and corgpraéading his
nasty slanden was not a person like Govin. | wouléverbe able usg his dirty methods.

Doing so was not in my character, but a gentle as | tried to remaiit was also

defenceless against people like Govin, who acted deviously, never in the open. My mood
grew sombre. | was saéasilyirritated, nervous, and maybeitilé in a depression. | bit on

my lips and decided not to give Govin the worried look and sombre eyes he was no doubt
waiting for. | entered the Abbey with a wink and a smile, threw chegoegbod mornings to

all the people | met.

| did enjoy help fromunexpected quarters. Jean Castelle, the Sodibdistber of Parliament,
called me by telephone after the Swastika incident. He told me he was sorry such a thing had
happened at Robois. He considered the act a shame for the citizens of our nice town. He
assured me no member of the Socialistti?hdad drawn the Nazi crossesd also that if ever

he found out who had done that miserable farce, he would severely reprimaedstr@nd

turn the criminal over to the police. He furthermore added he had meardis

grandparents, family farmers of Trioteignes, what my family had done during the war, of
which nothing whatsoever had been-plazi, all to the contrary. If necessary, he would

testify so in a Court of Justice. | was quite astonished to hear sofraoch political
opposer , so astonished I forgot to ask the
thanked him, however, and we hung up. | had discovered a tough but honest man in the
Robois opposition!
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The Swastika episode ended by me havingiéediately sandblasted my walls, but the paint

had entered too deep in the wood of the planks. We replaced those parts of the walls.

The crosses had deeply impressed Rose. The results could be seen for an entire weekend, so |
could not avoid hertandng in front ofthemand asking what they meaMy explanation

was necessarily long, truthful, and it upset Rose visibly. My story of war and hatred made her
shrink from the world and wonder what other violence lurked arounthismade me truly

hate the me who had so polluted my walls.

| installed a sophisticated alarm system thereafter. Cameras covered my outside walls and
brought signals back to a small additional PC in my office room. The cameras would record
all movements along my walls, triggereddigctronic movemergensitive devices. | watched
the recordings closely for a few months, but the only movements detected were either made
by me or my friends visiting us, or triggered by foxes, stray dogs and cats, and large birds. |
also installed an tnusion detection system. The alarms of this system were sent to a call
centre that wouldmmediatelyalert the policef | did not respond within a few seconds with

the right code to a telephone call. The system worked,docé clumsilypbanged with a tok
against a detector, and when the telephone rang | notlidhmediatelyfind the right code.
Within ten minutes, a police car stood at my door with the policemen having their holsters
open and one hand on their revolvers, and | had a difficult timaiekxmg them the alarm had
been a nghap of mine.

The pressure on my person did not end with the Swastikas in that early spring. The next
rumour to be spread was to be expected

| employed a modern slave in my house, a Muslim woman, an illegal immigrant, to clean my
house and guard my childabused of the woman and she also had to serve my demented son.
| got wind of the rumours once more by my bettenking colleagues of th€ouncil Cabinet.

| told everybody | had no son, but I also told nothing about Rose. | offered the name of the
woman who came three days a week to clean my house, told | paid Social Security for her as
was normal. Again | dismissed the rumour.

The last weeks of Aprilpassed quietly

In the very last week of April | organised a diner on a Saturday evening for my closest

friends.It would be my thanksgiving for Eastéihad the best caterer of Robois supply me his

finest menu, for | did not want to prepdhe dimer myself. Samia Bennagsat in my living

room next to Rose, and also Superintendent Bikri was present. Paul Degambe and his wife

had come. We were six.

| warmed up the dishes of the caterer, and we had just begun to serve our aperitif when my
doorbell rang. | expected nobody. Before I could react, Rose darted to the corridor and to the

front door. | ran after her, but Roakeadythrew the door wide open. She stood before the

adorable Simone Ash.

| was stillhurrying through the corridor wherslaw Si moneds eyes widen a
bl emi sh. I had never told her | had a daught
Simone suffered quite a surprise, | saw. She looked from Rose to me, back to Rose, could not
speak a word, and then | stood imehRose, my hands on her shoulder.

Si mone eventually recovered from her surpris
did not want to disturb you. You asked me for these files oRI®@ by phone, and | was in

the neighbourhood, so | thougdb bring them to you myself. | intended to deposit them in
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your | etter box, but | saw the | ight in your
you! o

60You donét disturb us, 6 Rose repliedfuli nstant
|l ady! Who are you??2o

0This is my daughter Rose, 6 | introduced. 0Y

papers. Yes, | needed them with some urgency. Rose, this is Miss Simone Ash, who works at
the Town Council with me. Simone, we are havirggrall dimer party with a few friends.
You know my friends too. Were you planning on doing something special this evaihegs?

is food for six,sowbh ave food for seven too. We would b
ONo, no,6 Simohecoshbdkhkdhepobsesathl yé6 | donbdt w
thoughtyouwer e al one i n the house. | 6m so sorry! o
6Come in, 6 | i msirngsdinmplddinerdndbingapedal, aindesate inthe

company of good friends. &se come in, we would like hat very much! 6

6You are pretty,an Rosree adde dAr e Woow a friend
Si mone hesitated. Her awkwardness was sol ved
drew her in.

Si mone continued, o6l really did not want t
6l ndd¢ doubt you, 6 | replied, &édbut we are g
you, but now youdre here | dm not |l etting vy
| closed the door and saw thvedtcars of my invitees on the path. Simone must have

remarked thewo cars that stood there already, too. Had she been curious nevertheless? | had
a much warmer feeling in my body, suddenly. Simone might as yet be interested in me.

0
| a
ou

| took off Simoneds coat and hung it- in the
room. Simone was happily surprised to see her Director of Social Housing and his e sitt

in the sofa. She smiled when Paul Degambe stio@rdnt of her. She was even more

surprised when Joseph Bikri came out of the kitchen with two plates of zakohskihands,

followed by the extremely lovely bladkaired Samia Bennani holding a very precious bottle

of my bestChampagneTheir eyes too widened when they saw Simone Ash. They of course
glanced at me, walering why | had not told them about the adiitl guest.

Joseph Bi kri |l ooked at me as i f he were aski
Why did you not teldl us you had invited her?
Simone gave them a hand. | presented Samia, and had some explaining to do to both sides.
Simone Asr emained a | ittle shy at first, but we
and theChampagnelid the restn relaxng the atmosphere.

| shouted, oOothe first who talks about the to
We talked therefore about our famili@sd about the usual evening gossip of people we

knew.

| had an explanation to provide to Simone Ash about Samia Bennani, for | was sure the
rumours must have reached her too. | even suspected that might be the reason why Simone
had rang my doorbell. Sadld who Samia was and how she had come to live with me. It
turned out Simone, though the head ofR&C, did not know about her. | tried turning my
tongue three times in my mouth angsed my gentlest words, for Samia listened intently to
each syllal# | pronouncedSimone could not but notice the protective attitude Joseph
exercised over Samia, so she relaxed when she heard my story. Samia added hgthegrsion
and she had to tell about her home town and about the Morocco she knew, also about her
studies. | thought Joseph would have his hands full with this modern African suffragette, but
Simone seemed to admire what Samia had fought forimpddagreement. Samia had
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proved to be a sweet, gentle and very intelligent person the time she livacgsw&he now

had her own study room in the wing, so she almost lived independently from us. She often
took her breakfasts and meals alone in the morning and at noon, for | was usually out, but we
ate something together in the evening. | am afraid my fsiatgb noticed | had only eyes for
Simone Ash.

When we had finished talking about Samia, Joseph Bikri wanted to know how an English
named doctor had arrived at Robois. Joseph always asked the questions | was too shy to ask.
PaulDegambe and | now watch&imone with expecting eyesrfwe had never dared to

probe into Si maiteddlitle as if sheeconsi®&rednrmtrarswering that direct
guestion, but then she told us.

OMy grandfather was an Engl i s h ioignessduringvh o st a
the Twilight War of the Second World War. He met my grandmother there as the daughter of
the best friend of the owner of Castle Trioteigidg.grandmother was a medical doctor, a
Trahtyby name She had studied at Oxford, where she heshdly met my grandfather the

pilot. They had both been somewhat adventurous, a trait thatvidagn my family, but they

fell in love. The rest of the story is simple. They fled back, both, to England, and married. My
grandfather was a pilot in the Roysl Force. We always kept contact with the Belgian side

of our family, and also with the Vresele family of Flanders. | was educated partly in Belgium
when | was a young girl. That is why | speak French. My mother was Bglgari studied

medicine at Oford like my grandfather and my father, and | also continued studies in

medicine later, in Belgium. | practised a doctoin Englandfirst. | returned to Belgium |

suppose, as an escape. | had a few unhappy relationships with English guys. | wasgoung a
naive and | met the wrong men. | wanted to change air to forget and construct me a new,
stronger character before maybe returning to England. | am not sure now | shedt@veto

our lands, by the way. | may well remain at Robois and continue girachiere. | specialised

in radiology after general practice, however, and | do like medical research. | may try that
domain again after a while. So, that is me,
We kept a respectful silence when she had finished talking, for | had tlomimen she spoke

about her past experiences with meimderstood now why she was so careful with new
relations. | should not Dbrusque Simone Ash,

Joseph Bikrchasedhe silence by announcirtigatt h e  h owresbitsgtlie dirst dish, was

ready in the ovens. Joseph Wabe aice more our chef cook for the evening, though we all

helped in the kitchen. We al®@ad not much to do but warm up what the caterer had brought.

We went to the diningoom with the rest of thEhampagnén our glasses. Simone Ash got a

seat right in front of me. Rose sat next to her, and then Samiaand Josephi De ga mbe & s
wife sat next to me, and next to her sat Pageph and Paul began adoconversation about

the poor of Robois and their quarters, but we decided to clean the dishes together and forgave
them. We spent the evening pleasantly together. Simone chatted also with Rose.

It was very late in the night when my guests left. Simoastwut at theane time as Paul
and his wife. | helped Simone in her coat, and just for a few tenths of a second she leaned on
to me. | wanted so much to touch her shoulders and her long, pale neck, but I refrained from

doing so.

When Simone stepped aoftthe door, she turned, looked straight at me, held her gaze to my
eyes, and said softly, oO0thank you for wonde
Joseph are nice, too. |l owe you one! o

| added, o6éyes you do! Wanuwedr & od d lhii ggh taggda i thg 6h
put my hand on her back, even though | was immediately sure | should not have gone so far.
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| did not want to brusque Simone. | would give her the time she ndduksdithe feelinghat

if I was indeed in love with hekwas not at all sure about how she felt. A strange sadness
overcamanme, for love should come quickly and be recognised instadther love was
imperfect.| wondered whether that had happened to her, and thought rather not.

Simone sighed, turned, wetiat her car, and waved before getting in. Rose stood beside me at
that moment, and Rose waved back. | watched
alone in the night of Robois.

The Georgis Cas. Joseph Bikri

In the beginning of the montt April | was driving in BasRobois when | received a call

from our head office of police. Something had happened at the Georgis family home in
Aucourt, the most southern village of our town. | did not wait for more information at that
moment, told | wouldmmediately drive to Aucourt anidasked for Dominique Bussy, my

usual assistant, to join me there. | got the complete address, although | vaguely remembered
where the Georgis lived. | drove on to Aucourt.

When | arrived at the house, several people sgadldered at the villdominique had arrived

only an instant ago. She was already busy pushing the peoplelaway.a nice afternoon of

a sunny day, | felt rather relaxed. What could possibly have gone wrong on a fine day like
this? When | remarked thHaces of some of the people in the street however, closed and stern,
| realised something serious had happened.

The villa looked like a fine, modern building, built in thesticarchitecture of the Flemish

style with sharply inclining high, daifded roofs above walls in red bricKhe villa stood a

little back from the street, showing a fine, wielhded garden in front and a large lawn

spreading oubehind. The Georgis seems to be weltlo people, though | did not remember
what they did for a livingl parked my car a little farther in the street and went up to

Dominique helping her sendg the people away. She told me she knew not more tban |

what had happenebut the people were blocking the entry to the house. The bystanders did
not speak t@ach other. They were respectful when they let us both through, and they
remainedstandinppt a di stance from the villa, but th:
garden on the path that led to the door, and saw that the windows on the two sidesamf the
entrance had been smashed in. The glass debris lay not very much outside, so whatever had
caused the shattering of the glass must have come franotiteWas that what had

happened?

The door of the Georgis Villa was clos&Ue rang the bell. Marc&eorgis opened the door,

and | remembered him clearly now. He was dressed in a fine, grey suit, wore a.liiee tie

was the bank director of one of the agencies of Rphaisan of somaotorietyin the town. |

had met him occasionally in the past. He algays neatly dressed, and | only knew him as a
decent man without a histofle was tall, slim, authoritative, a greying man with a small,
dignified, yet somewhat puffy face, the archetype of the balkkiey.would somebody want

to smash his windows?

6Mosi eur Georgis, you called the police, I b
began. 061 am Superintendent Bi kri and this i
6l know who you are. PleaseinRomei snsdidendésSuw
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oYesdeed. | think we did. What is the matter
OA case of rape, Superintendent. Pl ease step
Robois was a very quiet town. | dsirapeodt r ecal

murder, so | was quite astonished whésillowed Georgis to his livingoom. Dominique and

| glanced at each other. We continued to folloeogis. The man seemed calm. In the living

room we noticed thbrokenwindow panes, the debrssill spread all over the place. We saw

also smashed furtnire. Somebody had wanted to do evil to the Georgis! | remarked three

bricks on the ground and on the table. These bricks seemed to have been thrown through the
window, but we didndét jump too early to conc
Georgis b do the talking.

6l was not at home today when tohi swalsa ppge nveod ,k
the agencyMy wife and daughter were alone in the house. My wife is upstairs, resting a

while on her bed. Her sister, a neighbour of ourst, ieaside. My daughter of twenty is also
upstairs. If youvant to speak to them, | gsethey could comdown although they ara

shock. Yousee, around t wo o 06 c | mendangttlour doorbefl. Mgife noon, t
opened the door, believingh@ighbour or her sister rang, and two men withns&isks over

their faces pushed her roughly inside the house and closed the door behind her. They hit my
wife at the heaavith their fistsso thatshe bled, helip burst. The third man seemed to have
remaired outside, but later he too entered, also wearing-magk over his face, coming

through the backdoor. That door is genlgrapen when we are in. My daughter came running
down the stairs because slael lheard my wife scream, but one of the men caughfrbm

behind and held her arms tightly on heck. My daughter screamed tso,the other man

threw my wife to the floor and he pushed a piece of clothyn d a u qéuth.evly @ife

then lost conscience, shashweak nerves, yosee. It seemed that vt happened toodnly a

few minutes. The men bound the hands of my vaife] her legswith large, brown

cellophane tape. They also glued the tape over her mouth. The two men dragged my daughter
upstairs to a bedroom, while the third man remained dowssgpawbably to guard my wife,

but alsoto smash the furniture in our livingom and diningoom. He used a chair for that.

Our daughter was thrown @nbed. The twaonen tore her clothes off. Thathgeytouched my
daughter 6s body wichehhertevesgwhere, diso atthgr inthmate ghds, t o
They did not physicé} rape her, but they kept telling her that if | did not mind my own

business they would come back and firttsh job. They went downstairs again, leaving my
daughter in tears and inatk. My wife had regained conscience by then, but she could see
nothing of the men for they stilad their skimasks on. The two men went outside, smashed

our windows first by throwing bricks at them amchen that did not help mugchy hitting the
paneswith an iron pipe. They threw the bricks in when the windows were already partly

broken My window panes are triple panes, Superintendent, so the hoodlums really had a hard
time breaking the glass. | forgot to tell you we have an alarm system instalisthceuny

wife anddaughter wereathome, the system was not activated. When the gangsters had

finished the breakage, my wife saw the men run away through the backadoost lhave

been half an hour later that dgughter phoned the police, and then ineurried home and

found my wife still lying on the floor in the corridor, my daughter in total shock. | can tell not
much more, but one other thing. The attackers fled by the back of our house. At the end of our
garden lies an eartheoad, a path reallyMy wife told me she heard a powerful car drive off
onthatsideMy guess is that the bandits had a car

6That is very sad, Monsieur Georgis, 6 | sigh
both very sorry hearing what awfully happened to you. We shalldotmost best to catch
the criminals. We are going lave to ask you a lot more questions, telieve me, you can
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answer at your own time and rhythRor us,it is important to have witness accounts of as

close to the time of the crime as possiBleminique, can you phone for three more agents to

come over ?0

| turned back to Georgis.

6 Do yowuMonsieur Georgis, whether the men withtheski s ks al so wor e gl
0Yes, they did! My wife explicitly told me s

6That i s OK. I must ask you nevertheless to
Dominique,please askor the specialised team of Namur to come here for fingerprints, will
you?o

Dominique went few steps back into the corridor to makegtesne calls.

lcied after her, O6Dominique, please be as di s

enfretowmnt o know what happened herel! 6

Dominique stuck her head back in the livirmpm, fixed her eyes on the ceiling and nodded

as if I had no need to tell hdérat. She was right, buiwas a little shocked myself by thdn.

also realised | pushed Dunique round as if she was my slave. | would excuse later for that. |

waited for a while to give Georgis some time to gather his wits.

| continued, OMonsieur Georgi s, Il shall have
too, but | shalhave that doe today by Dominique. She is a quite capable officer, and | think

a woman would be better indicated to talk to your wife and daughter at this moment. Do you
need a doctor for your wife and daughter ?0

60No, | d o n d&aughtehis notkhugzcaptin hddimind. My wife got hurt, but she is

only bruised. 0

6l you want to |I <can call in a psychtol ogi cal
cope withwhat happened here. It would really be better if a doctor made an official
examination of howbagyl your wi fe was attacked. The doct
against the aggressors. o

61l can phone our house doctor. He is a frien
6Do that, Monsieur Georgis. Please do not gi

Marcel Georgis called his docton dis cell phone. He told me theanwould arrive in an

hour or so.

OFine, 6 | noddedeoftheMgmagealone tav your houge.alkey wilhtake
photographs. Our report can also be used for your insurance, so we shall need as many details
as wssible. Has anything been stolen that you are aware of? How are you? | can see you are
pretty much shocked, too. Do you want something to drink? Will you be able to talk to my

of ficers?d

6l will do,d Georgis answer eehstolavedeehstoer. | i ev e
We dondt have muocdthermprecoesybjeais ourjheusse | s

6Monsi eur Georgis,6 | asked my most i mportan
men were that attacked your wife and daughte
6l havenmdn,selenwashenot at home, 6 Georgis rem
0 Ocourse. We will need to ask your wife and daughter a description, as far as they can give

to us. Would somebody want to harm you or Vyo
ONo, absolutely not! | agattimespbath Haeerefused lnatis | h a

often in my career, and that was never associated with any violence. | have no idea why
someone would want to harm me or my family
6You should mind your own business, ®P&e gan
60l dondét know, 6 Georgis replied hesitatingl
di screet as a banker . o

< Q o

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus Patf: 208 |

6Have you noticed any violent or excited beh

ONone whatsoever, nob My Geuosrigness ss hroeolka thiiosn sh etal
have been anything but abnormal . 6

OWoul d somebody want to hurt you for any oth
6Not that | can think of. 0

6Do you know of any relations of your daught
6 N o y dalghter has no boyfriend currently. Skad k boyfriend, several months ago, but

that relation ended. She is a serious girl, a quiet, gentle and polite girl. She studies at the

uni versity. |l cannot i magine who might be ou
| remained at a los§eorgis must have made himself one or more enemieasitlear to me

he did not speak the whole truth. He was a clever man. He would tell the truth on everything,

just not the entire truth. In what unsavoury business wasvb&ved? | had handled a few

cases of violence and blackmail in Brussels, and in all these cases enemies had acted rapidly.

If Georgis had suffered this violence, it was for something or his family were involved in

now, not a long time ago. The message had been intended for hirnottéar, ms wife or

daughter. Men wanted to intimidate hitnwarn him. The attackers could have been a lot

more violent, the expedition was not one of vengeance but of warning.

OFine, 6 | continued. Ol shall ghteOfficerhe name
Bussy, here, can ask her that. | shall also need from you a list of the last clients of the past
months, but only of clients you refused transactions to. You should also ask similar names of
people your personnel at the bank refused songetbim or had issues with. | do not ask for

any figures, only names. Could you provide wu
Marcel Georgis thought for a few moments.

He objected, o6éwe have a privacy policy at th
harassed by youmgstions. We might lose customers. Nevertheless, | suppose that when
merely a |list of names suffices, we could co
60Thank you. We would appreciate that. Somebo

what might the criminals have suggied by telling you to mind your own business? You must

realise these men are dangerous, and you must be invnlsedet hi ng t hey donoét
61 have not t he osdemgédrepbed withwhibperdng, tilingeicer gi s

60 Ma y b @imihals@ughtthewong man. As | sai d, I do not r
OExcuse me for asking, and please take no of
your wife had any extranarital relations for which somebody might have wantedite t
revengeonyouout of spite?0

Georgis reddened, bittwasthe red of anger.

ONo, 06 he cried. OWe have no | overs, nof that
sexual deviantsye do not exchange our couple. We are just a normal couple, with normal

friends wholive an or ma | |l ife. What you people dare to
6Thank you, Monsi eur Georgis. o

| let Georgis think a while, but | did not see him hesitate. He did not come up with any
suggestion.

Three other police officers entered the house, but they weipesd by Dominique in the
corridor.

| stood from my chair, sayings | a s tur, Geardidothisswill be all | wanted to ask you
today. My officers have arrived. | would like officer Dominique Bussy to ask a few questions
to your wife and daughter. Owdficer will write a report on the damage to your house. That
report will be made available to you. Another officer will interrogate your neighbours. Maybe
somebody else has seen or heard anything. | shall take a livekbatck of your house, if |
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may. Ch yes, | forgot. One officer will guard your house for the rest of the day, if only to keep
curious people at a distance. A patrol car with two officers will remain in your street this night
and watch your house. | suggest you activate your alarm systever Inew information,
something we might have missed just now, comes to your mind, anything that might interest
us, a detail overlooked, anything, please call me at this number. We will want you to come to
our offices to state your complaint officially, writing. Tomorrow at ten at th&bbey would

do. O

| handed over my card to Georgis, who looked at it and then placed it on top of a low
cupboard.

| left, but | went first to my officers and gave them my orders. Then | opened the back door,
passed the gden, looked aroundearcled for footprints but found none in the soft grass, and
arrived at the end. Ge o-wigdfenbe thataan theeptaer den had
circumference. There was a door in the fence leading out, but that door coube @pgned

from the inside, and its lock had not been damaged. Any man easilgclimb over this

fence and door, though. | saw no mud on the fence, no damage there too. The men must have
entered first fronthe roadn front of the house. That probably arg a fourth man had driven

the car that had brought the hoodlums to the villa. That chauffeur had then driven to the back
of the house and waited there. Or there had beewavgo No, | thought, thatould have

been too large an operation. In any casis,ted been a welprepared organisation. The men

must have first reconnoitred the environs, devised a plan, and only then attacked the villa.
That learned me a lot. This was not really a crime of passiom, ¢nltlly planned operation.

It was not an atick by pasenat, excited men who had lost their heads. The operation had

been planned beforehand, studied, and coldly executed, swiftly and professionally. The word
profession stuck in my mind. The aim had been to impress Marcel Georgis, and theddader h
his men well in hand, for the girl might have been done violence and worse. Nothing of that
had happenedtor what reason? Georgis had definitely not told me what he was involved in,
most probably in a matter of much money. He had omitted part ofutne tr

| went onto the back path, but the road there was not really an earthen path. It was a gravel
road, large enough to let one car pass. Beyond the road lay pastures and grain fields, as far as
the horizon. Cars would not come here, usudlhe path wa destinedo be used bpicycles,

horses maybe, and people walking for pleasure. No tracks would be left in the redGpesel.

on this path would be suspect, but all the villas along it had the end of their gardens lined by
fences, and behind their fa@ggrew trees and high bush&sar would have waited here,
undetected, better hidden than in the street in front of the Meauld be a miracle for

somebody to have remarked a car here, but miracles did happen. | phoned Dominique Bussy
with my cellphone and askdukr to interrogate the neighbours on a car passing behind the
houses.

| did not try to go back to the Georgis villa. | followed the gravel path on foot, saw tracks
nowhere, arrived at a side road and turned left to reach again the whaidhnstood the villa

of Georgis and my own car. | then remembered Georgis had told me the attackers wore
gloves. That was one element more to strengthen my belief the aggression had been planned
by experienced men. Where could | find such a gang in Rbbdsat of the gang was not of
Robois but had been commanded from out of any other city?

| had not asked too much about how the men had been dressed, but Dominique and the other
officers would have gotten that information.

| sighed, stepped in my car, falthhundred eyes from the street on me, and drove back to my
office. | considered calling the special services of Namur, but felt that not necessary, since we
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had already called their fingerprint group. They would know by now about what had
happened in Robsi

| sat in my office. | reflected quite a while, thinking about the aggression. | leant back in my
chair with my hands behind my head. Anybody who would have seen me would have thought
badly about me, a Superintendent who let all the hard work be donerbgiiand who

relaxed in his chair meanwhile, doing nothing but sipping his afternoon tea. It was good
policy, however. Have confidence in your men, let them work on their own, make remarks
afterwards so that the next time they do not make the same midtdi@sght my men and
Dominique were trained well. Dominique could be a fine Superintendent one day. | had to
encourage her to take courses.

| went over the quarters of Robois in my mind. | knew most of the people in Robois and in the
villages by sightl knew the houses, villas, farms, castles. | knew of no suspicious groups of
men in the villages who might have attacked Georgis. The gang could, of course, come from
outside Robois.

| stood frommy chair, grabbed my keys, and went back toaay | fet refreshed by my tea,

so | wanted to do now what | should maybe have done earlier. | drove away and rode to the
industrial zone of the eastern villages along the N11. | started at Bazaineaadldwly

through the lanes of the warehouses, garagesotmat buildings. | remarked nothing out of

the ordinary, nothing suspicious. | drove on to Butieres and tinene to GrezDuros, but

noticed nothing new.passed cluster after cluster of dreary buildingsw only trucks and
normal family cars on theads, slow traffic, few peoplésighed. What had | expected?

| arrived at Turgoux, near Recycfast, stopped and watched. Again | saw nothing special and
wanted to drive into the lastretches of roads of Turgoux, when | saw a movement at the
hangars of Bcycfastl saw a large fouwheel driveBMW station car arrive, drive to the

parking lot,andstop Three men stggedout of the vehicle. The men were almost of the same
height, men with broad shoulders and square, dark fabeyg.looked like squat, combative
fellows. Two of the men ran immediately to a hangar of Recycfast. Two more men, among
whom the driver, ligered near the car. | was still in uniform. The meaa $een me spng

around, lwas sure of thabut they had onlgeen me latd drove to near them, stepped out of
my car.

The men acted astifiey had not remarked me. They ignorediegtfthe policeran that

walked up to them. The driver said something to the second man, and that one too hurried
inside. By then I®od next to the driver and looked into the opened back door of the BMW. |
saw nothingspecial there, a few tools on a dirty blanket spread tatked at thechauffeu,

and thought | had seen that man already somewhere, but | could not recall whead that
been.

| said with a relaxed voice, O6hell o! Il am Su
here. 6

0Yes, 6 the man said, avoiding my eyes. He di
60 A B M3M four-wheel drive ansise d, wal ki ng ar oundhatishe dar k
one powerful car you have here, a very fine
OWe do, 6 the driver answered.

OWhere would that be?6 | asked. OThere are n
OWe | ive in the buil di ngs eapartmé&enyhe huddimg.ls We w
anything wrong, Superintendent?20
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6No, no, not at al ! |l did not know peopl e a
a friendly chat with the people in my territ
6l am c8llhedi Mla¥ the other gave.

0And what would be the name of your friends?
6l s this an interrogation, Superintendent? H
ONo, no,6 | answered. OJus¢érea yowtcameciomom®d

| received the papers, read slowly but found the papers in order. The BMW was registered by
Recycfast and it was brand new. The vehicle was well insured, all taxes paid.
O0We arrived from Brussels,® Blandis granted.

| heardthe  msanerdes came under some more strain. | sensed the man rather aggressive in
his defence, though sufficiently polite. The more Blandis would get nervous, the calmer |
would become.

O60No, not at all, 6 | replkisedf gNHNevecomples ®¥ns
The man hesitated. He looked at the hangars, then back to me. He came to a decision.

He said, 6they are called Vantandt, Dusar me,
60Thank you, 6 | continued, memorising the nam

| continued to look suspiciously at the BMW in order to discomfit Blandis some more, looked
from the car to the buildings of Recycfast, looked back to the BMW. | handed the papers to
him, | then walked slowlywith a grunt of appreciatioaround the car.daw no narks of red

gravel on the tires, no mud or dust from having driven on countryside roads on the coach
work. Blandis kept staying beside the car. | went back up to him.

OFrom where in Brussels do you come from?6 |
Brussel s?6
6l must ask again, is this an interrogation,

| refrained from answering this time, and | also did not insist. Many men would have liked a
little chat with me. Not this Blandis.

| had nothingn hand to doubhim or suspect him and his pals of anything, and | knew | had
to be careful for not being accused of abusing of my authority without any proof. Yet, my
instincts were on full alert. Calll the intuition of the hunter for the prey, immediate antipathy
for thesemen, or whatever you want, but | féliese were dangerous men and maybe the men
| should be looking for. | had to find out more about them. Sitill, | could not just enter their
apartments without any decent clue. | had no search warrant. If éénier apartments

merely on a hunch, this Blandis objecting, my boss Timario and the Judge of Namur would
nail me to the wall.

| went to my car, wished Blandis a fine evening, and rode on at ease. | felt my hands damp
around the steering wheel.

The next norning, we held an early briefing with the officers who had been on the crime
scene. Dominique and the others had interrogated the neighbours, and of course also the wife
and daughter of banker Georgis. Not much new was added to what | already knewthexcept
a car had indeed been seen driving on the path behind the«ilide time before the attack.
The car had been a grey Toyota pickmaybe a Tundra CrewMax modabt a BMW. None

of the neighbours haaesn or heard anything up until the momehthe shattering of the

glass windows. | said | was pleased with what and how the officers had done. | sandehe pr
for thatin their faces

OWe have no de sfonheywmre skima & k st & ebagangaadiny froene r
hi s not etlsemendwbre lbacky thick, woollen pullovers without distinctive marks
printed on the clothes. They wore common blue jeans, dark browndzagdeather jackets
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The other two wore black jeans and brownish pullovers. They wore boots at théimfeet

neighbours noticed the men getting out of a car some distance from the house, and their
description of the clothes fits with the description of the daughter and wife of Georgis. The
neighbours saw no facesr the men had their faces turned to the other. Jiley wore no

ski-masks at that time. The men wore the same brown caps, no letters or images printed on the
caps either. One of the men wore also a thick shawl around his neck. The men were white,
stocky men with broad chests. That is al/|l we

O0Thnusst definitely have been a punitive expec
0The banker, however, asepeapetsated) atteastkthabiswhathey t h e
told us. | d o mantandipmbablyealsaehis wife nmmustolvimere. They lie,

or rather, they daat tell theentiretruth. We must understand that. Georgis feels threatened.
Nevertheless, cathe three in here, and tell them we need totbeen again to make a proper

report signed by them. Ask the same questionsalyass Bussy, you take charge of that,

will you? Youdidwelly est er day. I wonot iominiguertdeegat e t he
whoever you need to help you with the interrogatidime other officers, try to find out as

much as you can about the banledtor. Has he been involved in any recent doubtful affair?

Have atalk withhistess i n Namur, but please do that ver
mean complaints from one of Belgiumdés main b
director is involvedn, of what clubs is he a member, is he the owner of any real estate, does

he gamble, and so on. Put everything togethe
| hesitated, then continued, d | almosé¢ forgo
company called Recycfast of Turgoux, yesterday evening. They drove a big>ENW\V/not

a grey Toyota, but | wonder. Dondét bother wi
about them. They are called Max Blandis, who appears to be theiMoaskaet, Vantandt

and Dusarme. | have no surnames for these. Find out since when they have been working for
Recycfast. If they ask why we want that information at Recycfast, just tell them we check all
options. If Recycfast refuses to give you any informatitannot insistFind out at the

Commune whether Recycfast has asked authorisation to install apartments in its premises, for

the men live theré.

6Boss, it is funny you mention Recycfast, 6 a
OWhy is that?dé6 | asked.
60 Geor gi s, heisbreof thegeoflecinvglved in the citizen action committee that has
been set up to oppose the Aeolfast wind turbine project. In fact, he is the man who organised
the committegand several meetings of the committee have been held at his home. The
committee has no leader, no president. It is simply a group of people that meet and plan
actions against the wind turbine project. o
e

0So what?6 | didndét catch where the officer
ORecycfast, Aeol fast, s ame presemation ofthewind. We he
turbine project in thébbey. Aeolfast is but one company of several, working on the same

type of environment al Il ssues and activities.

| suddenly also remembered where | had seen Blandis. He too had been present at that
presentatin, and two of the guys | had seen at Recycfast too. They had cried support for the
project. | must be growing old. The young officer had better listened than 1.

6How do you know all that?déd | sneered.

Theof fi cer reddened. 06 Myengroup, 8ir. Yosee, svehaveonb er o f
house in Butiéres, near thel1, and we may have a couple of those towers not far off. My

wi fe doesno6t itherdoeurnelygiours,eso theg deledated\her to the action
committee of Save Robois, the comiedt Georgis led. My wife went to the meetings
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organi sed at the bankero6és villa. Georgis 1is
di scussions because he too, as many other pe

| kept silence a whildeeling in my bones that the officer had found the right connection. |

never believed in coincidences.

|l brought my arm horizontal, pointed at the
found the connection, boy! You found the motive ofche i me ! 6

| kept sayingd g o od wo r k ,untigmy goding wenrgat ted from pride to behind their

ears.

6Dominique, 6 | asked, Owhen you interrogate
moment he is comfortable whether this affair had anything with his opposition to
Aeolfast, will you? Do the same withhiswifeo not i nsist, but watch

Dominique took notes. | was satisfied with how professional my men and Dominique had
been. | repeated that loudly, and saw the teambitang into this crime like a bulldog.

| concluded, 6éokay, you guys and dolls. We h
060Shouhadt wienvol ve the Procureur du Roi, the P
asked.

ONot yet ,0Nolt ridt drhteed.anker does not file an
do that. This looks like aatsic example of intimidation, and | believe it has been delivered
efficiently. If no complaint is filed, our actions will have to remain limitedt Geon wi t h i t !

The policemen left my office. | remained thinking. Aeolfast, yes, there lay a motive! Aeolfast

might be wanting to eliminate opposition. Still, measures of intimidation such as rape, for

rape had technically happened for the lawhis cas, were pretty drastiStuff like this

happened in television series about the police of Los Angeles or New York, not in Robois!
Industrialenterprigs were not known to use such measures. Maybe somebody had

transgressed orders. The thought was revoléingd,farsought.

0This sounds t candimdiancstuff tb be kieYoussowfbdboyl gr umbl ed t
myselfondt overreact, you too. Your i maginat:i
simpler and more tangible behind this attack

Thatsameewvei ng | drove to the Bourgmestreds | odg
have done so more to see and talk to S&@srmanithan to Robert. That woman had

bewitched me. She made me long for a family, for holding her in my arms for entire days, and

also at nights.

Robert listened patiently to me. He too found my hypothesis of Aeolfast intimidation very far
fetched.

60Unbel iRohedjbdgesil, ® Aeol fast is | aunching an expe
favour of wind turbines in Robois. They have peohfolders and have those distributed to

each letter box of the town. There are articles on wind turbines in every local newspaper.

They are spending a lot of money in publicity, but why then would they go so far as to use
violence on an activist? Thatwowd be wunheard of! 6

I didnét stay | ong at the house. Robert seem
such as her studies on her mind. This was not an evening for a smile and a flirt. | felt very
much disappointed, but women can be like that ta yo

The next morning, we had a new briefing. | let Dominique Bussy speak out first.
She came witha surprise 6t he Georgis came with a | awyer,
said. | told them this was not a formal interrogation, but the banker inkistéavyer to be
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present. The daughter could not come because she was too much in shock. The lawyer
presented a doctor 6s dnvetdthepoliceaffiees. [dveoeb ar i ng h
formal report but learned nothing new. The banker, the aifd,also the daughter, refused to

file an official complaint. | chatted for a time and then suddenly asked whether what the

gangsters had shouted when they told Georgis to mind his own business had something to do
with Aeolfast. Had | thrown a bomb on ttable, both Georgis and his wife would have had

the same reaction. | watched them closely, and the banker reddened veryHmatdrted

trembling like a reed. Ae wife almost faintednd grasped her heaBomething, I could tell,

was not right! | saw Gegis hesitate as if he wanted to confess something, but he replied with

no, he didndét think the raid had anything to
There is nothing further to mention, really. No complaint, no case! We can close &us ho®

| addressed the other officers. O0And you, ha
The ol der of the three began, o6we spoke agai
father off. Nothing new. Nobody has seen anything nor heard anything. Ge@gielido-

do, quiet, polite man. He had no police file

He is an angel with wings. His boss at the regional centre of Namur also described him in the
best of termsHe laughed when we asked whether Georgghtrbe involved in any affair of
blackmail or extortion. Georgis was not a man to have such affairs, he said. Robois was as
quiet in finances as the cemf a typhoon. We also semtd men to Recycfast. We asked for

the personnel records for the names gave us. The mare called Max Blandis, aderty-

eight, Hubert Dusarme, age twetsigven Eric Vrankaert, aged twentfjve, and Jean

Vantandt, age twentthree.There is a fifth one, one Richard Mordine, aged twaityPretty
young guys, | would saylhey were, the iar of them, hired by Recycfast a month ago, so
fairly recently. Maybe that is why we donot
exception. Yes, he works also at Recycfast, but he is something of a Security Director for the
companies of the consortium. He does not work directly for the company here, but he lives
with the other mein apartments that seem to have been built especially for them. Blandis is a
guy high up in the consortium, so itwetk us as odd that he livelthe same kind of lodging

asthe others, who are inscribed as common labourers. Why would Recycfast need a security
boss?Are the before mentioned men his security team? Why then the gp?Becycfast is

a decenenterprisgéhatmakes caect profits. It is ot an ailing company. We found that in
brochures that laid around in thetry hall, including a brochure with their balarsteeetThe
people at Recycfast were collaborative up to a point. We had the impression they had received
directions. More than theames of the guys and acknowledging they worked at Recycfast

they would not grant us. For more they told us they would have to appeal to their Managing
Directors. We did not insist.Oo

Really nothing from the neighbours?6é6 | askec
6To come b ahcbko utros ,téh et hneeiogf fi cer turned a few
nobody seems to believe something is wrong with Georgis. He is a fine neighbour, cooks at

the local feast. He is a gentle, polite, helpful man. He keeps to his own business. His garden is
well kept. The man does that work himsé&lb excessive style of living. He has only a

company carThe neighbours hea of no problems with the wife or the daughter. The

daughter has no boyfriend for the moment. We thought it better at this stage not t@probe t
deepl vy, not to suggest anyt-fhendsgrtoh&echodli d not
We are waiting for results of the fingerprints, but the daughter and wife of Georgis confirmed

the aggressors wore gloves. 0

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus P&R:208 |

OFi ne. Or shousledntle ds.a yo Wea da?r6e latcoan dead end |
reports of what you have so far. The groups of Namur or Beusseld not have done better.

We 61 | |l eave the case as it is, for the momen
have a new ice . Next points €606

We did not advance much more in the following days and weeks on what we called the
Georgis Rape case. The fingerprints yielded no results, as exgedittdot want to harass
the Georgis family mord.knew all hope for progress wasstpbut the case kept gnawing
away at me.

Two weeks later, however, | agk® the officer whose wife went to the meetings of the

citizen action committee of Save Robois, the committeeoiiyadsedhe wind turbine project,

how things stood by then. Théfioer spoke to his wife and he told me a few days later still

the committee had temporarily stopped working. The most active member, the organiser,
Marcel Georgis, had withdrawn from the committee. No further meetings had been organised
in his villa. Thatwas quite normal, everybody thought, after what had happened to the
Georgis family. The family was still in shock and needed quietness and rest. The committee
members talked individually about seeing each other again in another place, but nobody had
volunteered to call together another meeting. The wifedralied a littledeeperand found

that many citizens seemed to be afraid of continuing the committee. The Georgis affair had
turned into a rumour that one had better not oppose the wind turbines project openly. The
woman thought a new committee would be constituted, bubteattwaiting for a new

leader. In the meantime, nothing happened. Nevertheless, the people continued to gather
information about the nuisance of wind turbines and about regulations of the towers in other
countries, and those data might be sent t@tivesay committees of the Region and of

Robois.

| supposed that i f Aeolfast really had wante
not have been more successful. The committee remained headless also the following weeks. |
talked about that to the Bogmestre, but he was as powerless as | was. The Georgis Rape

case continued to hang about in my mind, for it remained an unsolved case for me. | drove

more than normal around in Turgoux, and especially in the environs of Recycfast, but |

remarked nothingut of the ordinary. | saw occasionally the men of Blandis in town, but they
behaved and we about their ways as any other inhabitafitey talked a lot in bars about

the wind turbines project, always in favour, but they were also labourers for Récycfas

The Election List of the IC Group . Robert Jacquet

| was very much concerned by the installation bfi@of wind turbines in our town, the more

so because | realised the construction companies would use Robois as an example for the
development of similar projects in other Walloon countryside towns. The Robois project
seemed important in that aspect to md,lsad scruples to oppose the project, but my

decision was made and firmly made, and when a decision based on sound arguments and
opinions was set in my mind, | usually stuck to it. | did not like to see our countryside lined
by thirty metre high towers.lbved our landscapes. | would rather have preferred one large
gas turbine site in Turgoux or in another of the industrial zoa#serthan the behemoths of

steel obstructing our clear vistas of the sky from everywhere. | loathed therefore the publicity
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of Aeolfast that inundated Robois, and | was tempted to believe thet¢hed hypothesis of
Joseph Bikri on a plot to add violence to persuasion by the company. The wind turbines
project was not the most urgent on my mind, though. The proposal woultsfuady through

the various committees of advice and through theidinial Cabinets befoiewas sent back

to the Councillorso Cabinet of Robois, and

The more urgenssue | had to solve was of gathering a list of @atds for the next election.

The IC Group should now start bringing together a list of fine candidates to represent our
ideas. IC liked to present candidates from out of all the villages, and we also had to look for
fifty per cent of our candidates to s®men. We would place a man, a woman, and so on, in
strict order. If it proved always quite a task tadfpopular and decent man from each village

for the list, it was even more difficult to find enough enthusiastic women, and the right
women.| also wanéd no idiot or scoundrel on the list, however popular the man or woman
might be, for if by chance that person received votes so that he had to become a Cabinet
Echevin, then | had a big problem on my hands!

Finally, the most difficult and most delicatekasas to place the candidates in the right
sequence, a sequence they could live with. Of course, everybody wanted the first place, or as
high up as possible! The only other place but the first that would be hotly coveted, was the
very last, the red lanter At the start of my political career | had wondered why that was the
case, and the answer was double. People who voted found easily the name at the head of the
list. They found the name at the very end as edsiwever,and that mattered, especially fo

the elderly voters. Traditionally also, the person at the end of the list was considered as being
the challenger, the man or woman who dared challenge the head of the list. It could also be
the man or woman who would be leaving politics and thereforeeoluthe list.

I, Robert Jacquet, should head the list. | would be followed by a woman, and so on. | saw
Yves Govin at the end. Tradition wanted also that the Bourgmestre did not propose and
decide on the IC list. That taskdh# begiven to a CommitteefdVise mernand women,
brought together specifically for the tasksefarcing for candidates ansho would propose
the listfor acceptance bthe General Assembly dfie IC Group.

My first step was therefore to ask formally to the President of IC torddsesuch a

Committee of Wise. The President of IC was Albert Desjardins. | organised a meeting with
him. Desjardins was a man who had liked to dabble in politics, but who could not and would
not dedicate sufficient of his time to be a candidate himadiihaaybe become elected as
CabinetEchevin Hewas a dignified, tall, greying man of fiftyvo, ideally suited also to head

the Committee of Wise.

We discussed who would be the best members of the committee. Jean Sauvent was a must.
The Town Secretary, IBerte Hersalle should benan-politician, but she belonged to our

group, so she could be another fine name. We accepted Gustave Blanchard, who ran a
respected clothing shop in Robois, and Bertrand Thirion, a manager in a company that built
plastic garageloors. These men and the woman were in their fifties, or almost. They were
honest, reasonable and honourable persons. Our Committee of Wise was thus constituted,
even if the General Assembly would have to vote on the names.

Desjardins asked me whethestill wanted to lead the list, to which question | answered in

the affirmative. He then wanted to know my earliest opinion on the rest of the names, and |
replied | found the current Cabinet Councillors, Bahevins had done a fine job in the past
yearsand should be given the chanifghey choseto cortinue their good work. | saw
thereforin all logic me aswumber one, Nadine Dumortier as number two, André Bacca as
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three, Albertine Dewez as four, Marc Thoran as five, a woman still to be found Bsesig,
Gasson as seven, another woman as eight, Yves Govin as nine. If Govin wanted a role as
challenger, he could take the last place on the list. Desjardins did not comment on my
preferred list, but | had the impression he approved. He kept looking, atendering.

| askedDesjardingherefore whether my list was logical or whether he had other ideas. He
replied immediately Yves Govin might want to be placed higher on the list. To that claim |
answered either the Committee of Wise could formulate a proposal of appeasement, or the
matter could be voted upon in the General Assembly of IC militants. | remarked nevertheless
that Govin had only recently taken place in the Cabinet, whereas others had worked for
several years in it.

Desjardins remained pensive.

He sai d, 0s upe®dWiseotthe Sen&a Assemblyt oéIC vote you out of the
leadership place for the next electioth at woul d your reaction be?:
| was much surprised by eveaving toconsider this eventuality. | had not asked for the last
elections to be a candidateea less to lead itC had practically begged me to lead the list,

and we had won brilliantlyt had worked hard. So, | had taken it for granted IC would place
me again at the head of the list. Disavowing a Bourgmestre of my age by taking him from the
first position, was about the same as the Republicans or the Democrats in the United States of
America refusing the nomination tifeir President in function for a second term at the next
elections| said so to Desjardins.

ladle d, O Al ber t  toailower poSitiop, any loveesplacegl shall have to consider
that as a severe insult, a public affront. | and my team, the Cabinet, have worked as the best
management group Robois has had these last decades. We modernised this town and
transformed it ta dynamic entity. | led an ailing group at the last elections and brought it to
victory. | have given much of myself. If IC shuffles me along, downwarsisall have tdeel
disavowed, as if | delivered a bad job. | would find that not only a fundanejuistice done

to my person, but also a personal insult. In that case, | would reserve my response. | might
accept a place on the IC list still, or I might leave IC. Anyhow, | feel that for becoming
Bourgmestre or a member of the future Cabinet, the wbitesld decide. The man or woman

with the most personal votes at the elections should be the future Bourgmestre and the future
Executive Cabinet members. o

6People can vote on a name and also on the |
of the list, the nospersonal votes, are added to the names on the list in decreasing position on

the list todecide on the Councillors. If the leader of the list therefore has not enough votes to
become Councillor immediately, he or she gets some of tlsbs@tes until the number

necessary to elect him fdre Council is reached, and so on for the ones following. Would

you accept these added, list votes, to be added to the personal votes in @edefet@n who

would get into the Cabinet?56
Desjardins loked at me expeatdly, but | disappointed him.
6No, definitely not,6 | said. O6We agreed al s

consideration votes brought directly on a name. List votes are added legally to decide on who
may become Councillor, btr the functions of Bourgmestre and the Cabhipetsonal votes

only should count. The paper we signed for the last elections mentioned this clearly. | would
want each candidate on the list to sign such a papermore, agree to a contractwhis a

goad paper with sound rules. It weighed as a contract. We awogd endless disputes during

or after the election night. Matters must be clear to everybody. The Executive Cabinet
members must be known in the night of the elections. Which affairs they wdlltbananage

A

can be determined | ater, of course. 06
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6l fully agree with you, 6 Desjardins nodded.
which party we would form a coalition?%
6l think we should form a coal eachiabsplute n any ¢

majority of votes. We need some form and degree of internal control @athieet, so | feel

we must in any case add a few memstodrone or other partyl remain in favour of

continuing with the people elected in the Liberal Parhat paty has worked loyally with us

in the past five years. However, we do not know what the results will be of the voting. If the

Liberal Party gets to be outvoted and heavily punished for having been part of the current

majority, we may have to seek anothertipar to rule with. Therefore, | propose nostgna

coalition contract before the elections. The party we join our fate with for the next six years

should be decided upon in the night of the elections, once the tendency of the voting becomes
clearWedd the same the | ast time, didndét we?b
6Yes, 6 Desjardins agreed again. O6We should p
the new Bourgmestre, plus for instance the three names with the highest votes who decide on

the partner in the electioni ght ? 0
0That seems fi

n e
with the most p

t

h

e me . I might also agr
er al votes, plus the I
ORi ght! Why not? I di scuss thiesofi n th
di scussing wit y on our next partner
0l never sell the ide of the bear befo
6 A nrhusthappen, Robert, before somebody else on the I@distmore votes than you.
You are extremely popular in Robois. The people like you. My expectation is that you will

gather fifteen hundred to two thousand five hundred more votes than the second highest score
on our | ist. I heard the people talk about vy
6Thankoyoful atYt er me. 0

O60Nodot66 Desjardins replied.

He drifted intosilence for a while, searching for other points to disddedaid down his pen

and notebook.

oWel I, have algreed &n the most important items | needed to talk you about. With

that |, |l can start working. I 61 1 contact the o
with the job, which is less easy than you think, we shall hold a General Assemab$gssion

of the IC Office In the meantime, we caireadystart lookingfocan di dat es, of cou
6That would be fine,6 | said. 6l appreciate
shall make yourself a few enemies, but al so

We shook hands.
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Life continued. | was very busy with my construction companyv Neders streamed for
my enterpriseWe would have a very good year.

| rarely met Simone Ash outside the Cabinet meetings, and | regretted that very much. She
looked so lovely in that spring, always dressed up in the finest, colourful clothes, always
elegant, using but a little makg accentuating the delicate features of her face. | admired her
very much, and | was in pain each time | saw her. She moved like a model. She was too
dignified and distant to be considered a vamp, bubppealedlso tosome of my darker

urges. Men came instantly under the impression of her grace, but few dared to approach her,
and when | thought about that possibility, | felt the pangs of jealousy strongly. Simone Ash
was beyond rumours.

| also wondered what | should dbout Samia and Joseph. It was more than obvious to me
they had a crush agach other, but neither Samia nor Joseph reached out for the other. They
danced around each other | i ke Argentinian ta
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arms. Was thaa culture matter? Should | take up the role ebgtween, of matcimaker? |
decidedly remained the Hamlet in all matters of life, it seemed!

Albert Desjardins did a quick arajood joh a better one than | had thought possibie

organised a meetingf the Office of the IC Groug;onsistingof the current Councillors and
Cabinet memberss well as a few weknown, authoritative personand he proposed the
Committee of Wise as we had discussed. He did not feel it necessary to have that committee
beagreed upon by the complete General Assembly. The committee was unanimously voted
for by the IC Office so it could begin its work on the list for the election candidates formally.

In fact, that work was already done for three quarters by Desjardins himsel

| heard that the members of the previously almost extinded Democratic Party had also
suddenly decided tejuvenate their party and kmld a few meetings, independently of the

IC Group.Desjardins was no paying member of that party, and | also was not an adherent.
wondered why theartyheld its meetings separately from IC, although they were integrated
and the basis of the IC Group. | felt some curiosity for what was said in thegemdirp of

the party, but nothing leaked out.

Desjardins needed several weeks to find the right candidates. BAypmide phoned me for

a meeting just between the two of us. We met in my office idtieey. He presented me a
complete list, so his taskas practically finished. The first names on the list were as we had
agreed upon a few weeks earlier. It contained also new nanmaegpod balance between
candidates of the villages. He also brought me the contract to be signed by all candidates, and
that too had been written in line with what we had discussed whashdgked him to form

the committee. He even produced a paper with the strategic directions fexti@ahinet

and Councillors, as well as a tpoint plan for concrete actions and progedirese plans

formed a fine discussion paper for our campaign, and | thought it coplabtished as such

as the campaign paper of the IC Group for the coming elections. The paper stated for instance
thatthe IC Group refused any massive park of winting towers along the N11. Our actions
were very ecologically oriented, and | found that very suited for a countryside town like

Robois but we refused the steel windmill towevge would also contend tipgogresf the
Ecological Party at Robois.

| laid down the papers in front of me, on my desk, quite satisfied, and asked Desjardins
whether he had already let the candidates read the textghatioer he hathlked over the list

with them. | rather expected a negative answer, for the work of the cemin#tl been very

quick indeed, but Desjardins assured me the list and the papers were not entirely his work,
and quite some discussion had already taken place concerning them. The other member of the
Wise had agreed on the list and on the papers. Thededeslihad seen the order in which

they were placed, and most had agreed after the reasons had been explained to them. A few
candidates had reserved their formal answer, among whom Yves Govin. Govin had told
Desjardins he waited for tho#ficial presentatio of the list to the IC Office, to the broader

organ of the leaders of the IC Group.

Desjardins and | fixed a date for such a crucial meeting. The final form of the list and the IC
programme would be accepted there. | asked Desjardins wkinttezl Democatic Party

leaders of Robois had met separately. He replied he had asked that question too, but nobody
of the party members had wanted to give him a straightforward answer. He only received as
excuse that thelD Party needed to pull their members togetrat had to renew its structure
before the elections. Desjardins admitteduliemeetings were the only worry he had, for he
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wondered whaUD was concocting, but the Wise, even th2 Party members among them,
showed no objections to the papers that layant of me.

By the end of April, Desjardins organised therefore the meeting of the IC ©ffiaeged

with the future candidates, about thifiye people.The meeting was to be held in the back

hall of the finest hotel of Robois. We metually therdor our more formal gatherings of IC
Group. The hall was known as our party hall. No other political party used that hall, as each
party had its own habitual meeting place.

Desjardins arrived early. He sat in the middle of a long table facing his audience. The Wise

sat next to him, and Desjardins also wanted me to sit at the table, since | was the Bourgmestre
of Robois and the moral leader of IC. | was rather late to amitleei modersstyle hall with

its whitewashed walls, a hall decorated only by our tanldthe comfortable chairs. People

were still streaming in. We would have a full audience, all the persons we contacield

attend

Albert Desjardins, as PresideritlG, opened the meeting. He explained in a few winds

the IC Group Office had gathered today to agree formally on a list of candidates for the next
elections. All these candidates weresnt in the room. He wanted us to agree on a

candi da tcteamdon a aampaignapaper. Desjardins theggan o project on a large

screen behind him a computer presentation of the list, and fatex papers. He dimmed the

hall sormewhat for the presentation.

The room remained quiet when the names and the pdaties candidates were shown.

Desjardins called the names and the candidates stood when they heard their name. Desjardins
explained in much detail why each candidate had received his or her place. He added a few
jokes on the candidates, which made thaemak relax. The presentation of the list alone

took more than an hour.

After the | 1ist, Desjardins projected the can
most important rules. After that, he showed the campaign plan. The meeting had &isted w

over two hours when Desjardins had all the lights of the hall switched back on. So far, he had
received very few questions. We had the impression the audiencd ggnegally with what

had been presented.

The presentation part of the evening wassfied.

Desjardins asked for comments. The Wise would answer questions. Desjardins already
announced then he would ask in a few moments for the unanimous approval of the modes of
operation for the coming elections, and for the list of candidates. No pauset lveheld, and
Desjardins proposed to limit the questions to half an hour. We felt that long enough. No
objections had been shouted from out of the audience, the meeting had passed very calmly.

The people present sat and waited. We expected few queedo the contract and the

campaign paper were entirely in the line of what had been expected, the continuation of our
previous policy. We had worked along these principles also for the past five years, and the
candidates of the new list had seen theepap

The first man to speak was an old militant of IC Group. He congratulated the Wise for their
excellent work. He also asked fapplausdor the current Executive Cabinet, for thehevins

of Robois, and for the IC councillorde told that the men and women of IC had worked

splendidly in the interest of the citizens of the tode.name some of the best known
accomplishments. The mandés speech was foll ow

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus P&®:208 |

After the applause, a woman held up her arm, andrADesjardins asked her what she
wanted to share with the audience. | Ishad see
didndét know what s heinwhzlsoffidabfunatign of I@. Shelstabes me et i
the third row with a paper in hband, which she now unfolded. She said sltebdeen elected
President of th&Jnited Democratic Party of Robois, the party thadl lalso founded the IC

Group. She would read a manifesto of the party.

The woman r @baPdrty mémbers of Rolboes, widdike to make the following

demamls and amendments to the papers presented by the Committee of Wise of ICs First, a
for the list of IC candidates. We would like to statd tha large majority of IC Gaup

memberss constituted by members of th® Paty. Therefore, we demand a more important
place for our candidates on the list. In particular pnapose to have the candidate Albertine
Dewez be placed in second. Attine has ben elected Political Secretary of our Party, has

been a very fine Echeviand we feel she is best positioned by her work in the Cabinet and by
her recognised capabilities to occupy a better place. We also demand that our leading party
member Yves Govin be assigned to lead the IC list. We propose to have the last place on the
list be occupied by Robert Jacquet. We have heard the cBoargmestre has be involved

in various corruption scandals during these last months, which although not entirely centring
on his person, have touched people that are either his direct friepelspbde very close to

him. We believe the people of Robois will refuse their votes to us if we do not address the
scandals by a strong measure. Third, we also do not agree tothefusenlfast projecas
categorically as the campaign paper statefas Robert Jacquet has done publicly so far. The
United Democratic Party feels the project will bring higher employment and more economic
development to Robois, to the benefit of ainducive to innovatianNVe believe the

corruption scandals and the oppositto the only largescale project thatould help us

devel op our town is detrimental to Robois an
opinion that the curreBourgmestre should not lead the next election list for IC. We accept

the rest of thdist, as proposed by the Committee of Wise. We would like the two first
amendments to the list, one for Albertine and one in favour of Yves, to be voted upon here
and now. As to the election contract, we feel the Councillors should be chosen according to
the place on the list, whatever the votes brought on their names. After all, the candidates have
been placed in a certain order according to their abilities and importance for the IC Group.
TheUnited Democratic Party of Robois is the largest politicatypaf Robois. We confirm

hereby the confidenage have in the continuance of the IC Group, as far as the proposed
amendments are acted upon by I C. 06

The woman sat again. Everybody understood she merely acted as a puppet in the hands of
Yves Govin, who cledy dominated thé&JD Party by his position in théD Party of Wallony,

in its headquarters. | wondered how the audience would react. AllegiadEewas still

strong!

The hall erupted in instant pandemonium. The IC Group members who w&t® neho had

no party card, cried out their indignation. They shouted they were members of IClUit of
and they wanted ndiD to dominate IC. They were independent candidates, not bought by
theUnitedDemocratic Party. The others, the most militdt members, shoat them down.

| must have turned very pale in the face. Yes, a plot had been prepared against me and also
against Nadine Dumortier, in silence, behind our backs. | remarked how appalled also Albert
Desjardins looked at this development. | tried to keém clespite a raging heart, but | was

too deeply shocked by this putsch, this taking over of the power in IC hyCiHearty.

Albert Desjardins stabfrom his chair. He asked silence frahe audience. He had to shout
several times before the voices stoapdd said théJnited Democratic Party of Robois had
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beenlosing votes at every election in the past. Because of that debacle, the IC Group had been
founded and independenttginded candidates called in. The force of IC Group, he stated,

had indeed remaindtie ideology of the Clstian faith which had been forfeited ke

United DemocratsMost of the present candidates adhered to those princapiasot all

desired to work within the framework of strict party discipline. These candidates did not wish
to be branded ddD Party members. IC guaranteed being open to people that were part of no
political family. Albert warned against the overt leadergfifC by any political party. He
shouted he fearedanycandidates might withdraw from the proposed list.

During the speech of Albert Desjardisigry voices tried to make him stodkang. Yves

Govin was among the people who shouted the loudest. Albédgmez also cried her
vociferatiors at the address of Desjardins.

Finally, one man from the audience, a man with a stentor voice that dominated the crowd,

asked what | had to say to my defence. | stood from my chair, and the hall slowly silenced to

the slence of death. | waited until all eyes were settled on me, and only then did | speak. |

wanted to speak loudly and slowly, and | showed my returning calmness.

| said, o6l must first anmywpersonltvehyeehamerdthe gati ons
conest the charges brought against me in the rumbhes/e ben involved in no corruption

scandal. There have been too many rumours of scandals in the last months. | wondered where
these rumours originated. Now | know. One case involved a close friend@imdieed, but

that case has been entirely dismissed as unfowsidederand nonsense. The second case

involved a person who may have wanted to be close to me but is no friend of mine at all. The

man presented himself as such, but | never acknowledged tiaae taken and take still total

distance from that man and his actions. Anybody who associates my name to his shall have to
justify him or her in a Court of Justice for
| let that threat, which | repeated twice, slowly sink in.

| continued,@he demands of thdnited Democratic Partyif thefor this occasion newly

elected leadership organisationust of course be addressed. If you send my name to the end
of the list, the citizens of Robois shall consider that fact a clear disavowing ménsgn and

of theactions of the last five years by the IC Group. Not only shall | be disawwet also

the enire Cabinet. Ishall mean a large, ominous blemish on the work of the préssgmvins

and on the work of the current Councillors of IC, whstlall lead to mssive loss of votes.

You will have to face a monstrous political err8d for me personally, | shall have to

consider my demotion as such and as a personal insult perpetrated by ICIGhaupfore

you place me at the end of the listeserve my reaction until the very last moment before the
list must be legally published and made public. | immediately consider myself a politically
free man, tied to no parand also to no group. For the campaign paper, | continue to feel the
Aeolfastproject to be detrimental to our environment, to destroy our marvellodsdapes

and to bring various annoyances to our citizens. | remain openlyeaisively opposed to the
project,as | believe a large majority of the people of Robois do, espenidhg Peasant
villages. Accepting this project by IC Group, therefore, shall sdace votes away from IC.
Lastly, in my opinion, IC Group should honour the decisions of the voting of the citizens of
Robois. Councillors and Cabinet Echevins should be#ndidates with the most votesnt

afraid that acting otherwise meagisandoninghe democratic principles of IC and forsu

killing the word Democracy inthe name ofthB Par t y! &

Out of the corner where matyD members had gathered, came angryushes didis, 6 h e
betrayed our cause! Traitor! He must go!
Albert Desjardins asked for Yves Govin to speak.

(@}
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Govin, who had until then sat unmoved with an obsequious smile on histaod, faced the
audience, but he muttered only very few words.

He said, 01 s wsgblshedy thteiDePartyaead duteadetv moments ago. |
have nothing to add. One point, though. | believe Robert Jacquet has been involved in too
many dubious affairs for him to remain acceptable still for leading our IC list to the coming
elections. The proposed changasédnbeen discussed and accepted officially byJjibeParty
leaders of Brussels, worried by the developments in our town. If Robois IC does not accept
our amendments, the party leadership of Brussels may withdraw its confidence in IC. That
would be disastnas for our town, because we would have to fight uphill for the least Euro of
subsidy fronthe Regional and Federal Governments, and face much doubt and fear not only
from theUD members in these governments but also of the members of the partdBrsaof
power . 0

Govin thus blackmailed the IC repeesatives in the meeting. Govin sat again, next to
Albertine Dewez, who congratulatédn and nodded her agreement. Govaaltsaid what she
would have said.

Albert Desjardins spoke for a few moments againsthireats of Govin. Would theD Paty

thus act against the interests of their town? Then, Desjardins called for the inevitable vote on
the amendments. The opinion of the majority ofdffice had to be asked formally.

He called the first vote on the switohYves Govin to first place on the IC election list and of
me to the end. The voting took place by a show of hands. A very close majority of seventeen
votes for fifteen against concluded my fai world crashed.

Of the Executive Cabinet members, onlyé&tine Dewez and Pierre Gasson voted for. The
Wise at the table voted against in block.

Desjardins then called the vote to replace Nadine Dumortier by Albertine Dewez and vice
versa, and that change was adopted by the same margin. GlEaPgrty discigine was at

work in the voting.

A surprise came nevertheless with the vote on the contract to be signed by the candidates on
the list. A few of the most disciplinddD Party members voted against the amendment!

Govin and Dewez had lost one battle.

This wte provided me with one more chance. Although | had been relegated to the last place
on the list, if | gained more personal votes than Govin, it would be me who would hHave to

the new Bourgmestre, and not hi@ovin would alsohave to sign this contraair his name

would not come on the list. | knew therefore what to expect: a denigration campaign before
the elections to blacken my name, directed from within IC Group. The refusal of the point left
meneverthelesa glimpse of hope in IC.

The next vote wnt on the Aeolfast project. A hotly fougbwer debate ensued. Most of the
people present were opposed to the wind turbine project, but the men who remained loyal to
theUD Party discipline, the mesmd womerwe could by now give a name to, wanted the

proect to be completed. In the end, a consensus was reached which proposed to let the matter
rest until the various technical committees had given their opinion. The item would not be
presented as su@sthe campaign plan of IC. In other words, it was dedidot to decide.

That position won the vote.

Albert Desjardins broke off the meeting after the last vote.

He whi spered t o me,Thi$reétimgwillnal dergaingnony best, Rober t
memories of the politics of Robois and of IC. Therewasawmee di dndét | i ke eac!t
much, but | didndét wish on you what has happ
understand you nyavant to withdraw yourself fro the IC list, and that will mean a very
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great loss of votes for IC. If ever you wdwgnvisage founding a new kind of IC with you

heading that list, please count me in. | believe many people in this hall will follow you. Many

UD Partymembersvi | | t hink differently about this to
happened. o

| thanked Dsjardins, but felt not like wanting to speak to anybody anymore this evening. |

left the hall by the side door close to the table of the Wise, at our end of the hall. | heard high
voices shriek behind me, but | ledind lé the rest of the audience contetheir controversy.

| left, but my leaving was an escape in disgust.

When | clicked my electronic car key to open the door, Nadine Dumortier burst out of the

hall. She ran after mand that spectacle was quite extraordinary too, for Nadine leapt in a

very tight robe and on high heels

She cried, 6l had to get out of steddrmeybreathbr | w
It is a scandal! | 6m di sgusted! You are not
fight this, you and me! We haveénds. We cannot let the others get away with such
injustice! o

6The cards have been played, the votes have
decisions have been made this evening. You know as well a&etieral Assemllmerely

exissto accepwhat the Office ofIC preserdt o t hem. 0

60But a vote cast dtadeppSa dinneg talsr é wnlga als. t dlen n
Assembly we too can propose amendmentbiaee the vote of this evenirgeturned We

must fight this development. We are not going to let IC and its ideas be raped byedf-few

appointed U Party dictators! We can also leave the present IC and found a new group. We
canletthdJDpeoplest ew i n their own sbattheeequarterédfthe f ol | o
current Cabinet of Echevins will follow you too, and more than half of the current IC

Councillors too! If necessary, we shall finish off theited Democratic Party in Robois once

and for all. If we found a new groupD shall na be the largest party in votes. The largest

party will have the Bourgmestre. There is a very good chance the new IC shall become the

largest group. And if we do not win the majority of votes, it may not be you, Robert, who will

be the new Bourgmestre, butvill also not be thaperfidiousGovin. We can be back in
business as £chevins, and better, who knows,
6l donét know yet whether | want that, Nadin
60 Of c our s ee all lmabe toorecansidereBut keep in mind what | have said. The
people of ICwhoarenddD Party members must convene soo0n
goingto startananti u mour campaign. 0

Nadine continued, O0they stdal lknmat ygdt wdwdy aw
Wal l oon woman is capable of doing! They dono
scoundrel s! o

It was true | rather preferred an angry, insulted Walloon woman like Nadine to be in my camp
than having her pitted against me

Would | go to battle? | thought probably yes, but | feared the battle that would tear our fine
town apart and form rancour for years to come. Tomorrow already, the citizens of Robois
would look at me with a mixture of pity and of suspicions. Whathkd€ Grouphathad

demoted me, they would ask, know more about the frauds and corruptions than they did? The
rumours must have had some consistence, for why othenwisie IC have relegated me to

the last place? Yves Govin would be considered as a wmigét, of course. How could |

address the damaged image and denounce a man who belonged to my own political group,
without destroying that group in the act? True, Govin had not hesitated to start the movement,
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and he too had risked a catastrophe. Hedcoolint on the fact that | was a decent person, |
obviously could notlo the same with Govin

| also wondered what the upheaval would do to my construction business, and to Rose. Lastly,
| wondered what Simone Ash would think of me, and Joseph Bikri.

| drove my car out of the street and saw in my rear mirror the men and women filling the

place in front of the hotel, still gesticulating and shouting. Robois was in uproar.

The Lady of the Lake. Simone Ash

| heard from the revolutionn the IC Group oRobois from Eliane Collado. Eliane had

received the news from several people of IC in the morning after a special meeting on the
election list of IC, held in the main hotel of Robois. | do not precisely know which contacts
Eliane harboured inside the IQ@sip, but the international chain of gossip among women

linked by friendship, schools and all kinds of meeting circles had been efficiently at work. |
should construct such sources of information too, but so far | had not dedicated sufficient time
to surraund me with such a network bénevolent spge Eliane told me she had cress

checked the information, so what she came up with sounded trustworthy.

What had happened in IC produced the effect of a bomb explosion on her, for she sounded
quite excited onhte phone. Robois was in uproar, she said. A putsch, nothing less, had taken
place within the leadership of IC. Thinited Democrats, which we though had been almost a
derelict parry, had risen from its ashes and taken absolute control over the IC Geyup. Th

had pushed the current Bourgmestre, Robert Jacquet, to the last place on the IC election list,
and also preferred Albertine Dewez to Nadine Dumortier at the top of the list. Had IC known
more about the affairs in which Robert Jacquet was mentionedRubert Jacquet less

clean and innocent than we had supposed until now? The new political leader of IC seemed to
be Yves Govin, who would become the next Bourgmestre of Robois. What did | think of that?

| did not think much of the information, and saidrather dryly on the phone to Eliane. We

would have to learn a lot more about dwents of the evening and the real nature of the

decisions taén by IC before we could envisage to react. We should certainly hear the reaction

of Robert Jacquet. Yes, | undeood very well we might have to reconsider our election

programme and our views on the situation, reconsider which party might be thertrest pa

for thenext elections, but | did not want us to rush too saocoinclusions.

Eliane continued talkkinggnd | coul dndét stop her . phboem many
Robois, discussing the tmpat this very moment?

Eliane offered one scenario after the other, some of them really outrageous, but | had come

out of my bath to grab théhpne and | needed gently to get back in.had had a very long

and strenuous night and gotten up late. | had bags under mynely@®a@ping lips.

Do not do anyt hi ng +exaitdhdtposdoh. | kaawehisis d loomigsiel. get o
Robois is al wavers esctcaktmtf heohodorst exciting n
Robert Jacquet and hear what he says, if he wants to let something of last evening loose in the
open. Yes, you can ask more people of IC about what is the matter with IC and Jacquet. Yes,

why not propose new alliances?

| dropped my DECT phone and retedrto my bath, head bowed and shoulders hanging. |

sawit was ten thirty on the clock in the corridor, and my head banged. | slumbered back in the
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oily water, smelled the fresh perfumes of bath salts, and tried creating a void in my mind.
| could not but give Robert Jacquet more thoudisyever. | was too nervous, like Eliane, to
be able to find nirvana, the relaxing quietude of feelings and thoughtsddreadly badly

this morning. Dam Robert Jacquet! Why did that makwvayspopped uphaunting my mind?

| regained control of my beingawly, and withheld my body from running to the phone

naked and allvet to call Robert Jacquet. | did not have to drive to Brussels today. | had
workedunt i | t wo abtahdoetuknedihononty bfter. thad beenthree 6 c | o ¢ k
inthe nightwhen | fell on my bed, totally exhauste
felt still extremely spent and tired. The bath had brought me oiitljeasblace.

| dressed like a sleepwalker, went to my kitchest,ultrastrong coffee and had my breakfast,
which was to be also my midday dinner, and reflected more logically on what Eliane had told
me.Had Robert Jacquet really been involved in carampcasesThe most innocerboking

people could Kill their neighbour over a trifle, of course, but | refused to believe Robert
Jacquet might have embezzled funds. He never, never, never once fell out of his role of
saintly guardian angel in the Roboialfinet meetings. He was radical and ruthiesged be,

but | hed never caught him at even consideriighonestyor a devious act.

If I had to conclude without doubt our Bourgmestre was an honest and decent man, then
Govin of IC must have scandaloustya s ed of Robert 6doocmaedul ity a
Robert, then. Jacquet was a fine Bourgmestre for Robois. He did not deserve being deceived
and dragged in the mud by somebody like Govin.

| did not like Govin at all. He too often made me think of a wle&evin kept staring at me

in the Cabinet meetings as if he wanted me for breakfast. | hated the oparhisigyes

when his glance lowered from my face to my chidsad whipped him back into héeat a

few times with words sharp like daggers, buthe d n 6t get the picture.

| should call Robert. Damn it! Should I, Simone Ash, play the mother part and console the
little boy with a few comforting words? Should | let him cry on my shoultiéo@ld he not

hate me because | took pity bim? Men are so simple and yet so complicatéaid better

gain the calmness and serenity of a Buddhist nun before | phoned him! How to remain neutral
and rational? Remember sense and sensibility, girl, | said to myself. Gather yogaasijal

calm, Ando-Saxon sensée carefulgirl, | thought. You are a little too eager to hear that guy
out. Why do you want to talk to him so early? Why do you want so fervidly to console him?
Why is that?

| sighed a lot, took my time, delayed and delayed, so thatdbk stroke near one in the
afternoon. High noon time! | took a glass of water and limped to my #og. | slumped
comfortably in the sofa, pushed two cushions behind my back, placed the glass of water on a
small table in reach of my hand, a notebaoki a pen on my knees, and | dialled for Robert
Jacquet. | half hoped he wasnot i n.

It lasted a few rings before Robert came on the phone.

He sai d, 6hi! This is Robert Jacquet. Hel | o!
O0This is Si monefcAsehv isnp,eda kli nrge p lyioeud, talkt@mut i ng
you for a few moments?6

O0Sure you d¢umapr@gmptRRobert r e

His tongue sounded a little thick. | guessed &k diept long, like me, or maybe natadl.

OHow are you?d6 | tried.
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lheardhin grin. OYou must be phoning tdonéhear wha
you?06 he guessed rightly.
6l do! o

O0Are you concvissSiendo naeb oAist h nde |,

For heavenods s ak alwaydzaw entire, canplexsituaiahs onth! ieir

simple peson. Men are such egocentric creatures!

6l dondét know yét wd wl kantosw ehroend you ar e, medi
OMedismddkying |1 6m fi ne, akydufgoywuy cohcerh.oWhatcara | | vy

I do for you?6éb

Good. He had switched businessnode. | could do that too. He was all right. He could

absorb a punch or two.

| said, 61 would I|Iike to talk tbbeayydtodo about w
that, but | received excited calls frdoberal Party members who asealculating orall sorts

of weird developments. They seem worried. They wdiké to exploit the opportunities, of

course and estimate the threatsvould like to hear your own words, your analysis, opinions

and intentions, at least if you are apt anlling to share those with me. It may be too early

for you to talk this over with a perfect stranger,ibut y ou f e el up ®@on it |1 06d
with you, though not on the telephone. Cannme et on t hat subject ?6
He dodged, O6amtlo ayopue?r6f ect stranger

| sighed. ubdfNe ,yowdr efnaeto, Robe&akZinyouraffte Kk now t

maybe?6
O0Nope. | 6m not showing my face in my office

| had to think about that for a few seconds. He had alreadtedthwme once and | had refused.
He had refused me too much, that time. | had scare#iefivas cleverHe was drawing me
on. If I accepted now, the mother part would be delivered. | astonished myself by answering

way too rapidly thah WherepPodintention, Osu
60n neutral ground. Whheaskedimnocerithd you | i ke to
6How about the Lady of the Lake? | can be re

0 T haxy of the Lake? The finest restaurant of Robois, the place where we shall be noticed
most when reognised together? Believe me, an hour later lwalf of Robois will think | am
transferring to the Liberal Party and the other half will gossip about us being lovers. | can

i magine a | ot of other combinations. 0

| thought one second on. My answer to thaswrucial.

| said, o6well, | dondt care much about the f
hal f. 6

There, the dies started rolling. | wonderédgers crossediow he would take that.

| heard a dead silence on the other end of tie if line there still was. | kind of liked the
idea of a line linking us. | waited. | began to worry, the waiting lasted too long. He was not
fast, this Robert.

ORobert, are you still there? You havenoét f a
O0No,venota, 6 hoehergseamndobke &spects of you that bafflemdethat | know

very |ittle about. We definitely should meet
Oh yes he wadd loved babies. And there it was! Gie was clever indeed! Hensed

peoplebs feelings from the far. I had overdo
He continued, o6l etds have fun, then, and go
reservation. I f the reservation doesnodot work
ONo, |l nloadghed. &6Wedl | make a more dramatic a
Jacquet. Why dondét you come and get me by <ca
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| heard one more ominous silence.

Then he said, odaddl i abr Shngonweuda white

6 Dto h a gayethimlback | 61 | put on something to match 1
And | hung up.

Good Jesus and Sweet Mary, | thought. Girl, what have you done? What expectations have

you unl eashed? You jump from one bed into th
intended?

| should have cursed myself, but | was already thinking about what dress | should choose for
the evening, and | was wondering in which dress he would desire me most.

At five to seven the same evening, | heard a car honking at my house. WhdhlitkHee
was? A college boy? One doesndt honk at a | a
rang.

| 6 m a ofdnedciheor | 6 m not one of tldteasdavhogpanicbver wh o a
their dress until half an hour over time. | was readgnlto the dogryanked it open, and

there he stood. He had something on that resembled a black tuxedo, a long box in his hand.
He made wide eyes, and that satisfied me more than anything he might have said. | had put on
a broken white dress that felltmder my knees but was short enough to give me an air of

youth. | wore higkheeled shoes in which he had never seen me, and | had pulled my dress
down and down so that my décolleté hung a couple of centimetres lower than | would usually
have allowedA white pearl necklace hung low around my neck. | wore also pearls on my

ears.| had stoodalongtime turning before my mirror. Was also glad his box contained no

white camellia but a gorgeolight pink orchid. | could pitch that on my left shoulder, which

did, on the side of my headnd which made him smile.

&ou are ravishing, Simone, 6 he dared.
His luminous eyes flashed devastatingly at me.
60h my, 6 | thought. 61 have gone too far. N o

him at a distance. 0

But | was very, very pleased with the effect | had on him, and slowly, slowly, my resolutions
faded in his grin.

He gave me an arm and | took it graciously, but | shut the door with my key first. Then he led
me to his car and helped me get in before he teetne steering side.

He ¢l i mbed in the BMW and said, 6l 6m sorry f
i's pretty sensitive. ltds a new car, |l 6m not
0As | ong as you donét dr i viedeadgo tothé lfadytofihe r oad,
Lake?0

60Yesdowe he replied. O6We are expected. I have

The Lady of the Lake was actually a restaurant on an island in the middle of an artificial lake.

It was a twestar restaurant of&nesand many welto-do people from as far as Brussels or

Liege came to it because its food was among the very best of the country. The restaurant also
had a romantic tang to it, because you had to park your car on one side of the lake, and then a
flat platform served as a ferry to bring you over a stretch of water to the iSlaaderry was

linked to both shores by steel cables, an electric motor pulled, and we passed only about fifty
metres of water, but | thought we passed an ocean and landed atwofiryn the

evenings, a path illuminated by electric lightskin the ground led you to the restaurant that
stood on a hill among high trees. The setting was too romantic to be true, and | had to laugh at
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the melodrama of the scene as we walked owegthvel The lakeside sallows rustled their

thick, green foliagel. h el d R o b emuchbashe laad mat, beefisedrto his sew car, |

was unsure of myself on the high heels of my new sAdespath was a little slick from the

past rainHe made ma compliment othoseshoes, but he must have seen that in one or

other American movigfor | did not believe him to be capable of such attention. My glib
London admirers would have mentioned my shoes, not guys like Robert J&¢quetlked
solemnly to he villa that had been transformed to receive guests. Madame Butterfly walked at
the arm of heLieutenant PinkertdrHad I not once promised to smash the guy? This was not

a schoolboy walking with his mother, rather a schoolgirl being led bfjreelover.

A waiter held the door open for us, and Robert let me go in front of him, as the waiter also
opened the door to the restaurant at the end of the corridor. The room was a large place, walls
lined with oak, a log fire burning in an open hearth. The re@® discreetly lit with lamps on
each table. The tables held white cloth, shining glasses, red napkins, and coloured Limoges
plates.On each table flickered a red candle in a silver holBeveral couples already sat.

Three tables held more than four pleoft was a dream!

We made an absolute sensation when we strode slowly in, perfectly at ease in thiswigh
environment. Robert, the perfect gentleman, held my chair, let me sit, and moved the chair at
the right moment under my bottom. | had not expgsuch elegance in him! While he sat, he
nodded to right and left, and surprised faces of men and women nodded back. | recognised a
few faces as belonging to Rotary Club people Eliane had introduced me to. Yes, Robois
would hum with new rumours tomorrow!

The waiter asked, 6éwould you |like something
Ash?6
6 Co u |l hdve avisile of Champagné nst ead of the usual cocktali

nodded finely, without showing how pleased | was.

Yes, we needed bubbles to blow away the bad omen. The rumours in Robois would spread we
had cared na dimef o r Rethdack.rHe Bad done well to propose us to throw money

and glamour in the eyes of our good citizens this evening! The women | sdespoead

gossip as any fisherwoman. Nobody would report they had seen an affected, depressed
Bourgmestre tonight!

Robert asked for a bottle of Pommery Louise. | bet he had looked that up on the Internet
before coming here. The sommelier merely blinkexddyies in consent of an excellent choice.
Off went the sommelier. He came back after quite a while and opened the bottle with a soft
pop, poured th€hampagnén oneglass, asked for Robert to taste. Robert nodihed,
sommelier continued pouring two higkassesand we clank ousparkling wineogether.

6Do you kn&mampagntnénet ytried to trap him.
00h yes, 60 ity favorrfel bramddl visited the cellars in Rheims. The cellars are
decorated with art works, and they are quite impves3ihe Pommery castle and domain is,
too, somewhat outsidethecentfe t he city. Have you been to R
6l have, but Ilwinaelkl antdvisited any

It served me well. | had received the lid on my pot.

Many eyes followed our every movement. Hedeaned closer together, people whispered.
We took the menu card and ordered afoaursegastronomisupper. We decided for a
Champagnsupper, so Robert did not have to choose a white and a red w@teampagne
supper! Yes, we were the sensatiothef evening at the Lady of the Lake and the waiters
hurried to us as if we had won the Lotto millions.
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We began by chatting over inconsequenti al ma
Waiting for our main dish, R q ¢heot! You swustchave n | vy a
many questions for me. Give me number onel! o
0Great, 6 | responded to his challenge. O6Mons
out by I C as next Bourgmestre candidate?56

His mouth did drop a little at the sides. Maybe | badn too rough. | wanted to kndinst

how muchhe could takeHe did not look particularly crestfallen to me.

6l shall be candidate Bourgmestre if | remai
most votes of that list will be the next Bourgmestor that of course, the IC list must have

the most votes of all the lists presenéed remain master in the coalition negotiatidrehall

only remain on the I C Iist, however, I f I ca
That was crysl clear. He had it all thought out.

6You have been cheated once. You may be chea
060The candidates have to sign a contract. | 61

everybody signs before | sign. A contract can be forced in a CourstiéellVhen a contract
is not honoured afterwards, the pecuniary claims may amount to very high. | shall have fine

lawyerso

6You spoke of reasonably sure. What does tha
6lt means | shall have to f ebkolstoavantneeadtheir ncl i n
el ected Mayor. 6

6That isnét a very mathematical exact notion
6l ndeed 1itwi lilsn®dvy e btuda do. If 1 fail., Il shall
OHow come you didnoét know wh atrowaditicgoi ng on

group?6

6That is a good question. | wondered about t
to several people, this afternoon. It seems not only | have been surprised and tricked. Only
five people of the sgalledUnited Democatic partyof Roboisassembled before our meeting
of last evening. These were all former haate militants. In fact, the)D Party did not really
exist anymore, not formally, in Robois. The fiveagtablished the party. They elected among
them a Presidéna Secretary and a Board of three, among which their candidate for
Bourgmestre. Then they made that Board be accepted by the federal institutiondf the
Party in BrusselsThat all went smoothly because Yves Govin is Political Undersecretary of
the VDP in BrusselsThey held ndGeneral Assembly or anything resembling it. Then they
wrote a manifesto claiming the first place on the IC list. They also downgraded Nadine
Dumortie, wanted to change the concept of having the elected persons with the most votes
obtain a place ithe Cabinet, and they also wanted to agree on the Ast@ifaject. The
manifesto was read in our IC elections meetuiitp some pompsothat the people tlined to

the oldUD Party were as much surprisasithe independent IC members. E&mimerUD
member assumed large number oD people had met, but that was not the true! The vote
on the manifesto was forced so rapidhd so unexpectantltha theformerUD members

could not but have the reaction to vote partydiscipline, aghey had many years ago. They
also thought th&D Party had gotten wind of new information about me being invalved
corruption, which was not true, of course. We all fatim of surprise and assumptions, most
untrue.The majority, the great majority of formelD members are realisinlike we, they

were ticked. | have brought the indendent IC members together. We are going to organise
a formal meeting in the evenintyyo days fromnow. We are also phoning thermerUD

Party members, explaining how they have batmmed of. The situationn IC is evolvingby

the minute. Of course, the n@WD Party is also rallying its forces, its formerly most loyal

me mber s. 0
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0Sdhaatl e for power is on inside the I C Grouyg
6Yes, indeed. |l regret that, but | didnot st
many independent IC people gave me their support and want me td §igall. not accept

my fate with equaninyt 6

0You could indeed avoid the battle by | eavin
OEvery opposition party of Robois would I|ike
breaking of the majority the currens | C had
stage. 0

O0A new, strong I C might obtain as many votes
me,weasky ou formally to consider forming a new

Robert was astonished again. We had started ourguoaise, théobster. He put down his
fork and knife.

He answered me rather quickly, signifying to me he had already givera Seeimario some
thought.

6 Woul d vy o veallycbrisiee allyant yourselves with a maocused of fraud and
corruption. o

0 You asecof nothimgand you remain the Bogmestre. Only ruours circulate, which

we know to be untrue. Youtefectionto us will mean reasonable and decent people of
Robois,an entire political formation, belre you are innocent of any wroiwging. Itwill re-
establish your noteety without a doubtWe shall so declare public!

O lwill probably, yes, but the new IC will still be ruled by a political parg th organised
regionally and federallyand that shall tell us what to @md how to do it. Wethe

independents of IC, want exactly the contrary. The people of Robois who are members of no
political party and who daot desire tdink their fate and name to any political party, will not

like to forge an alliance with a fedelabrganised group sudasthe Liberals. It is a good

idea, especially for the Liberal Party, but it simply will not wlokus 6

6The current | C i dyorgaisedUD ®@drty. €hdt  yt h éh es d rea etr hail
O0Wel | , you adt yoethas Byt wheetheheg, curdent I§ is really controlled and
remains controlled until at the end remains to be seen. At this moment, | believe the direction
of the current can still be turned. The waterusrentlynot running to the ocean, you see. It is

running uphill, andiat cannot | ast. 0
6So you reject our offer. 6
6l promise to keep it in mind, and | thank vy

today. | maywin back control of IC for the independents of IC. | may afo@id my own,
independent, IC Groymr | may simply join your own list, the list of the letal Party. That

|l ast option is only feasibl e, o dst optionusr s e i f
implictinwhat you just offered, but there will Dbe
0l t i s. aGledidcussed.oMe sould love to have yooumlist. We may even

proposeyoutoeh d it . 6

Orou told me some time ago that Eliane Collado might leave Raboikdoherselftold me
she tad no desire anymore to lead the Liberals much longer. Are yderiheesf the
Queen?bd

It was my turn to blink. How did he know that? Collado already did not lead the Liberals
anymoretoday. How close was Robert to Eliane? Was something going on between those

two, over party boundaries?

| replied, chastened allittl6,] mi ght be, but efmiel yei. Thgleadeaas been
of ourelectionist has not yet been assigned. 0
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OYowoul d | eave your place to me?6

ol f I thought that would benefit the |ist, I
| had quite something else in mind, butzdsnot going to tell him that, not now. | would

control the party together with him, out of the same home. Was he ready for that? | astonished
myself with thathought, but it stood firmly in my mind. | suddenly went very warm, and |

am sure | reddened atethable over my lobster, my throat went dry, but he could not have

guessed what | was thinking of.

We kept a silence for a few moments, the time to finish our lobster and its Thermidor sauce,

and ourChampagneThen, we waited for desert, bddst inthoughts

OWell , 6 Robert broke the silence, O6we shoul d
How are you doing? Do you enjoy I|living in Ro
ol |l i ke the environs of Trioteignes, 0 | repl
Wouldyaw care to join me one of these days?56

60l ®loiuke that very muctheelercRe Inthe weekendsp havee d. 6 |
Rose, though. She is not a good runner, | am afraid. But | cé®aasia to keep an eye on

her . 0

He hed to bring Rose into thequation. That was logicdRose did not really bother me. | had
seen and treated mahgndicapped children in the hospitals. Did he think | could noglup
anysympathy for handicapped people? They did not scare me o#fsribey mighhave

pushed bBckmany other people. | found Rose endearing, no burden at all.

| came back to politics.

060You have been very c aseethind tofear wehmighteisethe | began
information you gave us. We could direct our most negafieetion campaigmessagest
theinternalstfe i n |1 C. 0

0 Yxaulddot hat , 8 Robert whi mipdéfyoa did. Thédnlyeffect | dndét e
would be thathe people of Robois came to regard me more as the insulted, innocent victim

who is fighting backand Govinas he bad wolf. Many people vote for the underdog, you

know. All the more votes for me! That &, least, if your publications rematonforming to

thetruthy dondét want t o Bha nare@aniwhimmg overthedd hough . |
things that happemtme.| shall fight backo

0 We wislplr eraaddlt any unconfirmed and untrue messeé

| asked, 6éwhy did you enter politics in the
you | ook for power ?6

0To start quessow éddinot ok butfartpolitics. Politics asked me in. | did not

seek power. Besides, as Bourgmestre, you cannot wield much power anyway; we have

become more and more the slaves of an increasing number of regulations that tie us down
everywhereNo. | think | felt lonely. Man is a social animal, you know. | did it for the honour,

for the honour to feel beloved by my fellow men and women. Itg@apmpreciation, love, and

the affection of the people of Robovsou may cal | t hat vanity. o

| surmisedhat was a quite innocent form of vanity. He spoke quite frankly with me.

OWhat are yioorpelianis ®ebertwanted totknow.i f e ? 6

6l would Iike to bthanl g&sthefvi ne agaamns. | Wéi die
think | wouldwant to renew my mandate with other partners, though. As for my private life, |

like the clinic in Brussels | work in currently, though my hours are getting longer and longer,

too long for mel have a small practice heldeshall probably stay in Roboiklike it here, for
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the moment. | own a fine cottage in the Cotswpidshe UK;too. | rent that out, now, but |

can go back whenever | want. 6

6l would I|Iike to stay hedwyldikeRotakeenoretimamnt i one
travel, though. 0

O0Where would you |like to travetbthdigieOf To t he f
Djerbajtothesiteo f t he Tur ki sh 1 onian coast ?6

He | aughed, anaphlo,alnsoada ddondtarl i ke holidays of

near a beach. | would travel in France and Germany, visitA&@Wicomte and Versalilles,

the abbeys and castles around Paris, visit Chantilly and Sens, or the Loire castles. In
Germany,lwould i ke t o see N¢grnberg and Regensbur g. o
6Great! |l would |ike that too! 0

6l would |l ove to show you! o

|l didndt answer on that offer.

We ordered coffee.

Half an hour later, the first guests beganeave the restaurant, and | too was tired. | should
return haene, for | had to get up early for wonk Brussels.

Robert asked for the bill and paid walcredit cardThen, he brought his hand on his chair to
pushit back.

| whi spered, before he dRabd s anake dayowy dlo
a kiss to thank me for a fine evening. 6

He gave me a ravishing glance, reddened but
sake. 0

He stood, came to behind mlyair, helped me get away frahme tableand when | stood too,
he kissed me on the cled.

6 T hwnastnot a proper kisRobert Jacquét | whi sper ed.

| kissed him on the lips and put an arm around his shoulder. That was how lovers kiss.
Robert held the ks for onlyfour seconds. | counted them. Then he withdrew, glanoed o
more staight in my eyes, buhe offered me his arm and we w#mthe corridor to get our
coats. We saw many heads follow us.

We got our coats and wealked back in the night over the illuminated path to the ferry. The

road bent behind flower bush&$e could not be seen there from out of the restauvéat.

stopped at the same time, embraced and kissed interminably. | withdrew, breathless, but | said
nothing. Robert directed us to the ferry, then we were drawn over the lake and we steppe
back to his ar. He droven silence to my house in Trioteignes.

WhenRoberst opped the car, | Reber. deallybavetovgetrudt i nvi
early and | have a strenuous day tomorrow. | am a doctornbtafford to make mistakes
because I6m tired. o

6Sur e, |l understand, 6 was all he said.

He opened the door of his car, let me out, but did not accompany me to under my porch. That
was a good, sensible thing to do, for had heedbat | would have dragged him straight to

my bedroom, work tomorrow or n@ork tomorrow.
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Chapter 4. May and June

Storms over Robois

The days after Robert J provgdueetic and tiresame foethe wi t h
Bourgmestre. He could not leave his telephones, foddihendeviceskeptringing every

minute. Robert left them often ringing, hearing only the messages afterwards, and answering
the calls only if he felt them urgent or importdrdter, he eveswitched off his mobile phone
entirely, not after having giving a call to Simone he wadgeH to cut off mobile

communications for a while.

People fromC called incessantly to prove their support and wish courage to their
Bourgmestre. People frothe United Democratic Party called him to tell they felt theadh

been tricked and surprisecetbther evening. Others told friends they were ashamed and dared
not to call Robert Jacqudor they knew they & wronged him by their vote. It seemed a

hearty few words would be said during the next &@mMssembly of th&JD Party, but such

a meeting hd not been organised for several years and Robert did also not expect Govin,
Dewez and their conspirators to stage such a meeting soon in Rol@eseral Assembly of

the UDP would not be held for a long time to come!

Albert Desjardins, the Presidentl@f, phonedRobertto tell he would rather resign than order

to print election lists with Govin in first place. Never would he proclaim Govin to be the
candidate Bourgmestre of IC. Events were heading towards a schism in the IC Group.

Robert Jacquet algeceived threats, anonymous calls commanding him to comply with the

new candidates list, or to face violent consequences. Robert had never suspected that so much
violence might lurk under the surface of the good citizens of his quiet town, lfatdogy

was present indeed, and had been unleashed by the Govin contrBwadsialso received
callsurging him to agree with the wind turbine project.

Guichand, the pig farmer, expressed openly his delight at hearing Robert had been dumped by
his party.

Symphants and hypocrites phoned him, reproached him for his dissolute life, abandoned ship,
and urged Robert to do the same.

In the afternoon and in the evening, calls came in asking Robert whether it was true he was
planning to leave IC for the Liberal BarAn anonymous caller croak&bbertwould not

much longer be drinkin@hampagnevith his mistress at the Lady of the Lake.

Joseph Bikri called, too. He had heard the Bourgmestre had a new girlfriend, an elegant lady
from Brussels. Bikri laughed when tedd that to Robert. The woman was a doctor, the
rumours went, and Joseph therefore knew immediately who the woman was. He explained
that even the police station buzzed with rumalosut the mistresses their Bourgmestre.

People, mainly journalists, hadlled him, the Superintendeasking what kind of

allegations had officially been filed to the police against the Bourgmestre. Was the
Bourgmestre involved in fraud and corruption cases? Joseph usually slammed down the
phone on such calls, now he anseeeRobert Jacquet was involved in no case whatsoever,

but was considering filing complaints for slander against anyone involved in spreading
rumours. That stopped a few men and women from exaggerating the rumours, something the
provincialjournalists Bikri knew, were good at.
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Robert Jacquet organised a meeting of the independents of IC. Only the people invited by
telephone by Albert Desjardins or Robert Jacquet were allowed to attend. At the meeting,
Robert confirmed he did not envisage yet to leave@h@roup. He would not found his own
group for the moment, though he held the thought in reserve. He would not join the Liberal
Party. He proposed to continue working within IC for the time being, and to work on the mind
of the more partpriented people aheUD Party, explain to them what he wantedhich

was to serve the interests of the people of Robois, and not necessarily the interests of the men
in the federal headquarters of a political party somewhere in Brugsgiae, maybe a month

or so fromnow, he would ask to organise a General Assembly ahl@at meeting, he

would propose new amendments to the vote cast in the Office the other day. He did not
answer the question as to whether he would go to the elections in the last position on the
cardidates list.

Some of Ro hndC asked hinfwith neore éhsistence about his relatwitis the

Liberal Party, and also about his relations with Simone Ash.add&en seen with Miss Ash

on the best of terms. Robert heard the undertone suggestmes As hds | over. He
merely he had every right meeting with an Executive Cabinet member to talk over matters of

the commune, even if the setting was nide.answered in a tantruidis relations with

Simone Ash were of a private nature and nfamagement nature. He only commented on the

last.

Robert Jacquet did not meet with Simone Ash in the next three weeks except in the Cabinet.
They glanced at each other, sometimes with a smile or a grin, but by a strange mutual consent
they did notexchange one word about their behaviour after the supper at the Lady of the

Lake. They both needed time to absorb the experience, to reflect on the consequences.
Nevertheless, after a few days already, Robert Jacquet knew what he wanted to do, and he
hopedSimone Ash had the same intentions. Robert would have married Simone in that same
beautiful month of May, whatever the consequsneere for him or her, for Rose, for the

political parties and for the citizens of Robois. If necessary he wished everybloely, t
everybodybut Simone and Rose. He was wildly in love, truly in lovigh strong and tender
feelings, and hi s fdidnotenter theyegliaboRob&toealsdd sowmo t h e r
the generosity of Simone had saved him from a profound depression. She had come to him
offered her to himShe had kissed him, so now he could handle the world, however ugly that
world was, with a laugh and a joke!

The events in Rob® were swung even more in turmoil. Robois was once more swamped by a
publicity campaign of Aeolfast in favour of wind turbines. Even more than before, flyers were
distributed by post to all the citizens, and new articles appeared in the local presthand in
national press. The articles discussed the advantages of electricity generation by using the
natural force of the winds, and the journalists applauded the advanced technological prowess
of the Aeolfast project in RoboiRobert began to wonder what wd happen when the wind
gusts stopped, when the windmills stopped to turn. The total amount of needed energy had
then to be delivered by traditional power stations. How much more expensive would that
make electricity, when twice the needed power had foreseen by electrical generators?

Was everybody ready to pay for that additional cost? Were all electrical grids interconnected
on a European scale?

Aeolfast also organisatew meetings to explain their project. firologists came to Robois
to explain n detail how wind turbines worked, and how ecologically brilliant the machines
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werg as compared to polluting generators of electricity. The presentations were cleverly
targeted to specific audiences.

The presentations for militants of the Ecological Parembers of Robois showed the
advantages of wind energy in magnificent slide shows with epic images of marvellous
windmills photographed against wonderful blue skies.

The presentations for farmers detailed the financial profits a tower in the midsastuae

might mean, and disadvantages were systematically named but dismissed with statistics and
witness reports of similar projects in Germany and France.

The presentations to the higher intellectual classes of doctors, notaries, directors of
companiesmembers of the Economic Club of Robois, emphasized the scientific justifications
of the project, the mechanical prowess, the beauty of the slender towers in the landscape, and
the amounts ofreenelectricity brought to our new industries.

This campaigrasted throughout the entire month of May in an outburst of enthusiastic
activity. The meetings were followed by drinks and snaBkpensiveChampagnevas

servedo the better classeand many men and women were delighted by the gentle
persuasion of thdirectors of Aeolfast who proved to be men of the world, who spread the
names of the politicians and influential men they seemed to be very familiar with.

Robert Jacquet was stopped more than once in the streets, now, by people who explained him,
notwithseinding some drawbacks for the environment, how interesting they found the
Aeolfast project for the common good of Robois. Most of these people lived in the urban
environment of BaRRobois and HauRobois, though. Jacquet still sensedchreticence
againsthe project in the villages.

At that time also, a series of strange events of various natures racked Robois. Only one man
seemed to be able to form a general overview, a synthesis of the events, and that was
Superintendent Bikri. The events did not shtdenewspaper press beyond small articles
without photographs.

In the Peasant villages and in the area around the N11 lived still many farmers who had
remained very sceptical about allowing wind towers to be built on their terrains, despite
personal viss by middle management directors of Aeolfast, and despite the money promised
to them in compensation for the towers. The farmers feared the effects of the shadows and of
the turbulence of the turning winds on their crops. They feared the effects ofitits smd

possibly of magnetic fields on their animals in the pastures beneath. They feared the
destruction of their grass made by the huge trucks and tractors bringing the concrete base and
the steel elements of the towers. These farmers were stubbothegridtened only to their

own impressions. Theyppos@ sane scepticism to people from Brussels telling them there

was no danger in nothing related to wind turbines.

In the farms of the most vocal opposers to the wind turbine project, animals gdyfierce
wounded. Cows got slashed in their bellies by long knives. Horses were beaten with wooden
bats and left with broken legs and bashed snouts in the fields. Poultry got shot by hunting
rifles in the night. Enclosures were demolished and animals chaskd countryside roads.
Joseph Bikri and his men were called in to witness the rav@ijesaggressions had been
perpetrated during the night, when police patrols were at a minimum. Joseph Bikri augmented
those patrols, but the territory of Robois was imneesempared to his small police force.
JoseplBikri remained for a long time at a logsto what was happening. He interrogated
neighbours of the farmers, and family, looking for family feuds. He interrogated supposed
enemies of the farmers, but found noth With time a pattern emerged, however, and by the
time Bikri thought he understood what was happening, the aggressions stopped. By then too,
no farmer wanted to talk about his or baspicions to the police. Bikri sensed the farmers
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knew very well whahad happened and why their farms had been attacked. The law of silence
prevailed, however.

A little later, countryhouses, caravans and metlibmes of a domain around the castle of

Les Tignes were burnt down, one after the other. Meaople objectetb caravans in the
countryside, to large campirsjes and tents the fine landscapes of Wallonyany of the
mobile homes had been arranged as permanent residences, and they were indeed not a
beautiful sight, as the people living in them were poornadimassed rust iron and old tires

and the sort. Robois had tolerated two camping sites on its tertitbad housed already
several people in more comfortable social lodgings, but a number of people truly liked their
site and dwellings and refused to veadespite insistent persuasiémthe neighbouring

towns too, sites for caravans and mehibmes had been the victraf excited neigbours

who hated the sight of these campsigsaround their villas and residences. The burning of
caravans was a plag inall theseterritories.

Joseph Bikri and his officers were called in to the fokthe Robois territorybut they could

do little more than write reports at the buontt remainsHe began to wonder why suddenly a
wave of fires racked the site, wieas before people had grumbled, but had not reacted
violently.

Bikri could do little more than write higroces-verbaux his official reports,and watch the
charred remains smoking the ruins to the ground. Yesiréradn of Robois had tried to
extinctthe fires, but caravan soaked inside and outside with gasoline burnt in a few minutes.
The firemen found only the blackened remains of exploded¢amg that had been thrown
through the windows. None of the people living in the neighbourhaddden aything

during the night, not even heard the slightest ndigain, Bikri understood the law of silence
was at work. Luckily, these attacks made no victims; It seemed the hoodlums who had put the
flame to the caravans knew which caravans were tempoeanihyy of people.

Joseph Bikri sent his night patrols also to drive around the two camping sites of Robois, but
the fires were lit only at one site.

Then, Joseph Bikri placed a large map of Robois on his wall andiedred dot®n the

mapfor every aggession of the month of May, not only for the attacks on caravans, but also
on farms. He did not remark at pattern at first, until he thought about the plans he had seen in
the City Hall of the Aeolfast towers. He had Dominique Bussy ask for a copy @iama&and

the he saw the red dots laid all along the line of the green dots of the projected wind turbine
towers. The farms were to receive wind towdise farmerghat had been victims of
vandalismhad to accept the towers in their fieldse campingise lay on the line and might

object to towers a few hundred metres from their site. The owner of the camping site was the
owner of the castle of Les Tignes, and that man too got visited by hoodlums who smashed out
his windows and attacked his farm. Thet@mowner had a steady income from the camping

site. He did not want to lose that money, but he admitted to Joseph Bikri he might close the
site in the near future. When Bikri pressed the man for the reasons, iesgatinganswers

that meant nothing.

Joseph Bikrpacel helplesly in front of his map. He brought his officers in his office and
explained what he feared. The men and Dominique nodded. They agreed with their boss. But
they too did not know what to do. Bikri could only formulate suspicibadjad not a single

proof, no witness report of any value. He knew an organised gang was at work. The farms in
which animals were wounded, crops destroyed, as well as thedutircdravans had only one
point in common. They all belonged to people who ggpiahe Aeolfast project by their

presence and their desire to be left alone.
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Bikri discussed a scheme with his officers to patrol only at night along the line of the
projected wind turbine installations, but the criminal acts stopped as abruptly asathey
begun.In fact, that campaign too seemed to have its desired effect. Most of the caravan
owners moved their cars and vans and homes to other camping sites in neighbouring towns.
The owner of Castle les Tignes closed the camping site. The farmers sesreedbject

anymore to the Aeolfast project. When Superintendent Bikri tried to talk to them, the men
gritted their teeth and grumbled there was nothing to discuss. Everybody kept his or her
mouth closed.

The crimes would have been considered petty crimes by any Superintendent, simple crimes of
revenge among neighbours and competitors, but Bikri was shocked by the atrocity of the acts.
He stood mesmerised at the feral violence that suddenly surfaced flawntbe veneer of
bourgeois elegance, the peacefulness and quiet of rural Robois, or that was brought to Robois
from outside their world by barbarians, by unscrupulous criminals. Jessephorn and

educated in Brussels, in a large ¢itywhich crime lurled everywhere. Herbge saw the tears

in the eyes of the farmers who looked at their mutilated animals, and he saw the desperation
in the eyes of the poorest of men and women who lived in the caravdnghodid not have

the money to buy a decent brickuse, and who therefore had to live in the one room of their
aluminiumand woodemobile homes. These people Bikri saw standing before the ashes of
their homes, their meagre possessions Tdst.town of Robois could help only two owners of

the mobile homewith social lodging. Two other families were temporarily housed in cheap
hotels. The farmers received nothing for their lost animals.

Joseph Bikri tore the map in his office from the walled it up and drove to the house of
Robert Jacquete enterd through the always open door, shouted he was in, and went to the
dining-rroom. He took the VaBaintLambert vases from the table, placed them on a buffet
cupboard, and deployed his map. When Robert entered the re@hnowed him the map and
explained eerything he knew and suspected.

Robert did not believe what Joseph Bikri was suggesting. Mattonals, conglomerations
andmodern enterpres were highly aggressive, highly competitive, but they did not use
violence. They did not fight with arms, witllackmail and threats by which they hurt people

or animals. Sure, a massive publicity campaign had been launched by Aeolfast, involving
personto person marketing, but were such violent measures being ordered by Aeolfast?
Robert despite all the argumentxyuldnot believe what Joseph Bikri was suggestihg.
enterprises exerted physical violenttee Government would stop them rapidly.

How would Governments do that, exclaimed Joseph, and what if the companies controlled the
Government to a large extertPthe end, yes, companies would be stopped from using
violence, but what in the meantime? What could withhold unscrupulous leaders from using
violence? They had the means! Had there not been examples enough in other countries, such
as in Italy? Did not tl Italian mafias rule by fear over large parts of the country?

Sure,said Robert Jacqueieolfasthas been aggressive in marketibgt were such extreme
measureas Joseph explained realiging forced on people who opposed the project?
UnbelievableRobert thought the imagination of Joseph was running amok. Companies did

not apply such extreme measynmswhere, and not in BelgiurRobert aske Joseph to look

for other, perhaps more diverse causes, for local feuds, but Joseph insisted. Bikri pointed to
the red dots where the crimes had been committed, as well as to the green dots of where the
wind turbine towers were foreseen, but Robert tokkph to reconsider. Yes, the dots

covered the same areas, but what proofs had Joseph beyond dots on a map that might also be
the result of chance?
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6lt is simply not possi bl e, Gbs&lodbdoe many ar gued,
detective stories. o

Robert saw Joseph wince at that remark, and he remembered he had always taken his friend

for an intelligent, reasonablemade al so di d not want to hurt J
He conceded the evidence that lay in front of him, on the table, and maybe heralgis me

convincing himselthat such acts were impossible

OWe need to have tangible proof of some sort
601 k n oJdesephtBiriepliéd very frustrated 6 Pr oof i s not what | h
| bring? We, the police, aretoo fewteb ever ywhere at the same tim
these criminals are, but they know us. We do not have maogspicuougars, our cars with
police painted al/l over them can be spotted
know where to look.flwe placepatrok in ambush somewhere, they plan an aggression

elsewhere. We find nothing but wounded animals, raéayens, and the charred remains of

burnt caravans in which no clues are left. Moreover, they stopped. My guess is they reached

their objectives. When we talk to the people, mouths stay shut. They have understood! They

do not need hard proof like we do. It is so frustrating!

060Companies may have ordered the crimes, 6 Rob

blood attacked the farmsandar avans. What kind of peopl e mi
61l have no clue! Il know only one thing: thes
no peoplan Roboisviolent, tough and ruthlegs do such things. Even our butchers would

not do this! Thehighway s c¢cl ose. Teams from any score of

drive from Robois. With fast cars and a minimum of tptiley can perpetrate the acts in hit
andrun operations. It is all very plausible and feasible. They may even have prepared a
hideaut shack somewhere in Robois with tools and petrol. They come by the highway in a
normal car, drive to the shack, and fetch what they need for their afiracksling four

wheel drives Afterwards they dump the tools in the shack and off they go. Ifteegyolice

stops them on the highway or on the N11, they have nothing in their car that points to an
aggressionlt is not even necessary each time to have the same men in the dafte car
operations may have been planned tens of kilometres from Rolamisaed with maps of the

region and images of the environs even a child can nowadays find on the Internet. In any case,
they haveone andhe same brain behind the attadkselieve the same men have done the

violent acts. The attacks are executed seemaigtandom, now in the north, then in the

south, then somewhere in between, but the men are systematically eliminating resistance to
the Aeolfast project by crime and blackmail. Even the Georgis Rape fits in the pattern! The
crimes remain relatively smathot important enough to catch the attention of the larger
newspapers. One or more professionals are at
Robert Jacquet remained sceptical, but he did not contradict his friend anymore. Robert and
Joseph could not think of atiyng they could do to find the people who had used the violence

in Robois.

At that time also, the report frothe first federal advisory commission was sent to Robois.

The commission accepted thenditurbine project, and found the objections formuldgd

the Bourgmestre and Cabinet of Robois insufficient to stop thalatstns. Also the

objections and the letters of the citizen committee were not strong enough to consider the

Aeolfast project in breach with the laws and regulations. The projectosasmically

feasible anavendesirable. Thé&ederal Government had issues with the global production of
carbon dioxide in the country. Projea s such
to be presentely the Walloon Regioto theadministrdion of theEuropean Community.

Robert Jacquet was losing one more battle.

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus Pagi8/ 208 |

Aeolus. Robert Jacquet

After three weeks and as many Cabinet meetings in which we discussed the matters of the
communedecidingover investments and the problems of the eldmmnky the very youngest,
Simone Ash and | looked at each other interrogatingly to probe our feelings, but we did not
much moreln the Cabinet | explained the suspicions the Superintendent and | had about the
misdeeds that had happened in Robois, but | edave sought for hard evidences. | did not
think somebody believed me.

On an evening, not long thereaftguite out of the blueSimone phoned me. She asked me
whether she could invite me to supper the next day. | was delighted with her callyafor |

very eager to continue our relations and to intensify them. | had not wanted to brusque her,
however, so | waited until she was ready to talk things over and to make the next move. |
wondered what | would have done had she never phoned me. | askea ke whether

she invited me to the Lady of the Lake, but she remained very cold and calm, and she did not
even reacbn those references. She told me that no, we would not have supper at the Lady of
the Lake, and also not at her homead ko dressn a normal suit, but casually, and she would
come in her car at eight in the eveniBfe would drive me this time, and where we would go

to would have to remain a surprise until tomorrbWvad been used to surprises the last

month, so | did not ask morkewas a fool, but being together with Simone Ash was sufficient
reward. That woman had the knack of turning all my resolutions to jelly.

The rext day was a Thursday. | put on a decent but not posh brown jacket and trousers, a light
blue shirt, but no tieand | waited anxiously for Simone half an hour to eight. She was a little
over time, not much. | heard her drive to my door but I did not get up until she rang. When |
opened and said hello, she gave me a hand and not her 8hed&oked tense, and xeus.

She Il ooked me over and said, o601 would pref
simple tie will do, no harsh colours, but
prefer a little decorum.

Such phrases throw a bucket of-m#d water over you, but | complied. | offered Simone a

seat in my livingroom, went back to my rooms and sought a silk, brézktie of a light but

not too aggressive colour, and presented my figure agMisgiSimoneAsh for acceptance

of decorum. She nodded approvingly, but still did not present her cheek for a kiss. She had
thoroughly cooled me down with her formalities, so | expected her to give me the sack this
evening rather than open, moist lips.

| followed herto her carfryi n g , 6where are you taking me, i f
OFriends invited us, 06 she replied, Oyouodol !l s
Simone did not seem inclined to say much more. | had learned from my business contacts to
remain silent when that was demanded, so | asked na iriead hoped for a gentle, loving

supper, just the two of us, at her home. Would | get a lot less than that? | expected nothing
anymore. | never would understand anything about women!

er
w h

Simore drove very fast. Maybe she was late at an appointrSaatemaned very tenseand

she wanted no conversation. We drove in the direction of Trioteignes. | thought we would
drive to her house, but she drove past it, thraugyinowroads in the woods, until in the dark
we arrived in the village of Trioteignes propeheSassed the massive iron gates of Castle
Trioteignes, into the lane that led directly into the domain. I did not know of any restaurant
there. She brought us to Castle Trioteignes!
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Trioteignes was a very old, medieval castle of grey stones. Simompedtber car at the

bridge over the ditch around the castle. The bridge led to the gatehouse. Castle Trioteignes
was something of a mystery to me. It was one of the last truly, authentic medieval castles of
the plains of Belgium, many centuries dbdit asl recalled well restored. The castle was

entirely surrounded by high and very thick stone walls, protected by five sturdy barbican,
round towers.

It was the first time | had been inside the domain of Castle Trioteignes. The building was
enormous, a hugmass of stones of thick walls, squat towers and dark;sirake roofs. The

ditch around the castle was now, early in the season, overgrown with bushes, some of which
were blooming. Only a little, brackish water taeneath

The gatehouse was on everytpie of the castle | had ever seen in books and magazines. It
consisted of four huge, massive towers, interconnected above by a stone dOrrighar.

sides, the entry towers were flanked by high stone walls, and high above | saw crenelated
embattlementsThe castle was a fortress of the plains, built in the middle of swamps. The
swamps had dried out, of course, since ages, but the castle had retained its medieval ferocity
and air of defiance.

We walkedfastover the bridge. Simone did not take my arm, simel hurried a little ahead of

me. | remarked she was definitely more nervous than | had thought possible for her. | longed
for a nice word from her mouth and her heart
here. At the end of the four towelmtween the two last ones, stood a huge oak door the

panels of which were closed. In that gate a small door stood open, however, and we entered a
cobblestoned courtyard. | would not have been surprised to have seen vampires flying out of

the towers, butaething of the sort happened. It was quite dark in the castle, but we were

expected, for all the lights on the bridge, in the gatehouse and also in this courtyard, had been
turned on. The lights were of no torches, but of rersotgrolled mercury white laps.How

many guests would be present for a macabre gatt®ering

| looked to right and left. had never beeimsideCastle Trioteignes. The stde was not open

to the public. | lad only sen photographs of the exterior. The town administration had asked
seweral times in the past to open at least the park and the gardens and the forest around the
castle at certain days to the public, but these proposals had each time been turned down
politely but firmly. Theowne's of Cagle Trioteignes kept jealousty thar privacy. The
proprietors, the ancient family of the same name, did not want to be disturbed. The family
also never participated in any event organised by the towg our associations.

Simone and | passed the courtyard, Simone almost running, m&.iShe headed briskly on.
We reached the castproper, the mansion where Count Trioteignes lived. The living gsarter
of the castle &l been built against two end walls of the pentagjoaped courtyard. Simone

Ash still rushed in front of me, opened theor of the main entry, and beckoned me to follow,
never answering my starewhs a little surprised to find the door of the castle open, and also
to remark how Simone was familiar enough with the place to not hesitate entering it without
knocking or ringng. We stood in the brightly lit entry hall, in which monumental stairs led to
the upper floors. | looked around, but Simone barely offered me the time for that.

Simone shouted, 6Charles, we have arrived! o
Another voice came from the rooms to our lefbnf a Gothicarcls haped door, O&6con
Si mone. Close the door behind you, will you?
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Simone pushed a bar at the door. Tst@ rapidly sprang before me, opened the door at her
left, and we stepped into a large livingom. The room was splendidly deca@ with new,
comfortable and fine furniture. | saw a few oil paintings on the walls befor&mediving-

room was huge, long but rathearrow It had remained much in the style of the previous
centuries, with bare stones the walls, oak beams apparentthe ceiling, large paintings of
landscapes covering the left wall as | entered. The couches and seats brought vivid colours of
nice flower patterns in the stern lines. The place looked bright therefore, fresh, warm, joyful
even. Logs crackled in the ep fireplace. | saw also a diningom through the open door at

the end, a large table set with white porcelain dishes, coloured crystal glasses and silver
cutlery.

The room was empty of people, butat verytall, slim, greying man, dressed in a brosunt

not very unlike my own, wearing no tie, emerged from the opening to another room at the
end. He came forward with outstretched hands to me, and he kissed Simone on théHeheeks
shook hands with me. | assumed this man was Count Trioteignes. Henaasia his forties,

slim, meagre even, with a gentle but square face, thick black eyebrows, a short jaw and also
thin but very vivid grey eyes. The Count did not let go quickly of my haDlarles de
Trioteignes came to me with long, black hair greyinthatsides, combed backwaréte

made me think of the actor Stewart Granger, but in a smaller velredmad the pale

complexion of a man who did notuchwalk outdoors. He wore no tie on a whitérsbpen

at the neck. Simone had ow#nessed me, | realed.

He said, Owelcome to Castle Trioteignes! | a
here. | should have done that much earlier. We are hermits, | am afraid, my wife and I. | am

really very glad to welcome our Bourgmestre, and honoured. Eleaseeet you! Simone

has told us many fine things about you. Pl ea
about a sweet Juran-on for changes?0

| said thank you, a white wine would be fine. Yes, | acquiesced, | was Robert Jacquet, and

Simone Ash ha brought me here as a surprise. Charles glanced beyond me at Simone, and
grinned.

A woman came fronthe diningroom to us. She was tall and stout, taller than Count Charles,

and she laughed with a healthy, ganned, round face in which shone largeegreyes. She

looked likea stong woman of the country. Her lips were thick and sensuous, her hips

generous, maybeldtle overweight. She wore a large apron over plain clothes.

She began to speak before Charles could intr
Ghysen, wife to Charles. We have two childBsago and Laura, liuheyshall not be with us

tonight. Theyare studying both at the university of LouvddnNeuve, andts exam t i me

t hem! o
She sat on a sofa next to Count Charles. Charles siwwedne in fine, white crystal glasses.

| still did not quite understand why Simone had brought me to Trioteignesdiofiekl the

familiarity between her and Count Charlélad Simone wanted to present me to a former

lover? | should have showed more defiance, but the warmth with which both the Count and

his wife received me forced me to abandon some of my usual reserve. We chatted quite

openly about the landscapes of Raband about the affairs of the town. Charles and Monique
seemed to knowverything hat happened in the town.

OWe should have invited to meet \(mgenun@yoner b O
ashamed, Obut | am af nes,jMbnigweandl.rhendSimenetwold nge p
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us she knew you well, we thought it appropriate to invite you. Simone is dear to us. We see
ourselves a I|little as her parents in Belgium

The conversation went on until Migne Ghysen called us to the table of the dimogm.

She explained sheath prepared the dinner herself, with products of her farm.

6l have not yet told you, 6 CotRomané€Buagundye s s a i
winee O Moni que h ass, afarmrin the village lofursoteignes. The farm thrives.

She is a fine manager, and when we marri ed,
We had a perfectly enjoyable supper, a first dish of smoked trout and a main dish of stewed

wild rabbit, stewed in d& beerof which Monique told it was Trappist of Wegteteren

Charles served his fine wine, and Monique brought in a large plate of cheese afterwards.

We would have our coffee in the livirrgom. Count Charles also proposed us a glass of

Cognac. | had épt glancing at Simone, glances Monique and Charles must have remarked,

but they didnét comment. Simone never reacte
looks.

After the coffee, Charles suddenly said, 6éyo
admire your patience. We did not just wanted to spend a nice evening with you and show you
the interior of our Castle Trioteignes. We o
| did not answer, no answer was required. | merely waited for what was to come, but | was

curious indeed.

Count Charles | eaned back in the sofa and as
grandfather, Al ain Jacquet?850

The question surprised me.

| said, o6very Ilittle. He dmuehdnorgMydathgralsol r e me mr
todmevery | ittle about him. o

Count Charles continued, o6éyour grandfather w

too, are part of these walls, and your grandfather was, too. Alain Jacquet was once a stable
boy here! | know that because the Trioteigkesp family archives in which the Counts note
everything important that mattered concerrmg domain Your grandfather was a stable

boy, the only one, when the Second World War broke out. We hid experimental aeroplanes of
Belgian construction in our dde during the Twilight war. A man from the British Secret

Service, a pilot, was sent to us to assess the machines for the British war industry, and we
helped him bring the aeroplanestoGiBat i t ai n. That man was Si mon
married a Tahty daughter. The Barons of Trahty have always been our dearest friends. A
Trahty lived here in the castle during the war, the best frismtfident and business associate

of my own grandfather, who was also called Charles de Trioteignes. Your grandiddime
Jacquet, helped us defeat German spies who wanted to fly the aeroplanes to Germany before
the outbreak of the wawe have three German tombs in our woods on account of the attack

on our hangars. In our archiveisis stated that Alain Jacquettpaled in our domain next to

Baron Trahty and Count Charlekublebarrelledhuntingshotgunsn their hands. He was
substantial in helping us to hide the cars in which the Germans arrived. We, the Trioteignes
and the Trahties, never forget the peopl® wlotect us. Alain Jacquet later became a close
confident of the family, and also a business partner. He was intelligent and helpful, and we
taught him to buy and to sell, how and why and where. He developed his own fortune in the
diamond businessof Anevr p, mai nly with Baron Trahty, Si
housed and hid Jewish families during the war. We have papers and medals to confirm that.
We think of your grandfather with affection as something of athero
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Count Charles paused, sipped frore brandy, looked at my astonished face, smiled, and
resumed

OWe heard Swastikas were painted on your wal
wrong. No man of Trioteignes would have put thossses on your walls, for they know.

Your grandfathewas a hero of the resistance afterwards, during the war, together with the
Trioteignes, the Trahties, and a group of former pilots of the Belgian Aéronautique. So, you
should not worry about the Swastikas. Those were the results of ugly, wiindsnformel or
misinformed people who did not really know what had happened at Trioteignes during the
Twilight War and the Second World War. Ydo not have to believe me. | allow you to

come and consult our archives. The story is written dowmust ask your disetion, of

course, obr parts of the storgre still $ate secrets. Just phone me, and you can read the books
an afternoonnour | i brary. 6

d have no reason to doubt your wor@aun® ménaged sayingith a very dry throat.

| guess | was more affectedatihl wanted to show. Somehow a hand found mine on the sofa,
and | remarked it was Simoneds.

d-orget the titles. For a Jacquet we are Charles and Modiqu€ o unt ChadNees conif
lost sight and touch of the Jacquditst your family name remained aur mind and heag

We are a large family, linked by more than blood. We count as family also our friends, the

men and women that are intimately connected to our history. We have family in the United
Kingdom, among whom the Ashes and the Clarksons, ewidarge warehouses and

distribution chains. We are related to the Strattens and the von Schillersberg in Germany, who
own a vast imperium of mechanical industry factories in Stuttgart, Munich and Frankfurt. We

are related to the Vresele family in FlargleTogether, we formed a conglomeration of

diversified companies. We control higgichnology factories in Germany, large distribution
warehouseand hospitalén the United Kingdom, textile factories in Flanders and China, and

we own participations in th@iamond industry of Antwerp through the Sinnagel famile

would like to bring your construction firm into that consortium, without you giving up control

of it, but helping you to expand it internationally. We can offer you entry to the Arabian
EmiratesThat may seemfdr et ched, but it i s more feasi bl e

My mouth fell open. | also did not know the Ash family owned vast wealth in the United

Kingdom. Was | after &ach heiress? | only knew Simone Ash as a medical doctor.

6Yet ,atalils tnfot the main reason why | wanted t
60How much do you know of Aeol fast?6

6l know very Ilittle of i1it,6 | admitted, take
subject to an e ndacompdnythatplahsftoanstallwind tarbine toweds| t

in Robois. o

0

0

Do you intend to | et them proceed with that
No,taed,| wery determined. 6l shalTownfCabgmdétt t hat
can appeal to the State Councihie c essar y . Hi gher than that we
6l dondét | i ke t hebsgvwedndstadte, 6afduht h€hnand| eges,

like it either. The towers shall pollute our landscapes, also the views Monique and | have from
out of our windowsthough the towers will be at some distance from Trioteignes. None of our

farmers | ike the project. Do you know who | e
OWe met its Managi ngt ®di rectiomst der Cingy aHal les
60Yes. But you dono6s Aeeclmf d ot . khow who own

6l donét, not really. o

0Aeol fast and a series of other companies ha
CountJeanGaut hi er de Bui sseyYr €hlhdmass ¢iod dd B terman
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enmity lies between the Trioteignes and thésBeyres. We clashed several times in the past.

We loathe Buisseyre. He is a devious, ruthless, unscrupulous business dealer. We call him by

the other names ofif and even murderer. You may be astounded at such wordp dadt

even of hatred between,usut, believe me, | would rather hold Buisseyre withhietipangs

at a considerable distance from me and my family than;eeen si der deal i ng wi t

We waited. | looked at Simone. She still did not react.

OBui sseyre has cuenterprieg 0y Comunit s Chéliswietsh r leissa me
businesses are not doing wéle has grown too fastle is in dire need of cash monéie

has only one company that brings him reasonable profits, the company Recycfast of Robois.

His otherinitiatives bring him only losses, and he wants to grow much fé$teneeds even

more cash for thaBuisseyre is not much of a true businessman. He is good at creating

intrigues and schemes, raitmanaging. He got rich mainly from being the Chief Executive

Officer of Travtelio, but that episode of his life also ended in disaster. He founded Aeolfast,

and the Aeolfast project in Robois is in fact his very first in the business of wind turbines.

Have you any idea what the return on investment of a wind turbipegorot r epr esent s -
6That must amount to around ten per cent, 0
6lt is rather fifteen per cent, 6 Charles co
conclusion, including the dismantling costs at the érdyinally, the projet foresaw in

Germanbuilt wind turbines, but Buisseyre cancelled that contract and now he intends to

install cheaper Chinese turbines. The German motors areotrtedachines, the Chinese ones

are still experimental, but he gains the goodwill of the €sgnindustry. We expect those

turbines to break down earlier than the German ones and to need more repairs, but that is not a
worry for Buisseyre if he can sell his project rapidhat Buisseyractuallyaims to do is to

build the towers, or having thebwilt, and then sell the project immediately to Qatari or

Chinese investment funds. He will show huge profits to those funds, and if he can pull a sale

off, his profit on a one to two year basis may be as high as thirty per cent. That percentage is
instantmoney in his pockets, after having paid off his loans and all other expenses. Buisseyre
is going to win around fifteen million Euro

r

| believe my mouth fell open a second time. | needed a drink from my Cognac.

0 IBliisseyre succeeds in Robois, he can gain the same amount of money with much less

resi stance from projects in the adjacent <cou
must understand what is at stakeehéit stake iitherthe construction of a neimperium,

or bankruptcy, for Buisseyre, and that all within one to two years. Buisseyre is quite capable
andquitewilling to walk over dead bodies to realise his wind turbine projects. You see, he is

not unlike the mythical god Aeolus who unleashes timelsv What ravages the winds cause

when they become storms, how much violence and hagehtlisthrows over the heads of
people, he does not want to know. He merely

Charles de Trioteignes held silence dovhile, thenh e cont i nued, O&éwe, the
our associated families, we want to stop Aeolus if it is not already too late. Therefore we want

to help you, because ystand like a hugerodkn hi s pat h. 6

60What do you mean by hel meedhge Inpe??266 | asked. O
0Aeol us, Bui sseyre, unl eashes.Hgdoeslthatnce and h
everywhere he appears. He is a formidable sche#ieenses natural charm and solemn

dignity around himHe has nurtured excellent relations with the curiesders of thé&Jnited

Democratic PartyThe Echevin of Robois and Natioridhdergcretary of that political party,

Yves Govin, is part of that influence. We are taking action in Brussels, through some of our

friends who are Members Barliament of that sae party to stop the influence of Buisseyre
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and of his cronies over tlizemocratsYou will say we use the same means as Buisseyre, and

| regret you are right, but we keep to our objectives of the common good, whereas Buisseyre
seeks only his own enrichmeiChanging the winds of fortune will take time, however. You

are a Jacquet and we believe you are part of our larger family, as the Ashes are. We believe

you are honest and dedicated to the good, not to the bad. Simone is directly related to us, more
closely than you are, but like | said, the Jacquet family is related in mind and feelings to the
Trioteignes. So we appeal to you. We care for our own. You oppose the Aeolfast project. So

do we. You oppose Govin and the current leaders dihv@arty in Brussls and Robois. So

do we. You are honest in business. So are we, and that is our pride. You hate dishonesty and
violence in commerci al dealings. So do we. T

OHow do you propose t o dcontrdl inyaattipns, toltell meswha d . 06 D
| have to do?0

ONo, Charegy @ f used. O6Nothing of that kind. We ca
headquarters of theD Party. We shall break the influence of Buisseyre there. That will

weaken his influence ondsin in Robois. We may come too late, however, to realise that aim

before the next communal elections. We can help you win those elections, for we want you to

win, and we propose help in two ways.

Count Charles stopped.

| said,d am still listening, Con't ! 6

OWe can fhellagpmcyad |y i f necessary,orallowedfor donodt
the law restricts the amounts that can be spent on publicity campaigns and you are sufficiently
wealthy to invest those funds by yourself. We can hetighier ways. We have many loyal

friends among the farmers and villagers of Trioteignes. With them, lessdud a campaign

against the incrediblslanderous rumours that have been launched against you. Also, in the

costs of a publicity campaign for elexts, the costs of manpower run high. Most candidates

use benevolent help. We intend to furnish yo
| sat flabbergasted in my chair.

6You might have some issue finding people to
Laura is something of jgolitical activist herselfand although | myself state it, a genius in
management and organisation. She has inherited that from her @oth€h ar | es s mi | ed

has assembled a team of fifteen young people from Trioteignes and the Peasant villages.
Consider them as your campaign team. They can design your election tracts, for they have
graphists among them, and computer specialists. They can distribute your flyers. They can put
your panels on the lands owed by friends of the Trioteignes, througbbotsRYou pay for

the posters, we care for the rest. We can even print your tracts and distribute them in every

|l etter box of Robois at no cost. 6

| must have looked stupid when Count Charles utterly baffled me, for the issue of a campaign
team had crossady mind more than once these last d&ys.the previous elections | had

received the group team of IC. This time, | was practically on my own, and @loméssue

was now solved in one stroke!

0There is only one additional problem, 8 Char
campaign team of Simone, hekauraconsides itasa major joke to work for two different

political parties at the same time, but you will have to share hertmrmnd r esour ces t

| looked even more astonished at Simone Ash, and | saw her throw her head in her neck and

then let go a pearling laughter when she saw my eyes.

00h darling, you should see your evelmy now! o
shoulders and kissed me on the mouth.
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That astonished Charles de Trioteignes so much he spilled his Cognac, and for that, Monique
Ghysen first scolded him and then she laughed even harder than Simone.

We stayed until late in the night plotting dd oonspirators. | explained to Charles and
Simone also the suspicions of Jotkbypgifred. Bi kr i
60You must present that Superintendent Bi kri
|l i ke him very much! o

After we had said goodbye, Simone drove me hadke car she told me she had dreaded the
meeting with Charles. It was important for her, she said, knowing the Trioteignes family
approved of me. She was so glad Charles had liked me at first sight. Clhdrkesikth sense

for people When she lived in London, she was losing herself there, wallowing in disgrace and
wantonluxury. Charles had come. He had whipped her out of her senseless mode of living.
He had forced her to follow him, forced her with harddgothat cut like knives. Charles had
been her brother, her father. It was important for her to know Charles approved of her current
choice.

| remained silent while she talked. It was good for her to talk and to tell me. Stroweeto

her house, but shiid not pass it to drive on to my lodge. She said nothing, but stopped her
car at her door. She still did not say a word when she urged me to get out. We kissed
passionatelybut oh so tenderlyfrom the moment had turned around hear until we arrived

at her bedroom. | stayed the rest of the night at her pMdiee.that, all was right between us,

or so | thought.

The Balin Murder. Joseph Bikri

The month of May and the first weeks of June are not written in my book as the happiest of
my life. May was characterised by many aggressions against people of Robois, and that
distressed me very much because | felt | had failed iduyof protecting my town. The
aggressions stopped abruptly at the beginning of June, which was a good thing, but it also
blewaway my hope of ever finding the criminals. | cursed myself for days on end for not
having found the gang that had done its cruel work.

| posted patrols at the north and south exits to the highway, but my men reported nothing
special in that period. It &s true | could not place my men exactly at the exits, for these were
on the territory of other towns, but near enough to catch any suspddyaaen controlled

many carsNo team could report anything special. | thought on about the cases, and my
attenton was once more drawn to the men | had seen at the end of the Georgis Rape. In more
than one aspect they satisfied the profiles | had formed of a group of men who might have
perpetrated the crimes.

The men | had seen then lived at Recycfast, a commadetted to Aeolfast. They were men

that had been hired recently, that had not resided since very long in Robois, and they had
come from Brussels and beyond. They were strangers to Robois. Maybe my reaction of
assigning the misdeeds to people who did netdince long at Robois was pure chauvinism,
but my intuition was stronger than ever on that pdiheir leader seemed to be a man high up
in the hierarchy of Aeolfast, and a security specialist, a man who knew how operations could
be planned professioyal Why was such a man residing in a simple, plain village, far from
Brussels?
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| had more or less given up on the idea of various teams of hoodlums being sent to Robois.
That kind of operation seemed too complex and too expensive. The leader of the glahg wo
have to know his soldiers well to assign them to tasks each man wasiteifor, on

difficult terrain of countryside roads and paths. The hoodlums seemed to know the environs
too well, as if they had had all the time to reconnoitre our villagesitesl They disappeared
rapidly on the right tracks, after each deed. They were also professionals indeed, for they
wore skimasks and gloves, which amounted to elementary protection very effective for the
most basic of identificationsere therebynade mpossible. They used false hames among
them, somethingke thathad been mentioned to me, names such as Mickey, Donald, Pluto.
The same names had been used at various sites, strengthening my impression the same gang
had been at work. The men seemed teehrahearsed those names, for they reacted quickly to
them and never once used other names.

| positioned a patrol car during several nights near Recycfast, but nothing even widely
suspicious had been noted. | suspected them to drive in several carsjmeaydt@er car

every attack. We did not spot one, same car out of the ordinary, circulating in Robois.

| began to drive more intensively in the industrial zone around Recycfast, but my proverbial
luck and intuition rardry on me in that period. | too cauhot detecthe same fouby-four
wheeldrive standing at the hangars of Recycfast. If the gang of Aeolfast hid inside the
hangars, they changed vehicles every odd week. Maybe they spied on me from their hideout,
but | saw no special movement at the wiwdo

Was | really qualified for my assignment, for my job at Robois? Why could | not solve the
enigma? | ran around with gloomy eyes and an absent head. | was irritated, and what was
worse was that my boys and girls at the police station paid me with the Hame/as our

town and somebody was turning us into impotent, ridiculous children. We wanted to see these
men hanging from the highest tree of Roboi s
to hit.

Also my private life was as barren as my profesaiome.

Something was definitely happening between Robert Jacquet and Simone Ash. | had seen it in
their awkward glances, in their grins, and in the mellow looks they gave each other, the
occasional furtive touching of hands and the electric reaction thiaéhappened. | tried to

spend a few evenings with Robert, but he was not in a couple of times and | did not dare
impose on Samia. The other times when Robert was alone, he remained pensive, but happy.
For a man burdened with rumours and in threat ofi¢pis job of Bourgmestre, he seemed

very happy and lighhearted indeed. He whistled a lot, smoked no cigarettes anymore as if he
werechanging his life for the better. Even Rose looked interrogatingly at me, her nose in the
air, meaning something was,uput | could only chuckle. Robert was always the loner, the
introvert type of guy where his feelings and private matters were concerned.

| suppose that if someone watched or spied at Samia and me, he or she might have remarked

the same spark as lingered between Robert and Sitdomemightl approach Samin my

family, traditions had been respectedttoe most important events of lifeduas births, death

and mariages. | would not have likkemy family to have chosen a bride for me, bbégan to

believethe idea of an official gbetween oome sorts had its merit. | was a coward, really

in the matters of novwhewthgetcloderto Samiazbeyoqpdlay di dndt
handshake.
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Help came from an unexpected corner. One evening, when | had dared remaining an hour at

Robertds | odge, having supper with him, Sami
wish them goodbye. | shiso, but | still had a mouthful of bread on my plate.

Rose asked suddenly, while | was finishing,
Robert stopped chewing at his last sandwich for a moment.

6Sure, Samia is a very hiegdookingdirecty avherman, 6 | a
60You never give Samia a goodbye kiss, 6 Rose
girl they |like?0

60f course they do, | give a kiss to you, 6 I
ofwhatwouldbeBseds next question.

60When you | ike people, you can also just sha

what | do! 6

| devoured the rest of my bread in a second and stood up from my chair, saying | had to get
back to the police station. | was awaféRose and Samia staring at me. | shook hands with
Robert, kissed Rose on the cheek, and pushed my hand forward to Samia.

6You can kiss Samia t oo, -pichedandinsstent voidemfs e p h
Rose.

Samia answered fan, mBpséob @eadrsbdewenclined
| bent forward to brush Samia lightly on the cheek, but Samia brought her lips in the way of

mine, and we kissed on the mouth. | must have reddaribd face as much as an overripe

tomato. | was surprised anthbarrassed, but Samia did not redden at all and only grinned,

looking at me with her very large, dark eyes that shone as naughty as a child of six that had
caught a dumb boy.

Her eyes blinked, 6got you, my |ittle Superi
From out of a corner of yneyes | saw how Robert was as stunned as |. He forgot to chew,

then he grinned too, and he continued to grin when | mumbled something incomprehensible. |
stumbled over my chair and left the kitchen in a hurry.

| surmised girls do not kiss on mouths bgident. Samia had given me a sign she wanted me.

My next move should probably be to invite her at supper one evening, or to ask her out for a

walk somewhere. Would take her out to the movies or to the theatre be a good idea? No, that
was a trick for youndsrs, not for a Superintendent and a future lawyer! Also, there would be

far too many people around, assuming the worse for their police. Why, our Superintendent

frolics around with immigrant girls, while we are being battered by criminals! Invite Samia

out to supper in a discreet environment would be the best thing to do. | pondered over this
while | walked through Robertds corridor and

(@)

My gloom and the dire situation at Robois worsened if possible. While | was eating my
breakfasbn a fine morning of June and pondering over Samia Bennani, without daring to
reach a conclusion as to what | should do about her, my mobile phone rang. Only few people
knew my number, one among them my assistant, officer Dominique Bussy.

Dominique calledne. She said a murder hiagdencommitted near the Horse Bayard hotel
woman had been found dead, stabbed. | told Dominique | would be right there. Dominique
explainedbefore | could hang ysomeone had called the emergency number of the police.
Dominiquewasalready at the site. Other officers converged to the scene, Dominique had
called her colleagues.

| drove to Bazaine, where the hotel was situated, near the N11. The hotel lay in a small park.
It was a low, moderstyle building that looked more kkan American motel than a Western
European classic hotel. When | arrived and skidded at speed into the parking lot, | saw several
policemen and Dominique standing not outside the hotehdarta row of houses on the
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other side. They were unrollighite-and-bluetape to block the street at that poindntup

to them, askingvhat had happened.

Domi ni que Bussy |l eft the pack, came up to me
Superintendent. A woman has been stabbed to ddatmame is Magda Balighelives in

thefirst house, here. The house belongs to the hotel owner, and the woman pays the hotel
boss to have his c¢cleaning women also do the
morning, one of the cleaning women entered the house and found Mrsi&adiron her bed.

She called the emergency number of the police. We have just arrived. We are blocking parts

of the street. O

0Show her to me, 6 | asked.

0lits not a pretty sight, boss,d® Dominique whi
moments ago. 0

Dominique went nevertheless in with me.

The house was old. In the corridor, plaster and paint fell from the walls in blisters of
humidity, but the rooms downstairs looked clean. From the corridor behind the door I could
see a livingroom and a small kit@m. The house was narrow, as many houses of a row were
in Robois, but deepalfway the corridor began the stairs that led to the second storey.
Dominique went up the stairs, and brought me to a bedroom. Sprawled over the bed, naked,
her belly down, lay asoman who seemed to be covered entirely in blood. The sheets around
her were soakeih red. The bed was a simple, plywood wareheusgght contraption of no
elegance, undecorated, but probably very functional. The woman was stout, her buttocks
large, her beasts compressedderher. She had been stabbedhe back.

When | forced myself to lookloser, | detected and counted at least six stab wounds. Two
knife wounds dribbled blood around her spine. Sdakttvo knifewounds in her buttocks,

which struck ne as strange for these could hardly have caused death, two others in her calves,
all quite symmetrical, and when | looked | saw what had really probably killed her. Her
throat was cut, quite deeply and expertly in a long, wide sweepnhiarcarotid aery had

been cut, and that done would have brought dealfew moments. Most of the blood

around heron the sheets arah her heaecushion, would have come frotinat one wound. |

felt getting sickl was not used at all to seeing blesabked corpses, not of mandnot of

women, and the mellow smell reached my nostrils and made the disgust grow in mig mind.
was the gory, sinister, sordid scene of a callous act, perpetrated in squalid conditions.

| tried to keep strong and unmoved, but Dominique rhagé seen me go paknshe drew

me out of the bedroom. She held aryn a few steps down the stairs again. We went out of

the house for we needed both to catch our breath in a little fresh air.

| cursal afew times and kept standing there, at the door, with Dominique.
Dominique looked as paleas| She sai d awkwardly, grinning,
only one to be impressed. | needed a lot of fresh air after having seen her the first time. What
bastard did such a thing? | cannot eVeak at her and not feel revulsion. The guy that killed

her could not only stab down several times, he must have looked at the blood actually spurting
out . 0O

| have always been convinced that women are much strontjegsia things than men, but
Dominique was adding a little too much to it. | brought up my hand, urging Dominique to say
not much more, bent double a while.

Then | said to her, my dizziness gone, Oall
murders orour own. We need people from a forensic lab in here. Dominique, would you call
theSer vi ce doEnqu,theSEReof Naae, thR 8ecvicecof Grimmieal
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Investigations of the zone, and ask them to come over here? Can you phone them, please,
Dominique? | must call the Procureur du Roi, the R®ralkecutor, and tell him about the

mur der . Hedl | confirm to have the SER handl e
of a murder we have here. Ask them to bring their fingerprint kits with themh butyt 6 | |
probably know that too. Theyo6l |l wamius.t o take
We know itdés a murder! o

ol think theyoll know what to do, boss. | 61 |
ambul ance yet. Should | do that too?6

0 Y e st tell them they have to transport a dead woman to the morgue of Namur for an
autopsy. Donét | et them take the corpse unti

| knew who the murdered woman was. She was a prostitute called Magda Balin, a loner. She
worked withou a pimp, without extortion, but also without protection. She worked on her

own. | guessed she received her clients at home, but | had seen her often late in the evening
walking down the main streets of Robois, a mobile phone in her hand. She was ot one t

have a seat in one of the bars along the N11. She probably had a number of loyal clients who
came to her for sexual relief since many years. She was an ageing prostitute, nearing fifty,

with a body growing to opulence despite her trade, a nice, rouadusigally a blond wign

her head. | had seen her often in the same two or three streets of Robois when | walked them

too because | could not catch sleep and needed a fresh think in the evening air. She knew me,

so she would never accost me. She merelysmred at me and gave me a |
Superintendent! 6, to which | had naoandded back
odd wayas normahnd familiarto me as the trees near the park.

Magda Balin had worked in Robois for more than fifteearg. | knew that becausbdd

asked one of our elder officers about her. There had been no justified reason why | or my
predecessors would have harassedlhexd wondered each time | saw her why she kept at

her occupation at that ripe age, whereashstiean intelligent face, still a good figure, and

could easily have gotten a job as a cashier or something like that in our town. Maybe she was

too well known by too many men in Robois. Maybe she was ashamed of being constantly
recognised in her new job.

A prostitute was murdered. Savagery, death and aggression lurked always in the shadow of
Magda Balinés occupation, of course. She mus
bedroom. For so long, she had been able to control the passions anesurgesce in

men. One of her customers had not reacted to her fragile female and sensuous authority. She

had had bad luck, in the end.

My work was largely finished at the murder site. My officers knew what to do. We had
rehearsed this before. Soon, B8R guys of Namur would arrive, and these people would
start their investigation. We had not much more to do than block off the road, keep the most
curious people of Robois at a distance.

Nevertheless, | had to return to the haudas was my town! Nobogdkilled in this town. |

went back into the house. Dominique followed me with her eyes, but | waved her out. | went
back in alone.

| should not disturb anything and | should not toanlgthing. | took a pair of transparent,

plastic gloves out of my pockeind went on. Wanted tahawe alook around, watch sharply

out for clues.

| beganin the livingroom. A few modern chairs stood agaitist wall. | saw a sofa of nice,

thick leather before &levision set, two small tables in between, a large bladkcard

againsthe other wall.
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Magda Balin seemed to have liked small porcelain statues, for a collection of those stood in
another cupboard with large, glass doorad hot seen at first, #te wall, behind the entry to

the livingroom. | looked at thetatues with interest. | would have sworn some of the

statuettes were real Meissen porcelaimd some looked anciefithe man who had killed

Magda Balin had either been no thief, or lad known nothing about the value of porcelain.

The door that led tde kitchen stood open. In fact, | rememioeeyery door in the hse

stood open! Balin was a woman who liked air.

Everything was arranged neatiythe kitchen. No dirty dishes lay in the sink and the glasses,
mugs and cutlery, stood stacked in the appropriate places. Everything consumable was placed
in cupboards om the refrigerator, a large Americatyle device that also hetdsmall freezer
compartmentand a machine for making ice. | opened the fridge, found only milk and water
bottles in there, no alcohol. There had been no fight in the kitchen. The table was clean, a
nice, unstained flowegpattern cloth lay on it. Not one knife found itselfamplace it should

not be. Magda Balin had one of those large, wooden blocks with meat knives in it, but not one
knife was mising fromthe block. | saw amall garden behind the house. The door leading to
thatgarden had not been forced, amevas also ulocked, as | found out rapidly when | tried

the clench. Balin had definitely received a client, no burglar.

| wentback up the sirs, | admit with leaden feet. | detected no bloodstains on the walls

leading upstairs, and alsot on the stairs themselvdespite the atrocity of the act, the
murderer or murdererssthk met i cul ously avoided the blood f
the bedroom. Almost no blooadhtrickled on the ground, only a very little on the other side

of the bed. I looked around, biaiund no knife or other object capable of procuring stab

wounds. The murderer had used his own knife, or taken the murder weapon with him. That
was smart, this murderer had kept hisswhroughout the acChe murder had not happened

in the spur of a moent of passion. He or she must have waited until Magda had undressed,

laid herself on the bed buttocks up, turned her back to him or her, and then the assassin had
stabbed, plunged a knife down on her almost vertically. Had he slit her throat firsPdrHast
wounds on her back looked deep, but not wide. The knife had been a thin one, not much more
than one or a centimetre and a half broad. The murderer had slit the throat, but otherwise he
had not slashed, not cut, but simply stabbed, powerfully, strigh above the body. My

guess was he had first cut her throat and only then stabbed her, for otherwise she would have
surged. None of the stabs could have brought her death immediately. She might have been
drugged, but | saw no glass with water or atheoliquid beside her bed. The autopsy would

have to determine whether she had been drugged, and just how deep the stabs had gone. Had
one reached her heart or her lungs?

| opened the cupboard in the room. | found not additional traces of blood, amdbtsothe

two chairs in the room. Magda &avnatbnepidteocs hung
textile thatmight have belonged to a man. Her malpottles and pots stood undisturbed in

front of her mirror on a dressiftgble. Nor of the dravershungopen. If they d been

opened, the murderer had talcame to close them again. | saw perse lay there tqglainly

in sight, unopened. | saw no evidence of a fight. | crouched and looked under the bed, but

found nothing else but dust. | hadp®al to find one or other object belonging to the murderer,

but such miracles only happened in novels.

| went on to the adjoining bathroom and found there also a neatly arrspaszwell-
cleaned, things in order. | opened the white closet in which egeskmedicines and
toothpaste and perfumes, but | found nothing more suspicious than a box of aspirins.
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| went to the adjacent room. That was a second bedroom, but Balin had arranged it as a kind

of office, or as a reading room. One had a nice view ajdhgen from out of the window,

and a chair stood close to the window.e@mng wall was covered entirely by racks on which

stood rows of books. Balin had lots of books, also expensive hardbacks, most of them of love
stories. A few newspapers laid on a &al8he owned a personal computer with a modem and

an I nternet connection. Balin was not out of
computer. That should be the work of the SER, but she might maybe have an address book

her clients in thex. That would be very interesting information. | regretted that such

information was for the SER to find. Again, nothing seemed disturbed. | had found no drugs

in obvious places in Balinbés bedroom or bath
hidden in her cupboards. If there were drugs in here, that would be the delight of the SER
guys to find.

| had seen what | wanted. | had finished. | went back down the stairs, to the front door, and
met there the first investigators of the SER.

The SERofficers never wore a uniform. | showed them in, warned them for the sight, and told

them to go upstairs. They were three, and they had also brought kits for taking fingerprints

with them.

O0A violent murder ?06 awehMupfistt he Superintendent
ONo a beauti ful sight, 6 havebeemisturked.dMaybedsheuvas n ot |
drugged. Yod | see. 0

| left the mento ther job and went out. The ambulance had arrived and twoime&hite

overalls were waiting until the corpse could be reddas

| asked sideways to Dominique, 6didndt you s
police?6

60Yes, 6 Dominique replied, and then she said
on her She is at the hotel at this very monm
| grinned.

6 Come Wi whisperete ,

We went both to the Hotel Horse Bayard. Dominique was proud when she could thus walk
with me. It gave her a standing among our officers.v&mwvorth that additional dignity. |
never recognised in publim the police statiorshe was smarter than the rest of the bunch,
but she was.

The man who stood behind the counter of the entry hall was the hotel owner. He was a short,

slim man with a long face and clearly defined features. He had thick wrinkles around his eyes,
though, ad his skin looked to me like old parchmeddé wore the vestiges of strain on his

face.

He recognised me and shouted i mmediately, O6a
you! We are in safe hands. What an awful mess! You will want to talknette |

presume?o

The man was very nervous, his hands trembled and | saw little drops of perspiration on his
forehead. | haethateffect on certain people.

0 Y e sAnnette @ Annetteis the housemaid who phoned the police after she found the

cor ps ei, eddalso wahe tp falk briefly to you, of course. How muchyda know about

Magda Balin?6

O6Magdapwast at ut e, Superintendent, butinone of
that house of minete many, many years. | owe theuge,but shepaid rent always on time.

| cannot remember @ in the last ten years she was overdue with her rent! She was a nice
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person, Superintender@he never did any harm to anybody. She had mostly regular clients of
old. I told her to stop being a prostitutesaid she had stacked away enough money by now. |
even once offered her a job as waitress in our restaurant, but she refused. | cannot imagine

A

somebody wanting to harm her. 6

Have you seen anything special yesterday eve
O0Nbitng, Superintendent, nothing at all, but
Have you seen a car driving up to her house?
ONo | havenodét, but her customers wusually par

there, the men walk to heotuse. If somebody spots their car, you see, they can always tell
they had a drink in the Horse Bayard. o

6Have you by chance remarked any wunusual car
60l did see a heavy dark bl ue BMa&ungoenmdner day e
among my guests. This one sparkled like a very new one, but | saw nothing else out of the
ordinaryl 6 m sorry now, but | tbook no note of the
O6Have you seen anyone entering the house wit
60 No | hupevirdend@nt, put t8en, as | said, | also do not watch her house every second!

| look the other way, and | watch my lobby, anddtchmy per sonnel ! 0

6So there is nothing special you can tell me
customers? Youhavert i ced not hing unusual, yesterday?:¢

ONo, nothing specvisiaheri nl tdedaséeernbendothough
6What doctor ?506

0Her doctor! Her doct or, Suerimendentol thipketteatisMr s Bal i
required by the law. Her doctorish e £chevi n of Robois, Miss As
O0Mi ss Ash follows up on Mrs Balin?b

6Yes, she does. She arrived yesterday at abo

She always comes around that time. The two have lunch sometimes in my restaurant, but they
seldom take more than one digh.

6Did they eat in your restaurant yesterday t
O0No, Superintendent, they didndét. | also did
her car was not in the parking | dbveafnly mor e a
have no idea. 0

6How do you know Miss Ash drove on?b5b

6l know her car pretty well. | went out of m
approximately the same spot, a spot where cars cannot park, but | allow her to stop there.
Afteral,she i s a doctor, isndot she®rtHeautc.ad wasn
OFine! We may have to ask you some more ques

Criminal investigation Service of Namur, the SER, may call you to their offices for a
interrogation If you remember anything out of the ordinary, please call me. Could | talk to
Annette, now??9d

616l 1l <call her. Would you please wait here,
6Yes pl eas @ pleabedOfficer Buasy,evhaawotilldkeyokile t o dr i nk ? 6
060A tea would be fine, thank you. 6

Dominique and | went to sit in two huge chairs in a corner of the lobby. We saw the hotel
owner take his phone and we heard him asking for Annette. A little later, the hotel owner
disappeared from his lobland a few moments later he stood beside us with a tray and two

cups of porcelain and a pot of té&ook a sip, found the tea quite refreshing, a jasmine

scented Chinese blend, no doubt, and thanked the owner. Dominique drank, then stood up and
had a lookat the garden. She looked through the window of the lobby in the direction of the
house.
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6The SER seems to be Il eaving,®6 she told me.
ONot everybodheywlistartintefrogdng thee agigdbours.

6Shoul dndét we do that too?d6d Dominique asked
O6No, 6 | said. 61 doubt that wil!l provide us
0Anyway, 6 | griniBERt ,epdowd sstwaltlhi mawe ftetwe days
OWho would refuse you, refladmesklyi nt endent 26 Do mi

When we had drank half a cuptef, a smallgorpulent woman of close to sixty years of age,
dressed in some sort of uniform consisting of a blue shirt and a white blouse, as well as an
oversized apron on her, came out of the lift and stepped like an old penguin into the lobby.
The hoel owner pointed to me.

The woman came closer but kept standing.

She adkled,ou6 ask for me, officer?5o

0l f you ar &lreplred ®@leasessit down. We hdve a few questions to ask you,
nothing that should worry you, though. | @uaperintendent Joseph Bikri and this officer
Domini gue Bussy, my assistant. o

6Yes | am Annette Bivois, and | know you 't
Bal i n, | suppose. Well, | came as usual to
do that twice in the week, always on Tuesday and Friday. Mrs Balin pays me with the rent,
always a montln advance, and | receive my money from Monsieur Francois, the hotel
owner . 0

That made of the cleaning maybe an illegal act, but | let that passmidawcleaningwomen
worked in blackn Robois? Hundreds, | would presume.

(0]

=z O

6l rang at the door, 6 Annette continued, O&ébu
her door was open, Superintendent, which was quite unusual. | supposad sloae thia

this time to |l et me in. | shouted her name,
not in the kitchen, so | shouted again and went upstairs sodidcause | always begin to

clean upstairsand thais alsowhere she keeps the vacuum cleaimeher office. When |

arrived at the top of the stairs | had a look in her bedroom, the door stood open. And then |

saw Magda was still in her bedwkntcloser and | saw all that blood, Superintendent! |

screamed and screameaid | can hear my screamstdl now! It washorrible! The poor

woman!l ran downstairs and then | rang the emergency number. Magda always kept that
number on a piece of paper next to her telep
Annette began to cry and at first dried her eyes with a corner of her, dipea she found a
handkerchief and dabbed that at her eyes.

Dominique did not say a thing, drank her tea, and | waited a while.

0You found her |ying on the bed in her bl ood
6Yes, the poor, poor woman, 6 AnnMagdasSher epeat e
would never say a wrong word to me. She never complained. We had a coffee sometimes, you

know. Prostitutes are human beings too, aren

OMrs Annette, have you not eprevidusdagsy Hakeyaug unu
seen only hein the house 6

(7))

0l saw nothing unusual, Superintendent. Exce
room and in the bathroom. Magda never keeps the lights on in the morning. She looks
carefully after hermoneg, he i s not a spender . 0

6ls it possible those |ights had been burnin
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60h yes, that is possible, if Annette has be

bathroom have windows only on the gardene @amnot se¢he windowsof herbedroom

from the street. Her office has a window o

060So you noticed nothing strange yesterday?

3 not come here on Mondays, Superinten
rooms two half days a weekMagdabs w

o O S

e
S

OHave you noticed anything unusual when vyo
0 No, r e a ledceptthatdhér Haorrwvgs, not closed and that the lights wenrg esntua i r s .
ONell then, thank you, Mrs Bivois. Can you please give your address to the officer here, and
explain how we can reach you if we have furt
00f course, Superintendent!! I want to say ho
Whoever cald do such a thing? She was a prostitote¢ she was a gentle soul, and not a

bitter woman at all. She had money of course, but whoever entered her house to steal from her

u
0

would have to |l eave with empty hands! That s
0What do yd@du vmeas®?,0 Mr s
6Magda had money, of course, a good deal of

told me she kept no money in the house. Her money was on bank accounts, she said, and | did
believe her! | also met her once when | had to go to the bamcagf Robois. She seemed to

be a regular customer, there. o

6Did she have a car?696

ONo, no, she didnét! She .bhekepnhertbicytlairaaskeatk a | o

in the garden. She walked a | ot. o

ores, | suppose s ma vDowli d,i & ule ridindgst, tkegkke,s at m
you, Mrs Bivois You have beemeryh e |l pf ul . 6

O0ANnyt hi ngcailcht han dnartder er, Superintendent!

The woman said goodbye and went back to the lift. The hotel owner looked at us and so |
simply noddedin guise of goodbye. Dominique Bussy and | left the hotel, to see one of the
SERInspectors come to the hotel. He came for the same business as we. We did not speak to
each other, but | waved a goodbye.

The Warrior Gene . Joseph Bikri

It was afternoonvhen | drove home from the Balin murder site. | should have looked for a
light dinner, but the sight of the blood on the bed had coloured my eyes red for the day and
strung my stomach in a tight knot. | would not have been able to push something cemestibl
in my mouth.

At home, | dragged myself upstairs and threw me on my bed. | tried to sleep for an hour or

two. | needed to think, however. | could not catch sleep, of course, so after an hour | went

back downstairs, sat at my table, drew as shega@ér before me, and | beganwrite. The

words came automatically. I wrote a title on
murderd6. Then | wrote the foll owing.

Assumption A. Magda Balin knew her assassin. She was familiar with him as theasmian w
regular customer. She undressed and laid herself docilely on the bed, waiting to receive her
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client. The man did not undress. He stabbed Magda several times, but first he slit her throat.
Arguments against the assumption: this was a crime of patisgovindictive act of an

irascible man, yetery coldly executed, very much premeditated. The man wore gloves. He
slit her throat expertly, then stabbed her almost ritually. He held her back after having cut her
throat. That is very uncommon. There shdud@e been some exchange of arguments, a
dispute with shouts, and a fight. A cdiéaded aggression as happened here is incompatible
with the nature of the people of Robois. @mightkill for money, for power or for passion

here. The two first reasons milie excluded. In a murder out of passion, the murderer would
have left traces, and even surrendered himself to the police. The use of drugs is highly
improbable The murderer must have been a man, for the power of the stabs was high and the
murder too cally executed.

Assumption B. Magda Balin met this client for the first time, or he was not in any case a
regular of her. The man had special desires or feigned something in that order. He asked Balin
to undress, to lay on the bed, and then he killeaviteout any apparent motive but the

pleasure of killing. The last means the man is very dangerous and may kill more. He may be a
serial killer at work.

Arguments against this assumptionnaolhe assumption is very plausible, except for the

fact that gpleasurekiller or a serial killer is at work in Robois. The man must have inspired
confidence in Balin, so she may have known him at least some from before. He may have
drugged Balin.

My two assimptions might not exactly be the right oneseTdcts seerad to point to

assumption B, but assumption A was not to be ruled out. Was there any connection with the
previous assaults on farmers and caravan own
so. Still, Robois had entered a phase of violeaq&hase fosinister violenceand | hated that

as much as cold pudding. Why had this escalation of violence happened to Robois? Were all
the odd, negative events that had happened in Robois these last months purely the effect of
fate, of random coincidence? Hadaldveil of evilbeen hungver Robois? | rather believed
God, Allah, ordained all matters on earth, but why God could call in such bad deeds on a
peaceful town | could not comprehemdy mind was too small and too constricted for being
able to imagine aanswerto such a questiorit was better for my sanity not to continue

thinking in this linel was not a theologian, even not a philosopher.

| decided to return to the hotel Horse Bayard to hear whether anything interesting had been
heard from the SER @pectors. | also had to check on my officers posted around the Balin
house. | drove slowly back to the Horse Bayard and parked my car. | saw the Balin house,
where three of my officers still waited at the door and awhiés-andbluetapes that blocked

the passage of that part of the street. | was quite satisfied to see my men doing their duty.
They looked quite alert, not weary, and they were not surrounded by journalists and
photographers. | guessed the murder of a prostitute was interesting neves, oot ch

shattering enough to send every journalist of the national press to Robois. My men spotted me
from the far and | saw them stiffen.

While | walked past the hotel, | looked along the walls on my right and | saw a man
shovelling in a flower bed ahé end of the longer facade of the building. | would normally

not have noticed a gardener working there, but | suppose my senses had been sharpened by
the light doze at home and by my noteemething did make me notice the gardener, stop and
look. The marwas old and a little bent, but he had skawt curly dark hair, the hair of a

Maghreb man like myself. His skin was also darker than of the usual men of Robois.
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| strolled up to him and felt the eyes of my officers on my back. They muswundered

aboutwhat | was up to now. The gardener wore a blue overall in which he floated, and the
overall was soiled with grease and with green patches of crushed gigdardrieaves. He

must have been way over sixty, yet he was still working here, tall andsléamver bones,

and his short beard was stumpy and grey and patched with white. The man looked at me when
| was still quite a few steps away from him, and he stood straight, leaning on his shovel.

When | had only two st eegistendeot BigribSomethmgtoldneer d e n e
you would come to me, sooner or | ater. How a
6l dm fine, thank you,6 | nodded politely. oD
owel I, Il know you. Who wouldndot know Superin
O0You seememde 20 expect

6l work the | awn and the fl ower beds, here,
what goes on around here. | surmised somebody of the police would ask me what | had seen

of the murder of Magda Balin. o

The man spoke slowly, like an old maiis accent in the French language was awful. |
switched to Arabic.

60Tel | me, what did you see?d

60You must be Moroccan, 6 the man continued. 0
Al gerian from the western si de®elgah. Mydagerscount r
are in y closet at the hotel . 6

060That és fine for you,d | replied calmly. 0We
interrogated you this morning or afternoon a
ONope, 6 the gardener said.

We continued in Arabic.

OWhy not ?606

OFor three reasons, | guess, fnspecloes ofidamur gave m
were smart enough to bother with the gardeder.d s econd, I donbt work

have less than a hdlme job at the hotel. | work here onlythe afternoon. Thinspectors, |
heard from the hotel owner, only stayed till noon. Third, they asked questions to neighbours, a
few people only, and then they returned quit

Magda Balinés! 6

ONobodgganedryou, but you have interesting t
60Yep, 6 the man nodded, quite proud of his pe
OWell , go ahead! 6

0O0Yesterday, | worked here from three o006cl ock
thedoctorw man arrive around four obécl ock. She ca
an hour |l ater. A l|little after that, Mr s Bal i
0Evening wal k?6

oOWell, you know her trade, Suwngpwalkoresomeothérent . S

unholy business, 6 the gardener grinned.

| merely coughed.

6Somewhat before seven, when | was <cl eaning
heavy BMW brought Mrs Balin home. She got out and entered her house. The car parked

behind the hotel and a man got out, went up to the Balin house and pushed against the door.
The door was open. 0

6Did you by any chance have a |l ook at the 1
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6l 6m afraid | didndét, Superintendent. 6
OHow did the man | ok I|ike?0
0Thatstobe difficult part, Superintendent. |

you see. | stood there, behind tpahel | told you | was cleaning my tools there, because the

shed where | keep them is just behineldbrner.l only saw the maget out of the car and

pass the street, but from wHealsoenadeprattysurekde | on
stepped with hi®ackturned to me, and | found that a bit strange at the moment. | was pretty

sure | had seen that man before, though,bu coul dndét r emember when
men rapidly when | see them a few times, also from behind, but this one | did not recall. |

have seen quite a few men enter that house of Mrs Balin. | know a few men you would be
surprised of to hear theiames, but that man | was rather sure he had never yet been to Mrs

Balinds house, at | east not during my workin
have seen his profile. o
OHow did he |l ook Iike from behind?%

6 T a | | amarswithi prominent muscledong head, shoitut dark hair, very close cropped,

broad chest or back. He had the profil@oboxer or of a construction worker, quite

suntannega big man in bones and flesh, yet lean and féslieve he was much younger

than Mrs Balin, maybe ihis thirties | would guess. He wore a silver or steel ring in his ear, a
black /s hi rt, bl ack pull over, bDblack | eather | acsk
OHow did he wal k?6

6Li ke a man with much confidence bpneofhi msel f,
those Amve r i can f i | ms. He wal ked sl owly but stead
He kept his hands in his pockets, swayed a little with his shoulders. He was a white man, not a
black man, no Maghreb man. His skin was very white, but very darkened syrthe places.

His neck remained veisuntanned He wor e boots. 0

6Did that man notice you??~o

6He mi ght fromwouw of hecarrwhembe arrived, but not afterwards. He turned

his back to me when he went to the house. When he was in, he couldexsebawme

anymore, because by then | was in my shed, stacking my tools. Five minutes later | went out

of the hotel on the other side. He coul dnodt
gave no further attention. o
O0Thkkgwmu. Youbve been very helpful. We may cal

officer will come by tomorrow to get your full name and address. That may be a female
of ficer! 6

6That is fine, Superintendent. Remember, | o&m
0 Ysel understood so. Thank you. Please have my card. Would you remember something
more, please feel free to call me . 0

| handed over my card and said goodbye.

| went to the Balin house on the other side of the street. | spoke a while with my officers. It
seemed not many journalists had come in the morning, and even teesafternoon. The

officers assured me they had provided no details about what had happened in the house. |
considered entering the house again, but that would have meant breakindstbétbeaSER.

| decided against that. | sauntered along the house and tried to put as many details as possible
into my mind. Then, | strolled along the hotel. Finally, | went over to a path that bent to the
back of the houses of the street of the Balindao | followed the path behind the little

gardens. | looked at the Balin house from behindalked until | hada good idea of the
surroundings of the murder site.
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What had | learnt so far, | asked myself. If | were to believe literally the words of the
gardener, | could drop my assumptionThe man was maybe not very new to Robois, but he
was no regular customer of Mrs Balkiow had he known her?

Assumption B1 was that the killer had simply picked the woman from the streets that evening.
The man might simply have been prowling around, looking for a victim. He was a compulsive
killer, then.

Assumption B2 was that he knew Balin all right, at leastes How was that? The hotel, |
thought. A man foreign to Robois might have stayed in a hotel, in this hotel, in the Horse
Bayard. Then, the murderer might have seen or heard of Mrs Balin, known she was a loner.
That might also have been why the gardemevkthe man, a former guest at the hotel

remarked only casually a few times.

At that point, | got quite excited. My hypothesis looked plausible. It was so simple, a guest at
the hotel knew a prostitute lived on the other side of the stieadrove slowy through

Robois in search of a victim, moved by the compulsive desire to kill. He saw a sole woman
walking in the centre of Robois, and recognised the Balin prostitute. Maybe he was looking
for her. He took her with him. The simplest assumptions areett b

| was stillsaunteringpbehind the Balin house at that momeérstopped abruptly angn

rapidly back, back to the Horse Bayard. My officers at the Balin door looked at me
astonishingly. They must have wondered what had happened, seeing me rutelikeaer

the street and to the hotelin a hurry, as if | had the devil on my heels.

The hotelowner, Monsieur Frangois, stood again behind his counter. | stopped running only
in front of him, panting like a rhinoceros that had run a marathon. Ighantenuch the man
made big eyed.needed a handkerchief to wipe the sweat off my forehead.

| saidthée&lnamesd of all your guests of the | a
6l have no guest book, Superintendent! d
6You must havdesperataly 6 | shouted

6Dondt get excitedd dseased Buapr+roins enkeihdi n
forward as if to ward me off. 6l meant to sa

computer, here. | can copy an extract from the guest file far\iat data would you like to

have? | have nothing done wrong, Superintendent, my accounts are in order, | have committed
no fraud! o

6l am sure you havenoét,d | consoled the man,
the names and the datesloé people that have stayed in your hotel. Yes, | also would like to

know who paid for the room and who reserved the room, at whatl et all the names,

from out of your most complete file.

OFine, fine, & the owner vatioa datfhe hamk af thepgrsono | g
who reserved when | have th@ihe name of the guest | always have, also the date of the

beginning of his or her stay and untihenhe or she stayed, what the means of payments

were, whicharein cash or with a creditecr d , or i nvoice sent, and ir
the credit card numbers and the names on the card, and the addresses of the invoices if

invoices there havebeeWoul d t hat be all ?06

6Wonderful,6 | c¢cried. O6How | ong will that ta
OWhy yYyowmdbhave a nice drink in our bar, Super

stick for you. | have a program to make extracts as you want, from our booking application,
but I have never tried doing something like you askeavé heally no idea how lognit may

take. I f 1 6m stil/l not r e aidthe barmowhugHlohgerea n hour
wi || take. 0
61 rweuwd layppreciate that, o6 | said.
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6Remember, 6 | threatened, 6l want all the na
Orou can trust me, perintendent. You shall get the full file. | am pleased to be of assistance.
This has something to dddMmmsieurtiranctiseaskBda 6 Y¥au mur d

think the murderer may have been a client of

| grinned, 0 nfgousvanetaremaiR friends-wibhimg, then you had better not

mention ever you gave me that informatibmiantthe lottAnd dondét jump to co

Neverthel ess, |l 611 sign you a paper stating

proposedaseond ago. That should cover you, what e\

60That would cert nly be nice, Superintenden
0

a
to think about it
Monsieur Frangois hung half over the
conspiators.

[
!
counter and whispered to me as if we were old

The hotel owner smiled, o6now that we are fri
6Dondét tell me you have been speeding on the
6No, no, no, nothing of the sort. You see, S

first class or four stars, but my hotel is OK. Lately, it happened thainhmudhed gangs of
youngsters shouted and brawled in my bar, late in the evening. | would appreciate it if once
every while a police car patrolled around the hotel. If your officetdd come in and say

hell o to me, in my bar or restaurant, drinks
O0Monsieur Fran-o0ois,® | exclaimed, genuinely
bar owners would like to see a uniform come closesaitn a ki | ometre fr om t h
6l believe in I aw and order and in the prote

Monsieur Francois added with a now calm, noncommittal face, avoiding my gaze.

| said, Oo6my of fi cer,$promisd. TRy rpag tomeih, bubleanmot o f t e n
have it you bribe them with food and drink.
61 you say s oMonsiurpraencois madded rdeekhyt By then, he was already

hitting the keys on his personal computer.

| went to the bar. | ordered a large glass of white wine. | thought | had deserved that, even if it
would have marked me as a very bad Muslim.

Not twenty minutes later, the hotel owner hurried into the bar, a smile of triumph on his face.
He came to sit neane and slipped me a small memory stick under the table in my right hand.
We felt like old conspirators.

6You have it all i n spreadsheet format, 6 Fr a
agai n. It should work, though. 6
0l thank &olu rsepimued.

Monsieur Francoislosed his eyes for a moment, sniffed, and ledftank my glass of wine,

the memory stick already burning a hole in my pocket. | went to the barkeeper to pay for my
drink, but the man told me the drink was on the housevémheless threw a fiven the

counter.

From the Horse Bayard | drove immediately to the villa of Robert Jacquet. | felt suddenly so
exhilarated that | owned the world and wanted to see Samia Bennani. | was going to invite her
out, now or never'! |l rang at utRmcédmorettheé doord oor t
was open and | pushed it to enter.

Rose was still at her school, but Robert and Samia were in.

| heard a car skid on the gravel behind me, then come to a halt. | turned, and saw the car of
Simone Ash arrive. | waited for her. We wamtogether.

6Joseph! What good augurs bring you to our h
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o

O6No good augurs, |1 6m afraid, | replied, Obu
toget her . |l have to talk to you. o

6Come i n, c o mappertagethel Aré ys hurdgiy?|ean make you a pizza or a
guiche. Which do you prefer?5%6

O60Quiche, 6 I and Simone cried at the same tim
| suddenly remembed | had not eaten anything today but my breakfast. | was ravenous.

0 Qui c hleekswaridtatth la Picarde 6 RobeBvergdbwey én the kitct

We foll owed hi m. Robert put on an apron that
breaking eggs. He stirred in the bowl.

6What was it you wanted to tel!]l us? 06

01 6m s or regyouths, bawerioondan cmur der t hi s morning in

prostitute was killed in her house. She died from knife wounds, nasty knife wdinves.not

a murder perpetrated by a burglar, rather a compulsive murder, a killing for plédeure.

name was Magda Balin. o

Robert continued beating his eggs, but | watched Simone Ash, saw her grow pale and bring a
hand at her mouth. She had kept standing next to Robert and the oven, now she came over and
sat at the kitchen table. Samia Bennani cantkdrkitchen at that moment; she had heard my

last sentence.

| asked softly to Simone, Oyou were her doct
0 Y eSimodeconfimed6| even saw her yesterday afterno
Her voice trembled.

Si mone asked, O6when was she killed?6

I replied cammly, oy e st er day afternoon. 6
Simore Ash grew paler yet. Robert stopped beating the eggs. Samia looked from the one to
the other.

6Poor, poor woman, 6 Simone muttered.
O0Why did you go to Balinbés house yesterday a
6Wait a mi nyuotue !d oWhnagt, alroeseph, i s this an int ¢

| had to smile, for Robert was playing too obviously the protective male, the great grizzly bear
of the woods.

| said, ¢6écalm, calm, Robert! | 6 msgwbBenbneaski ng
enter the Balin house yesterday. l 6m not sup
off the perimeter of the Balin house, but the same kind of questions will be asked to her by the
Inspectors of the SER of Namur in a day or tv
ol abk right, Robert, 6 Simone began.

6Yes, | 6m Magda Balinds doctor. About three

me as President of Adelbert Housing. She wanted to know whether she could appeal for a
social agrtment. | spoke thier. She coul@énter her candidature for a sociabdment, but |

explained to her why there wold be little chance she would be granted an apartment within the
next ten years. All our apartments go to people wihdren, not tovomen living alonewith

incomes of the own. Most of our houses go to families with many children, and then mostly

to immigrant, poor families. The immigration pressure in Belgium is extremely high, also in
Robois. We cannot give apartments to whom we like. We are tied by regulationsebs crit

from the Walloon Region that provides us with the subsidies. Afterwards, she asked me
whether | could be her doctor. | answered | was not a house practice doctor, for | worked in a
hospital. She gave me tens of reasons why she did not want the hextsmoctors of

Robois anymore, and one reason was all the doctors of Robois were male. She kept nagging at
me , insisted | should accept, so | said yes
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6Have you been her regular doctor since thre
0Yes, |l have bheer thaty It woawelk&s. She didnd
her home. She was a prostitute. Medical examinations of prostitutes are adamant, and law. |

checked her on venereal di seases and on HI V,
60f course! What kindBafia?@&oman was she, Ma
Si mone Ah wrung her hands, | ooked down, then

a prostitute years ago. She told me she had very loyal cust@hersaid to me once she

lived like a woman with many lovers, not as a prostitBtee pickedip less and less men

from the steet. She used condoms, or at least that was what she told me, and | tend to believe

her, for she was really clean. | never found her positive on diseases. She was careful. She was

a nice, polite woman. She did not haveaatgctor, no pimp, she was a loner. | think she was

alsoa very lonely woman who liked some of her custonasriequent friends. She told me

she began prostitution at a very young age to pay for the cancer treatment of her father. Her
family was very pooat that time. She lost her mother too, and then she did not know any

other profession. She said she would only have been capable of cleaning offices, and she did

not want to do that. | rather think she was an intelligent woman, but she had to leave school
when she was fourteen. She read books! 't is
6She suffered from knife wounds,d | said. 0S

60h my god, d Simone and Samia excl ai med.

We did not say much more for a while.

OHavenoytouwed anything out of the ordinary, é
might have struck you as odd? Was she more nervous than usually? Did you have the

i mpression something bothered her ?6

O6No, no, nothing of t he seH gesterday, Sohparticwlarly ent i r e
nervous. She was always quite happy to see me. We used to talk. Sometimes we had a light
supper together at the hotel restaurant of thslHo Bayar d, i n front of he
6Yes, 6 | confirmed, 61 know of that.®d

The remarkmade Simone Ash glance at me once more, but she did not ask how | had gotten

that information. | believe she knew. What she told me was in line with my assumption B.

The murder bd come as a total surprise to Balin too.

Simone Ash askeldl,Ledwhexaaoiilsy 3de ki

6l believe she was killed in the evening, a
her up. | cannot really talk much about the details of murder cases until they have been
solved. Sorry!ao

6l understand. Witldrrlogeaet icad | &rdd itne Stoirmony?6
60l dondét think so. A couple of policemen, pr
and ask you the same questions. Pl ease donoét

Inspectors ask that question too, @b feel the need to lie about it. We know each other, we
tal ked casually. o

Robert continued with his eggs.

He said, 6l candét comprehend how one would b
6Hunters kill for pleasure, & Simone remarked
Robet t ur ned. 0Y darrelledshuntingtmogundheginddn the wall in my

study! No, | gudbelonged to myignandfathdr,raadtit is about the only thing |

inherited from him, beside his shootirgpnceal o, I
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year to the benefit of the primary school of Boyu. I cleagee ver y mont h, but |
it I hold it in honour not to inflict unnec
Simone remained silent.

OHunters do killguioe pl éasvuoé, tatem easdH, | sa

you, Robert! We always tend to believe everybody else in the world is quite like us, but that is
not so. All kinds of people exist, also perverts, and killPesisons who can kill in cold blood
or hurt other people without wincing, without feelings of aversion, do éxist.

Simone Ash shuddered.

0There is something |i ke a warrior gene, 6 sh
6What is that?06 Robert asked while he prepar
form.

He contirued working with his back to us. Samia also looked questioningly at Simone.

0 The war r idiscoverd bynngestigadrss i n t he USA, 6 Simone c«
OResearchers were |l ooking for theranetement si mi | i

they found what they sought. Adlerial killers had a gene in common, a gene known to code

for the enzyme monoamirmxidasevariant A, or MVAO-A. The gene was called after the

enzyme itcreated. The gene is also linked to a less active prefrontal cortex. That area is key to
the brain in inhibiting antisocial impulses. The gene seems to be expressed only in white
European Americans when they were also abused as children, so psychcdmtpical f

entered the process of leading to serial killers. The strange thing is that about thirty per cent of
Europeans have that gene in their genaméepnly serial killersand homicide is very rare,

much less than one person in every hundred commitiadgnt actsoverallduring their lives.

MA O-A or monoamine oxidase A is an enzyme that degrades amine neurotransmitters such
as dopamine and serotonin, which play a role in our pleaisward reactions of the brain.

They are substances that make usdeeld when we act socially, when we perform social

acts such as the scout helping an old woman to cross the street. Sematkesrus feel good

when we feel sympathy for other people. It is a reward to the brain for doing social acts, acts
thatwe considegood. A dysfunctional MAGA gene has been correlate with increased
aggression levels in humarLow activity MAO-A seems to be more frequent in populations

that had a history of warfare, so NDAA has been dubbed as the warrior gene, or killer gene.
Boys who carry theM AO-A gene are more likely to form gangs in urban environments and

be among the most violent members, the first

Robert stopped a while moving his hands, the quiche had to wait.

Simone continued.

OA strange, ad, stdted that tha MBd gemgwas foundein higher proportions
among enterprise leaders, among board members and Chief Executive Officers of large
enterprises. The men with M&A were found to be strongly ambitious, very charmimg

social gatherings. Theseem to win general consensus in board meetings, but they prove also
to be very bad performers in the eadthey switch jobs frequently from one company to the
next. They can also be very violent in private, and they totally lack empathy in decisions
concerning personnel, such as for-lafys. People wittdysfunctionaMA O-A seem to have

no empathy or less empathy for other people. Maybe that is exactly why they are hired in
large enterprises and given important positions in corporations. They aréiikessu
mercenaries acting without scrupl es, pitiles

6 That s oundspsyshepathdd tRhoebye rwte rree mar ked.
OPsychopathy is a obhsemnetdal o6dits drsdReychopath&ieneadn en ot
shallow enotions, almost no fear for nothing, high stress tolerance. Theyboes;they
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lack empathy and feelings of guilt. They are impulsive, egocentric, rather irresponsible when
pushed to actions, and they are generally display antisocial behaviour. Riyslaoe not
necessarily violent and rarely psychotic. The interesting thing is, typically there are four times
more people that truly have the profile of psychbpat corporate management than in other
functions. Thats because they asxtremelyambiious. You can recognise them because half

of their colleagues admire them and half of them detest them. Such persons are manipulators,

charming at will, and wutterly ruthless becau
0That exlpcond iurds dal 16,Wee h ahMeading agangpfother h o p a't
psychopdts i n Roboi s. My friends, we have a den

Robert had stopped working entirely at his quiche. He turned back to his dough, however.
O0How do you,Skoe?w iriqleé dt haYou seem to have stu

A

pretty much. 0

Si mone didndét answer straight away. She cros
Seeing her embarrassment, | stlhkagpmuasedbnn, o661 h
saial killers. The results of these studies in medical, biological and psychological results are
still wvery controversial .o

060That they are, 6 Simone acknowl edged.

6Do you actually mean t o s aAO-Antaabe pregdestned e wi t
to beome Kkillers or aggressive managers who care not for inflicting pain and misery on other
pasons wi t hout them feeling any aversion for t
Robert insisted.

0l dondét know, 6 Simone r etpthdgemandthiRgsthat hol ogi c
happened to us when children add powerfullyhteffect of the gene. As Jgsh mentioned,

all that research antsiconclusions remain highly controversial. Cause and effects are always
very difficult to prove with humans. o

O0Bl'y Jesus, 6 Robert excl ai med.

He poured the eggs, the leeks and the pieces of larthetarge, flat form and pushed it into

the oven.

60The quiche wild/l be ready in ten minutes. I
away our gloomy mood. Yoknow, the discovery of such genes is really formidable.

Imagine! Suppose we find a way to eliminate the wrong coding of that@#&ne. That

would mean weouldintroducepropensity forempathy in people artiuseliminate giving

birth to humans who killor pleasure or are violently aggressive. Why, we would be bettering
Goddos creation! The phil osophi-stagderingep | i cati o
could also test the members of corporate boards on psychopathic behaviour and prevent them
from entering management levels where they can h@arm.

(@)}

We laughed.

0Then we would be at OA Clockwork Oranged6 or
Robert chuckl ed, Omaybe. Bndtfightthose gugsed meant i me
0l ndeed, as we have al way surrehityaserjousrodlemic onc |l ud
thatsort o deal with in Robois. o

Simone remained rather sad. She spoke less than usual the rest of the evening. | wondered
what was the matter with her, and libee Robert remarked her unease also. Was Simone a
more sensitive woman than | had thought?

We ate our quiche. |l 6m ashamed to tell I ate
me.She was already at work bettering my manners, something wakestrongly to heart.
Maybe | had less empathy for other people when it cargaithe PicardeThe wine helped
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bringing us into a better mood. Afterwards, Robert chased us out of his kitchen. Simone

remained with him to clean up a little, duiet theywanted to be together and would

probably be embracing behind the closed door
Samia alone to the livingpom.

| dropped into the sofa. | sensed how exhausted | was on this day. | had drunk too much wine,
andeaten too much quiche. Samia sat in a chair in front of me.

| asked,Gamia, | would like to invite you to a supper one of these evenings. Just you and me.
Woul d you | i ke that?86

O0Why Youssouf,d Samia smiled naughtily, d&are
That evening, | did not hesitate. | threw my dice, come what might, and if the dice fell on bad

luck, then at least | knew where | stood.

0Yes, ab deoldra shakingmydead up anddown 6 Ye s , I also woul d
you. 0

If Samia said no now,would commit suicide.

6l thought you would never ask, 6 Samia whisp
you?ob

Samia stood from her chair, came over to the sofa and sat close next to me on the sofa. Our
bodies touchedder hazel eyes flashed.

6ou mi ght want t propksesoftly me t hen, 6 she

We kissed, a long, hard and passionate kiss on the mouth. Samia held her head to a side and |
caressed her neck with one hafille thick, fragrant locks of her hair fell over nvée held

the kiss. | thik we embraced too, until we heard a cough and Robert came into the living

room with Simone after him. Simone grinned a lot.

Samia and | shot away from each other to the farthest sides of the sofa. | had lost my wits
temporarily and Samia panted. Robert asdf he had noticed nothing, but he too kept

grinning and smiling at us for the rest of the evening. We drank another bottle of wine.

Quite | ate, not so sure on my | egs, | stood
should not drive. If my mn organise a road control against alcahddibed drivers this

evening, | shall cause a major scandal in the press tomorrow! But | really must go home. No,

no coffee for me! The first drunken Muslim S
Robert and Simonehided me, Samia frowned, but | had not drunk that much wine at all!

| left the room, waving goodbye to Robert and Simone. Samia followed me to the door and in

the corridor | told her softly | would call her to make arrangements for supper, to which she
nodded. We kissed at the door.

| did not feel inebriated when the cold evening wind tore at my clothes, but | might have

flown to heaven that very moment of that night.
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Chapter 5. July and August

The Civil Protection Find. Joseph Bikri

| handed over the memory stick of Monsieur Francois to Dominique Bussy, asking her to
displaythe list on her screen. | wondered what she would makelqgdrgferred for

Dominique tablunt her teeth on the fil@atherthan put it in my computer and dedanyself
defeated. | felt like a Chinese fearing to lose face. Dominiguege me five minutes later she
was ready, so | walked not too proudly from my office to her desk, not having lost face but
being considered a very busy boss only, and she showedth a broad smile the data nicely
presented on her screéllomen always see through you as if you were transparent!
Dominique was indeed a whi&ad with personal computers and communication networks. |
too can read data from a screen and manipulate,&fit not nearly as well and as fast as
Dominique does, and shadhproven that fact true many times. The format on tlasany

stick was simple, however, she told me. Did | want a copy on paper? How many pages would
that be, | asked. About a hundred awdnty, she said, and that was too much even for me. |
asked her to make me a copy of the file and to come to my personal computer to show me
how | could lak at the electronic data myself. Dominiggrailed triumphantly, my

composure definitely in shamblasaking me feel an ignorant balmpened the spreadsheet
for me, and | bd to acknowledge | too would have been able to do such a simple thing.
Another five minutes later | was diligently looking at the data, scrolling down screen after
screen.

| beganto lookin the month of June, for the file presented the guests in reverse order of time.
| remained an hour riveted to the screen until | had blue eyes, but all the names that paraded
before me were alien. | recognised not one name! | was quite sdrjorisee how many total
strangers had passed through Robois by this humble hotel @presentatives, businessmen
and tourists. They all used the Hotel Bayard to stay for a fewatagsestsf Monsieur

Francois, and declarednuch respect for Monsieurd&ncois, who | began to consider as a
benefactor of humanity. A few names returned several times. | was tempted into asking
Dominique a list of the names that recurred in the list at least two times, but | was generally
quite disappointed at what | saw. @tthad | expected? A name with the comments in the
second column of o6killed Magda Baliné? Yes,
screen had been a murderer, but which of the names was the right one? | scrolled and kept
scrolling through the hundds of names, until I almost got at the beginning of thediline

names of the month of January. Then, | almost fell from my seat, stood up and danced a jig,
which made my colleagues watch me wedeed through the glass windows as if | had gone
mad.

| encountered a breakthrough! At the beginning of the month of January, | found entries for
the names of Blandis, Vantandt, Vrankadtordineand Dusarme. These were the men hired
by Recycfast, the men | had met right after the Georgis Rape. Their nameemthe list,

and the words and the figures almost trembled on the screen. The order for their rooms had
been placed by the company Aeolfast frBmissels. The en had stayed at the Horse Bayard
for a month and a half. The invoiceadlbeen paid monthlgy Recycfast. Why would a
company pay expensive hotel room bills for simple labourer$ofwiabourers and a

director?l found the name of Aeolfast in the reservation of the rooms and the name of
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Recycfast only in the payment bill. Did the men realtyrkvfor Recycfast®hy had the

director been lodged in the sakied of room as the workmen? The Horse Bayard was a
relativelysmall hotel, but not a cheap one. The men had stayed on until a date in February,
and then they had disappeared fribve hotel, ever to return. Well, never to return was a

little harsh to tate. They knewthe bar and the restaurant of the Horse Bayard. Maybe they
had returned there. The food and the drinks were fine, the bar cosy. Maybe they had returned
indeed. They werave menalone in a countryside town. They might have used prostitutes.
Yes, | surmised, but whyould they have useal woman such as Magda Balin? There were
quite afew younger and prettiemore excitingorostitutes in the bars along the N11, though
most of thesdarslay south of Robois, south of Turgoux, on the territory of our neighbouring
villages.

Was | also notising a hammer to find nails? | suspected the group of Recycfast men to be
raiders, professional criminals, but was | right? Suspicions were nogtenamight be too
focused on these men. | passed once more through the entire list, but | came back to the
entries with the names of the Blandeng | highlighted them in yellow in the spreadsheet.

| phoned Dominique Bussy and called her to my offidéen she came in, | sat still bickering

over the names on my screen.

6Dominique, 6 | be®aenyi 6eadodfaogumpiNamuethe He Rec
SER, and ask whether they have any clue on the murderer of Magda Balin? Ask them about

the fingerpints and the DNA samples. Can yi@&li them we are of Robois and we would like

to hear some news. After all, this happened

Domi ni que hesitated. 6éBoss, the SER wil/ not
They cannot do that! 6

6Dmd@t you have a nice boyfriend in the SER?

61 6ll ask, boss, 6 Dominiqgue reddened, O&ébut p
the information you got to any SER officer. o
60f course, 6 | r e kheednptreally appréciatg. at her , whi c

Still, Dominique winked back. She was a more wicked girl thaal expected would have
to remember that. If | knew what the SER was doing, the SER might also know the same of
mel!

| passed a very pleasant evening wittméa Bennanithereafter. We went to a restaurant

called the Lady of the Lake, a restaurant recommended to me byeang Robert Jacquet.

The setting was very romantic, the food excellent, our conversatiomioerand agreeable,

never ending, never wang for subjects. We talked of our families. Samia explained what

she had done in Morocco and why she did not want to return. | might as well have asked her
there and then to marry me, but | thought it more decent to advance slowly and give her some
time 0 get used to me.

Robert had explained all to me about the Lady of the Lake, so that | could act as if | were a
frequent customer of the place. The waiters did not look at me as if | was shit. They actually
served me as if | were a wealthy Belgian of B&ebMaybe they knew me. They were all

smiles and very helpful togmt out the finest dishes on the menu. Afterwards, when we had
to lean backwardsecaus®ur bellies were too large to tuck in straight figures, the bill cut a
black hole in my budget ohé month. Robert had warned me about that too, so when the
waiter presented the small paper to nggahced at it critically and unperturbed to look

whether there were no errors printed on it, and then | definitely impressed Samia by
presenting my creddard on the silver plate.
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We left late as prince and princess, me offering her my arm to steady her, for she had sipped a
little too muchChampagneWe had dined witiChampagneby the way, which had made

more than one head turn our way in the restaugarhia resembled the most seductive, dark
Scheherazade of the Orient; many admiring and envious eyes followed us when we went to
the exit.We returned by the ferry, and | drove Samia back to her temporary home. | knew
where her next home would be!

Samial i ved al one in Robertds | odge vill a. Robe
kissed passionately, and had | insisted I think | might have drawn Samia inside and on to her
bed, but | wanted not to abuse dnightéeotlyatr t 6s h

the door, and she promised to see me again soon. | hoped not really once more at the Lady of
the Lake, for then | would have nesstbelving into my savings account, but | would have

granted Samia everything she wanted framat that timewhat would a man not do to catch

a bird?

Robert Jacquet was on a vacation with his daughter Rose for two weeks frahalyniah.

They first went a week to Euro Disney in France, in MdaA¥allée. Robert wanted to spend

some time alone with his daughter. He nevertheless also would not stafr@awaimone

Ash for long, so he and Simone had agreed that after Euro Disney they would come together

at a hotel of Melun and from there they would visit the Castle of ¥@&Wicomte.

Afterwards,they would drive to the Abbey of Fontevraud and stay theafetheir vacation

there to visit the vast premises of the abbey and later a few Loire River castles around Chinon.
Robert also wanted to visit the Cadre Noir at Saumur, the famous school foritioggeHe

hoped to show Rose what could be done wighfitest horses and the finest horse riders of

France. Rose loved horses. They had reserved tickets for a wonderful evening show at
Saumur. Samia had their addresses with the t
mobile phone number. | was convidceae trip was a kind of test for Robert and Simone to

find out how well Rose might get along with Simone. | crossed my fingers for them. Robert
phoned me a couple of times all was going well, and | assured him that nothing much was
happening in Robois.

Samiaalso phonedthem but we understated the events in
their vacation.

New rumours of corruption and neglect of the interests of the town circulated in Robois, the
rumours once more involving primarily Robert JacquetBibergmestre. Robert did not care
well for his commune. He was often absent, meddling with all sorts of wdreihrew the
townds money o0 ut oadsfwere rnoemaintainedidgeeyvshould, the industry
dwindled, the Bourgmestre neglected thernests of the farmers of Robois. Together with
these rumours, a nervous aceimpaign began, lauding the magenen of Jacquet, tellingn

detail how much & been accomplished by the current Cabinet. Samia and | watched the
rumours and the antumours fomthe far, we dismissed thadbrumours as slanderqusd |

told who might listen to what | saiddas more than happy witm&nergetic, honest
Bourgmestre like Robert. We could do little to stop the rumours. We refutsthtiders

when we heard therkinally, | noted them on a piece of paper, collected them all, and we
decided to show the list to Robert when he and Simone and Rose returned home. That would
be early enough for them to begin worrying.

About that time also, | had to deal with anotherrder case in Robois!
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The BelgianService de Protection Civile a security service depending from the Public

Federal Service of the Interjawith headquarters in Brussels. The operational units of the
service intervene during catastrophes and calassniig calamities they mean events of

nature, such as large inundations or earthquakes. Catastrophes are defined as events due to
human actions, such as chemical or nuclear accidents, train and aeroplane accidents, and so
on. The Civil Protection Service &tivated at the demand of the Governor of the Province,

of the Bourgmestre of a town, of tlezal Fire Brigades or evenf the Superintendent of

Police. The operational unit for Robois was situated in the town of Crisnée, one of the three
operational uits of the region of Namur. Ese three operational units comprise about two
hundred professionals, and theseld be reinforced by about one hundred and fifty

additional volunteers. | had few contacts with the Civil Protection units but for the oc¢asiona
meetings we had with theOfficers. Robois was never inundated, even during the heaviest
storm rain of migssummer, and earthquakes of any magnitude are practicalgxistent in

our territory. In the vast industrial zone of Robois no manufacturingiclaéplants had been
established, we had no nuclear reactors, not even an electrical power station, and also no other
manufacturing premises in which major disasters might happen. We had no deep grottoes in
which speleologistsnight have lost too recklesivers,no streams or rivers that might have

given us major trouble. Our disasters had been sucdgssbatained by our fire brigades.

The Civil Protection Service had therefore almost never operated on our territory.

At the southern end of Turgoux, where the Petiteau suddenly turned east, lay an ancient open
air stone quarry. The exploitation of the quarry had terminated twenty years ago. The site was
left to nature, but it was still dangerous in its steep declivitiesflanks slippery and

unstable. The site wakereforeclosed off by a high fence. The Civil Protection exercised

once every while in the quarry without warning us beforehand, because the site was wild, left
to nature, and the site blocked to the puliiobert Jacquet had a project in mind to transform

the site to a natural park, but the works to that end would be costly, so he had not yet launched
that initiative.

At the end of July, the Civil Protection men decided to use the site for trainingdision

the recuperation of victims of natural disasters. Despite the vacation period, they assembled
about twentyOfficers and volunteers to hold an exercise in the quarry. The day before their
training, a fewOfficers hid three puppets representing twemand a woman at various

places in the quarry. The next day the trainers and their dogs would corhe inainers and

the dogs didndt know whieees ef clathhokthepuppes vdres wer e
given to the dogs to sniff at, and the trainesped the dogs would find in an afternoon all the
supposed corpseBhe men came with a barbecue set and dozens of bottles of beer, hoping to
organise a nice supper in the open afterwards.

The exercise was a complete success. The three puppet corpaédbad found after two

hours of intensive and extensive searches of dogs and men throughout the quarry. The
exercise had even been such a success that not three but four corpses had been discovered!
The last corpse was not a puppet, but the real cofsdead man. The body lay under a

bush in a state of advanced putrefactidtinen he saw the corpseeCivil Protection

volunteer immediately gasped and grabbed his heart, and another man got so violently sick he
fainted. Both men were transported toosital, and the corpse to the morgue in a third
ambulance. The rest of the brigade forgot about their barbecue, the men too shocked to think
of sausageand beer.

The quarry was situated mostly on the territory of Turgoux and only for a very smaii part i
the territory of our southern neighbouring town, batsithat town was quite larger than
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ours, the police of that town was called in to close off the perimeter of where the body was
found. This was not really necessary, for anyhow the entire siteuvasisded by a two

metre hgh fence and a sturdy gate. The gaie ot been forcedrhe gate was locked by a
large padlock for whickhe key could not be foundo the police had to cut the chains. The
first impression was that the found dead man hadoddrover the fence and then he either
fell to his death in the quarry, or hedha cardiac arrest there, or haelltommitted suicide.

| only heard of the corpdée following day, when the Superintendent of our neighbouring
town called He wantedo throwthe corpse back at me, arguing rightly the quarry lay on the
territory of Robois. He and | knew thahee the corpse had already been transported to the
morgue of Namur, both of us had nothing further to do for the case. My friendly neighbour
Superintendet merelypushedmost of the administrative paperwdsckinto my basket.

| decided also to do nothing physically that same day, for it was already late, and it was
raining so much we would have been completely drenched in no time.

The rext day, | drovewith Dominique Bussy to the site. The gate to the quarry was closed,

but no new padlock had é®hung. We could enter the quarry. | cursed a lot for that, for in

the morning paper journalists had already mentioned how the Civil Protection had found more
cadavers than theyad sowed. People curious of the news might endeavour entering the
qguarry. We had a security issue

Dominique and | cautiously advanced into the quarry, and we remarked immediately how
dangerous it was here, for the rains had transfotireegaths into slippery mud tracks. We
followed what wethought were such natural paths, but we slid more than we stepped. We saw
on the other side of the flanks of the quahgwhite-andbluetapes of the police waving in

the wind, so on peril of oundes we skidded to that place, which took us quite some time, of
course to find é nothing.

We merely saw a rectangular space delineated bylite-andbluetapes, the place where

the corpse had been found, and that was all. | hoped the SER inspebtarsuwfthaihad

been calledn had found something more interesting, for we could not but see how many feet
hadtrampled @er the environs. Any previous trace had been erased in the mallsng.

The rain hadlone its work. We found no rests of nothinge Would only look at the desolate
surroundings of the quarry, overgrown with bushes and grasses and thistles, weeds and
beginning trees. We did roam a littlevand, but there was no point in lingering on the site.

We backtracked the way viwad come.

Whenwe arrived at the gate, | phoned for a policeman to come to the gate with two sturdy
padlocks and chains. Then, stitmompanied by Dominique, | walked along the fence to the

left and followed e fencedor about ten minutes, or one kilometre. We turwealked back

to the gate, not sure of what we were looking for, and walked for ten minutes along the other,
the right, side. On this side, a path ran along the fence, and a path that became soon large
enough for a car or even a truck to pass. At the endrofvalk we came on somewhat harder
ground, ad there wefoundwhat looked like very faint impressions of the tires of a car. The
traces seemed fairly recent, so | supposed the traddselen made by the Civil Protection

trucks during one of their earfiexercises, rather than by any other car. We found no hidden,
abandoned car.

What we did find, barely visible, was a part of the fence twisted uptfierground. A man

could have done that to get to the other side of the fence. The fence was ndtdnatywhu
upwards over éttle distance so that one could make a hole of about a metre high between
two pickets. A man could have slid under the fence here, but was that the dead man? | knew
geologists dared to look for crystals in quarries, smafthosemen too might have done this.
Maybe the dead man discovered two days ago had walked on foot to this point, which was at
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least a ondnour walk from the village of Turgoux and even longer from the neighbouring
village. Knowing the propensity for cars of mpgople of Robois, and assuming the persons of
the neighbouring town were equally lazy and used to the large distances in our villages, |
found it more than strange no abandoned car stood somewhere along thi fieacean
hadnot ar r i v eldleyotforeed a holein the fénbeeclnser to the gate?

We went back to our car at the gate, and then we followed the fence by car. We drove almost
the entire circumference of the fence, but we saw no trace of a car. We returned to our offices
in Robois

In the Abbey, | took off my muddy boots and asked Dominique whether she had been able to

call the SER for neson the Magda Balin case.

6l have called,d Dominiqgue replied, O6but the
you directly, though in@nfidence. You can trust him. | promised him all hell if he did not

help usHis name is David Danlois. He is amspector of the SER. Here is his phone

numberd

| phoned the SER a little lateatthe number Dominique gave me. | heard the voice of the

Ingpector who had treated the case of the corpse found in the quarry of Turgoux. | had double
good luck.

0l expecdleldinspeotrtsagdd ! am going to put down t he
private place and call you back.

The line was cancelled. Fiveinutes later, my phone rang.

Ohisisbet t er , 6 s ai Youwahted infoanation abautioar Balin cdard also

about the corpse found in the quarry?ao

6Yes, of cnedurtsoe , rée pll yh.asétle was di sappoisnt ed we
on our territory.o

60That was a mistake, but the Civil Protectio
guarry was situated. Anyhow, there was not m

6What can you share with me?6

6l n theory, not Inisnpge cattoralglr,ion .l OhWwea rad rtehaedy f
was. His wallet had disappeared, or maybe he had takealtet with him, but in a small

side pocket of his jeans we found a little plastic card tugged in deep. That was a member card

of a warehousefd'urgoux. His name was printed on the card. Tha segems to have been

missing since five or six months fratme village south of Turgoux, so we could situate the

case as not for Robois biar the town south of youlhat period of five to six months is

consistent with the state of decomposition of the corpse. It has rained a lot in our region this

spring and summer, so that made it difficult for the doctors to determine around what date the

man has been murdered. We found no traces, which is also nasisgrp view of the time

passed. 0
TheInspector paused.

obid I hear you use the word 6émurderedd?6
6Yes, you heard me right. The autopmwd has be

have noticed that the head of the man haath Benashed in savaly from behind by a heavy

piece of metal owood, a baseball bat or something like that, maybe aclydif Yes, the man

was murdered. We found no traces of any sort, as | mentioned already. The corpse has been

l ying there for t oletid tbenmgn hasbeen killed idsguodkilledlatn o w = w
another place and then been dragged into the
| interjected a question, Ohave you found an
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O6No, we didnodét. We | oomBanddned carr That dtrangthensbmein we f
the belief there was a second man, the murderer probably, or more than one other man, who

wentwithtedead man i nto the quarry, or who dragg
OAnything el se intefeaset wh@g? sbevego®?dbhave any
O0Well, we heard of course that the man had b

but not much was made of that because the guy could just have disappeared, gone on a

vacation, or whatever. He rented a roont,tha owner cle@d out his things, burned or sold

them a few months ago and rented the rooms to somebody else, so we could get mintlues f

that room either. The only maybe interesting item we learned was that theas&nown as

a homosexual. He frequented a gay meinmbds bar
Brussels, worked in a ostructionfirm, but he went from job to job and roamed the country.

We have sent a couple of men to interview his former boskiarmmblleaguesiVe took a

DNA sample of him, but figerprints on the fence musave been deletda timeor polluted

by somany Civil Protection guyshat we decided tabandot he search for fing

61 wal ked al ong t hebdafnedn cle ftooudnady ,ad pll aecxep [wahienr e
tinkered with the fence. One could draw the fence a metre from the ground, about one

kil ometre to the right of the gate. 0

O0We found that opening too, but no traces of
randel eted all traces. 0

OA murder has been committed on Magda Balin,
subject. ONow you have a murder on a homosexX

sexual crimes in the last six months, one not so far frorattiex. Might that ring a bell to

you?ob

Thelnspector hesitated. o0Ilt might. We also tho
being linked, Superintendent. It might also be a coincidence, of course. We asked for a list of
other unsolved murders or raisg persons in the region and in the cities of Brussels, Liége,
Charl eroi and Namur. We are now assembling
6Could | have the results of those enquiri
| added, d6éafter all, both of t hdesitory.mthimkder s
| have a right to know what the people of Robois may be exposed to. If these murders are
linked, we may have a very dangerous person roaming in our ssamningor more
killings.Oo

0 The homo saveheenkilledfaryll wenow anywhere, in Brussels, Liege, Heut
si-Plout, andthen have been brought to your quarrycog r . We dondét jump t oo
conclusions. 0

ONei ther do 1, 6 I liketbhearehaeydu havé found abdutthdsacasevio u |l d
know the terrain, | kn@ my people, | know the town of Robois and its villages best. | might

be of help. Have you found out anythingspecmat t he Balin case?d
Thelnspecto waited. | heard him turn pages.

He sighed and said, Owe mi ghyounestionekthat t el | vy
murder did happen in your town. No, we found nothing. The fingerprints in the Balin house

gave us no new clue, and also nog BNA analysis. The womanad nosexual relations

immediately prior to the murder, which struck us as oddh@e no description of a man

entering the hous#hough we knovwsomebody vent in there. The neighbours gave us nothing

of use. We found no I|Iist of clients in the p
| did not want to withhold information,smals k ed, Ohave you interview
hotei n front o076 Balinds house

S
es
h
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0The gardener? We dondt know webkpolkemtga gar dener

garecner ,ldspetthesai d. o6What is this, have you bee
investgati ons ?60
O0Not at all, 66l mhaselenmesdpodloertewltyhe gardener

patient, gentle and polite, for he is an old man. He has seen a man enter the Balin house late in
the afternoon of the day of the murder. 6
There wasilence on the line.

6The murderer of Magda Balin was not someone
the hotel guests?d

Once more,here was no reaction on the telephone connection.

61 6ll send you a file ofi bhetpeeststobi xheoh

cont i nu e deyouwil find & shriest of namek highlighted in yellow, a group of men

who resided in the hotel in the months of January and February. This group arrived in Robois

in January of this year. They work ircampany called Recycfast, a company situated in

Turgoux. Yes, in Turgoux, the village of the quarry. One of the guys, a man called Blandis,
seems to be the | eader. H e xagtyswhat that manisddingy s p e
in Robois, but wénave been the victims lately of a series of misdeeds, a near rape, caravans

put to fire, farms harassed, all sites that were either in the way of a project of installing a large
number of wind turbines or where people lived who opposed the project. biretuare to

be installed by a company called Aeolfastd Recycfast is one of its parent camigs. What

| give you is only my intimatetuition, but the informatioroincides. My intuition yellst

me those guys are dangerous. One of them may be liakbd murders, even though | doubt

the murders have anything to do with the companies involved in the turbine project. | have

nothing tangible to go on, though, but my sixth serfsevedr you approach or interview or

seriously suspect these men, lwould k e t o hear of the result. 6
The voice on the line became active again.

Thelnspectse of the SER said, o6l heard from coll ea
policeman, Superintendent Bikri, so | am goi
how my bossemightr eact on your intuition, but whatev

with you. What you just told me will find its place in a report. | have your telephone number.

Letsliaseour nf or mati on. 6

Thelnspecto gave me his electronioail address to where | could send the file.

6l appreciate your opennesgsemartkeld your willing

|l smiled at the phone. | t walsspegto o Datnd ohsar | &

keep you abreast of any new findingsah gather in Robois. Please do the same. Putting our

information together might really helpleasebk e c k on t hat Bl andi s guy
t h

A A

ol 611 do that, 6 t h elnspector lsuag ugbauptig , but then e

August defeat. Robert Jacquet

| returned from France to Robois in the beginning of August. My vacation was actually also a
period of work, for | was very anxious to find out how Rose, who grew up rapidly, would
react to me accompanying her in a place of very many people, and to knowwéhaxidd

react to Simone Ash and Simone to her. Could they become confidevdslidrthey be
competitors? All went wellas | had dearly hoped, almost idyllic, but I never let my attention
wander. Rose cared not that people gaped at her in the Eury Breasement park. She was
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also not the only trisomic child who walked around in the various attractions. She began to
take noe of her difference, | remarked, and | sher first distress when she looked at

children like her among the othelsseemed shkad taken less notice of this in her schools.
She took delight in the many, nia#ractions in the park, so she remained more in wonder
and marvel and enchantment at the magic world she entered rather than brooding over her
difference.

After Euro Disng, we drove a little south to Melun, where Simone waited for us in a modern
hotel that lay in a large, green area. The real challenge beganextitay, we visited Vaux
le-Vicomte, where we walked in a sunny day through the gardens, and visited teerastl

the rest of our vacation, Rose seemed to have found a sister, for more than once the two
women formed an alliance to itisvhat they wanted, not what | had planned. In the two hotels
we stayed, in Melun and in the abbey hotel of Fontevraud, | sacved three separate but
contingent rooms. Rose had her own room for herself, but she kept a tight order and did not
roam outside without us knowing where she was. We arrivethl#te afternoonat
Fontevraudhad supper in the hotel restaurant, a filaee in the ancient cloister, and then we
went straight to our rooms.

Af terwards, Si moneds r oSimonemadstelightetin sieepiagdn mu c h
each otherodos arms, the first time we keould d
that. Rose did not seem to noti&mone left early, but Rose one day did sniff up the air

l oudly in my room, remarking Simoneds perfum
place.

Rose and Simone got along well. After the first days, Simone ttatake my hand,

whereupon Rose would grab my other one, but she never complained. She was not jealous

and referred to Simone even mtianto me. A few days later, | dared to put my arm around
Simoneds waist in the middllkutofditdredtdami.n®Ros
have understood. Later still, Simone and | kissed in her presence, but Simone hugged Rose

more often than me.

On the | ast day of our vacati on, Rose asked
new mother ?06

Myheat beat faster when | ansiwenotéodspondfithat may
happens, nothing changes between the two of us. | love you as much as ever. | guess Simone

|l oves you a | ot too. o

600h, |l know she does. Imok hke.bBer . Il would I o

Rose said that ofiandily, but her words constringed my breast. Yes, Rose should have had a
mother around her. She said she lacketbther as if it were the mosatural way of evenis
without pain or reproach

When we drove back to Roboisyas very happy with Rosext to me in the car. | drove to
Chantilly, whereas Simone drove immediately on to Robois imarcar. | wanted to show

Rose the horse tracks, the horse show and the horse museum of Chantilly, and also the bucolic
village beyonl the castleSimone arrived therefore a couple of days earlier than we in Robois.
We did not want the town to know we had been on a holiday together.

In the days after my return | was thrown in burning Helmy absence, amy rumours had

once more beespread about me. | heard of them by the accounts of Joseph Bikri, who had
even noted them one by one on a sheet of paper. He had much to tell me, also about his
investigations. A battle of rumours, good and bad, waged in Robois. | could tell the source of
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the rumourday with Yves Govin and his cronies. My days as Hamlet were over. | had to take
action. | took an entire day to remain pondering in my study. | walked for hours in the forest
of Boyu, thinking, reflecting and deciding on what | had to do awd At a certain moment,

late in the afternoon of the day, | must have had that look in my eyes | had seen in black cats
the moment they jumped on a bird, the sudden look of determination in the tiger before he
breaksfor his killing run.

| called Yves Guin to my office in theAbbey, using as an excuse | wanted to talk over a few

points concerning the commune.

| sat i n myoffileovhen Govie walkedeén@ih a dirty smirk on his face. | sat in

my Bourgmestreds chair anclihadplacedrnyoweB chairrogthee st r e
other side of that table. | watched with a happy smile how he went over to take tlamdeat,
thenremark how low he sat. He was also a rather small hreoted how much he hated

sitting a head lower than me.

He grumbled i mmedi ately, O6we are in the mont
Assembly of the IC Group to accept the decisions of@h@ffice formally. If you do not call

the meeting | shall have to do tléat.

6Call i ng GemegleAs Penb|l yhef | C is not the job of
6That is the privilege of the President of |
Bourgmestrebs office. Donét you think it is

lpont ed with wide open arms at the fine wooder
the painted ceiling, the impressive old oak beams. The room inspired dignity.

| continued, @Gokim foréamagoirg toondke suce dthkt you shall never,

never, as long as | live, sit in this chair, behind this desk, or even ever still have a seat in this

office. | am going to squash you under my boot to mashed potatoes, like the dirty, little, slimy
snail you are that gets fl attened in the mud
Govin blemished and he shot a head straighter in his chair. He grabbed the arms of his chair

as if he wanted to stand higher.

6l know of all the rumours you are spreading
threatening tone, staring straight at hirth flaring eyes, hands flat on the desk.

0 Y ane going to stop spreading those slanderous stories, you and yeappssifted leaders

of a nonexistent party, which is not IC, or | shall drag yowatGourt of Justice for slander in

no time.tbDobétidaereel would hesitate at that.
evidence fron witnesses to prove that you and your three miserable slaves are at the basis of

the rumours. So, Govin, either you stop that, or | am delivering the evidence to the police,

who will love putting you first in our local jail for a few days and then hand you over in

handcuffs to the judges of Namur. You can look up for yourself in the Belgiaal code

how many months in prison you risk for slander, and what charges, betpnetbent

circumstances of the communal elections, | am sure the judges will understand how you
aggravated your cause anchdemn you with even more pleasure. | will also throw test b

lawyers of the country against you and report daily on the advaryceaf r t r i al i n th
6Yau e wrong, 6 Govin hissed, 6the rumwurs hayv
them out yourself by your behaviour. o

o6Li ar! Coward!d | thundered.

| shouted so hard Govin simk back, half a head lower once more. He gidu was going to

hit him.

0l have your name and the names of your fait
witness acounts taken by a notary under oath. Stop pretendinglyomn 6t know about
the rumours originated. They originated from yaursk mi nd! 6
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Govin said nothing. His mindias raging, calculating whether my assertions might be true,
thinking about who might have betrayed hangd how much he risked. | did not let him catch

his breath or come to a conclusion. | kept him on one leg.

0 also know about your cmections to Aeolfast, to the Sieur Buisseyre, and | know of the
publicity campaign Aeolfast began quite a while ago. | know about the terror campaign you
are an accomplice of, and | shall see to it that you getesoned foindulgingin those acts. |

have gathered sufficient evidence to squash you flat with your relations to that company, but
my official accusationwvill have towait until after the electiond shall have gathered enough
evidence to chase that project of turbinesef’er from Roboisand you will disappear with it.

To remain brief today, Govin, if | can still trace one more slander back to you or to your
cronies in the following days, | shall be going straight to the police, and my reasons for doing
so will be publshed on an entire page in the local and federal newspapers of this region,
whether that brings anajor scandal or not to your political party. Have you understood me,
you slimy insect?56

Govin drew his mouth to a thin line of smirk.

60You have notmei.ngloaug airres bl uffing and | ying, €
envious because you know vewgll nobody else but me shall be the next Bourgmestre of
Robois! 6

60And how do achievd hiant?ednd tas ked, smil i ng.

| saw Govin hesitate, his confidenceidwm d |l i ng. 61 am the hea of t
the candi date Bourgmestre of that | ist. 6
6Candi date to whatever, you may be, 6 | snort

Bourgmestre shall be the man or woman who receives most oftégeon his or her name.

Your publicity campaign shall disappear in the shadows of what Wwarmén throw at you,

Govin. For every poster you put up in Robois, | shall pubup and my postewill standin

front of yours and be thrice agd@ as yourdDo you really think | cannot wage war, Govin?

Which farmer, alfriends of mine, wi allow you to pbce aposter on their fielddFor every

man or woman you can speak to in person in Robois, | shall have four people to speak for me.
You seek war, Govin? You will have one, ami¢h battles afRobois has not seen yet! You

may also tell yar friends of Aeolfast that despite their actis of intimidation, | shall never

allow their project of defilement of this beautiful town to happen, not asdsmdjve. Tell

themit will take themtenyears of appeals in the commissions and in the Courts of Justice to
receive a definite no on theroject, and they will never get a yes! There exist so many
possibilities of appeals in this country, up
even heard of them all, and | will use them all, Govin! are challenge me? Beware of my

wr at h! o

| stood up from my chaind shouted so hard at Govin that anybody inAbhbkey could have

heard me.

ONow, 6 | shouted, pointi ngdfiwgetah tame odidesrt ,r edqa
of here! | never want to see you again in this room fdorg as it is my office, you miserable

worm! Do you really think you can rule Robois by extortion, terror, violence and blackmail,

you and your criminalsfromhe company and the party you co
you to the stake, Govin!aod

Govin stood. He left through the daafrthe office of theBourgmestre. | still stood behind my

desk, trembling in anger, until Govin disappeaié®@ s | ammed t he door, but
broke out in hysterical laughter and | sat dowmad no evidence f not hi ng, but G
know that.My words had been calculated and precise, my anger feipskesvly regained

my calmness of mind. My wrath and the outburst of anger had been plahaddvanted to
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inspire Govin with fear and doubt. | had wankeah to lose his sel€onfidence, shatter the

belief that he could get away with his slander campaign, to make him take more care and
therefore become much slower. Whether that would last longer than a few days, | was not
sure of. | thought it would, for Gan was not a very courageous man, not a very intelligent

one either!

My conscience then began to gnaw at me. A few moments ago, | had done and said a lot that
went against my deepest and better convictions. | did not want to use violence and hatred and
humiliation, not even against my worst enemy, yet | had done just that! When would the
retribution come? | had pushed Govin in a corner, like a wild animal. How would he emerge
from that corner? | should expect now even more insidious revenge. Proffés theea

always a sign of weakness. Had | shown myself strong and convincing enough for Govin not
to understand my anger as a loss ofsetftrol?How wouldGovinreact? What would he do?
Would he keep quiet until the elections?

| took a few papers and ¢g@n to read them to divert my attention from the miserable human
that Yves Govin wago more agreeable items.

My second action was to ask for a meeting with Albert Desjardins, the President of the
Communal Interests Group. For IC Group too, the timeighNoon had arrived! | had to

come to a decision about the list of candidates for the elections. Desjardins drove to my villa
in Boyu the next evening. We sat in my livingom, discussingver a beer.

0Al bert, | began, 0we thessubgctofthe aetectiondist.tYau a conc
know that, and | know that, however much we both would like to forget the entire mess. We
cannot butall togethes oon a Gener al Assembly of the |IC

0Yephawe to do that s oo needtheDmadigshavadalready agr ee d
published their lists. The populace are beginning to wonder why we wait. We should come to

a decision. | suppose, however, you will want to change the list as it stands today. | too am not
satisfied with the current list. I@ould be much better off with the nanieghe sequence as

determined byhe Committee of the Wise. The question is how we are going to bring about

the change in the General Assembly. There 1is
o6We wil |l havelt ailgihtead .t d Islalldt h@ave to brir
to push back Govin to the last place. For that, | merely haagkithe Geeral Assembly to

vote forthe list the Committee of the Wise has originally constituted. | propose to do just that.

The issueisof coursewh her | can win that vote. 0
60Theseal ways a risk, 6 Desjardins gave me the
people will vote for you, not for Govin, despite the latest slander campaign against your

person. We have donehat we could to quench the rumours, to refute them, and to

demonstrate howrong they are. It remains always difficulpvirever, to ascertain what

direction a vote takes. Overdllbelieve a majority will vote for what you ask and show

confidence in youWhen that vote is established, Yves Govin and hisadled leaders of the

UD Party willhavelosd ef i ni t el y. I dondét thiingutschhey wi l
endingindi saster, but Yves Govin may | eawv.ed as ye
60ne name more or | ess on our list wildl not
60My fundament al Il ssue with the votes of the

that IC is a group, a movement, not a political pdrgéréts Commuauxhas no official
membership, no paying members, and hence no official list of members. That has not been a
real issue so far, but it will be one at thextnPAssembly. Anybody who is inside the hall shall
have a vote. Even if atake note of the names the people present, whichowld bequite a

job, we will not ke able to refuse entry. | expect Yves Govin and the VDP to use that
weakness fully. Govin will muster people from anywhere, even from adjacent towns, pay
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them for their presence if he@hto, rave them come to the hall and have them vote for him.

We cannot refuse people, for IC has no statutes, no paper says that voters have to reside in our

t own, not even that. We have nothing. It is
O0We <cant diongswot o avoid such a scenario, 6 Des|
to me that people who do not reside in Robois cannot attend to our General Assembly.

Statutes or no statutes, | shall post a few people at the doors and ask for the names of the

people that enter the hall. We shall take note of their names on paper. They will thereby be

known as sympathisers of IC, avoiding members of other parties in our hall. We shall ask for

some piece of identity of the men and women who try to enter. Peoileomewe can

simply |l et walk through. People we donét kno
they cannot do that, weol |l refuse them. The
by publication in our local newspapers. That announcemeningitition only citizens of

Robois can enter the hall to vote.

Second, if Govin can muster people for the voting, so can we. We shall phone all our
sympathisers, and urge them to attend. The r

O6Suppolsesg.oudespite otat edope&WhatDevs || &r gioms t &
0 T h ehdl dé something am going to tell you in confidence, Albert, but which | do not

allow you to spread as news before and during the vote of the General Assembly. If you swear
not to divulge what lamnowgoingsay, t hen you can hear it. o

6l swear to secrecy, 6 Desjardins | aughed.

ofll do not get the confidence of the Assembly of the IC Group, | shall leave the group. | have

had my belly full of the games, setbacks and malitintrigues of schemers and liars. | seek

the confidence of the peopl e. I f | dondét get
leave. It will be sad. It will hurtto stopasjxear term | i ke that, but I
firm.o

6 | nstand entirely your reaction. | expected something like that. But you forget that you

face layer upon layer of confidence, Rob#&u got the confidence of the Committee of the
Wise.You did not get the confidence of ttdfice of IC, but theDffice hadbeen manipulated
and was surprised. You mggt gain the confidence of the Geeal Assembly of IC. There is

still the confidence of the voters of Robois to win. Ultimately, theirs is the only confidence
that counts! With sufficient votes, only one moreevtitan Govin, Govin shall have to
acknowledge his defeat at the elections and let you become olB peMtr g mestr e. 0

6l expect Govin to propose to change that po
declared the only candidate Bourgmestre of IC, wisatthe results of the votes. Tactically,

we must let thatote be cast first. If Govin wins that vote, our proposal to revert to thaf list

the Wise makes no sense anymore. | shall know thestonfidence of the Assemidly

then. | will only have to@nounce my withdrawal frorthe list and IC will have to go to the

elections without me. If however, that vote in favour of Gasirejected, | may expect to win

the vote in favour of the proposal teirstate the list of the Committee of the Wise. Tibat

how we should do. But even if we win the first vote and lose the second, | will have to leave

the 1 C Group. 6

6That would truly be a disaster for 1C,6 Des
OMaybe, o6 | said. o0l am not indisisexassi@bl e, an
shall therharvestwhat itsowed. It should not mourn or regiiéas a result IC loses votesHd

0ln that case, will you |l eave politics forev
conclusion.

®Probablyngt 6 nnbun@ad. okdlkel fogr you, my friend, but |
oppose the IC Group at the elections in that case, for the IC Group headed by Govin, even
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weakened, will be an abominatidrcannot ever accef@ovinin power over Robois. | shall
do whatever it taket® keep Govin from power over this town. | shall probably have to

support the Liberal Party, and | will suppor
60You would prefer a Socialist or a Liberal B
6l woul dy! olpeaamawmdar straight with you in that

0You know, 6 Desj ar di ns otbaHredidentefyhe I€E Glow! f cl os e
anymore by then. | shall resign before the electiongréédie old clan of thé&nited

Democrats combackto power inlC. Many friends will want to follow me. We will have a

bleeding heart, for we will alsaot know for which other lidib vote. The number of blank

votes may get verjigh attheex t el ecti ons. We may even help
60So be it,06 | said.

0 But s uteobs seenadoinsed sot happgen Desj ardins wanted to cc¢
note. o601 61 I except a glass of something stro
We must télt to a lot of peopleintil the General Assembly! There is much work toldow

does one call this? The trumpet call to the

We laughed, and drank our Cognacs. We also scheduled the General Assembly for the
twentieth of August.

The General Assembly of the IC Group of Robois, the group in power in the Cabinet and in
the Cauncil, was to be held in the large hall of the Adelbert Abbey. No other hall in Robois
was large enough to hold the four hundred to five hundred people expected. It would be a
meeting of the utmost importance for the future of Robois, for the survivad ¢€CtGroup,

and also for thé&nited Democratic Party. The people of Robois sensed the tension and the
significance of the assembly, the value of what was at.staley expected a fight, and so we
thought not only the members of IC would turn up but alkat of people in search of
sensation, or simply the curious.

The people indeed showed up in great numbers. | arrived rather lateAftoidng and | was

very lucky to have a reserved parking place as Bourgmestre near my office, for otherwise |
would hare lost much additional time to look for a place in one of the side streets around the
Abbey. Many people were still streaming into the inner court oAtitiey when | walked to

the hall. Many people smiled sympathetically when they saw me come, nodded, ared

a slogan in favour of me, and they pushed me literally in front of them through the open door.
That welcome surprised me much, and cheered me up completely. No reticent faces showed,
no faces turned away from me. | thought we had won a bigoptre battle with that

atmosphere. Was | right in that first, positive impression?

President Desjardins had organised a team of about ten people at the doors to note the names
of everybody who entered. There happened some discussion at the doors péend/pen

refused entry once every while. Desjardiasl also placed a few IC militants who were also
members of the local judo, fiitsu and boxing clubs of Robois at the doors. Desjardins

grinned mischievously when he called on these men to step fotearmine a little closer to

the doors. The man or women who tried to force entry the quickly receded back into the
courtyard, seeing that internal security force. A little farther in the courtyard walked two
policemen in uniform, a third sat in a car ahabile phone, and Joseph Bikri walked as lord

and master, stick in hand, in the abbey courtyard.

| walked to the front rows, shaking hands @anolposng a few nice words to the people |
knew well. Seats had been reserved for the Cabinet Members an& f©otmcillors. | found
a chair and sat. Albert Desjardins nodded at mewétd to si in the middle of the table in
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front, with around him the Secretary and the Treasurer of IC Group. Further to his side sat the
members of the Committee of the Wise. hient my head after a while and noticed the crowd

of people that had come to our hall. The hall had filled. All the chairs and benches were
occupied, and many men stood, leaning agdmestalls. Yet more men and women entered.

Desjardins, the Presidentywous proud of the success, waited way beyond the announced
starting hour. He waited a full twenty minutes over time before he opened the session

officially by tapping on the microphone at his table. When he began to speak, the hall became
as silent as grave, whereas before the noise had been deafening. We all sensed the solemnity
of what was bound to be said and happen.

Desjardins combed hiastblack hair backwards with his fingers, and he began by explaining
how a list of candidates for the electsomad been prepared by the Committee of the Wise of
IC, and how that list had been changed during the meeting of the Lé&aificey He also
reminded everybody of the founding principles of IC, and he recalled the realisations of the
current Cabinet of E@vins and of the IC Councillors. He emphasised the good workalat
been accomplished by IC for Robois. His spdemhdledmany subjects. Each subject was
presened briefly as reminders, but what Desjardins said lasted well over half an hour, a long
introduction, with everybody waiting anxiously for the rest. Then, Desjardins announced the
crux of the evening.

OWe are @gabd hemeeshdetred in the microphone, 6t
elections and on the election program of our moset called Communal Interests. Three
amendments have &eproposed. We have to vote on these amendments.

The first point has been proposed by the Secretary adrtited Democratic party. | remind

you that the IC Group has been founded out of the batised the elections of that party. It

is proposed to change the name of IC Group batktted Democratdartyor UDP.

The seconghoint has been introduced by CabiehevinYves Govin. That point needs

some explanation. The last @fice meeting deaed to place Govin at the head of the list.
Monsieur Govin argues that as head of the list he should also be entitled to be our appointed
candidate Bourgmestre, notwithstanding an article in the election contract to which we also
agreed during the last Conittee meeting, to not call any candidate of our list for

Bourgmestre before the night of the elections proper. Our principle is that the candidate with
the highest score of the list should become Bourgmestre. Yves Govin desires IC Group to
accept him asw candidate Bourgmestre, excluding all other candidates, and even in the

event he does not attain the highest number of votes of our list.

The third point to vote on has been entered to me by our honourable Jean Sauvent. Jean was a
member of our Committeaf the Wise. He proposes to revert as final election list to the list
prepared by the Committee of the Wise, which places Robert Jacquet, our current
Bourgmestre, back at the head of the list instead of Echevin Govin.

The voting will be held by show of hds, unless we are obliged to count, in which case we

wi || di stribute speci al papers to that inten
Albert Desjardins paused a few seconds to let his words sink in.

Then he continued, ¢ IUDdartylo say &few wordsinf&moic r et ar y
the first amendment, after which we will hear some reactions against, and then proceed to the
voting of the poin®

The Secretary spoke briefly. She said the name of IC had been useful to renew the enthusiasm

of theUD Party militants IC Grouphad reached that objective, so that now the group could

revert to its old name. The advantages of that, she claimed, were that the IC members would
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once more be incorporated in a large, national political structure with an administration of
study groupsevents, and access to national and regional political organisations. She called on
all theUDP militants to vote for the proposal. She concluded her speech by telling that for the
independents of IC nothing would change. These persons would find a plbeelisty as

before.

When she finished, Desjardins asked whether there were opposing opinions in the audience. A
few men asked to speak by bringing up their arms, quite rapidly. They expressed largely the
same ideall, merely in other terms, saying th® Party had been in shambles because of
neglect by the national structures when IC had been created by dynamic persons who wanted
to help Robois with more than mere words. Communal Interests was a hame for which the
other parties envied us, because it wa@gsoup whose only aim was serve the benefit of the
citizens of Robois exclusivel{the name of IC also signified an open attitude to various
opinions, though remaining in respect of Christian ideology.

Albert Desjardins then proposed to vote on tbimy asking the persons in favour to show

their hands.

| guessed about one persorfoar or five only brought his or her hand up. ThBesjardins
prompted the persons who wanted to stick to the name and the structure and principles of IC
to showhands Fourfifths of the audience brought up their hands in an overwhelming

majority, andthe point was rejected. Communal Interests would remain Communal Interests.
IC would not be incorporated into thi#d Party structure.

The vote should have made a bvglg for Yves Govin, the tolling of the déebell, but he did

not withdraw his other point. Had he been a fine politician he would have seen the sign on the
walls and stopped there and then.

Albert Desjardins therefore asked Govin to comment on his oepoped point. Govin rose.
Maybe he thought he could convince the audience as yet of what lventas of to bdis

good right. Govin sat on the other side of the centray atlet in the first row like I. He

argued the I@ffice had decided with a largeajority to place him at the head of the election
list. The electorate would expect the first person also to beettdBourgmestre. The list

would winin credibility if he could in his own tracts and in the tracts of the IC Groelp
presented as thefettive leader of the group. Such a declaration would be clear, simgle, an
attract more votes to the list. Had not IC chosen for the best man to head its election
candidates list?

Govindid of course not mention his point had already been rejected Bffibe of leaders

of IC. Already while he spoke, | felt the resentment in the hall, the tension against Govin. The
audience hadot appreciated the coup of t® Party officials to put their hooks back in the
successful IC Group. The atmosphere had thagainst Govimn the assembly, but Govin
seemed oblivious of that mood.

WhenGovin finished, Albert Desjardins askexistentlywhether | wanted to say a few

words against his point. | rose and the crowd quiélibd.people listened in silence to me.

The third amendment, | argued, aimed at reversing the role and place of Yves Govin, for the
proposal was to place him back at the last place, the place of challenger. | heard laughter in
the hall. | reminded that the point proposed by Govin had already&eeted by théC

Office. | expressed the opinion thawas a very democratic principle to have the man or
woman given confidence by the voters to be appoiBtdgmestre, whatever the group
leaders had as preference. Therefore, the choice of Bourgrhes to be left to the voters.

The voters would not understand why the person they thoogsit capable would have to

step aside for a man designated by a few party leaders. | continued byisagisagtrange to

talk already at this stage of the funct of Bourgmestre when the other parties of Robois
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could form a coalition and throw IC back into the opposition. In¢hae, | said, IC would be
the laughing stock of the Robois community for having sold the hide of the bear before the
animal was lain. One had to face the voting community humbly and not make claims to
functions the voters had a right to give one elseMoreover, if Monsieur Govin was the

best man on the list, he should not be afraid of the friendly confrontation with the other
candicates on the list. That last statement drew a grin on many faces.

The vote was cast once more by show of hands, and again only about a fiftAbb#yHall
showed it was in favour afenoting the Bourgmestre before the electi@msvin could of

course pesent himself in his personal tracts as candidate for the function of Bourgmestre, but
he could not claim he was the best man of IC, the man assigned by IC to become the next
Bourgmestre. If IC could form a majority after the next elections, the mantffrattist with

the most votes would be the Bourgmestre.

Desjardins reminded everyone of that result and told again that this principle would be an
article in the election contract all candidates of the list of IC would have to sign.

The last vote was dite election list as presented by the Committee of the Wise. Albert
Desjardins presented the amendment and its consequences. He asked me to say a few words
in favour of the change. | was very brief. | only mentioned the people of Robois would not
understad why a Bourgmestre in function and a very good Echevin, my colleague Nadine
Dumortier, would be demoted to the last place by the Assembly, efH€&eas it was already
widely known in Robois the Committee of the Wise had attributed us the place wedclaime

for the work done. The people of Robois might believe the IC members were dissatisfied with
their own team of Cabinet Echevins. That fact would be detrimental to the IC Group during

the elections. Disavowing people designated for the Cabinet by aglaiitauip meant
acknowledging oneb6s | ack of disceextdllentg, t he
candidates.

Albert Desjardins then asked Yves Govirptead his causandto tell why he believed he

was a better candidate than the present Boestre todadthe IC list. Govin did not stand

up. He let the Secretary of thi Party speak in histead. She lookeat him with scorning

eyes, then she mentioned one by one all the rumoursathaieen spread about me and

Nadine Dumortier. She spokéthe suspicions of fraud and corruptjdhe preference for

extremist, racist and even fascist grobasging above my headand she told the realisations

of the present Cabinet could have been a | ot

A few, angy shouts accompanied her when she brought forward her allegations of fraud. |
seethed, but Nadine Dumortier sprang up on her chair before | could open my mouth, and she
shouted the Secretary was a liar. She yelled without restraint that the rumoursabpread

her and the Bourgmestre had only Govin b2lleaders as source, which was a dirty scandal
aimed to disgrace us to the voters. Nadiitenotlet not the Secretary continughe

screamed higher, and skeumerated all the fine realisations of thé@at, which she

counted on the fingers of both hands. She-sh@uted the Secretary, so that the woman

could not continue her slanderous speé&cn.a moment | considered drawing the Secretary to
a Court of Justice for slander in public, but | remair@dcg¢impassive, and admired how

with justified anger Nadine Dumortier demolished tHaP Secretary. After Nadine

Dumortier, Jean Sauvent rose from the audience. He also shouted his outrage at the
allegations. He was a member of the Committee of the Wesardued, and never would that
Committee have assigned Robert Jacquet had they for one second believed in the rumours.
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| waved at Sauvent to stop, but he cried, o6n
how deeply hurt | feel having to listéa how the front figures of our group are thus

slandered, an honest man and woman, and thereby a Cabinet that has worked so hard and so
conscientiously these last years in so many fine initiatives for our tamnshame on you,

members of IC antIDP, who do not fight to refute these allegations against our own best
representatives. You are sawing the tree bra
how stupid it would be to discredit our fine
Sauvent became very red hretface, and | feared the man would collapse in his place, but he

spoke to the end and then sank down, visibly exhausted. The words of Nadine and Jean were

met by an awkward silence.

Albert Desjardins proposed then to vote for the list as prepared Bpthenittee of the Wise.

The proposal was accepted by a very large majority of vbtese than foufifths of the

audience wanted me back at the head of the election list of the IC Group and Nadine come in
second.

At that final verdict, their cause defeat&tyes Govin and a few members of th® Party

stood up from their chairs and left tAbbeyHall. They hadotally lost face and authority in

IC.

The General Assembly continued. A beaming Albert Desjardins explained the major
campaign actions and the organisation of the campaign. The IC Group would form a team to
elaborate tracts, and these tracts would show a group photo of the candidatestd he trac
would be distributed in all the letter boxes of Robois. IC disposed of sufficient funds to place
advertisements in the local newspapers. Desjardins would lead the campaign effort. He
presented also the election contract to be signed by all candidatiesy that the signatures

had to be presented to him, the President of IC, within a fortnight, so that the list of candidates
could be presented officially to the press somewhtitee beginning of September.

Candidates who refused to sign the contramtld be excluded from the list. The audience

agreed with a thundering applause.

When the session was declared terminated by Albert Desjardins, tens of people sprang to me
congratulaing me with the result of the voting. As by miracle, Nadine Dumortmadsby my

side, and we were considered tleedes of the evening. Yes, | said, Nadine and | would
campaign together, for | thought her a fine Cabkfattevin and | meant thaNadine showed

her largest smile and nodded. We shook hands, kissed our filendéalloon way, and made

our exit under cheers.

I lingered in theAbbey courtyardifterwardstaking finally a good grasp of fresh air, looking

at the stars of fortune high above, thanking the saints for our victory, Albert Desjardins came

up to me. Wavere accompanied by a very enthusiastic bunch of sympathisers.

| shook Desjardinsd hand.

61 must t hank eyperuway ydu handledtthjseating. Thartk loa also for

your per pet ua ldNithaupypupl might ldavelababdengdtimght. You

inspired me with the courage to hold on. I d
and totally in so short a time. That too is a lesson for me. How can the General Assembly

have made decisions so different from@fice of Leader s?06

0There are two items, 0 Desjardins replied. 0
of a group can be entirely different from the opinions of the common people. Leaders and
intellectuals think, and in the thinking they can become confusaidsd\with the dowato-

earth common views. | always respected the views of the people, rather than those of the elite,
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also in our party. Our leaders got caught by surprise the last time. They had time to hear the
common people, the largest opinion. Thatda them think more, and change their views.

They are not too proud of themselves, now, but they did the rightiththg endfor they set

matters straightGovin has been exposed for what he is worth, and that is not much. Second,

your tractwasamastr pi ece of ti ming! o

0What tract are you talking about?d | asked.
6What tract? This tract! o

Desjardins drew out of his pocket a single sheet of paper printed on both sides in black, no
colour. The paper looked as if it had been printed with a laser poindgpersonal computer. |

took the sheet, plied it open, and saw on one side a refutation of all the slanders of fraud
brought against me, the truth explained about each act. That paragraph was followed by a list
of the fine realisations of the present®eet of Robois, assigned to mycellent

management of the administration of Robois. On the other side of the paper stood a stylised
drawing of the Castle of Trioteignes, and an extract from the archives of the castle of the year
1940, a text calling Alai Jacquet a hero of Trioteignes. | read in old words how my
grandfather had helped to protect Trioteignes against German threats, and how he had helped
Jewish people hide in the village during the war. The rest of the paper was an enthusiastically
written eulogy of my person, character and deeds.

Albert Desjardins noticed my surprise as | read the paper.

6Dondét tell me you havenodt seen this!d he ex
6l assure you | dirsdiméltset eydslorbtiesrtract. Lodkhthes i s t he
responsible di t or i s not me, but a namee donodt re
Collecti ved, whatever rihmtae¢diiss tmat tbfe Blhdreasst
6The Trioteignes obviously I|like you and trus
distributed ly hand in all the letter boxes of the mendwrIC. | wonder how that collective

laid its hands onalist of militants ofourseven | donét have duch a co

knowtheyoungpeoplef Tr i ot eignes distri butddadghterce pape
of the villages of Trioteignes and Blouges, for my friends have seen them whilsdareey

doingit. The Trioteignes have mon@ythreefourths of the companies with buildings in the

industrial zone of Robois. The Trioteignes are quiet pebpleconsidered very solid. The

people of Robois have concluded that Trioteignes and Blouges suppofngbwhen those

families support you, you have a considerable power behind you. You cannot but be an honest
man, for otherwise you would not hareeeivedthe confidence of the Trioteignes. The

arguments of Govin and his cronies have been discredited, rejected, wrongn and his
arguments have backlashed at him this evenin
| was more surprised than Albert Desjjais, and Albert laughed and grinned at my

discomfiture. Yes, Trioteignes could prepare a few surprises of its own. | had not been alone

in my battle. | too laughed then, and we embraced. We shouted that who loved us would have

to follow us, and we drovetthe bar of the Horse Bayald. di dndét know t hat b:
well, but Joseph Bikri recommended it to rdée celebrated our victory there.

Monsieur Francois in person ordered the bar to be held open to deep in the night, as long as
we di d nrpleasuwceroyt tomloudly. He served the drinks himself when his barmen went
home. | guess somebody called the police for the noise in the bar, but the only @olicam
came was Joseph Bikri in normal costume, not in uniform, and he was receivecevstbfje

joy rather than with featHe sang our songs of victory as loudly as e .joined us and we
continued till very late in the night.
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At the endof the improvised feastve sat only Desjardins, Joseponsieur Francgois and | at
a table utterly exhaustedbut happyWe needed a catharsis for the tension of that memorable
evening.

The Turgoux Case Joseph Bikri

| could not be present at the great victory of my friend and confident Robert Jacquet in the
hall of the Adelbert Abbey, but | feastadth him in the Horse Bayard. The orgy lasted until
very late in the night, early in the morning, and | suffered from a very heavy head afterwards.
Monsieur Frangois, who assured us he had remained sober, a statement which | chose to
believe, drove me arilobert to our homes. Our cars remained on the parking of the hotel.

A terrible headache racked nmethe morning and my stomadecided to send theine and

snacks to theontrarydirectionof the natural ond needed the walk dioot to my office. |

was still not thoroughly the normal alert man when DominiBussy ran into my office in

the early afternoon.

06Boss! 6 she cried, -Dakengoahld ihembheblksaiaof
murder on our hands! A woman has been killed in Turgbb®.emergency call centre passed
the message to us. 0

6Thehawe to go,6 | said reluctantly, Oyou
Dominique was already at her phone, giving instructions in my name. It is interesting to have
somebody who knows you bet than yourself in your vicinityfdow would| survive without
Dominique? Why did | not marry her instead of that dark Samie had enchanted me?
6Shoul dthé PBEBEBAS Dominique asked.

O0Not yet, 6 | shot back t o edlehappened\Wee nmassage f i
may have been a joke. 0

| hoped for the best, that morning.

We drove to Turgoux. Dominique followed the instructions of the GPS system in hker car.
should have such a system installed in my car too, | thought. | did not like, though, a metallic
female voice from a computer telling me what to do with my life. Too many women in flesh
already told me that.

The murder or accident had happened ineeswf fine, luxurious, grand, shining white villas

in a green zone not far from the N11. | forbade Dominigque to blast a siren. We arrived with

flaring blue lights on our car, Dominique always liking some decorum, and we drove into a

gravelled path pastlagh fence gate, to the front of a villa where about five people waited for
us. Several people tried to console a small woman who shook with weldpingeeping

sadly augmented when our police car drove by.

We got out of our car, Dominique elegantly aqpuckly, | rather laboriously. Dominique
immediately jumped on to the weeping woman.

She said softly, 6hi, Madame, I am Officer
happened?d

An elderly man in a white shirt, who supported the weeping woman, a rttaa Wig paunch

t hat hung over his trousers and with a very

neighbour, the neighbour to the right, there. My wife is a friend of the woman who lives in the
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villa next doorsthis villa, here My wife wanted to pya visitto her friend. The husband of

our neighbour died a few months ago, so my wife camesto talk to our neighbour almost
once every day. My wife found the door of the villa half open and she went inside. She
shouted the name of our neighbour, bedrd nothing, so she went on. She found our
neighbour lying in the livingoom in a large pool of blood. It is a horrible sight, officer, all
that blood! My wife screamed and screamed and ran out of the house gripped by panic. |
head the screaming aname to here. My wife told me what had happened, so | too went in
to have a look. Then, | called the emergency service from my mobile phone. | always have

A

my mobile phone with me. 0

| had drawn myself with much courage to next to the man, and asked, ntmlthegveeping

woman, Ois this your wife? My name, by the w
0Yes, Superintendent.shdémkaframdwbhhe sheshask
0So much armd otbhvdatouiss qui te undealgdahamedabl e. L
webll take over from here. Have a nalilee cup o

thing, rest awhiletry to relax, and within half an hour we will come to your house and hear

your storyat your ease. Try to remember everythyog saw. Does that suit y@iVe are

grateful for your help, but now we have to block this house off and start our investigation. |

would only like to know your names for now, and thename t he vi ctim, pl eas
OMy name is Victor tCanamd brey twi fSafpse rn aanrhee nids n
Labi, and the womamt he house is called Marianne Tamin
6Thank you so much, 6 | said, taking the man
path out of the villa.

ONow, please, 6yeu alhle, @ oll ilxeg gebVa ategoingmr k ! Pl
take over from here. If somebody of you has seen or heard anything in or around this villa,

please give your names to officer Dominighere. Otherwise, please go home! Thgou

for your cooperation! We appreciated your <co
The people began to leave, and apparently nobody had seen anything of value, for they all

left. The people remained talking in the street.

6Boss, 6 Domini gue wh stasbpaed; youwt $h is &tijl @panrat theineck h a n g s
by two buttons, and your shirt drops out of your pants. Draw your jacketaighiou forgot

yourcapinthecaAl so, your stomach grumbles | i ke a s
you something toa today®
6Domi ni que, thank you. 1 6dm sorry. We feasted
yesterday. 06
o0Yes, |l know, 6 Dominiqgque replied. O0The night

because you made so much noise the entire town ofikobold hear you. They supposed it

was the Bourgmestr@hey heard of the IC meetirigo! Yves Govin got licked by Robert

Jacquet. If you were among that lot in the Horse Bayai@,d say you athdy t hey
did not interveneYou would have beeforced to invite them to join you. A fine image you

give of the police to the good people of Rolis.

ONe intimately share the sorrows and joys of our citizens, DominiRabkért Jacquet is my

best friend, 6 I dared to propose as an excus
0l know.enHKisne ofur have, Superintendent, 0 Domir
6You women dondét know what it is to have fri
00h but we do, we do, Supanestaond endent. My dad
6Your dad was a polbd mestdvieHemnerlie r ,6 Heen ¢ ea ofmnreen da

to take special careofyou You shoul d respect your dad! o
0 H ashiffied Dominique Bussyndshehurriedoutin front of me.
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While | brought order in my accoutrement, two police cars with my men in it arrived. |
appreciated the r&forcements. | asked them to block the villa and to direct the people farther
away. Tlen, accompanied by Dominique, | entered the house. The walls of the villa were pure
white, spotlesslywhitewashedn the outside, and the garden in frarsiswell maintaned. |

could discover no weeds, but then, there exist weeds | often confuse with real useful plants,
and vice versa. In the corridor behind the door we found fine, old furniture, expensive vases
which | made a mental note of to avoid, and nice paintinge® walls, no reproductionthe

real stuff. Wealthy people lived in this villa! Or had lived. We stepped from a large side door
of the corridor, a glass door, right into a spacious Inrmgm, which was furbished with what
looked like yet other antiquan furniture, massive oak and mahogany cupboards, fine
paintings of landscapes on the walls, a large leather sofa and two leather chairs, and an
expensive home cinema installation of electronic devices around a huge television screen. A
splendid bluesik Chinese tapestry laygn the ground. On that tapestry stood an exquisite

low, black laquerel table with a glass top, and between taate and the television set lay a
woman. She was fully dressed, but part of her robe was drawn up a littledrdegs. She

lay with her head on the tapestry, her back to us, and her head rested sideways in a large pool
of coagulated blood that would certainly ruin the silk tapestry forever.

My stomach turned, so |I | ooked away. Dominigqg
stomach like a cement mixer, while mine was of a more delicate nature that day.

The woman wore a dss of red flowers on a white background. We saw her throat was cut.

We touched nothing, turned only a little around the woman, did not really step on the tapestry.
0This is the same kind of murder as the one
nodded.

| was quite sober by that time. Crimes have that effect on mesialfpsuch ones as we saw

here.

6lt i s not exactl y o6tThhei ss awoeamEastitetestqugiodlsoad i s agr
somewhat elderly woman, older than Magda Balin, | guess. She is not naked, but look, her

dress lies high up. She may have beemp e d . Do you see any sharp
O6No, nothing, boss. | already |l ooked for tha
Maybe the woman knew her assassin. 6

Dominique knelt and looked carefully under the sofa and under the chairs. Site e

corners of the room and looked there too.

O0No knife here, Superintendent, 6 Dominique a
house! d

When Dominique has something on her mind, it can be difficult to make her change opinions.

0A fighg ereemr,ed hla remarked. 6l can see the m
chair, here. No vases or objects are standing anywhere in this room, a wise decision, so maybe
that is why the place looks so tidy and untouched. Forensics may find some DNA of the

murderer on her fingernalils. | think we should call the SER now, Dominique. Can you call

your I nspector Danl ois now?5d

OHe is not my Inspector Danlois yet, 6 Domini
him nevertheless. 6

While Dominique phonedwent out of the livinggoom to venture into the adjacent dining

room and then into the kitchen. | found these rooms equally tidy, the sign abvdell

people. From the kitchen | reached again the corridor. The corridor apparently passed through
the entie length of the villa. | wanted to open the door to theklgarden, the door at the end

but that door was still closed. | remembered too late | should have put on gloves. | found a
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pair in my jacketnd put thenon, turned the key that stood in the Ipokened, peered

outside, and saw a lawn surrounded by beds of plants and flowers and bushes. Two wooden
rocking chairs stood around a table. | closed the door again, turnkeytte, and walked to

the stairs.

| went upstairs. | came on a landing wiltinee closed doomnd another staircase leading to

the attic The first door led to a large bedroom with nimgak furniture, ad a fine view on the
back garden. In the far | could distinguisinough a hazéhe low, square buildings of the
industrial zoe of Turgoux, but in betweday extended vast fields of corn. The corn stood
high, itsstalks gently swaying in the afternoon breeze. | detected no corridors in the corn, no
car or other vehicle could have passed there. A man might have walked in theutdine
distance was far, and with the door to the back garden still closed from the inside, the
murderer must have come from the street.

The second door was an equally vast bathroom, nicely cleaned, no sign of a fight in here. The
third door led to amall corridor that brought me to yet two more rooms. | first discovered
another bedroom and then, on the far end, a large room that had been used as an office. Here
stood a table with a powerful personal computer, and a stereo installation of an expensive
brand. Against the wall stood bookcases with books on history and philosophy. Next to that
room | found another, smaller room, filled also with bookcases along the wall and in the
middle, almost a library.

| went back to the first bedroom. | opened a tawers and found one drawer in front of the

bed filled with jewel boxes, the jewels still neatly displayed in their velvet liningmdther

drawer | saw a wallet and a thick packet of banknotes, notes of fifty and twenty Euro. Any
thief would have foud those in five minutes. In the wallet, which | took out with two fingers,

| found two credit cards. | looked around, opened drawers and cupboards, but saw nothing
interesting except the obvious signs of wealth and opulence. | went back down the stairs. |
saw a |l adydés handbag stand on a side tabl e i
in there,no banknotesSome moneynight have beestolenfrom that bagThe murderer had

not sought through the house.

Dominique Bussy stood at the door, taliito the other officers.

oAl I right, Dominiqgue, 6 | said to her, o661 etod
then our job will be over for the day. o
Dominique threw me a reproaching glance, but she also nodded and accompanied me to the
neighlouring villa. This villa was almost the twin example of the one in which we had found

the victim, probably constructed by the same entrepreneur, which might well have been
Robert Jradmngéhe ek f i

The same man to whom | had talked next dopened. He invited us in to his livirgom,

where his wife sat on a chair, very straight, still dabbing at her eyes with a handkerchief. She

was a small woman, but her face was nice and still beautiful for her age, with fine auburn hair

in curls, browreyes, thin lips. She had changed from her bright summer dress into a black

silk dress, more appropriate for the circumstances, | remarked.

OWe set some coffee, Superintendent, & her hu
cup with us?56

| nodded tlankfully. I could need another pot of coffee tafternoon Dominique once more

scolded me with her eyes.

She said to the man, o106l I come with you to
me alone with the woman.

René Dewil © Copyright Number of word83629 July - December 2012




Aeolus Pads8/ 208 |

61 am t er r iabHappensdaa youy friehd) Mrs @ahdribert. | would like to know
whether you have seen or heard anything special yesterday afternoon or in the evening or
duringthenighftat t he house of your friend?5%6

ONot much, SuperintendendandlWegoaarleto bepdandsweo ner s
are good sleepers. We were friends of the Tamins, very good friends indeed. My husband and
l, we were teachers, you know, and Mariannebo

pensioner . My h u s bbaml,dhowgmvery dfferent ia aharaztérsgot lalong
very well. They both enjoyed a glass of wine. Marianne was quite a few years younger than
her husband. Marianne still works. She is a nurse in Brussels. She works odd hours, because
she is the Director af department of nurses at her hospital. She also does night shifts now
and then, though less than before. She is raallge person. Her husband died five months

ago. He died of a brain tumour. He died very rapidly, and that came as a terrible simck to

for we were quite close. We went on holidays together, our husbahed together. We had

been to Djerba together in October of last year, and we were planning for a trip to Turkey in

Autumn, maybe for a cruise in the Adriatic.
0 S o di nottheamny special noise yesterday, you saw nothing out of the ordinary around
your friendbs villa?d

O0No, Il didnoét . | heard her drive into her vi

garage door and take the car immediately into the garage. Shes aligakiat. She rarely left

her car outdoors at night. She could have opened her garage door from out of her car, but she
told me her remote control did not work anymore, so she had to tapesecode on the

pad. | heard her drive in. She closed theaga door. That would haveade me stop worry

about her. She was safe in! That is al/l Il re
O0You heamdrmamg&ld
60h no, not at all! I forgot, yes, Marianne

is even connected by phone to d cantre, but the siren did not go off. We know that siren,

my husband and I, for she tries it out every month. She always tells us beforehand when she

tests her alarm system, and | can assure you the entire street hears that siren of hers! No,
yesterdaythat siren did not blow! When Marianne is out, she always activates the alarms.
Alsoatnightbut t hen she only activates the al ar ms
6Did other people but you visit your friend?
6Very rarely, Supeasonand adadgbter tiving ilvBrussels, hitvass h a
usually she who visited them, not they her. She said she preferred to be cooked for than to

cook herself! A good cook she is not. Her children are nice people, though. We always see

them at Christmas and NeweYar . We have no children, my hus

A

and girl were |ike children to us too. 6

At that moment, Victor Candribert and Dominique entered the huaagn. Dominique wore

a large wooden tray with a coffee pot, cream, sugar, and the dwgpsoffee steamed. My
stomach lurched at the sight. Victor trotted behind her. The Candriberts took yet another cup
of coffee with us. Victor had of course forgotten the cakes, so he was scolded by his wife and
whipped back into the kitchen. He went, aathe back two seconds later with a plate of

sliced cake. Dominique said thank you to the offer, | sunk my teeth in the delicious treats.
Christine Candribert served the coffee.

While sipping the very hot coffee as if | was finally reborn into the land wiams, | repeated

my question to the Candriberts, 6do you know
even female friends | ately?56
O6No, no,6 Mrs Candribert answered impatientl

were the only friends she ®geed in her house. She had no friends, no new friends either, at
least not that we knew of, and Marianne would have told me right away of such encounters.
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She was a very dignified person, Marianne, very well educated. She had her work, and that

matteredmch t o her. Her coll eagues all l'ive 1 n |
| then addressed Victor Candribert, asking,
anything out of the ordinary yesterday, or m
oWel | , S uper i nt e nitdteeretwas something yduo.u wanagemnwthetherrit

may ha something to do with what we found
t hat struck me as strange, indeed. 0

60What was that?d | wurged him on, Wpiting in m

0You may have neits cacdt wallrl ysta edeetadheand, 6 Vi cf
IS a very quiet street, one of the reasons we came to buildTliere. is a roundabout a few

villas farther, so you can turn back but not drive on. Beyomde t he f ar mer s 6 f i e
afternoon lwas tending my garden, jusbing some raking beside the house, and | saw a man

walking slowly in our street. | first saw him a while off, then he came up to here. He looked to

right and left as if he @restudying our villas. He was still young, late twenties, maybe early

thirties, and | wondered what he was doing here instead of aeimgrk. He was nobody |

knew, not one of the neighbours, and | know everyone in this stregisHvalked, hands on

his bak, to and fro even, forsaw himwalk towards the end of our road and come back a

little later. | wondered whether | should go up to the man and ask himewhetlvas looking

for something or somebody, but then our telephone rang, my brother wasphotiee and |

A

we nt i nside. 0

OWhat time was that?6

6Somewhat before five, maybe four thirty 1in
OWas it the first time you saw that man?2é6
6Actually no, now | come to think of it! | s
strolling along he beginning of our street, but still on t&1,and | have seen him before on

the N11 itself. He must | ive in the neighbou

60Could you describe him?5o
6He was a young man, <hesteo rdgssedimdlack, plackleather| e s ,

jacketanddarkb | ue | eans. Nice jacket, not one |i ke
it. He had a heavy, square face, black hair, dark eyes, clean shavemk ed nose. 0
6Thank you. | have ndterwetc emalrtEinmruettdeet keits ,d eb

SER, may still call you in to ask you some questions too. Would you collaborate in making a
robot portrait of that man?6
61 coul d tryl, dSudpnedrti nsteeen dtehnet .man from cl ose |

There was nothing more | might have asked of the Candribsttsod up, thanked the

couple, and I went back with Dominique to the villa of the crime.

Domini que whispered t o mendentoThdnean Saadhgdithes ar r i
door is Inspector Danlois. 6

Dominique put up her nicest smile.

60h you greatugdy€ceoparrayoul thought.

| looked at Dominique. | would meet her beau for the first time.

Danlois was a fine young Inspector his early thirties. He was very handsome in a very
male way and he looked seriously at us. He said hello to me and gavermeyagfiof hands.
Dominique introduced me to him. Hiack was brightof oneused to smile amiably, but not

to laugh. His eyeglowed darkly and penetrating, but here was still a lot of innocence,
expectatiorand youth in them. Hevasdressed casually but smartly, in a cream shirt, nice
brown tie and dark blue costume of trousers and jacket. He too wasdhrestdd. | thought
hemust have no difficulty at alh charming Dominique, for he was more handsome than any
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policeman in mysquad. But then, Dominique out of uniform and in a dress, was quite a girl
too!

Danl oi s s a iardived, Superifieaderd. My hosstsends nt@eéooutskirts of

Namur, now. Young &n must drivehe says. What is this with Robois? | am beginning to
know your town by heart. Robois draws crime to it, | believe! Ohitalmawsin the
journalists too! 6

At that moment indeed, three cars of the pegased at full speedl'hey screeched to a halt
nearby.Journalists and photographers began to run in the street. Two journalists we both
knew began to ask wghat had happened, and Danlois hurried off so that it was to me to
explain whaever lwanted to ay. | saw him disappear inside. Hiel notlike journalists too
much Danlois My message was brief. | saacheinous murder had been committed, amd
investigation was orThen also the camera team of the local television station arrived, and
they broughtheir camera oa shoulder and started to shoot. A journalist came to me with a
microphone. | repeated my message. To add to the chaos, the ambulance drove to us. The
journalists were distracted by the sound and the lights of the white and red cae, but t
cameraman continued to poattme and themt the ambulance. They would haveexciting
story for this evening. | asked my men to clear the entry, ttthke ambulance in, but to push
everybody else back. The journalists and a crowd of more peopldecemto the street,
where the journalists began to interview the neighbours.

| had not been in the garage of the villa yet, so | discreetly stepped back and disappeared also
in the house. | went into the corridordampened the door that led to the gpral had already
remarked a digital pad outside of the garage .ddound a similar one inside, near the door

that led into the corridor from the garage, and next to that pad was another one for the alarm
systemWasit possible for a man to slide imderthe closing door of the garage when the

victim had parked her car, preferably unseen, waiting until siedeactivated the alarms for

her hous® Such a scenariwas very plausible. It might have happened that way. It was true

the woman bd worn a fine dress, not the kind one wears at home when one is alone. |
imagined Marianne getting out of her car, forming the number to close the garage door and
then deactivate the alarms, a few seconds during which she would have her back turned to the
outside, then go through the door to her corridor, hang herrcaatioset, go to the living

room, and then being surprised from behind by the criminal. Why would a criminal want to
enter a house but to steal? Instead of stealing, the man had instidedlyHe woman, maybe
after raping hestillayof disaeab®imbercdrddorhaaggressor had

merely taken some money out of her walltethat bag, but stolen no money frdver

bedroom. Hadhe been disturbed mpmething or was heonfused by the murder? Thaly

reason, however, | could think of the aggression,thasirgeto kill for pleasure, and to kill

swiftly, by complete surprise, simply cut a throat, a compulgiermurderecould not

repulsel went into the corridor, anencountered there Inspector Danlois who descended the
stairs. He also had taken a look upstairs.

0Strange, 6 he said, oOonothing of importance Ww
drawer of her bedroom. That is very odd. The woman may hareraped, Superintendent,

then killed. She wore no pants, the pants ha
6No, |l wouldnét do that,é6 | replied. 61 al so
door to the garden, though. 0

60 Hav e vy othe lipsteckcolourang? 6
0 What tolow?sét i c k
6You didnét turn the body! 6
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6No, of course not. o
OA thick s medaolouwds | ap
h a

pltiiedk around the | ips o
O0Why would one do t t 20
60l have no ideaha%aepéti hutenddnMagdauBalin ov
too had rough I ipstick smeared around her | i

house, though, and here too | found no such thing. The aggressor must have put it in his
pocket. | should naell you this, Superintendent, but | believe the same murderer has been at
work here. If that leaks out in the press, you are going to have a wave of hysterical panic
among the women of your town!d

| remained standing silently in front of Danlois for tgua few seconds, my mind racing.

Then | exclaimed, 6 oh sweet, sweet God, what
|l turned, then came back to Danlois and ment
right may have something for you. His wife found the body, but she knothigg. Her

husband, a pensioner, saw a person sauntering in the street. From the description he gave me,

a robot picture could be drawn. You have artists in gewvice. When you géb such a

portrait, please send it to me. I might reco
ores, |l 61l do that, 6 Danlois replied. 6éThank
samples, of course. The service is on its.way

6This guy is a pro, and a careful pr o, Il nspe
wore gloves hergpo. DNA comparisons might give something, but that will serve only after
having caught him, not before. We have stil!]l

| turned again to the doamanting to leavehut Danlois held me back.
6Superintendent , 6 Hstofguestsdthe HorselBayard. | checkedohor t h
the men you highlighted. Blandis is the Director for Security of several companies of the
same group as Aeolfast and Recycfast. He is a former policeman, you know. He left the force
of Brussels a few yeaegjo to earn much more money in private compahledias a record

of being ruthless. His superiors seemed to have been quite happy whenThielether men

are all hoodlums, known to the police for one or other misdeed, but only petty crimes, thefts,
minor assaults in barspme drug dealingnd so on. They are smallgnith a past. What

they are not isommonlabourers. None of them owns a diploma of some@ads known to

have worked in some trade or oth8o | agree with you, what are they dqitagetheras a

group in Robois around a security speciaatvhy would somebody like Blandis use

hoodlums instead of men with a past in the security busiMgssshould think this over, find

a way to call them in and interrogate them. | have nothigg ton, though, my boss will

never agree to call them to our officegh what | have now 6

ONeither do | ,yours$earshdomdssodOhHgwpabeaohs?0

OWe found only three unsolved murders in Bru
Three murdersnside housesot on the street. | did not get too many details. The reports will

be sent to me, but that can take several day
O0Are you convinced now we hawvaskedDanloismpul si ve
0Yes | am. quidk merdnoucdérsimalp fellow. The guy seems to have gone into a

frantic mode. The murders follow each other rapifyle thing is certain: sooner or later he

will make a mistaké.

6And a new murder, 6 | whispered.

Danlois nodded.

60Could you?b6r &ael askedgang

0That would take three teams of two poli ceme
officers. | cannot spare my policemen for such duties. No, trailing a suspected gang with so
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little to hold on is not feasible. We can keep guard at cemaments, but in the end that may
prove to be counteproductive and we are not capable of sustaining such an effort for more
than a few days. 0

| left Danlois thinking, shouted to Dominique | would return to the offi¢eld her to join me

later in another car. She threw me her keys.

Danlois then cried after me, 6we could call

| shouted back, oO6how would that be? Why? Whe
60When we have the r olatecognise aneofdm, andvédale ness or
them i n. I tell nothing to my boss. 0

| grinned, went badackke urpi stkos ?h6 m, oOowi |l Il i ng to
0Yes, 6 Danlois replied, elengnte haveYltomould bé stupid of m
not to use it. | do have my hands free, anyhowoull prefer the interrogation to be held in

the police office of Robois, with just you a
6What your boss doesndt know doesnb6t hurt?6
6Somet hing |like that. Ar e Ilywewantitons@ethdse guys, mp |l y
pick themup with yourentire forcethe same day, within the half hour, and tiaenask them

where they were at certain dates and times, and hear them out. If nothing comes out, no harm
done. 0

60But we woul c¢minantie day in. We eaanot cdll bne in today andtiher
tomorrow. 0

6l know. Do %%ou want to do it

dVith the robot pictureinhandfo cour se, 6 | replied, but knowi
the block i f not my head, the same for Danl o
61 am, &ousgdDanibis,tarddéadmired his daring. He was a good policeman.

oAl I right. When? Me and you, in Robois.
O6Not this week. Not the next week. Il must be
some analysis of fingerprints and DNA from today. In theknadter. | would have liked it to

be earlier, but Canyupreppré hebe odonn@aneamgluiest i ons
6Sur e. Il 61 | phone you end of next week, or
61611 do that. 6

Danlois was a man of few words anglhiefficiency. We would get along quite well.

| remembered my car at the Horse Bayard, then, and decided to drive to there and to leave the
police car parked in the neighbourhood. More journalists drove near vgheakedut of
the street of Marianne Tan.

Campaigns

Robert Jacquet, back at the head of the IC elections list, kicked his election campaign off at
the end of August, whictvas rather late. He first had to think of the campaign of the IC
Group. He asked for a meetingoe a week with an Election Committee of IC. All the
candidates of IC Group were supposed to be members of that committee, as well as a few
leaders, such as the President Albert DesjarBiesjardins was chosen also to head it.

During the first meeting, Bew basic agreements were discussed diciaes of ae village or

of a few adjacent villages, could team up to conceive a common publicity tract. They might
help each other to find places where posters could be pl@daedesycommanded that if
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somebodyelse from the list wanted to add his or her postéhose same places, permission
would have to be asked. No tract could be published without the consent of the President. He
would control whether the tract remained positive in content, contained haddniast

candidates of the same list, and also no negative personal attacks against candidates of other
lists. Needless to say, Yves Govin never participated in any of those meetings, but the other
candidates came regulargnd the atmosphere was nice.

The IC Group had assembled a war chest from a part of the salary of each Cabinet Member
and other political positions. The money would be used now for the publicity of the IC Group
as a whole, not for its individual candidates. Pastéth the group photavould be printed,
distributed and placed at crucial street corners by the smaller teams. Accounts of the actions
would be given at each meeting.

The son of Albert Desjardins was an information technology freak. He would receive money
from the war chest toonstruct an Internet website for IC. On that site would be placed the
group photo, individual presentations of all the candidates in a standardised way, an article
with the realisations of the currentacCabinet
tenpoint plan for major new realisations which IC promised to fulfil in the next legislature.
The war machine of IC began to roll with speed, organisation and efficiency.

At the end of August also, Diego and Laura Trioteignes phoned Robert Jadpietvere

ready to meet him and Simone Ag&ubert accepted gladly. He never refused help. Their first
meeting took place inthelivingoom of Robertdés | odge. Samia B
she insisted she wanted to help during the elections. Eeéng was cordial, the ice broken
rapidly. Laura Trioteignes was appointed head of the campaign, Diego head of operations. In
one afternoon they wrote a list of everything thatt to be done from writing gtexts of the

election tacts to the graphic aggn of the flyers and posters, ordering the wooden panels to

glue the postersn, finding pickets to nail the pandts assembhg a list of farmers and other
landowners whaccepted posters on their fields along the streets and avenues, finding
sympathisers in the urban areas who accepted posters on their windows, printing the publicity
tracts, and distributing the flyers. Teams would be sent out to ring at doors and @ropose
candidateactions would be organised at the railway and bus stations in Robois. An odd point

of discussion was how Chinese walls could be built between the addresses, flyers, posters and
so on for on the one side Robert andhe other Simone, but ammpromise was reached. One

could hardly plant a poster of Rabright next to a poster of Simone. The situation was odd,
andresulted inoccasional protests wheneteam infringed on thaurf of the other, when one
0recruitedd a p oesoftrerothg dardddakeawaplayedrthaeécdneilingy o s
boss. She had a natural charisma and authority everybody respected and accepted.

Diego and Lauracame batite f ur t her meet i n,@werytiee dRys, lareedacldo s | o
time theyarrivedwith more young people. The team grew out to a neveling source of

new, extravagant bujuitefeasible ideas for publicity, and the young people found any talent

they needed to realise their ideas. One friend was studying marketing, another one was a
graphist,yet another a web designer, one knew how to play on the social network software

such as Facebook and Twitter for added publicity. Their campaign would be an example of

the use of ew technologies and concepts. Diego even brought a carpenter to theapbu

muscles they had all.

Rose could not remain idle when so many other young people worked entire days. She began
to help with the work. She caed materials to the ones who worked. After a while, she did
not need more instructions than the rest ofythengsters. Diego warned the workers to watch
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out what Rose did with hammealjers,saw and nails, but she hit the nails as straight as
anybody else. She would come to stand next to somebody working quite a while, studying
every movement, and thehe repated exactly the same, only bettéer interest did not
weaver, and when she gave a remark, she was listened to.

Samia Bennani heqd by cooking fothe gang and by preparing drinks. Thewugpwas often
satisfied with pi zz atBGamiaprovedbsheawphteetbesibakBrol ogn ai
town. She made cakes apaistries and scones for tea. Robert atame to work whenever he

couldin the garage and the open sp&ienone Ash arrived almost every evening.

Samia drew Joseph iBiakliytothetight, cRooursseJoséph oftero d g e |
helped next to Samia.

Robertdos | odge was constituted of several wi
those was rapidly transformed into a workshop for Diegd he other inta warehouse.

Robet had to park his car in another platkad barely the place to put my céhe space

behindthe wing hiddenfrom eyes peering from the front of the house, became the place

where posters would be glued together and the panels nailed to pickess$.Hadlio keep his

friendsof IC away fromthat workshopespecially Nadine Dumortiefor postersand flyersof

Simone lay mixed with his own.

On one of those evenings, Robert sat exhausted in his sofa with Simone Ash. It was late in the
evening.

Robertstat ed, 6é6Si mone, we have sever al matters t
must now have repeated that so many times already you must get bored with it. | find you are

just wonderful, the most beautiful woman | have ever laid eyes on, and | pnsedreach

time | look at you managdinding somethinghew and delicious n your f ace | ad]
60nly in my face?6 Simone wondered, seemingl
time.

60Si mone, stop grinning! | yduthwile |l wangte liveywtittn i ng o f

you. | therefore formally ask you to marry me. | want you for me alone. | have a little box

here with an engagement ring in it, which | hopewilla ¢ ¢ e p t .y tob fired torget anl |

my knees, | fear theghdl creak and buckle under mend | also do find that custom

medi eval, but I do ask you to link your fate
Simone admitted she had expected Robertds pl
She replied, O6Robert, | | ove aomarn,0oobutl Itdhwa
in love with you. You are particularly handsome, you khbkevertheless, you know nothing

of me. |l have been quite a wild girl before.
can never tell anyone all the gore details, alsoyou, especially not you, because if | told

you all, youmight possibly call me a dirty slut and dump me. | have changed a lot, though. |
needed years to form my characterad to understand whynasty, totdly egoistic,unfeeling

people could ire inthis world beside me, and abuse of persons without scruples or emotions

of empathy. As long as | did not come to that comprehension, which was really very hard for

me to accept as truth, | was very mucimfused. | fled England because of that, and Ighou

at first I would hate to live in countryside Belgium, whereaadl lheen a queen of London

nights, but now | am enjoying my life. bt to learn there is exquisite reward in little things,

in simply saying hello to nice people and receive a happy smrigturn, for buying your own

bread at the bakery of the village and chat with the housewives, in getting involved as a

Cabinet member witthe sorrows and joys of a town, in the feasts of the citizens. | live a

rebirth, a redemption, a cleansing of tp&is here, and | know I could live the rest of my life

in that way. My work in the hospital is gratifying, too, on many levels. | even began to think
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of children, although mgge advance¥.ou know | am tied to nobody, though, not by

obligations nor by felings, excepto you. | hated all men when | arrived from England,

Robert. | was out for revenge. | wanted to hurt the men that tried to accost me. It was my bad

luck the one who reached me turned out to be you, a thoroughly goodraamu sure you

wart a wicked girl? Could you stand before a guy in a street who says suddenly, | slept with
your wife, old chap, and she was quite a goo

Robert Jacqudiad to reflect on that. Hdast phrase was very hard bim.

6l thmow how you are, now, at this mdrfment, a
of a past, bua womarof today. You have a kind heart. Oh yes, | would like us to marry. You

know | too have lived a tough experience with my former wife, and | had a fesntanles

before herwWwe have arrived at a certain stage of wi

a few boxing |lessons, for a guy in front of
Simone | aughed, o6wel | ,  lwinetomarrynygu. Tthereaare, dear R
consequences and issues, though, with our mar:Ht
6Such as?56

OFor one, there is Rose. How wi || Rose react

in the same room?20
0 $hdl have to talk to Rose, of course. Wan build our linked presence up graduadiyd

watch her reactions. Il n theory, |l ove shoul d
60l hope so,06 Simone chuckled. O6There are al s
announce today we are going to nyairshould stop my candidature. The issue is that the

Partycountsonmgand | dondét mean the institfleshi on, t

and blood my friends and confidents. | would feel very, very guilty and egoistic to drop them
ikeasbne today. 6

60That is a real il ssue indeed. Once married,
demands that. Still, 1 also am willing to resign as Bourgmestre to marry yoweBid not

have to marry immediately. How about giving us two years tatlsese issues out? In the

meantime, we can be engagedecrecy, knowionly to very few people. We can see each

other oftenlmaginethe faces of my and your friends in politics whenameounce to them

we are going to marry! It will be the sensationtofa t own! &

OWe could remain | over add$ome moaspiee hoiolr eelationy e s .  Th
We shall play hide and seek with our felloitizens like two adolescents who do it in their

cars! o

6Dondét mo c k seemstomg domlypwag tboremain honourable, both of us,
considering our obligations. 0

6Honourabl e? Being a |l over isnb6ét honourabl e
will have to do. There is no expiration datetbeweddingbook the Belgian authorities

deliver. We hal better be very sure about our feelings and wistres seek what we want

foma wedding. A little time would be benefici
6l dondét need any waitinganhdmgotoabensude |
OFine then. Where is that ring you had?2d

Robert Aughed, for he had forgen all about the ring. He cght the little box wrapped in

dark blue gift paper from behind his back. Simone accepted it happily and also a little

greedily. She tore at the paper, saw the lettersa@ytgnted on the box and gped. She

understood Robert had been more than extravagant for her. In opening the box she discovered
onaredvelvet field a ring with on top a large bldeamond, surrounded all over the ring by
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numerous tiny natural pearls in a golden background. Tigewas of gold. She slid theavy

jewelon her finger. It fitted not too well.

0The ring must be adjusted, &6 Robert explaine
assured me that could be done in a day or two. We would have to go to theshom th . 6

OWhere is the shop?5o

OPl ace des Vosges, in Paris,® Robert mention
6You are asking me to Paris for our engageme
601 sur e a nmtwil €ither Have todpe a veryishort visit or to take place after the

el ections! 0

01 ¢ h caftestlee eleatians, in that case. | demand one week of Paris in a very fine hotel

with extremely large beds. Rose can come too is she can stand me kissing you all the time, but

|l want her in a room of her own. 0

60 Sh e mdeededrndo stand mekissipgou al |l the time, 86 Robert

Robert and Simone announced their engagement to Rose, to Samia and to Joseph Bikri, to
Simoneb6s family and to the Trioteignes. The
and joy. When Simone Ash explained tarts& Bennani how happy she was, Joseph Bikri,

the Superintendent, noticed how Samia, even though she congratulated Simone honestly and
warmly, remained a little sad and pensive.

Joseph contrivethereforeto be alone with Samia a few evenings later. Hekea with

Samia in the garage of Robertds | odge, after
Si moneds hectic campaign teams. They stacked
Robert and Simone later. These were discussing listsopigpezho might vote for them and

who they should approach personally. Samia wept the sweat of her forehead, washed her

hands in the sink and wanted to go into the
He said, O6Sami a, | dbave still something to a
Samia turned her eyes to Joseph.

6Samia, 6 Joseph continued solemnly, 61l am a

earn much money, but sufficient to found and raise a family. | fell in love with you. | too
brought an engagement ring for ytaought not in Paris but in Namur, and | hope it will
pl ease you. Samia Bennani, will you please m

Samia, contrary to Simone Ash, had not thought Josephvikild declare so rapidly. Her

eyes went wide, her mouth screamed, and she brough&hds to her face, weeping and
laughing at the same time. Then she flung herself on Joseph, buried him under passionate
kisses, and truly wept hot tears. She had fallen in love with Youssouf, of course, and she
could not imagine a more tender and thoudhtfan. She immediately knew also that this
mear she could stay indefinitely in Belgium, without the constant fear of ever being evicted,
and she would have a home and she could s@ageph offered her liberty and honour.
O0Bef ore you sawntyeasu,ed,Y duwses diulafvec t o agree on
father and mother and a family living in Belgium. | do not want to hurt them by not marrying
in the Muslim fate. We will have to find a very toleramtillah to marry us. If we have

children, |1 would like them to be educated in the Muslim faith, but | would rather prefer to
teach them the Koran myself rather than send them to a Sharia school. | want them to be

Bel gians and to respect our | aw. 6

0 | dvanbnmytdaughters to weachador and even less a nigab or a buéka, S a mi a

warned.

0They Iwosnhéatl. see to that. Our children shal/l
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d want to continue study law and become a Belgian lawyer, maybe specialised in Islamic
Law. Ilwanttobe your equal . 6
6That you are,® Youssouf nodded.

Robert and Simone heard the screaming in the gafdggthoughtan accident had occurred,

but they found only Samia and Joseph entangled in an impetuous, ardent embrace. It was time
once more for congrations then, and Robert went to his cellar to fetch his famous bottles

of Champagne

Samia shouted, 6l must still open my box! 0
She didsoin the livingroom, and found gold ring with a large white diamond on get

between smaller emeraldswas a plendid ring, much more splendid than she thought

someone like Youssouf could afford.

6You spent a fortune, d® Samia sighed.

drou are worth it, Samia. | have set some money aside. | live frugally, you Kimaw.

emeralds reminded merkedd your eyes, 0 Joseph r
He was rewarded with a torrent of more kisses.

OMy | odge will bring us both luck, d Robert c
in one week. Whatever nasty can still happen to us? Fate has turned, my friends! We have

luck on our side. dlrink to our happy marriages. May our marriages last, and in the meantime,

we must enjoy our | oves, f oroneashnethavednt@amn t he
growon? 0

*kkkkkkk

The Aeolfast projedior modern windmills in Roboigan its @urse, the papers of presentation
moved from commission to commission. Due to the public declarations of the Cabinet of
Robois and due to the opposition of several committees of citizens, the projeatdavied
commission after commission. The elemantsvided by the Town Councillors of IC and of

the two other large parties, the Socialist and the Liberal parties, who both finally also opposed
the project, proved hurdles too high and too solid to be overcome by the Aeolfast Directors
who were called inat explain the initiative. It seemed the project would have little chance to

be accepted by the Walloon Ministry responsible for the final agreement of such projects.
Some pressure was still exerted from the Federal level, and the Minister was an esblmgist
was in favour of carbon dioxide saving solutions such as wind turbines. One after the other
negative advice and one after the other petition of citizens, all opposing the installation of the
towers, piled up on his desk, though. Maister would riskso many votes, not only in

Robois but in the entire province.

The Robois project had been discussed amply in the press and there too, despite the money
and pressure of Aeolfast, the various citizen committees had made headway with the protests.
These cizen committees had no hierarchical organisation anymore. They were merely
workgroups, think tanks, and maybe because of those loose structures, they proved even more
efficient than beforeThe journalists of the province came to consider whether theyadatdw

have liked to see eighty metre towers rise above their homes, close by, and their answer was
commonly no. Neghbours and friends workeuh them The citizen committees provided

them with information on thecarring of the landscapes by the machines.

The citizen committees, too many to stop, also began to pay visits to the farmers who had at
first enthusiastically embraced the project for the extra money that was promised them for
allowing the towers in their fields. Theeopleexplained calmly to thé&armers they would not
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be doing a favour to their neighbours. Their farms would be worth less, and the activists
against the turbines explained some of the inconveniences Aeolfast had never mentioned.

In Brussels, when the Count of Buisseyre heard o$itnation, he flung his fist to the table,
raged against his Directors, promised them to be dismissed if his project was not realised,
calling them utter fools and giving them two weeks to turn the tide. He told he would bring in
real professionals instead the weaklings he had before him. He reminded everybody,
including Yves Govin and Max Blandis of their fat salaries, generous expense accounts, paid
sedarcars all fuel paid by the company, and of their outrageous bonuses for the realisation of
the prgect.

Bui sseyredéds head of security, Max Bl andis, w
disillusioned with his work for the Count. Too many people in Robois opposed the project.
The tide was turningdne could not indefinitely impose something on so nm@egple. The
resistance against the project grew by the Bégndisfeared to bring more violence to

Robois, for at some point that would become coupteductive, overt and hence dangerous

for being found out by the police.

Blandis had been consideriggitting from Aeolfast. Only the high salary Buisseyre paid him
withheld him from turning his back to the Count. He had already covertly begun to solicit for
other jobs in other companid€&landis also wondered how long he would be able to control

the teanof hoodlums he had brought to Robois. Those men did not know when to stop. He
had taught them how to work so that theyuld not be caught, but at each operation he had to
hold them back from major errors. He was thinking not only of leaving Aeolfastf but

leaving the country, for if the group failed, he would certainly be drawn in a turbulence out of
which he would not emerge. Blandis too cursed Robois, its inhabitants and its Bourgmestre
Robert Jacquet for having withstood his efforts.

The unhappieghan by far, however, was Yves Govin. Buisseyre called Govin an idiot in

front of everybody, a stupid, incapable man. Govin had not been able to reach one of his more
serious objectives. He had become a Cabinet Member of Robois, but the other Echevins
regularly shouted him down in the Cabinet. He could get no grip on the IC Cabinet Members,
and the Liberal Echevins led by that cold, taciturn woman Simone Ash, clang to Robert
Jacquet like dung to a cow. When he refused to sign a paper, the other Cabinetdylinbe

and Liberals, discussed, reached a common ground and signed without him. They were
sufficient in numbers according to the Law not to need him. éfe l#ss and less to Cabinet
meetings. He also did not succeed in having resolutions voted andridkeour of the

Aeolfast project. Worse, he had not succeeded stirmuout Robert Jacquet from his

prominent position in IC, and his campaigns of rumours seemed to have lost impetus and
certainly did not have much effacir e duci ng Jacquet dés popul arity
family, together with the current inhabitants of Blouges Castle, had thrown all their weight in
the balance in favour of the Bourgmestre.

Finally, Govin had not succeeded either in svilmg IC Groupof Roboisback into the bosom

of theUnited Democratic PartyHe had lost face in Brussels because of that. Because of
Jacguet 6s ICfof Robois,gsovin pad tittle chance of grabbing the place of
Bourgmestre of Robois, and hence he would notopeimated for a post dflember of

Parliament for the province. Yves Govin even feared for hédaetion as Echevin in the next
elections.

Bad news also trickled in from the headquarters ofuBeParty. Rumours ran in the corridors
of the vast buildinghat the current party leaders seemed to have lost the confidence of many
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very influential Members of Parliament of the party. Changes in the leadership of the party
administration looked imminent, also the position of the National Secretary, and that mean
Govin would be dismissed from his job in the party administration. His only consolation was
that such a change would not happen before the elections of October, because of the
detrimental effect it would have on votes. Govin therefore clung to his mieajgeeof

becoming Echevin once more, with a modest revenue, hoping that if he got dismissed from
his place in the Brussels party, the party would not drop him entirely but find-paieljob

for him, maybe as Attaché to a Miresbr a Directorship in amof the regional state

companies for water, electricity distribution or housing.

Govin began to drink heavily, for he could not manage his setbacks. He hoped that by

hanging out late in bars of Robois he might at least gather a few additional voteki¢here

met the farmer Guichand there, and both vociferated threats against Robert Jeqickt.

not see that by doing so he lost many other voters. He became very jealous of Robert Jacquet,
for Robert, already a wealthy man, had everything coming to viem #hat pale beauty

Simone Ash, whereas he, Govin, who had nothing for him in life, lost even more things with
eachpassinglay. The gloom had changed camfues Govin became a very bitter man.
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